ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP

Form S-3 May 31, 2002

OuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 31, 2002

Registration No. 333-Registration No. 333-Registration No. 333-

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-1

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

UNDER

THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

FORM S-3

Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 39-1715850 Delaware

(I.R.S. Employer

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or Identification No.)

organization)

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.

> 1100 Louisiana, Suite 3300 Houston, Texas 77002 (713) 650-8900

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrants' principal executive offices)

Applied For

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

FORM F-3

Enbridge Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Alberta, Canada Not Applicable (State or other jurisdiction (I.R.S. Employer of incorporation or Identification No.)

organization)

Enbridge Inc.

3000, 425-1st Street SW Calgary, Alberta Canada T2P 3L8 (403) 231-3900

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Chris Kaitson 1100 Louisiana, Suite 3300 Houston, Texas 77002 (713) 650-8900

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

William N. Finnegan IV Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 1001 Fannin, Suite 2300 Houston, Texas 77002-6760 (713) 758-2222 Robert V. Jewell Melinda H. Brunger Andrews & Kurth Mayor, Day, Caldwell & Keeton L.L.P. 600 Travis, Suite 4200 Houston, Texas 77002 (713) 220-4200

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this Registration Statement becomes effective.

If the only securities being registered on this Form are being offered pursuant to dividend or interest reinvestment plans, please check the following box. //

If any of the securities registered on this Form are being offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, other than securities offered only in connection with dividend or interest reinvestment plans, check the following box. //

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. //

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(c) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. //

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. //

If delivery of the prospectus is expected to be made pursuant to Rule 434, please check the following box. //

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of each class of securities to be registered	Proposed maximum aggregate offering price	Amount of registration fee
Shares representing limited liability company interests (1)	\$523,250,000(2)	\$48,139
i-units (3)		
Purchase obligation (4)		

To be issued by Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. Includes the underwriters' overallotment option.

(1)

(2)

- Estimated solely for the purpose of calculating the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457(o) under the Securities Act of 1933.
- (3)

 To be issued by Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. The i-units are deemed to be offered and sold by Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. in connection with the offer and sale of the shares of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., pursuant to Rule 140 under the Securities Act of 1933; thus, no registration fee is being paid with respect to the deemed offer and sale of the i-units.
- (4) To be issued by Enbridge Inc. No registration fee is being paid with respect to the purchase obligation pursuant to Rule 457(n).

The registrants hereby amend these registration statements on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay their effective date until the registrants shall file a further amendment which specifically states that these registration statements shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until these registration statements shall become effective on

such date as the Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

EXPLANATORY NOTE

These registration statements contain a prospectus to be used in connection with the offer and sale of shares of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. These registration statements also register:

the deemed offer and sale of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. i-units to be acquired by Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. with substantially all of the net proceeds of the offering of the shares of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., pursuant to Rule 140 under the Securities Act of 1933; and

the obligation of Enbridge Inc. to purchase the shares of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. under specified circumstances pursuant to the terms of an agreement between Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., for itself and for the express benefit of the holders of such shares.

Subject to Completion. Dated May 24, 2002.

The information in this preliminary prospectus is not complete and may be changed. These securities may not be sold until the registration statements filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are effective. This preliminary prospectus is not an offer to sell nor does it seek an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

10,000,000 Shares

Representing Limited Liability Company Interests

ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

This is an initial public offering of our shares representing limited liability company interests, a class of our equity with limited voting rights. We are offering 10,000,000 of our shares through the underwriters named below, including 500,000 shares to be offered to our affiliate, Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.

We are a recently formed limited liability company that has elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We will manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. and will use substantially all of the proceeds of this offering to acquire a new class of limited partner interests, referred to as i-units, in Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.

When Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. makes cash distributions on its common units, the number of i-units we own will be increased, and we will make distributions on our shares in the form of additional shares. As an owner of our shares, you will receive a number of additional shares equal to the amount of cash you would have received had you owned Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. common units, divided by the average market price of our shares. On May 15, 2002, Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. paid a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.90 per common unit, or \$3.60 per common unit on an annualized basis.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our shares. We expect the shares to be offered at a price in relation to the trading price of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. Class A common units on the New York Stock Exchange, which trade under the symbol "EEP." The closing price of the Class A common units on the NYSE on May 21, 2002 was \$45.50. We intend to apply to list our shares on the NYSE under the symbol "."

Investing in our shares involves risk. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 24 to read about factors you should consider before buying our shares. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

Because our only assets will be i-units in Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P., our financial condition and results of operations will be dependent upon the performance of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.

Our management may have different interests than you and may not always conduct our business as you would wish.

As an owner of shares, you will have limited voting rights and, therefore, will have little opportunity to influence or change our management.

Your shares are subject to optional and mandatory purchase provisions that could result in your having to sell your shares at a time or price that you do not like.

The fiduciary duties owed by our board of directors to our shareholders and the fiduciary duties owed by our board of directors and by the general partner of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. to its limited partners have been restricted or eliminated.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

	Per Share	Total
Initial public offering price	\$	\$
Underwriting discount	\$	\$ (1)
Proceeds, before expenses, to Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.	\$	\$ (1)

(1)

No discount or commission is being paid on the sale of 500,000 shares being purchased by Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. Thus, the total underwriting discount does not include any discount on these shares, and the proceeds, before expenses, to Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. include the full per share initial public offering price of these shares.

To the extent that the underwriters sell more than 10,000,000 shares, the underwriters have the option to purchase up to an additional 1,500,000 shares from us at the initial public offering price less the underwriting discount.

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares against payment in New York, New York on

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

, 2002.

Prospectus dated , 2002.

[MAP OF NORTH AMERICA DEPICTING EXISTING SYSTEMS OWNED BY ENBRIDGE INC. AND ENBRIDGE PARTNERS AND THE MIDCOAST, NORTHEAST TEXAS AND SOUTH TEXAS SYSTEMS, WHICH ARE TO BE ACQUIRED BY ENBRIDGE PARTNERS FROM ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY]

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
PROSPECTUS SUMMARY	1
Enbridge Management	1
Enbridge Partners	1
Enbridge Inc.	4
Offices	4
Summary of Risk Factors	5
Organizational Structure	7
Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems	9

	rage
The Offering	10
Our Shares	11
Summary Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information of Enbridge Partners	17
Summary Financial Information of Enbridge Partners	19
Summary Financial Information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy	21
Enbridge Management Balance Sheet	23
RISK FACTORS	24
Risks Related to Our Shares, the i-Units and Enbridge Management	24
Risks Related to Enbridge Partners' Business	27
Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest and Limitations on Fiduciary Duties	33
INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS	37
ACQUISITION OF THE MIDCOAST, NORTHEAST TEXAS AND SOUTH TEXAS SYSTEMS	38
USE OF PROCEEDS DISTRIBUTION POLICY	39 40
Our Policy Regarding Share Distributions	40
Enbridge Partners' Distribution Policy CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS	40 47
CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE INC.	48
CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT	49
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS	50
SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF ENANCIAL CONDITION AND	52
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	54
Enbridge Management	54
Enbridge Partners	55
Pro Forma Results of Operations	65
Liquidity and Capital Resources	71
Other Matters	72
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	74
BUSINESS	77
Enbridge Management	77
Enbridge Partners	77
Business Strategy	77
Competitive Strengths	78
Properties and Operations	79
Existing Systems	79
Lakehead System	79
North Dakota System	81
East Texas System	82
Systems to be Acquired from Enbridge Energy Company	83
i i	03
	- 0.2
Midcoast System	83
Northeast Texas System	87
South Texas System	88
Title to Properties	88
Regulation	90
Tariffs and Rate Cases	95
Environmental and Safety Regulation	96
Employees	100
Insurance	100

MANAGEMENT OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT	101
Directors and Executive Officers	101
Committees of the Board of Directors	103
Executive Compensation	103
Director Compensation	103
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	103
DESCRIPTION OF OUR SHARES	105
Distributions	105
Limited Voting Rights	107
Anti-dilution Adjustments	109
Covenants	109
Optional Purchase	110
Mandatory Purchase	111
Merger	113
Tax Indemnity of Enbridge Inc.	113
Transfer Agent and Registrar	113
Replacement of Share Certificates	114
Fractional Shares	114
DESCRIPTION OF THE i-UNITS	115
Voting Rights	115
Distributions and Payments	115
Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets	116
U.S. Federal Income Tax Characteristics and Distribution Upon Liquidation of Enbridge Partners	116
COMPARISON OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS' UNITS WITH OUR SHARES LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT	117 121
RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS	126
Our Relationship with Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners	126
Delegation of Control Agreement	128
Contribution Agreement	129
Amendments to Non-Competition and Service Agreements	129
Use of Proceeds to Retire Enbridge Midcoast Energy Debt	130
Tax Indemnification and Purchase Agreement	131
Additional Matters	131
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES	132
Conflicts of Interest	132
Situations in which a Conflict of Interest Could Arise	132
Fiduciary Duties Owed to Our Shareholders and to the Owners of Units	134
SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE	137
MATERIAL TAX CONSEQUENCES	138
Legal Opinions ii	138
11	

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the	
Ownership and Disposition of Shares	138
U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the	
Ownership of i-Units	141
ERISA CONSIDERATIONS	144
UNDERWRITING	146
LEGAL MATTERS	149
EXPERTS	149
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	151
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	F-1

Until , 2002, all dealers that buy, sell or trade our shares, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers' obligations to deliver a prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

iii

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. This summary does not contain all of the information you should consider before buying shares in this offering. Therefore, you should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the risks discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors." This prospectus also contains and incorporates by reference important information about Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. and Enbridge Inc., including information about their businesses and financial and operating data, all of which you should read carefully before buying shares in this offering.

As used in this prospectus, the term "Enbridge Management" and the terms "we," "our," "us" and similar terms refer to Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C., unless the context otherwise requires. In addition, we refer to Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. as "Enbridge Partners," and we refer to Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., the general partner of Enbridge Partners and a wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., as "Enbridge Energy Company." As used in this prospectus, the term "common units" includes collectively the Class A common units and the Class B common units of Enbridge Partners, and the term "units" includes collectively the Class A common units, the Class B common units and the i-units of Enbridge Partners. The information presented in this prospectus assumes that the underwriters do not exercise their option to purchase additional shares from us.

Enbridge Management

We are a recently formed Delaware limited liability company that has elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. By agreement with Enbridge Energy Company, we will manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners. We will use substantially all of the proceeds of this offering to acquire i-units in Enbridge Partners, and we will have no assets or operations other than those related to our interest in Enbridge Partners. As a result, our financial condition and results of operations will be dependent upon the performance of Enbridge Partners.

The shares that are being sold in this offering have limited voting rights and are not entitled to vote to elect our directors. All of our shares that are entitled to vote to elect our directors are owned by Enbridge Energy Company. We intend to apply to list the shares being sold in this offering on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol " ."

Enbridge Partners

Enbridge Partners is a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership that owns and operates crude oil and liquid petroleum transportation assets and natural gas gathering, treating, processing, transmission and marketing assets in the United States. The Class A common units of Enbridge Partners are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "EEP."

Prior to May 2001, Enbridge Partners was solely a transporter of crude oil and liquid petroleum through its Lakehead system. Enbridge Partners began to diversify geographically and operationally by acquiring a crude oil gathering and transportation system known as the North Dakota system in May 2001, and a natural gas gathering, treating, processing and transmission system known as the East Texas system in November 2001. In May 2002, Enbridge Partners agreed to acquire Enbridge Energy Company's Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems. This acquisition represents Enbridge Partners' next step in diversifying its business, both geographically and operationally, and materially increases the scale of its business.

1

Existing Systems

Enbridge Partners' existing business consists of the following three systems:

Lakehead System: The Lakehead system consists primarily of crude oil and liquid petroleum transportation and storage assets in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States. This system, together with the Enbridge system in Canada owned by Enbridge Inc., forms the longest, and one of the most sophisticated, crude oil and liquid petroleum pipeline systems in the world. The Enbridge/Lakehead system, which spans 3,100 miles, has been in operation for over 53 years and is the primary transporter of crude oil and liquid petroleum from western Canada to the United States. The Enbridge/Lakehead system serves all the major refining centers in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the Province of Ontario, Canada. Through its interconnection with the Enbridge system, the Lakehead system is uniquely positioned to capitalize on expected increases in crude oil supplies over the next ten years from heavy crude oil and oil sands projects in the Province of Alberta, Canada announced by energy producers.

East Texas System: Enbridge Partners acquired the East Texas system on November 30, 2001 for approximately \$230 million. This system includes approximately 2,000 miles of natural gas gathering and transmission pipelines, four natural gas treating plants, two of which are currently active, and three natural gas processing plants, two of which are currently active.

North Dakota System: Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system from Enbridge Inc. on May 18, 2001 for approximately \$35 million. This system includes approximately 330 miles of crude oil gathering lines connected to a transportation line that is approximately 620 miles long. The North Dakota system interconnects directly with the Lakehead system, which supplements and diversifies its access to crude oil supplies.

Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems

Enbridge Partners has agreed to acquire the following three systems from Enbridge Energy Company for approximately \$929 million at the same time that we close this offering:

Midcoast System: The Midcoast system was acquired by a subsidiary of Enbridge Energy Company on May 11, 2001 for approximately \$625 million. Excluding the Canadian assets, which will be retained by Enbridge Energy Company, this system includes approximately 4,000 miles of natural gas gathering and transmission pipelines, with an aggregate throughput capacity of approximately four billion cubic feet per day, and natural gas treating and processing assets in the Mid-Continent and Gulf Coast regions of the United States. The portion of the Midcoast system Enbridge Partners will acquire includes:

four interstate FERC regulated natural gas transmission pipeline systems;

20 intrastate natural gas transmission and wholesale customer pipeline systems;

30 gathering and processing/treating systems, including three processing and two treating plants; and

98 trucks and trailers and 45 rail cars used for transporting natural gas liquids, or "NGLs," crude oil and carbon dioxide.

Northeast Texas System: The Northeast Texas system was acquired by a subsidiary of Enbridge Energy Company on March 1, 2002 for approximately \$178 million. This system includes approximately 1,200 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, seven natural gas treating plants, five of which are currently active, and five natural gas processing plants, three of which are currently active.

2

South Texas System: The South Texas system was acquired by a subsidiary of Enbridge Energy Company on January 2, 2002 for approximately \$9 million. This system includes approximately 175 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, a hydrogen sulfide treating plant and an inactive natural gas processing plant. The South Texas gathering system also interconnects with a 500-mile natural gas transmission pipeline system that Enbridge Energy Company has the right to

acquire for \$41 million. Enbridge Partners will acquire this right from Enbridge Energy Company as part of the acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems.

These systems will significantly increase the scope and scale of Enbridge Partners' natural gas operations and provide a platform from which Enbridge Partners can pursue new growth opportunities. The Midcoast system has a strong track record of growth and provides an attractive combination of stable cash flows and potential earnings growth. The Northeast Texas system, which is located adjacent to Enbridge Partners' East Texas system, will increase Enbridge Partners' presence in the strategic Gulf Coast region and provide operational flexibility and cost efficiencies. The natural gas transmission pipeline system that Enbridge Partners will have the right to acquire connects with the South Texas system and would provide a stable base of revenues from existing contracts as well as capacity to capitalize on potential increased supply from nearby offshore and onshore natural gas fields.

Subsidiaries of Enbridge Energy Company have completed approximately \$71 million in enhancement capital expenditures to these three systems since they were acquired. These expenditures include:

\$49 million to construct the BamaGas pipeline in Alabama;

\$6 million to acquire an additional natural gas processing facility in Texas; and

\$16 million in other enhancement capital expenditures.

In addition, Enbridge Energy Company plans to acquire for approximately \$21 million compression assets on the Northeast Texas system that are currently under lease. The \$929 million purchase price includes the purchase of these compression assets.

The systems and assets described above that will be acquired by Enbridge Partners are sometimes referred to as the "acquired systems."

Business Strategy

Enbridge Partners' objective is to continue to increase cash distributions to unitholders. To achieve this objective, Enbridge Partners intends to:

Expand and increase the utilization of the Lakehead system's capacity to meet expected growing supply of and demand for crude oil and liquid petroleum in the markets it serves.

Develop and acquire complementary energy delivery assets, particularly in the Gulf Coast region of the United States, and improve the financial performance and operating efficiency of acquired assets. Enbridge Partners anticipates increased availability of attractive acquisition targets and believes that it is well positioned to acquire additional assets.

Competitive Strengths

Enbridge Partners' business strategy is driven by the following competitive strengths:

Strategic Market Position: The Lakehead system is the primary transporter of western Canadian crude oil to the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the sole transporter of western Canadian crude oil to the Province of Ontario, Canada.

3

Diversified Business and Geographical Presence: Following the acquisition of the acquired systems, Enbridge Partners' business will consist of a diverse group of energy delivery assets located in some of the most significant areas of hydrocarbon supply and demand.

Low Cost Operations: The Enbridge/Lakehead system is among the lowest cost transporters of crude oil and liquid petroleum in North America, based on cost per barrel mile transported.

Competitive Cost of Capital: Enbridge Partners' cost of capital, due to its partnership structure, helps it compete more effectively in acquiring assets and expanding its existing systems.

Enhanced Access to Capital Markets: The institutional share/i-unit structure established in connection with this offering broadens Enbridge Partners' access to the equity capital markets.

Experienced Management: Our management has substantial industry experience and a strong track record of growth through acquisitions, having completed over 30 acquisitions in the last five years.

Beneficial Relationship with Enbridge Inc.: Enbridge Partners is an integral part of Enbridge Inc.'s goal of being a leading North American energy delivery company and is its primary vehicle for acquiring mature energy delivery assets in the United States.

Recent Developments

Increase in Distribution: Enbridge Partners increased its regular quarterly distribution from \$0.875 to \$0.90 per common unit effective with the distribution it paid on February 15, 2002. On May 15, 2002, Enbridge Partners paid a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.90 to its common unitholders, its second distribution at the rate of \$0.90 per quarter, or \$3.60 per common unit on an annualized basis.

Equity Offering: In early 2002, Enbridge Partners closed a public offering of its Class A common units, which raised net proceeds of approximately \$93 million. The net proceeds were used to repay approximately \$75 million in debt owed to an affiliate of Enbridge Inc. and to repay a portion of Enbridge Partners' revolving credit facility.

Enbridge Inc.

Enbridge Inc., based in Calgary, Alberta, provides energy transportation, distribution and related services in North America and internationally and had assets of Cdn\$13.1 billion as of December 31, 2001. Enbridge Inc. is the ultimate parent company of Enbridge Energy Company, the general partner of Enbridge Partners. In addition to its ownership of the Canadian portion of the Enbridge/Lakehead system, Enbridge Inc. also owns and operates Canada's largest natural gas distribution company, which provides distribution services in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec and the State of New York. Enbridge Inc.'s common stock is traded on The Toronto Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "ENB."

Offices

The principal executive offices of Enbridge Management and Enbridge Partners are located at 1100 Louisiana, Suite 3300, Houston, Texas 77002 and the telephone number is (713) 650-8900. The principal executive offices of Enbridge Inc. are located at 3000, 425 - 1st Street SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 3L8, and the telephone number is (403) 231-3900.

4

Summary of Risk Factors

You should be aware that there are risks relating to an investment in our shares. For more information about these risks, see "Risk Factors." You should carefully consider these risk factors together with all of the other information appearing elsewhere or incorporated by reference in

this prospectus before you invest in our shares.

Risks Related to Our Shares, the i-Units and Enbridge Management

An active trading market for our shares may not develop, and even if such a market does develop, the market price of our shares may be less than the market price of the Class A common units of Enbridge Partners.

The value of the quarterly distribution of an additional fractional share that you will receive per share may be less than the quarterly distribution of cash that Enbridge Partners' common unitholders will receive per common unit.

Enbridge Partners could be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which would reduce substantially the value of our shares and would give the owner of our voting shares the right to merge us into Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Partners may issue additional common or other classes of units and we may issue additional shares, which would dilute your ownership interest.

Because we have no assets other than our interest in Enbridge Partners, our financial condition and results of operations will be dependent upon the performance of Enbridge Partners.

Your shares are subject to optional and mandatory purchase provisions that could result in your having to sell your shares at a time or price that you do not like.

Our board of directors will have the power to change the terms of our shares in ways our board determines, in its sole discretion, are not materially adverse to you.

Enbridge Inc. may be unable to satisfy its obligation to purchase our shares upon the occurrence of a mandatory purchase event, including upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners, which likely would result in a loss in value of our shares.

If we are not fully reimbursed or indemnified for obligations and liabilities we incur in managing the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners, we may be unable to pay those liabilities and the value of our shares could decline.

If a person or group, other than Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, owns 20% or more of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Enbridge Partners common units and our shares, that person or group may not vote its shares; as a result, you are less likely to receive a premium for your shares in a change of control situation.

You will have limited voting rights and, therefore, will have little or no opportunity to influence or change our management.

Risks Related to Enbridge Partners' Business

Enbridge Partners' pipeline systems might be used less if demand for, or supply of, crude oil, natural gas and NGLs decreases.

Changes in Enbridge Partners' tariff rates or challenges to its tariff rates could have a material adverse effect on Enbridge Partners' financial condition and results of operations.

Competition from other pipelines may reduce Enbridge Partners' revenues.

Enbridge Partners' gas marketing operations involve market risks.

Enbridge Partners' results may be adversely affected by commodity price volatility and risks associated with its hedging activities.

Natural gas transportation, delivery and sales contracts with a relatively small number of customers accounted for a significant portion of the gross margin attributable to the Midcoast system, and Enbridge Partners may not be able to renew or replace those contracts as they expire.

A decline in the availability of natural gas from the producing regions that supply the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems may reduce utilization of capacity on those pipeline systems.

Compliance with environmental and operational safety regulations, including any remediation of soil or water pollution or hydrostatic testing of its pipeline systems, may increase Enbridge Partners' costs and reduce its revenues.

Failure of pipeline operations due to unforeseen interruptions or catastrophic events may adversely affect Enbridge Partners' business and financial condition.

Enbridge Partners' acquisition strategy may be unsuccessful if Enbridge Partners incorrectly predicts combined operating results, is unable to integrate acquired assets or businesses or is unable to raise financing on acceptable terms.

Oil measurement losses on the Lakehead system can be materially impacted by errors in estimation, commodity price differentials, and other factors.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest and Limitations on Fiduciary Duties

The interests of Enbridge Inc. may differ from our interests, the interests of our shareholders and the interests of limited partners of Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Partners is dependent upon Enbridge Inc. and the Enbridge system to a significant degree.

Enbridge Inc. is not restricted from directly competing with Enbridge Partners in many circumstances.

Our limited liability company agreement restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that otherwise would be owed by our board of directors to our shareholders, and the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that otherwise would be owed by our board of directors and by the general partner of Enbridge Partners to the limited partners of Enbridge Partners.

We may increase the cash reserves of Enbridge Partners, which will decrease cash distributions on its common units and the value of distributions of additional shares we make to you.

Because Enbridge Inc. is a Canadian corporation and many of its and our officers and directors are Canadian citizens who reside in Canada, it may be difficult to serve legal process on them and enforce civil liabilities against them.

6

Organizational Structure

The following charts depict a simplified organizational structure of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners immediately prior to this offering and the acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems and the organizational structure following the offering and the acquisition.

Prior to the Offering and Acquisition

Following the Offering and Acquisition

Ownership of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries after the offering:	
i-units owned by Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.	21.7%
Class A common units owned by the public	67.8%
Class B common units owned by Enbridge Energy Company	8.5%
General partner interest	2.0%

Total 100.0%

Following this offering, subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc. are expected to own collectively 11.6% of Enbridge Partners through their ownership of our shares and general and limited partner interests in Enbridge Partners.

8

Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems

On May 16, 2002, Enbridge Partners agreed to acquire the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems from Enbridge Energy Company. Enbridge Energy Company owns these systems through its ownership of Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries. In this prospectus, we refer to Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. as "Enbridge Midcoast Energy."

Prior to the contribution of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and its subsidiaries that own the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Midcoast Energy and certain of these subsidiaries will merge with or convert into limited partnerships and limited liability companies. Enbridge Energy Company will contribute these limited partnerships and limited liability companies to Enbridge Partners in exchange for the consideration discussed below, but will retain the Canadian assets owned by Enbridge Midcoast Energy.

The consideration to be received by Enbridge Energy Company for the contribution of the acquired systems is \$929.1 million. Enbridge Partners will fund this consideration through the assumption of \$900.0 million in debt related to these systems, payment of \$18.7 million in cash and issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest in Enbridge Partners. This additional equity interest will satisfy Enbridge Energy Company's obligation to maintain its 2% general partner interest in Enbridge Partners, primarily related to the issuance of i-units to us. The cash portion of the purchase price will be funded by Enbridge Partners by borrowings under its existing credit facility or from affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The debt to be assumed by Enbridge Partners is owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The purchase price is subject to adjustment at closing for working capital, capital expenditures and other items.

The purchase price of the acquired systems approximates their book value and reflects the retention by Enbridge Energy Company of the deferred tax liability related to the contribution of the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners.

A committee of independent members of the board of directors of Enbridge Energy Company, the general partner of Enbridge Partners, negotiated the purchase price and the terms of the acquisition on behalf of Enbridge Partners and recommended that the board of directors of the general partner approve the acquisition on behalf of Enbridge Partners.

One of the conditions to the closing of this offering will be the successful closing of the acquisition by Enbridge Partners of the acquired systems. Enbridge Partners will use the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to us to repay a portion of the debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that it will assume in connection with the acquisition.

9

The Offering

Shares offered 10,000,000 shares representing limited liability

company interests in Enbridge Management

Shares offered to the public 9,500,000 shares representing limited liability

company interests in Enbridge Management

Shares offered to Enbridge Energy Company 500,000 shares representing limited liability

company interests in Enbridge Management

Shares outstanding immediately after this offering

10,000,000 shares representing limited liability company interests in Enbridge Management; and

one voting share of Enbridge Management owned by Enbridge Energy Company.

Use of proceeds

We will use substantially all of the net proceeds of the offering of our shares, expected to be approximately \$430.4 million based on an estimated public offering price of \$45.50 per share, which was the closing price of the Class A common units on the NYSE on May 21, 2002, as follows:

\$500,000 to compensate Enbridge Inc. for its purchase obligation and tax indemnities; and

the remainder to purchase a number of i-units, a new class of limited partner interests, from Enbridge Partners that will equal the number of our shares that will be outstanding immediately following this offering.

Enbridge Partners will use the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to us to repay a portion of the debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that it will assume in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems.

Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates will use the aggregate proceeds they receive from us and from Enbridge Partners for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of commercial paper borrowings.

Exchange listing

We intend to apply to list the shares being sold in this offering on the NYSE under the symbol

10

Our Shares

Enbridge Management

U.S. federal income tax matters associated with our shares

We are a Delaware limited liability company recently formed to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners. Our shares represent limited liability company interests in us. We will be a limited partner in Enbridge Partners owning i-units and will, by agreement with Enbridge Partners and its general partner, manage and control its business and affairs. Because we will be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, an owner of our shares will not report on its U.S. federal income tax return any of our items of income, gain, loss and deduction. You will not receive a Schedule K-1 and will not be

subject to state tax filings in the various states in which Enbridge Partners conducts business, as a result of owning our shares.

A tax-exempt investor's ownership or sale of our shares will not generate income derived from an unrelated trade or business regularly carried on by the tax-exempt investor, which generally is referred to as unrelated business taxable income, or "UBTI," unless its ownership of our shares is debt financed by it. The ownership or sale of our shares by a regulated investment company or mutual fund will generate qualifying income to it. Furthermore, the ownership of our shares by a mutual fund will be treated as a qualifying asset.

There will not be any withholding taxes imposed on quarterly or other distributions of additional shares to a non-U.S. person or generally on gain from the sale of our shares by a non-U.S. person provided it has owned no more than 5% of our shares and our shares continue to be traded on a nationally recognized securities exchange.

Although we will be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income, Enbridge Partners will not allocate taxable income or gain to the i-units we own until such time as there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. Therefore, until a liquidation of Enbridge Partners, we do not anticipate that we generally will have taxable income resulting from our ownership of the i-units. In the event that we do have taxable income, Enbridge Inc. has agreed to indemnify us for the related tax liability to the extent that the liability exceeds the cash we receive relating to that

income.

11

Distributions

U.S. federal income tax matters

associated with i-units

We will make distributions on our shares only in additional shares, except upon our liquidation. The fraction of an additional share distributed each quarter per share outstanding will be calculated by dividing the amount of the cash distribution paid by Enbridge Partners on each common unit for that quarter by the average market price of one of our shares as determined for a 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the ex-dividend date for our

Mandatory Purchase

If any of the events listed below occurs, Enbridge Inc. will be required to purchase all of our then outstanding shares not owned by it or its affiliates at a purchase price equal to the higher of the average market price of the shares and the Class A common units as determined for a 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the applicable event. The events include:

aggregate distributions or other payments by Enbridge Partners on its common units, including pursuant to an issuer tender offer by Enbridge Partners, during a 360-day period that exceed 50% of the average market price of a Class A common unit for the 10 trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the beginning of that 360-day period;

Enbridge Partners merges with another entity where Enbridge Partners is not the surviving entity, or sells substantially all of its assets, unless in the transaction:

the only consideration that we receive in exchange for our i-units is a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units; and

the only consideration that the owners of common units receive in exchange for their common units is a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units and/or cash, and the amount of cash received per common unit does not exceed 33½% of the average market price of a Class A common unit for the 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of execution of the definitive agreement for the transaction; or

12

an event resulting in Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates ceasing to be the beneficial owners of more than 50% of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock of the general partner of Enbridge Partners, unless:

a new person or entity that becomes the beneficial owner of more than 50% of that total voting power is organized under the laws of a state in the United States and has long term unsecured debt with an investment grade credit rating (as determined by Moody's and Standard & Poor's) immediately prior to the closing of the transaction; and that beneficial owner assumes all of Enbridge Inc.'s obligations under the purchase provisions and the tax indemnification agreement.

For purposes of the mandatory purchase provisions, including the definitions of the mandatory purchase events, and the optional purchase provisions, Enbridge Inc. will be deemed to include Enbridge Inc., its successors by merger and any entity that succeeds to Enbridge Inc.'s obligations under the purchase provisions and the tax indemnification agreement in connection with an acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Inc.

In addition to its mandatory purchase obligation, Enbridge Inc. has the option to purchase all, but not less than all, of our then outstanding shares not owned by it or its affiliates in two circumstances:

when Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own 80% or more of our outstanding shares; and

when Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own a number of our shares and the common units that equals 85% or more of our shares and the outstanding common units on a combined basis.

In these two circumstances, the purchase price per share is calculated differently. If the first circumstance described above exists and Enbridge Inc. elects to purchase our shares, the purchase price per share will equal 110% of the higher of:

the average closing price for our shares for the 10 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day prior to the date on which the notice of the purchase is given; and the highest price Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates paid for our shares during the 90 days prior to the date on which the notice of purchase is given.

13

If the second circumstance described above exists and Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates elect to purchase both our shares and the common units, the purchase price per share and the purchase price per common unit will both equal the higher of:

the average closing price for our shares or Class A common units, whichever is higher, for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day prior to the date on which the notice of the purchase is given; and

the highest price Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates paid either for our shares or the Class A common units during the 90 days prior to

Optional Purchase

Voting Rights

the date on which the notice of purchase is given.

Owners of the class of shares offered in this offering will have no right to elect our directors. Enbridge Energy Company owns all of the shares of the class that elects our directors, which we refer to as "voting shares." Owners of the class of shares issued in this offering, other than Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates, may vote on the following matters:

amendments to our limited liability company agreement (including the purchase provisions), the Enbridge Inc. tax indemnification agreement and the delegation of control agreement, but only if the amendment would have a material adverse effect on us or the owners of our shares, as determined in the sole discretion of our board of directors, or would reduce the time for any notice to which the owners of our shares are entitled; a proposed issuance of any new class of our shares; and a decision by us to:

sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any i-units, issue options, warrants or other securities entitling the holder to purchase our shares, borrow money or issue debt, purchase our shares, or liquidate, merge or recapitalize.

14

In addition, on any matter submitted by Enbridge Partners for a vote of the i-units, the i-units will be voted proportionately to the number of affirmative and negative votes cast by the owners of our shares, including our voting shares. In general, the i-units vote together with the common units on matters on which the common units vote. The i-units also vote as a separate class on some matters, such as amendments to the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the i-units in relation to other classes of units. Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates, however, cannot vote any shares owned by them, including the voting shares, on the following matters submitted by Enbridge Partners for a vote of the i-units:

the removal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners; the transfer by the general partner of Enbridge Partners of its general partner interest to a non-affiliated person and the admission of that person as a general partner; and amendments to the terms of the i-units that would have a material adverse effect on the i-units in relation to other classes of units.

If a person or group owns 20% or more of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding common units and our shares, they cannot vote the shares that they own. This particular limitation does not apply to Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates. However, as described above, there are a number of circumstances in which Enbridge Inc. and

its affiliates cannot vote the shares that they own.

When Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates or a person or group owning 20% or more of the aggregate number of common units and our shares are not entitled to vote as described above, the shares that they own will be treated as if they are not outstanding for all purposes of that vote.

Through the combined effect of the provisions in the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement and the provisions of our limited liability company agreement, the number of our outstanding shares and the number of i-units we own always will be equal.

Our limited liability company agreement provides:

Energy Company; and

that our activities will be limited to being a limited partner in Enbridge Partners and managing and controlling its business and affairs; that we may not borrow money or issue debt; that we may not issue classes of shares other than shares of the class being sold in this offering and the class of voting shares currently owned by Enbridge

for the maintenance of a one-to-one relationship between the number of our outstanding shares and the number of i-units we own.

own.
Upon the closing of this offering, the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement will be amended to provide that Enbridge Partners will not:

except in liquidation, make a distribution on an i-unit other than in additional i-units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units;

make a distribution on a common unit other than in cash, additional common units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units; allow an owner of common units to receive any consideration other than cash, common units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units, or allow us, as the owner of the i-units, to receive any consideration other than additional i-units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units, in either case, in a:

merger transaction, if the unitholders of Enbridge Partners immediately prior to the transaction own more than 50% of the common equity securities of the survivor immediately after the transaction: or

recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction; be a party to a merger, sell substantially all of its assets to another person or enter into similar transactions, if:

the survivor of the merger or the other person is to be controlled by Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates after the transaction; and

Anti-dilution Adjustments

Our Covenants

Covenants of Enbridge Partners

the transaction would be a mandatory purchase event; make a tender offer for common units unless the consideration payable in such tender offer:

is exclusively cash; and together with any cash payable in respect of any other tender offer by Enbridge Partners for the common units concluded within the preceding 360 days and the aggregate amount of any cash distributions to all owners of common units made within the preceding 360-day period is less than 12% of the aggregate average market value of all classes of units of Enbridge Partners determined on the trading day immediately preceding the commencement of the tender offer; or issue any of its i-units to any person other than us.

16

Summary Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information of Enbridge Partners

The table on the following page shows summary pro forma as adjusted financial information for Enbridge Partners for the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 combined with the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002, excluding the Canadian assets that are owned by Enbridge Midcoast Energy, which are being retained by Enbridge Energy Company.

The summary pro forma as adjusted financial information gives effect to the following as of April 1, 2001:

the acquisition by Enbridge Partners of the acquired systems for \$929.1 million, consisting of the assumption of \$900.0 million in debt related to the acquired systems, payment of \$18.7 million in cash and issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest in Enbridge Partners to Enbridge Energy Company; and

the receipt by Enbridge Partners of \$429.9 million in proceeds from the sale of its i-units to us, which assumes that we sell 10,000,000 shares at \$45.50 per share, net of the underwriting discount, expected expenses and \$500,000 paid by us to Enbridge Inc. in respect of its purchase obligation and tax indemnities, and the use by Enbridge Partners of these proceeds to repay a portion of the debt it assumed in connection with the acquisition.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas system on January 2, 2002 and the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002. The summary pro forma as adjusted financial information reflects the results of operations of these systems as if they were acquired on April 1, 2001.

Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system on May 18, 2001 and the East Texas system on November 30, 2001. The historical and summary pro forma as adjusted financial information reflects the results of operations of these systems since the dates they were acquired.

The summary pro forma as adjusted financial information has been prepared using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price allocated in the summary pro forma as adjusted financial information is based on Enbridge Partners' estimate of the fair market values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The summary pro forma as adjusted financial information includes assumptions and adjustments as described in the notes to the pro forma as adjusted combined financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus and should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and related notes of Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Midcoast Energy appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

The summary pro forma as adjusted financial information may not be indicative of the results that would have occurred if the acquisition of the acquired systems had been consummated on April 1, 2001 or that will be obtained in the future.

17

Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information for the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 for Enbridge Partners and the 12 months ended April 30, 2002 for the Acquired Systems

Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information for the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 for Enbridge Partners and the 12 months ended April 30, 2002 for the Acquired Systems

		nbridge artners	Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma as Adjusted		
	(un	audited)	(unaudited)	(unaudited)		
			(in millions, except per unit amounts)			
Income Statement Data:						
Operating revenue	\$	449.8	\$ 823.9	\$ 1,273.7		
Power		51.8		51.8		
Cost of natual gas		115.9	676.7	792.6		
Operating and administrative expenses		112.2	74.9	187.1		
Depreciation and amortization		66.7	19.5	86.2		
Operating income		103.2	52.8	156.0		
Interest and other income		2.7	(0.6)	2.1		
Interest expense		(58.8)	(34.2)	(93.0)		
Income before minority interest		47.1	18.0	65.1		
Minority interest		(0.6)		(0.6)		
Net income	\$	46.5	\$ 18.0	\$ 64.5		
Net income per unit	\$	1.16	\$ 1.41	\$ 1.22		
Weighted average units outstanding		31.4	10.0	41.4		
General partner's net income allocation	\$	10.1	\$ 3.9	\$ 14.0		
Common unitholders' net income allocation	\$	36.4	\$ 14.1	\$ 50.5		
Other Financial Data:						
EBITDA(1)	\$	169.9	\$ 72.3	\$ 242.2		

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.

18

You should read the following summary financial information of Enbridge Partners in connection with the financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Enbridge Partners Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The historical results of Enbridge Partners are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods.

Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system on May 18, 2001 and the East Texas system on November 30, 2001. The summary financial information of Enbridge Partners as of and for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflects the inclusion of these systems since the dates they were acquired.

	Year Ended December 31,											Three Months Ended March 31,			
		1997	7 1998			1999		2000		2001		2001		2002	
												(unau	dite	d)	
					(doll	ars in milli	ions	, except per	uni	t amounts)					
Income Statement Data:															
Operating revenue	\$	282.1	\$	287.7	\$	312.6	\$	305.6	\$	340.4	\$	71.9	\$	181.3	
Operating and administrative expenses		133.9		140.9		124.5		128.0		180.7		31.8		131.0	
Depreciation and amortization		40.1		41.4		57.8		61.1		63.8		15.4		18.3	
1			_				_						_		
		100.1		107.1		100.0		446.7		07.0		24.5		22.0	
Operating income		108.1		105.4		130.3		116.5		95.9		24.7		32.0	
Interest and other income		9.7		6.0		3.4		4.8		2.8		0.7		0.6	
Interest expense		(38.6)		(21.9)		(54.1)		(60.4)		(59.3)		(15.2)		(14.7)	
Minority interest		(0.9)		(1.0)		(0.9)		(0.7)		(0.5)		(0.1)	_	(0.2)	
Net income	\$	78.3	\$	88.5	\$	78.7	\$	60.2	\$	38.9	\$	10.1	\$	17.7	
Tet meone	Ψ	76.5	Ψ	00.5	Ψ	76.7	Ψ	00.2	Ψ	30.7	Ψ	10.1	Ψ	17.7	
Net income per common unit(1)	\$	3.02	\$	3.07	\$	2.48	\$	1.78	\$	0.98	\$	0.27	\$	0.43	
•			_						_		_		_		
Cash distributions paid per common unit		2.92		3.36		3.485		3.50		3.50		0.875		0.90	
Financial Position Data: (at period end)															
Property, plant and															
equipment, net	\$	850.3	\$	1,296.2	\$	1,321.3	\$	1,281.9	\$	1,486.6	\$	1,268.9	\$	1,498.5	
Total assets	Ψ	1,063.2	Ψ	1,414.4	Ψ	1,413.7	Ψ	1,376.7	Ψ	1,649.2	Ψ	1,369.8	Ψ	1,682.6	
Long-term debt		463.0		814.5		784.5		799.3		715.4		799.3		683.4	
Partners' capital:		103.0		011.5		701.5		177.5		713.1		177.5		005.1	
Class A common unitholders		461.6		453.4		533.1		488.6		577.0		473.2		647.1	
Class B common unitholder		36.7		37.3		47.4		42.1		48.8		40.1		53.4	
General Partner		3.5		4.3		5.6		5.2		6.5		5.1		7.7	
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)										11.9		(1.0)		(2.6)	
	_		_		_		_		_		_		_		
Total	\$	501.8	\$	495.0	\$	586.1	\$	535.9	\$	644.2	\$	517.4	\$	705.6	
Other Financial Data:															
EBITDA(2)	\$	148.2	\$	146.8	\$	188.1	\$	177.6	\$	159.7	\$	40.1	\$	50.3	
Cash flow from operating activities		106.6		103.6		101.6		117.3		122.3		46.7		52.2	
Cash flow used in investing activities		(101.7)		(427.9)		(91.1)		(20.7)		(299.1)		(6.3)		(29.1)	
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities		24.1		252.7		(17.5)		(99.4)		179.8		(28.0)		(1.0)	
Acquisitions included in investing activities						_				265.0		Ĺ			
		126.9		487.3		82.9		21.7		35.0		2.4		30.0	

Ended Year Ended December 31, March 31, Capital expenditures included in investing activities 19 **Three Months** Ended Year Ended December 31, March 31, 1998 1999 1997 2000 2001 2001 2002 (unaudited) **Operating Data:** Lakehead system Barrel miles (billions)(3) 389 391 350 341 333 83 86 Deliveries (thousands of bpd)(4) United States 960 992 898 976 960 980 906 Ontario 552 570 471 362 355 367 408 1.512 1,562 1,369 1.338 1,315 1,347 1,314 East Texas system(5) Average daily volume (MMBtu/day)(6) 281 362 394 399 388

- The general partner's allocation of net income with respect to its general partner interest in the following amounts has been deducted before calculating net income per common unit: 1997, \$4.4 million; 1998, \$8.0 million; 1999, \$9.1 million; 2000, \$8.8 million; 2001, \$9.1 million; and the three month period ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, \$2.1 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. The weighted average number of outstanding common units for each period is as follows: 1997, 24.4 million; 1998, 26.2 million; 1999, 28.0 million; 2000, 28.9 million; 2001, 30.2 million and the three month periods ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, 28.9 million and 33.7 million, respectively.
- EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business of Enbridge Partners and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.
- "Barrel miles" is a measurement of how fully a pipeline is used over its length and is calculated by multiplying the amount of each individual delivery (measured in barrels) by the distance it is shipped (measured in miles) and then adding the results so obtained for all deliveries.
- "Deliveries" means the amount of liquid hydrocarbons delivered by a pipeline to certain points along the system and is quantified using a barrel as a unit of measure. "Barrels per day" (or "bpd") delivery data is a measurement of average deliveries for the indicated period and is computed by dividing the number of barrels delivered for the period by the number of days in the period.
- (5)
 East Texas system operating statistics for 1999, 2000 and 2001 are shown on a full-year basis for informational purposes. Enbridge Partners acquired the East Texas system on November 30, 2001.
- (6) In millions of British thermal units per day, or "MMBtu/day."

Three Months

Summary Financial Information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy

You should read the following summary financial information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy in connection with the financial statements and of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The historical results of Enbridge Midcoast Energy are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods.

Summary financial information for the year ended December 31, 2001 is presented as two separate periods due to the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company on May 11, 2001. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting effective May 1, 2001.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas system on January 2, 2002 and acquired the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002. The summary financial information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflects the inclusion of these systems since the dates they were acquired.

The summary financial information for all periods beginning after April 30, 2001 reflect the financial performance of the assets under the ownership and management of Enbridge Energy Company.

		Year Ended	December 31	,	Four Months Ended April 30,	Eight Months Ended December 31,	Three Months Ended March 31,				
	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2001	2001	2002			
				(de	ollars in million	ns)					
							(unau	ıdited)			
Statement of Operations Data:											
Operating revenue	\$ 112.7	\$ 234.1	\$ 391.6	\$ 792.3	\$ 407.0	\$ 438.5	\$ 333.2	\$ 191.1			
Operating expenses:											
Energy marketing expenses	100.3	211.0	330.5	682.5	390.9	364.7	320.9	158.5			
Operating and administration	3.5	6.3	30.0	48.6	29.5	37.1	13.5	15.9			
Unusual charges			2.7								
Depreciation and amortization	1.6	3.2	7.5	15.7	5.7	15.5	4.3	5.0			
Total operating expenses	105.4	220.5	370.7	746.8	426.1	417.3	338.7	179.4			
Operating income (loss)	7.3	13.6	20.9	45.5	(19.1)	21.2	(5.5)	11.7			
Interest and other income	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	1.8	0.6	0.1	0.2	(0.5)			
Interest expense	(1.1)	(3.3)			(9.4)	(14.0)	(7.2)	(4.4)			
Minority interest	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.1)	(0.1)						
Income (loss) before income taxes											
and extraordinary item	5.9	10.4	14.2	28.8	(28.0)	7.3	(12.5)	6.8			
Provision for income taxes	(0.1)	(1.3)	(2.2)	(7.4)	9.4	(4.2)	4.2	(2.5)			
Income (loss) before extraordinary item	5.8	9.1	12.0	21.4	(18.6)	3.1	(8.3)	4.3			
Extraordinary item, net of income tax			(0.6)								
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income tax			(::=)		(0.9)						
lan					(0.9)						

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

					Y	ear Ended	Dec	ember 31	,		M E	Four lonths Inded oril 30,	nths Months ded Ended			Three Months Ended March 31,					
Net income (loss))		\$	5.8	\$	9.1	\$	11.4	\$	21.4	\$	(19.5)	\$		3.1	\$	(8.3)	\$	4.3		
Financial Position	on Da	ta:																			
(at period end)																					
Property, plant ar	nd		đ	07.6	d	1540	ф	202.0	Ф	416.0			¢		400.1	ф	415.4	ф	(5(0		
equipment, net Goodwill and oth		ata	4	97.6 1.4		\$ 154.2 2.5	\$	393.0 23.0	\$	416.0 26.3			\$		482.1 217.0	\$	415.4 25.7	\$	656.0 246.4		
Total assets	ier ass	sets		128.0		191.3		478.4		599.3					787.7		552.3		1,033.2		
Long-term debt				28.9		78.1		240.0		256.0					707.7		261.1		1,033.2		
Due to affiliates				20.7		70.1		240.0		230.0					319.2		201.1		540.6		
Shareholder's equ	iitv:														317.2				5 10.0		
•	•			0.1		0.1		0.1		0.1							0.1				
Common stoc				0.1		0.1															
Paid-in capital	l			80.7		81.0		166.0		166.0					368.0		166.3		368.0		
Retained earni	ings (deficit)		(19.3)	(12.0)	(2.9)		14.9					3.1		5.5		7.4		
Accumulated comprehensive		ome		,		•		0.1							(7.7)		(0.7))	(15.8)		
Treasury stock	k					(2.8))	(2.6)		(3.2)							(3.3)	١			
ricasury stock	X.		-			(2.0	_	(2.0)	_	(3.2)			-			_	(3.3)				
Total share	1 1 . 1	!!4	\$	61.5	9	66.3	\$	160.7	\$	177.8			\$		363.4	\$	167.9	\$	359.6		
									21	1											
EBITDA(1) EBITDA net of Canadian	\$	8.9	\$	16.8	\$	28.4	\$	61.2	\$	(13.4)	\$		36.7	\$	(1.	2)	\$	16.7			
assets(2)	\$	8.9	\$	16.8	\$	27.2	\$	57.4	\$	(13.8)	¢		35.3	\$	0.	1	\$	16.4			
Cash flow from (used in)	Ψ	0.9	Ψ	10.0	Ψ	21.2	Ψ	37.4	Ψ	(13.0)	Ψ		33.3	Ψ	0.	_	Ψ .	10.4			
operating activities	\$	3.8	\$	17.2	\$	16.7	\$	26.0	\$	(0.5)	¢		(21.8)	¢	(4	4)	¢ ·	19.0			
Cash flow used	Ψ	3.6	φ	17.2	Ψ	10.7	φ	20.0	φ	(0.5)	φ		(21.0)	φ	(4.	4)	Ψ .	19.0			
in investing activities	\$	(62.5)	\$	(61.3)	\$	(254.3)	\$	(40.4)	\$	(11.4)	\$		(51.4)	\$	(3.	3)	\$ (20)7.4)			
Cash flow from financing	_				_		_														
activities Acquisitions included in investing	\$	57.8	\$	44.0	\$	239.7	\$	16.7	\$	9.6	\$		72.7	\$	4.	6	\$ 22	21.4			
activities Capital expenditures included in	\$	60.8	\$	52.1	\$	238.1	\$	22.8	\$		\$		1.2	\$			\$ 18	39.6			
investing activities	\$	1.4	\$	7.8	\$	16.6	\$	16.5	\$	10.8	\$		50.2	\$	2.	8	\$	17.8			
Operating Data:											·										
Average daily volume																					
(MMBtu/day)(3)		401.0		606.8		752.9		884.1		1,222.7			1,102.5		1,233.	3	1,25	58.4			

⁽¹⁾EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and the Midcoast system and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but

it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others. EBITDA on this line includes Canadian assets.

(2) Excludes EBITDA attributable to the operation of the Canadian assets, which have a book value of approximately \$25 million, that will not be contributed to Enbridge Partners.

(3)

In millions of British thermal units per day, or "MMBtu/day." Includes all active pipeline mileage in which Enbridge Midcoast Energy owns an interest.

22

Enbridge Management Balance Sheet

You should read the following financial information together with the financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Enbridge Management" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

The unaudited as adjusted balance sheet information as of May 23, 2002 gives effect to the receipt of net proceeds of \$430.4 million, which assumes that we sell 10,000,000 shares at \$45.50 per share, net of the underwriting discount and expected expenses, and that we use \$500,000 of the net proceeds to compensate Enbridge Inc. for its purchase obligation and tax indemnities and use \$429.9 million of the net proceeds to purchase a number of i-units from Enbridge Partners equal to the number of our outstanding shares.

	As of May 23, 2002						
	Hist	orical	A	s Adjusted for the Offering			
			(unaudited)				
		(in t	chousands)				
Assets							
Cash	\$	1	\$	1			
i-units and purchase rights associated with our shares							
and the tax indemnity				430,388			
Total assets	\$	1	\$	430,389			
Liabilities and Equity							
Liabilities							
Equity							
Voting shares	\$	1	\$	1			
Non-voting shares				430,388			
Total liabilities and equity	\$	1	\$	430,389			
23							

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our shares involves risks. You should carefully consider the following risk factors together with all of the other information included in this prospectus in evaluating an investment in our shares.

If any of the following risks were actually to occur, the business, financial condition or results of operations of us or Enbridge Partners could be adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our shares could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Shares, the i-Units and Enbridge Management

An active trading market for our shares may not develop, and even if such a market does develop, the market price of our shares may be less than the market price of the Class A common units of Enbridge Partners.

Prior to this offering, you could not buy or sell our shares. An active public trading market for our shares may not develop or continue after this offering. Even if such a market does develop, the market price of our shares after this offering may be less than the market price of Enbridge Partners' Class A common units as a result of any of the following factors, some of which are beyond our control:

the complexity of the terms of our shares, including the optional and mandatory purchase features and the tax indemnity;

changes to the terms of our shares that our board of directors may make in its sole discretion;

the failure of Enbridge Inc. to fulfill its mandatory purchase obligation upon the occurence of a mandatory purchase event;

liabilities or obligations we may incur in connection with our management and control of the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners for which Enbridge Partners or Enbridge Energy Company are either unwilling or unable to reimburse or indemnify us; and

liabilities that we may incur, such as for violations of laws like the U.S. federal securities laws, or acts we may commit in bad faith, for which we may not be entitled to indemnification from Enbridge Partners or Enbridge Energy Company.

The value of the quarterly distribution of an additional fractional share that you will receive per share may be less than the quarterly distribution of cash that Enbridge Partners' common unitholders will receive per common unit.

The fraction of a share to be issued per share outstanding with each quarterly distribution will be based on the average closing price of our shares for the ten consecutive trading days preceding the ex-dividend date for our shares. Because the market price of our shares may vary substantially over time, the market value on the date you receive a distribution of additional shares may vary substantially from the cash you would have received had you owned common units of Enbridge Partners instead of our shares.

Enbridge Partners could be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, which would reduce substantially the value of our shares and would give the owner of our voting shares the right to merge us into Enbridge Partners.

The anticipated benefit of an investment in our shares depends largely on the continued treatment of Enbridge Partners as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Enbridge Partners has not requested, and does not plan to request, a ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue

24

Service on this or any other matter affecting Enbridge Partners. Current law requires Enbridge Partners to derive at least 90% of its annual gross income from specific activities to continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Enbridge Partners may not find it possible, regardless of its efforts, to meet this income requirement or may inadvertently fail to meet this income requirement. Current law could change so as to cause Enbridge Partners to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes without regard to its sources of income or otherwise subject Enbridge Partners to entity-level taxation.

If Enbridge Partners were to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it would pay U.S. federal income tax on its income at the corporate tax rate, which currently is a maximum of 35%, and would pay state income taxes at varying rates. The additional i-units

that we will own after each quarterly distribution of cash to holders of common units generally would be taxed. Because a tax would be imposed upon Enbridge Partners as a corporation, the cash available for distribution to its common unitholders would be substantially reduced, which would reduce the value of the i-units we own and the value of your shares.

Under the provisions of our limited liability company agreement and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement, if Enbridge Partners were to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the owner of our voting shares would have the right to cause us to merge into it or one of its subsidiaries, provided that the merger is currently non-taxable to holders of our shares, based upon an opinion of counsel or a ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. In such event, you would receive common units or other securities substantially similar to the common units in exchange for your shares.

Enbridge Partners may issue additional common or other classes of units and we may issue additional shares, which would dilute your ownership interest.

The issuance of additional common or other classes of units by Enbridge Partners or shares by us, other than our quarterly distributions to you, may have the following effects:

the amount available for distributions on each share may decrease;

the relative voting power of each previously outstanding share may decrease; and

the market price of shares may decline.

Additionally, the public sale by Enbridge Energy Company of a significant portion of the 3,912,750 Class B common units that it currently owns could reduce the market price of the Class A common units and, indirectly, the shares. Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement allows the general partner to cause Enbridge Partners to register for public sale any units held by the general partner or its affiliates. A public sale of the Class B common units currently held by Enbridge Energy Company could absorb some of the trading market demand for the outstanding Class A common units, which indirectly could reduce the market price of the shares. In addition, Enbridge Energy Company may sell its Class B common units in private transactions at any time, which could have a similar effect on the market for the outstanding Class A common units and, indirectly, the shares.

Because we have no assets other than our interest in Enbridge Partners, our financial condition and results of operations will be dependent upon the performance of Enbridge Partners.

After this offering we will be a limited partner in Enbridge Partners and our only asset will be the i-units we own. If Enbridge Partners decreases the cash distributions it pays to common unitholders, the value of distributions of shares to holders of our shares will decrease as well.

25

Your shares are subject to optional and mandatory purchase provisions that could result in your having to sell your shares at a time or price that you do not like.

If either of the optional purchase rights are exercised by Enbridge Inc., or if there is a mandatory purchase event, you will be required to sell your shares at a time or price that may be undesirable, and you could receive less than you paid for your shares. Any sale of our shares, to Enbridge Inc. or otherwise, for cash will be a taxable transaction to the owner of the shares sold. Accordingly, a gain or loss will be recognized on the sale equal to the difference between the cash received and the owner's tax basis in the shares sold.

Our board of directors will have the power to change the terms of our shares in ways our board determines, in its sole discretion, are not materially adverse to you.

As an owner of our shares, you may not like the changes made to the terms of our shares, if any, and you may disagree with our board of directors' decision that the changes are not materially adverse to you as a shareholder. Your recourse if you disagree will be limited because our limited liability company agreement gives broad latitude and discretion to our board of directors and eliminates or reduces the fiduciary duties that our board of directors otherwise would owe to you.

Enbridge Inc. may be unable to satisfy its obligation to purchase our shares upon the occurrence of a mandatory purchase event, including upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners, which likely would result in a loss in value of our shares.

The obligations of Enbridge Inc. to purchase our outstanding shares upon the occurrence of a mandatory purchase event is dependent upon Enbridge Inc.'s financial ability to meet its obligations. There is no requirement for Enbridge Inc. to secure its obligations or comply with financial covenants to ensure its performance of these obligations.

If Enbridge Partners is liquidated and Enbridge Inc. does not satisfy its obligation to purchase your shares, then the value of your shares will depend on the after tax amount of the liquidating distribution received by us as the owner of i-units. The terms of the i-units provide that no allocations of income, gain, loss or deduction will be made in respect of the i-units until such time as there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. If there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners, it is intended that we will be allocated income and gain in an amount necessary for the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit. As a result, we likely will realize taxable income upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners. However, there may not be sufficient amounts of income and gain to cause the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit. If they are not equal, we and, therefore, you will receive less value than would be received by an owner of common units. In that event, the liquidating distribution per common unit will exceed the liquidating distribution per i-unit.

Further, the tax indemnity provided to us by Enbridge Inc. only indemnifies us for our tax liabilities to the extent we have not received sufficient cash in the transaction generating the tax liability to pay the associated tax. Prior to any liquidation of Enbridge Partners, we do not expect to receive cash in a taxable transaction. If a liquidation of Enbridge Partners occurs, however, we likely would receive cash which we would use, at least in part, to pay taxes. As a result, our residual value and the value of our shares will likely be less than the value of the common units upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners.

26

If we are not fully reimbursed or indemnified for obligations and liabilities we incur in managing the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners, we may be unable to pay those liabilities and the value of our shares could decline.

Under the delegation of control agreement, we have been delegated management and control of Enbridge Partners and its operating subsidiaries. We may have unlimited liability, including with respect to environmental liabilities, for our obligations to the same extent as a general partner under partnership laws as a result of our management and control of Enbridge Partners. To the extent we incur liabilities or other obligations in connection with our performance under the delegation of control agreement, we are entitled to be reimbursed or indemnified by Enbridge Partners or Enbridge Energy Company. In the event Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Energy Company are either unwilling or unable to reimburse or indemnify us, we likely will be unable to satisfy these liabilities or obligations. Additionally, our right to reimbursement or indemnification is limited under certain circumstances, including:

if we act in bad faith; or

if we violate laws, like the U.S. federal securities laws, where indemnification may be against public policy.

For more information about the delegation of control agreement, please read "Relationships and Related Party Transactions."

If a person or group, other than Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, owns 20% or more of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Enbridge Partners common units and our shares, that person or group may not vote its shares; as a result, you are less likely to receive a premium for your shares in a change of control situation.

If a person or group owns 20% or more of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding common units and our shares, that person or group may not vote its shares. This limitation does not apply to Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates. This provision may discourage a person or group from attempting to take over control of us or Enbridge Partners and reduce the price at which our shares will trade under certain circumstances.

You will have limited voting rights and, therefore, will have little or no opportunity to influence or change our management.

Enbridge Energy Company owns all of our voting shares eligible to vote on the election of our directors and, therefore, is entitled to elect all of the members of our board of directors. For a description of the limited voting rights you will have as an owner of shares, see "Description of Our Shares" Limited Voting Rights."

Upon the closing of this offering, Enbridge Energy Company will delegate to us substantially all of its rights and powers to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners, subject to Enbridge Energy Company's right to approve specified actions. For a more detailed description of these approval rights, please read "Relationships and Related Party Transactions."

Risks Related to Enbridge Partners' Business

Enbridge Partners' pipeline systems might be used less if demand for, or the supply of, crude oil, natural gas and NGLs decreases.

The volume of shipments on the Lakehead system and, to a large extent, Enbridge Partners' financial performance, depend on adequate supplies of western Canadian crude oil. Insufficient supplies could adversely affect Enbridge Partners' business by limiting shipments on its Lakehead system. Crude oil deliveries on the Lakehead system have declined from the prior year in each of

27

the last three calendar years. This decline resulted primarily from decreased conventional crude oil production in western Canada, which, in turn, resulted primarily from reduced spending levels for exploration and development activities in western Canada. These reduced spending levels resulted primarily from low oil prices in 1998 and the first part of 1999. During 2001, crude oil production from western Canada continued to lag behind industry expectations and, despite strong crude oil prices, exploration and development activity focused on natural gas drilling rather than crude oil drilling due to more favorable natural gas prices.

Enbridge Partners' ability to increase deliveries and to expand its Lakehead system in the future depends on increased supplies of western Canadian crude oil. Enbridge Partners expects that growth in future supplies of western Canadian crude oil will come from oil sands projects in the Province of Alberta, Canada. The development of these oil sands projects will depend upon investment levels and related development activities, which are affected by the level of crude oil prices and level of natural gas prices relative to crude oil prices. The supply of crude oil to the Lakehead system from oil sands projects also may be affected by periodic maintenance turnarounds and other shut-downs at the producing plants that supply the Enbridge, and indirectly, the Lakehead, systems. If Enbridge Partners' current estimates of future crude oil production from oil sands projects prove to be materially incorrect, lower supplies of western Canadian crude oil may result in reduced deliveries of crude oil from the Lakehead system. Furthermore, full utilization of additional capacity as a result of Enbridge Partners' current and future expansions of the Lakehead system, including the Terrace expansion program, will largely depend on these anticipated increases in crude oil production from oil sands projects. If these anticipated production increases do not occur, Enbridge Partners' financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

The volumes of crude oil that Enbridge Partners transports on its Lakehead and North Dakota systems also depend largely on the demand for crude oil in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the delivery by others of crude oil and refined products into the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the Province of Ontario. Existing pipeline capacity for the delivery of crude oil to the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States exceeds current refining capacity.

The supply of natural gas and NGLs available for shipment on the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems will depend on the level of natural gas and NGL production from the producing regions that supply these systems. The level of production will depend on spending levels for exploration and development activities which are affected by the price of natural gas and NGLs. The supply of NGLs and natural gas also may be affected by periodic maintenance turnarounds and other shut-downs at the treating and processing plants that supply the transmission pipelines of the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems. Additionally, the volumes of natural gas and NGLs transported on the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems depend largely on the demand for natural gas and NGLs in the Mid-Continent and Gulf Coast regions of the United States.

A variety of factors could cause the demand for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs to decrease in the markets served by Enbridge Partners' existing pipeline systems and by the acquired systems. These factors include:

economic conditions;
levels of commodity prices and the price of crude oil relative to natural gas;
seasonal weather patterns;

tuei conservation measures;		
alternative fuel options;	ve fuel options;	
	28	

government regulation;

fuel compountion magazines

technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation devices; and

the frequency and duration of maintenance turnarounds and other shut-downs at refineries and other facilities that are supplied by these pipeline systems.

Changes in Enbridge Partners' tariff rates or challenges to its tariff rates could have a material adverse effect on Enbridge Partners' financial condition and results of operations.

The tariff rates charged by several of Enbridge Partners' existing pipeline systems and by the acquired systems are regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or "FERC," and/or various state regulatory agencies. Most importantly, the FERC regulates the tariff rates Enbridge Partners is permitted to charge its customers for interstate transportation of crude oil and natural gas. If the tariff rates Enbridge Partners is permitted to charge its customers for use of its regulated pipelines are lowered by the FERC on its own initiative or as a result of challenges by third parties, the profitability of its pipeline businesses may suffer. Even if the FERC allows Enbridge Partners to raise its tariff rates for a particular pipeline, there may be significant delay between the time the FERC approves the tariff rate increase and the time that the rate increase actually goes into effect, which delay could further reduce Enbridge Partners' cash flow. Furthermore, competition from other pipeline systems may prevent Enbridge Partners from raising its tariff rates even if the FERC permits Enbridge Partners to do so.

Additionally, the tariff rates charged for certain transmission services in interstate commerce on Enbridge Partners' East Texas system are regulated by the FERC. However, the intrastate transmission services provided on the East Texas system are not subject to FERC jurisdiction. The FERC periodically proposes and implements new rules and regulations affecting the natural gas industry, terms and conditions of services and rates subject to its jurisdiction. New FERC initiatives or orders may adversely affect the tariff rates charged for services by the East Texas system.

In a 1995 decision involving the Lakehead system, the FERC partially disallowed the inclusion of income taxes in its cost of service. In another FERC proceeding involving an unrelated oil pipeline limited partnership, the FERC ruled that the oil pipeline limited partnership could not claim an income tax allowance for income attributable to non-corporate limited partners, both individuals and non-corporate entities. These decisions might adversely affect Enbridge Partners' FERC-regulated pipelines and/or services in connection with future rate increases and in defending its existing rates against challenges by its customers. Any significant difficulty in increasing or defending its rates could adversely affect the results of operations of Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Pipelines (KPC), the Midcoast system subsidiary that owns the Kansas pipeline system, is currently involved in ongoing rate disputes with two of its major natural gas customers. These disputes are in varying stages of litigation and administrative proceedings. These customers are not paying the full FERC-approved rates currently in effect on the Kansas pipeline system. The aggregate monthly amount of underpayments by these customers is approximately \$800,000. If these monthly underpayments continue and Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) ultimately is unable to collect these deficiencies or if these disputes are resolved adversely to Enbridge Pipelines (KPC), revenues from the Kansas pipeline system will be less than historical revenues, adversely affecting Enbridge Partners' results of operations.

Competition from other pipelines may reduce Enbridge Partners' revenues.

The Lakehead system faces competition for transporting western Canadian crude oil from other pipelines, which may reduce its revenues. The Lakehead system competes with other crude oil and refined product pipelines and other methods of delivering crude oil and refined products to the refining centers of Minneapolis-St. Paul, Minnesota; Chicago, Illinois; Detroit, Michigan; Toledo,

Ohio; Buffalo, New York; and Sarnia, Ontario and the refinery market and pipeline hub located in the Patoka/Wood River area of southern Illinois. Refineries in the markets served by the Lakehead system compete with refineries in western Canada, the Province of Ontario and the Rocky Mountain region of the United States for supplies of western Canadian crude oil.

Enbridge Partners also encounters competition in its natural gas gathering, processing and transmission businesses. Many of the large wholesale customers served by the Midcoast system's transmission and wholesale customer pipelines have multiple pipelines connected or adjacent to their facilities. Thus, many of these wholesale customers have the ability to purchase natural gas directly from a number of pipelines and/or from third parties that may hold capacity on the various pipelines. Likewise, most natural gas producers and owners have alternate gathering and processing facilities available to them. In addition, they have other alternatives, such as building their own gathering facilities or, in some cases, selling their natural gas supplies without processing. Some of Enbridge Partners' natural gas marketing competitors have greater financial resources and access to larger supplies of natural gas than those available to Enbridge Partners. These resources could allow those competitors to price their services more aggressively than Enbridge Partners does, which also could adversely affect Enbridge Partners' financial condition and results of operations.

Enbridge Partners' gas marketing operations involve market risks.

As part of its gas marketing activities, Enbridge Partners purchases natural gas at prices determined by prevailing market conditions. Following its purchase of natural gas, Enbridge Partners generally resells natural gas at a higher price under a sales contract that is comparable in terms to its purchase contract, including any price escalation provisions. The profitability of Enbridge Partners' natural gas marketing operations may be affected by the following factors:

its responsiveness to changing markets and its ability to timely negotiate natural gas purchase and sales agreements in changing markets;

reluctance of wholesale customers to enter into long-term purchase contracts;

consumers' willingness to use other fuels when natural gas prices increase significantly;

timing of imbalance or volume discrepancy corrections and their impact on financial results; and

the ability of its customers to make timely payment.

Enbridge Partners' results may be adversely affected by commodity price volatility and risks associated with its hedging activities.

Enbridge Partners buys and sells natural gas in connection with its marketing activities. Commodity price exposure is inherent in gas purchase and resale activities and in gas processing. To the extent that Enbridge Partners engages in hedging activities to reduce its commodity price exposure, it may be prevented from realizing the benefits of price increases above the level of the hedges. Further, hedging contracts are subject to the credit risk that the other party may prove unable or unwilling to perform its obligations under such contracts.

Natural gas transportation, delivery and sales contracts with a relatively small number of customers accounted for a significant portion of the gross margin attributable to the Midcoast system, and Enbridge Partners may not be able to renew or replace those contracts as they expire.

Enbridge Partners may not be able to renew or replace the current natural gas transportation and delivery contracts and natural gas sales contracts with Midcoast system customers as those

30

contracts expire. Many of these contracts are with a relatively small number of customers but account for a significant portion of the gross margin attributable to the Midcoast system. The renewal or replacement of these contracts at rates sufficient to maintain current gross margin

depends on a number of factors beyond Enbridge Partners' control, including competition from other natural gas pipelines and the price of, and demand for, natural gas in markets served by the Midcoast system. Additionally, if these customers fail to perform their contractual obligations and Enbridge Partners is unable to recontract the natural gas on the Midcoast system or collect monies owed by these customers, its financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

A decline in the availability of natural gas from the producing regions that supply the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems may reduce utilization of capacity on those pipeline systems.

Enbridge Partners' long-term financial condition will be dependent on the continued availability of natural gas for transportation to the markets served by the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems. If the availability of natural gas from the Mid-Continent, Gulf Coast and East Texas producing regions were to decline, and if the cost of transporting natural gas from other producing regions through other pipelines into the East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas or South Texas systems were to render the delivered cost of natural gas uneconomical, existing customers may not extend their contracts and Enbridge Partners' may be unable to find additional customers to replace the lost demand or transportation fees.

Compliance with environmental and operational safety regulations, including any remediation of soil or water pollution or hydrostatic testing of its pipeline systems, may increase Enbridge Partners' costs and reduce its revenues.

Enbridge Partners' pipeline operations are subject to federal and state laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and operational safety. Pipeline operations always involve the risk of costs or liabilities related to environmental protection and operational safety matters. As a result, Enbridge Partners may incur costs or liabilities of this type in the future. It is also possible that Enbridge Partners will have to pay amounts in the future because of changes in environmental and safety laws or enforcement policies or claims for environmentally related damage to persons or property. If Enbridge Partners cannot recover these costs from insurance or through higher tariffs, it could be adversely affected and could have less cash to distribute to its common unitholders, causing us to own fewer additional i-units and causing you to receive fewer shares.

Enbridge Partners has hydrostatically tested parts of its Lakehead system in the past, which means that it has tested the structural integrity of its pipelines by filling them with water at high pressures. Enbridge Partners may decide that it needs to do hydrostatic testing on its crude oil and liquid petroleum transportation systems or natural gas transmission systems in the future, or a regulatory authority may require such testing. If this testing occurs, it could result in significant expense arising out of treatment and disposal of the test water and lost transportation revenues while the pipelines are being tested. In addition, if Enbridge Inc. performs hydrostatic testing on the Enbridge system in Canada, this could reduce deliveries into the Lakehead system because lower volumes would be received from western Canada during testing periods.

Failure of pipeline operations due to unforeseen interruptions or catastrophic events may adversely affect Enbridge Partners' business and financial condition.

Operation of a complex pipeline system involves many risks, hazards and uncertainties, such as operational hazards and unforeseen interruptions caused by events beyond the control of Enbridge Partners. These events include adverse weather conditions, accidents, the breakdown or

31

failure of equipment or processes, the performance of the facilities below expected levels of capacity and efficiency and catastrophic events such as explosions, fires, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, landslides or other similar events beyond Enbridge Partners' control. A casualty occurrence might result in injury or loss of life or extensive property or environmental damage.

For example, the East Texas, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems transport large quantities of hydrogen sulfide, a highly toxic gas, through their pipelines. Some of these pipelines are located in or near densely populated areas. A major release of hydrogen sulfide from one of these pipelines could result in many severe injuries or deaths as well as severe environmental damage. Liabilities incurred and interruptions to the operation of the pipeline caused by such an event could reduce gross margin, thereby adversely affecting Enbridge Partners' cash flow and financial position. Insurance proceeds may not be adequate to cover all liabilities incurred or lost gross margin.

Additionally, the United States was the target of terrorist attacks of unprecedented scale on September 11, 2001. Since those attacks, the United States government has issued warnings that energy assets, specifically the United States' pipeline infrastructure, may be the future target of terrorist organizations. These developments have subjected Enbridge Partners' operations to increased risks. Any future terrorist attack on Enbridge Partners' facilities, those of its customers and, in some cases, those of other pipelines, could have a material adverse effect on Enbridge Partners' business.

Enbridge Partners' acquisition strategy may be unsuccessful if Enbridge Partners incorrectly predicts combined operating results, is unable to integrate acquired assets or businesses or is unable to raise financing on acceptable terms.

The acquisition of complementary assets or businesses with risk profiles similar to that of its current crude oil and liquid petroleum transportation and natural gas transmission businesses is a focus of Enbridge Partners' strategic plan. Any acquisition, including its acquisition of the acquired systems, may present various risks and challenges, including:

the risk of incorrect assumptions regarding the future combined results of the then-existing and acquired operations;

the risk of failing to integrate the operations or management of acquired assets or businesses or a significant delay in such integration; and

diversion of management's attention from existing operations.

In addition, Enbridge Partners may be unable to consummate any acquisitions in the future or be unable to raise, on terms acceptable to it, any debt or equity financing that may be required for any such acquisition.

Upon its initial acquisition of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. in 2001, Enbridge Energy Company experienced challenges and costs associated with its integration of the Midcoast assets into Enbridge Energy Company's existing operations. Although Enbridge Partners does not anticipate any significant additional integration costs or challenges in connection with its acquisition of the Midcoast system from Enbridge Energy Company, it may experience integration costs and challenges in connection with its integration of the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems similar to those experienced by Enbridge Energy Company in its initial acquisition of the Midcoast system in 2001. If Enbridge Partners is unsuccessful in integrating the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems or other future acquisitions, or if Enbridge Partners materially underestimates the costs of such integration, it may have an adverse impact on its financial condition and results of operations.

32

Oil measurement losses on the Lakehead system can be materially impacted by errors in estimation, commodity price differentials, and other factors.

Oil measurement losses occur as part of the normal operating conditions associated with Enbridge Partners' liquid petroleum pipelines. The three types of oil measurement losses include:

physical losses, which occur through evaporation, shrinkage, differences in measurement between receipt and delivery locations and other operational incidents;

degradation losses, which result from mixing at the interface between higher quality light crude oil and lower quality heavy crude oil in pipelines; and

revaluation losses, which are a function of crude oil prices, the level of the carrier's inventory and the inventory positions of customers.

There are inherent difficulties in quantifying oil measurement losses. In the past, Enbridge Partners has underestimated its actual oil measurement losses. In 2000 and 2001, differentials between light and heavy crude oil prices increased and the amount of degradation losses incurred by Enbridge Partners increased materially. Enbridge Partners may not be able to recover the costs associated with these oil measurement losses through its tariff rates. As a result, Enbridge Partners has experienced fluctuations in results of operations in the past due to oil measurement losses and may continue to incur significant oil measurement losses in the future.

Risks Related to Conflicts of Interest and Limitations on Fiduciary Duties

The interests of Enbridge Inc. may differ from our interests, the interests of our shareholders and the interests of limited partners of Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Inc. indirectly owns all of the stock of the general partner of Enbridge Partners and elects all of its directors. The general partner of Enbridge Partners owns all of our voting shares and elects all of our directors. Furthermore, some of our directors and officers are also directors and officers of Enbridge Inc. and the general partner of Enbridge Partners and have fiduciary duties to manage the businesses of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners in a manner that may not be in the best interest of our shareholders. Enbridge Inc. has a number of interests that differ from the interests of our shareholders and the interests of Enbridge Partners' unitholders.

Under the delegation of control agreement, the general partner of Enbridge Partners will delegate to us substantially all of its management and control of Enbridge Partners. As a result of this delegation of control, our board of directors could be held to have fiduciary duties similar to those of the general partner of Enbridge Partners. However, our limited liability company agreement and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement limit the fiduciary duties of our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners to our shareholders and to Enbridge Partners' unitholders, respectively, and allow our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners to resolve conflicts of interest by considering the interests of all the parties to the conflict. These limitations reduce the rights of our shareholders under our limited liability company agreement and the rights of Enbridge Partners' unitholders under Enbridge Partnership agreement to sue our board of directors or the general partner of Enbridge Partners should either of them act in a way that, were it not for these limitations of liability, would be a breach of fiduciary duties. These limited duties are very different from the more familiar fiduciary duties of a corporate board of directors, which must always act in the best interests of the corporation and its stockholders.

Consequently, conflicts of interest could arise from time to time among our shareholders, Enbridge Partners' unitholders and Enbridge Inc. Our board of directors may consider the interests of all parties to a conflict in making important business decisions and may not make those

33

decisions in the best interests of our shareholders or Enbridge Partners' unitholders. The following situations, among others, could give rise to conflicts of interest:

We have the sole discretion to determine whether Enbridge Partners will issue additional units or other equity securities or whether it will purchase outstanding units, and we may decide not to do so even when such issuance or purchase would be in the best interests of Enbridge Partners and its unitholders.

We have the sole discretion to determine whether we issue additional shares, and we may decide not to do so even when such issuance would be in the best interests of our shareholders and Enbridge Partners.

We control payments to Enbridge Inc. for any services rendered for Enbridge Partners' benefit, subject to the limitations described in "Conflicts of Interest and Fiduciary Responsibilities."

We determine which costs are reimbursable by Enbridge Partners.

We control the enforcement of obligations owed to Enbridge Partners by us and the general partner.

We decide whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for Enbridge Partners.

In these situations, our shareholders, Enbridge Partners' unitholders and Enbridge Inc. may have interests that are adverse to one another, and we may consider all of these interests in deciding to take a particular course of action.

Enbridge Partners is dependent upon Enbridge Inc. and the Enbridge system to a significant degree.

Enbridge Partners is very dependent on Enbridge Inc. and the Enbridge system. Nearly all of the crude oil and other products shipped on the Lakehead system come from the Enbridge system in Canada, and shipments on the Lakehead system are scheduled by Enbridge Inc. in

coordination with Enbridge Partners. In addition, neither Enbridge Partners nor we have any employees. In operating its pipeline systems, we and Enbridge Partners rely solely on employees of Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, who act on behalf of and as agents for us and Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Inc. is not restricted from directly competing with Enbridge Partners in many circumstances.

Enbridge Inc. has agreed with Enbridge Partners that, so long as an affiliate of Enbridge Inc. is the general partner of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries may not engage in or acquire any business that is in direct material competition with the businesses of Enbridge Partners, subject to the following material exceptions:

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not restricted from continuing to engage in businesses, including the normal development of such businesses, in which they were engaged at the time of Enbridge Partners' initial public offering in December 1991;

such restriction is limited geographically only to those routes and products for which Enbridge Partners provided transportation at the time of Enbridge Partners' initial public offering;

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not prohibited from acquiring any competitive business as part of a larger acquisition, so long as the majority of the value of the business or assets

34

acquired, in Enbridge Inc.'s reasonable judgment, is not attributable to the competitive business; and

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not prohibited from acquiring any competitive business if that business is first offered for acquisition to Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Partners fails to approve, after submission to a vote of unitholders, the making of the acquisition.

Because Enbridge Partners was not engaged in any aspect of the natural gas business at the time of its initial public offering, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not restricted from competing with Enbridge Partners in all aspects of the natural gas business. In addition, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries would be permitted to transport crude oil and liquid petroleum over routes that are not the same as the Lakehead system even if such transportation is in direct material competition with the business of Enbridge Partners.

This agreement also expressly permitted the reversal by Enbridge Inc. in 1999 of one of its pipelines that extends from Sarnia, Ontario to Montreal, Quebec. As a result of this reversal, Enbridge Inc. competes with Enbridge Partners to supply crude oil to the Ontario, Canada market. This competition from Enbridge has reduced Enbrige Partners' deliveries of crude oil to Ontario.

Our limited liability company agreement restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that otherwise would be owed by our board of directors to our shareholders, and the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that otherwise would be owed by our board of directors and by the general partner of Enbridge Partners to the limited partners of Enbridge Partners.

Modifications of state law standards of fiduciary duties may significantly limit the ability of our shareholders and Enbridge Partners' unitholders to successfully challenge the actions of our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners, respectively, that might otherwise be a breach of their fiduciary duties. Because we will control and manage substantially all of the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners under the delegation of control agreement with its general partner, we could be held to have fiduciary duties similar to those of the general partner. These state laws standards include the highest duties of good faith, fairness and loyalty to the shareholders and to the unitholders, as applicable. The duty of loyalty generally would prohibit our board of directors or the general partner of Enbridge Partners from taking any action or engaging in any transaction as to which it has a conflict of interest. Our limited liability company agreement restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by our board of directors to our shareholders, and the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners restricts or eliminates a number of the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by us or by the general partner of Enbridge Partners to the unitholders of Enbridge Partners.

Our limited liability company agreement provides that none of our directors or officers will be liable to us or any other person for any act or omission taken or omitted in the reasonable belief that the act or omission is in or is not contrary to our best interests and is within his scope of authority, so long as the act or omission does not constitute fraud, willful misconduct, bad faith or gross negligence.

We may increase the cash reserves of Enbridge Partners, which will decrease cash distributions on its common units and the value of distributions of additional shares we make to you.

Under the delegation of control agreement that we will enter into with the general partner of Enbridge Partners, we will have broad discretion in establishing cash reserves for the proper conduct of Enbridge Partners' business. These cash reserves include reserves for future capital expenditures. If we increase cash reserves, the amount of cash that Enbridge Partners can

35

distribute to its common unitholders will decrease, which would decrease the number and value of the additional shares we distribute to you.

Because Enbridge Inc. is a Canadian corporation and many of its and our officers and directors are Canadian citizens who reside in Canada, it may be difficult to serve legal process on them and enforce civil liabilities against them.

Because Enbridge Inc. is a Canadian corporation and many of its, and our, officers and directors are Canadian citizens and reside in Canada, it might be difficult for you to serve legal process on these persons. You might want to serve legal process on them if you are suing them for civil liabilities under U.S. federal securities laws. Additionally, our Canadian lawyers have told us that it may not be possible to enforce U.S. judgments against our officers and directors if those judgments are based solely on U.S. federal securities laws.

36

INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus and the documents of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners incorporated in this prospectus by reference include forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are identified as any statement that does not relate strictly to historical or current facts. They use words such as "anticipate," "believe," "continue," "estimate," "expect," "forecast," "intend," "may," "plan," "position," "projection," "strategy" or "will" or the negative of those terms or other variations of them or by comparable terminology. In particular, statements, expressed or implied, concerning future actions, conditions or events or future operating results or the ability to generate sales, income or cash flow are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. They involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Future actions, conditions or events and future results of operations may differ materially from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. Many of the factors that will determine these results are beyond our ability and the ability of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners and our and their affiliates to control or predict. Specific factors that could cause actual results to differ from those in the forward-looking statements, include:

demand for, the supply of, changes in forecast data for, and price trends related to crude oil, liquid petroleum, natural gas and NGLs in the United States, which are affected by economic activity, capital expenditures by energy producers, weather, alternative energy sources, conservation and technological advances;

Enbridge Partners' dependence on throughput levels and rates, which could be affected by a number of factors beyond the control of us, Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Partners;

changes in or challenges to Enbridge Partners' tariff rates;

Enbridge Partners' ability to successfully identify and consummate strategic acquisitions, make cost saving changes in operations and integrate acquired assets or businesses into its existing operations;

shut-downs or cutbacks at gas processing or treatment facilities of Enbridge Partners or refineries, petrochemical plants, utilities or other businesses for which Enbridge Partners transports crude oil, natural gas or other products or to whom Enbridge Partners sells natural gas;

changes in laws or regulations to which Enbridge Partners is subject;

Enbridge Partners' inability to borrow or otherwise access funds needed for operations, expansions or capital expenditures as a result of existing debt agreements that contain restrictive financial covenants;

loss of key personnel;

the effects of competition, in particular, by other pipeline systems;

hazards and operating risks that may not be covered fully by insurance;

the condition of the capital markets in the United States;

the political and economic stability of the oil producing nations of the world; and

the inability or failure of Enbridge Inc. to satisfy its obligation to purchase our shares upon the occurrence of a mandatory purchase event, including upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners, or to satisfy its obligations under the tax indemnification agreement.

You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements.

When considering forward-looking statements, please review the risk factors described under "Risk Factors" in this prospectus.

37

ACQUISITION OF THE MIDCOAST, NORTHEAST TEXAS AND SOUTH TEXAS SYSTEMS

Overview

On May 16, 2002, Enbridge Partners agreed to acquire the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems from Enbridge Energy Company. Enbridge Energy Company owns these systems through its ownership of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and its subsidiaries.

Prior to the contribution of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and its subsidiaries that own the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Midcoast Energy and certain of these subsidiaries will merge with or convert into limited partnerships and limited liability companies. Enbridge Energy Company will contribute these limited partnerships and limited liability companies to Enbridge Partners in exchange for the consideration discussed below, but will retain the Canadian assets owned by Enbridge Midcoast Energy.

The consideration to be received by Enbridge Energy Company for the contribution of the acquired systems is \$929.1 million. Enbridge Partners will fund this consideration through the assumption of \$900.0 million in debt related to these systems, payment of \$18.7 million in cash and issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest in Enbridge Partners. This additional equity interest will satisfy Enbridge Energy Company's obligation to maintain its 2% general partner interest in Enbridge Partners, primarily related to the issuance of i-units to us. The cash portion of the purchase price will be funded by Enbridge Partners by borrowings under its existing credit facility or from affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The debt to be assumed by Enbridge Partners is owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The purchase price is subject to adjustment at closing for working capital, capital expenditures and other items.

The purchase price of the acquired systems approximates their book value and reflects the retention by Enbridge Energy Company of the deferred tax liability related to the contribution of the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners.

One of the conditions to the closing of this offering will be the successful closing of the acquisition of the acquired systems. Enbridge Partners will use the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to us to repay a portion of the debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that it will assume in connection with the acquisition.

Special Approval

A committee of independent members of the board of directors of Enbridge Energy Company, the general partner of Enbridge Partners, negotiated the purchase price and the terms of the acquisition on behalf of Enbridge Partners and recommended that the board of directors of the general partner approve the acquisition on behalf of Enbridge Partners.

Certain Terms of the Contribution Agreement

Pursuant to the contribution agreement, Enbridge Energy Company will, following the mergers and conversions described above, contribute Enbridge Midcoast Energy and its subsidiaries that own the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners. The contribution agreement contains customary representations and warranties of Enbridge Energy Company.

Enbridge Energy Company has agreed to indemnify Enbridge Partners and other related persons for liabilities arising from breaches of its representations, warranties and covenants contained in the contribution agreement and some of the liabilities related to the systems that are not being assumed by Enbridge Partners, including certain liabilities that arose prior to the closing of the acquisition. In general, Enbridge Energy Company will not be required to indemnify Enbridge Partners under the contribution agreement until the aggregate liabilities exceed \$20 million and Enbridge Energy Company's aggregate liability under the contribution agreement may not exceed, with certain limited exceptions, \$150 million. Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Midcoast Energy have agreed to indemnify Enbridge Energy Company and other related persons for liabilities arising after the closing of the acquisition and liabilities arising from breaches of its representations, warranties and covenants contained in the contribution agreement and, subject to Enbridge Energy Company's indemnities, certain other liabilities associated with the acquired systems, whether arising prior to or after the closing of the acquisition.

38

USE OF PROCEEDS

Enbridge Management

We expect that we will receive net proceeds of approximately \$430.4 million from the sale of the 10,000,000 shares we are offering, based on an estimated initial public offering price of \$45.50 per share and after deducting underwriting discounts and estimated offering expenses payable by us. If the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares from us in full, we will receive net proceeds of approximately \$495.2 million. We will use \$500,000 of the net proceeds of this offering to compensate Enbridge Inc. for its purchase obligation and tax indemnities and the remainder to purchase a number of i-units from Enbridge Partners equal to the number of shares outstanding immediately following this offering.

Enbridge Partners

Enbridge Partners will use the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to us to repay a portion of the debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that it will assume in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems. As of May 23, 2002, the weighted average interest rate of the debt to be repaid was 4.7%. The terms of this debt are currently being modified such that it will bear interest at the one-month London Inter-Bank Offered Rate, or "LIBOR," plus 1.00%.

Enbridge Inc.

Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates will use the aggregate proceeds they receive from us and from Enbridge Partners for general corporate purposes, including the repayment of commercial paper borrowings.

39

DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Our Policy Regarding Share Distributions

Prior to our liquidation:

we will only make distributions to owners of shares in additional shares or fractions of shares;

we will calculate the fraction of a share to be distributed per outstanding share by dividing:

the cash distribution to be made by Enbridge Partners on each common unit; by

the average market price of a share during the 10 consecutive trading days preceding the date on which the shares begin to trade ex-dividend under the rules of the principal exchange on which they are listed:

we will make our distributions of shares at the same time as Enbridge Partners makes its quarterly distributions of cash to owners of common units; and

we will simultaneously make a distribution of an equivalent fraction of a voting share on each voting share or fraction owned by the general partner of Enbridge Partners.

When we make our quarterly distribution of shares, the number of i-units we own will increase under the provisions of the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement with the result that the number of i-units we own will equal the number of our shares and voting shares that are then outstanding.

Enbridge Partners' Distribution Policy

Requirement to Distribute Available Cash

The partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners provides that it will distribute all of its available cash to its partners on a quarterly basis. Distributions for a quarter are made within 45 days after the end of the quarter.

Definition of Available Cash

Available cash generally means, for any calendar quarter, all cash received by Enbridge Partners from all sources, plus net reductions to cash reserves, less all of its cash disbursements and net additions to cash reserves.

Establishment of Reserves

Decisions regarding amounts to be placed in or released from reserves have a direct impact on the amount of available cash for distribution. This is because increases and decreases in reserves are taken into account in computing available cash. Each quarter we may, in our reasonable discretion, determine the amounts to be placed in or released from reserves, subject to restrictions on the purposes of the reserves and to the approval of Enbridge Energy Company.

Cash Distributions and Additional i-Units

Typically, the general partner and owners of common units will receive distributions in cash. Instead of receiving cash distributions, the number of i-units we own will be increased. When we make our quarterly distribution of shares as described above, the number of i-units we own will increase under the provisions of the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement with the result that the number of i-units we own will equal the number of our shares and voting shares that are then outstanding. The cash equivalent amount of the additional i-units that we will own following a distribution of cash to the general partner and owners of common units will be treated as if it

40

actually had been distributed for purposes of determining the distributions to the general partner. Enbridge Partners will not distribute the cash related to our i-units but will instead retain that cash and use the cash in its business.

Two Different Types of Distributions

Distributions by Enbridge Partners are characterized either as distributions of cash from operations or as distributions of cash from interim capital transactions. This distinction affects common unit distributions and the number of additional i-units we will own relative to the distributions to the general partner.

Cash from Operations

Cash from operations, which is determined on a cumulative basis, generally means:

the \$54 million cash balance that Enbridge Partners had on the closing date of its initial public offering in 1991; plus

all cash receipts from its operations; less

all of its cash operating expenditures, including maintenance capital expenditures; less

all of its cash debt service payments, except for certain payments of premium and principal in connection with sales or other dispositions of assets or refinancing or refunding of indebtedness; less

the amount of cash reserves that we deem necessary or appropriate to provide funds for the expenditures and payments described above and distributions to partners over the next four calendar quarters.

Cash from Interim Capital Transactions

Cash from interim capital transactions is generated by:

borrowings and sales of debt securities (other than for working capital purposes and other than for items purchased on open account in the ordinary course of business);

sales of units or other equity interests for cash; and

sales or other dispositions of any assets for cash (other than inventory, accounts receivable and other current assets and assets disposed of in the ordinary course of business).

Rule for Characterizing Distributions

To avoid the difficulty of trying to determine whether available cash distributed by Enbridge Partners is cash from operations or cash from interim capital transactions, all available cash distributed by Enbridge Partners from any source will be treated as distributions of cash from operations until the sum of all available cash distributed equals the cumulative amount of cash from operations actually generated from December 27, 1991 (the date Enbridge Partners commenced operations) through the end of the calendar quarter prior to that distribution. Any distribution of available cash which, when added to the sum of all prior distributions, is in excess of the cumulative amount of cash from operations, will be considered a distribution of cash from interim capital transactions. For purposes of calculating the sum of all distributions of available cash, the cash equivalent amount of the additional i-units that we will own following a distribution of cash to the general partner and owners of common units will be treated as distributions of available cash, even though we do not receive the cash. Enbridge Partners will retain that cash and use the cash in its business.

41

The following illustrates the implementation of the provisions described above. For each quarter, we will use the following procedures to determine distributions to the limited partners (including us) and the general partner of Enbridge Partners:

first, we will determine the amount of available cash for the quarter;

second, we will determine whether the available cash to be distributed will be characterized as cash from operations or cash from interim capital transactions;

third, we will calculate how this available cash will be distributed among the partners of Enbridge Partners. If the available cash is characterized as cash from operations, we will cause Enbridge Partners to distribute the available cash as described below under "Distributions of Cash from Operations." If the available cash is characterized as cash from interim capital transactions, we will cause Enbridge Partners to distribute the available cash as described below under "Distributions of Cash from Interim Capital Transactions." As a result of this process, we will determine the amounts of cash to be distributed to the general partner and holders of common units. We will also determine the total cash equivalent amount that will be used to calculate the number of additional shares we will distribute to our shareholders (as described in "fourth" below) and the number of additional i-units we will own following the distribution of cash to the general partner and holders of common units (as described in "fifth" below);

fourth, we will divide the total cash equivalent amount by the average market price of one of our shares, as determined for the 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the ex-dividend date for our shares, to determine the number of shares that we will distribute pro rata to the owners of our shares and then make that distribution; and

fifth, we will cause Enbridge Partners to make the cash distributions to the general partner and holders of common units and the number of i-units we own will increase under the provisions of the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement with the result that the number of i-units we own will equal the number of our shares and voting shares that are outstanding following the distribution described in "fourth" above.

The discussion below indicates the percentages of distributions of available cash required to be made to the limited partners and general partner of Enbridge Partners. All distributions to the general partner and owners of common units will be made in cash. Except in liquidation, i-units will not be entitled to receive cash distributions. Instead of receiving cash distributions, the number of i-units we own will be increased by means of an i-unit split. The cash equivalent amount of the additional i-units that we will own following a distribution of cash to the general partner and owners of common units will be treated as if it had actually been distributed for purposes of determining the distributions to be made to the general partner. Enbridge Partners will not distribute the cash related to our i-units but instead will retain that cash and use the cash in its business.

Distributions of Cash from Operations

Enbridge Partners will make the following distributions of cash from operations for each quarter:

first, 98% to the owners of all classes of units pro rata and 2% to the general partner until the owners of all classes of units have received a total of \$0.59 per unit in cash or additional i-units (by means of an i-unit split) for that quarter;

second, 85% of any available cash then remaining to the owners of all classes of units pro rata and 15% to the general partner until the owners of all classes of units have received a

42

total of \$0.70 per unit in cash or additional i-units (by means of an i-unit split) for that quarter;

third, 75% of any available cash then remaining to the owners of all classes of units pro rata and 25% to the general partner until the owners of all classes of units have received a total of \$0.99 per unit in cash or additional i-units (by means of an

i-unit split) for that quarter; and

fourth, 50% of any available cash then remaining to the owners of all classes of units pro rata, to owners of common units in cash and to us in additional i-units (by means of an i-unit split), and 50% to the general partner.

43

Illustration of a Distribution of Cash from Operations

The following tables depict a hypothetical example of a quarterly distribution of cash from operations to the partners of Enbridge Partners and the related increase in the number of i-units we own and our distribution of shares to our shareholders. The example assumes that Enbridge Partners has a total of 45.2 million units outstanding, consisting of 35.2 million common units, and 10.0 million i-units, and assumes that 10.0 million of our shares are outstanding. The amounts shown for "cash receipts less cash disbursements for the quarter" and "reserves" are based upon the current quarterly distribution level of \$0.90 of cash per common unit.

Determination of Available Cash

Cash receipts less cash disbursements for the quarter Less reserves	\$ 55,114,990 10,000,000
Available cash	\$ 45,114,990

Allocation Between General Partner and Limited Partners

	Quarterly Per Unit Amount	Limited Partners Percentage	General Partner Percentage	Total Cash for Limited Partners	Total Cash to General Partner	Total
First Target						
Distribution	\$0.00 - \$0.59	98%	2%	\$ 26,668,000	\$ 544,245	\$ 27,212,245
Second Target						
Distribution	\$0.59 - \$0.70	85%	15%	4,972,000	877,412	5,849,412
Third Target						
Distribution	\$0.70 - \$0.99	75%	25%	9,040,000	3,013,333	12,053,333
Thereafter	\$0.99 and above	50%	50%			
Total				\$ 40,680,000	\$ 4,434,990	\$ 45,114,990

Pro Rata Allocation Among Classes of Limited Partners

		Total	Pe	r Unit
Cash distributions to owners of common units	¢	31,680,000	\$	0.00
Cash retained by Enbridge Partners for use in its business	\$	9,000,000	\$	0.90
Cash retained by Enoringe raithers for use in its business	φ	9,000,000	φ	0.90
T-4-1	Φ.	40.690.000		
Total	Þ	40,680,000		

Determination of Additional i-Units and Share Distributions (assuming \$45.50 average share price)

Total	Quarterly Per	Total Cash	Cash Equivalent
	Unit or Per	Equivalent Amount	Amount Per Unit

		Share				or Per Share		
Additional i-units we will own	197,802	\$	45.50	\$	9,000,000	\$	0.90	
Additional shares distributed to								
owners of our outstanding shares	197,802	\$	45.50	\$	9,000,000	\$	0.90	
				44				

Distributions of Cash from Interim Capital Transactions

Distributions of cash from interim capital transactions will be made in cash to the general partner and the owners of common units. Instead of receiving cash distributions when a distribution of cash from interim capital transactions is made, the number of i-units we own will be increased. Distributions of cash from interim capital transactions will be made as follows:

first 98% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2% to the general partner until all distributions of cash from interim capital transactions since Enbridge Partners' initial public offering aggregate \$21.50 per unit and

thereafter, cash from interim capital transactions be distributed as if it was cash from operations, and because the target distributions will have been reduced to zero, as described under " Adjustment of the Target Distributions," the general partner's share of distributions of available cash will increase, in general, to 50% of all distributions of available cash.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the target distributions have been reduced to zero as a result of distributions of cash from interim capital transactions and the unitholders have ever failed to receive the first target distribution, distributions will first be made 98% with respect to all unitholders and 2% to the general partner until there has been distributed in respect of each unit then outstanding (taking into account all prior distributions of available cash constituting cash from operations since inception of Enbridge Partners in an amount equal to the first target distribution for all periods since inception. To date, the holders of the common units have always received at least the first target distribution. Distributions of cash from interim capital transactions will not reduce target distributions in the quarter in which they are distributed.

Adjustment of the Target Distributions

The target distributions will be adjusted proportionately if any combination or subdivision of units occurs, whether effected by a distribution payable in units or otherwise, but not by reason of the additional i-units we will own after each quarterly distribution as described above. In addition, if a distribution is made of cash from interim capital transactions, the target distributions will be adjusted downward by multiplying each amount, as the same may have been previously adjusted, by a fraction, the numerator of which is the unrecovered initial unit price immediately after giving effect to such distribution and the denominator of which is the unrecovered initial unit price is mediately prior to such distribution. The unrecovered initial unit price is the amount by which \$21.50 exceeds the aggregate per unit distributions of cash from interim capital transactions. If and when the unrecovered initial unit price is zero, the target distributions each will have been reduced to zero.

For example, if a two-for-one split of the common units and i-units should occur, the minimum quarterly distribution, the target distribution levels and the unrecovered initial unit price would each be reduced to 50% of its then-existing level. Enbridge Partners will not make any of these adjustments by reason of our ownership of additional i-units after each distribution on the common units of available cash from operations or interim capital transactions or the issuance of additional units for cash or property.

The target distributions may also be adjusted if legislation is enacted that causes Enbridge Partners to become taxable as a corporation or otherwise subjects it to taxation as an entity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In such event, the target distributions for each quarter thereafter would be reduced to an amount equal to the product of each of the target distributions multiplied by one minus the sum of the effective U.S. federal income tax rate to which Enbridge Partners is subject as an entity (expressed as a fraction) plus the effective overall state and local income tax rate to which Enbridge Partners is subject as an entity (expressed as a fraction) for the taxable year in which such quarter occurs. For example, if Enbridge Partners became subject to a maximum

marginal federal, and effective state and local income tax rate of 38%, then the target distributions would be reduced to 62% of their previous levels.

Distributions in Liquidation

In the event of a liquidation of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. will be required to purchase all of our outstanding shares for cash at a price equal to the greater of the market price per unit of the Class A common units and the market value per share of our shares. If Enbridge Inc. does not meet its purchase obligations, the following will be important to you as an owner of our shares.

Upon dissolution of Enbridge Partners, unless Enbridge Partners is reconstituted and continued, the authorized liquidator will liquidate Enbridge Partners' assets and apply the proceeds of the liquidation generally as follows:

first, towards the payment of all creditors of Enbridge Partners and the creation of a reserve for contingent liabilities; and

second, to all partners in accordance with the positive balances in their respective capital accounts.

Under some circumstances and subject to various limitations, the liquidator may defer liquidation or distribution of Enbridge Partners' assets for a reasonable period of time if the liquidator determines that an immediate sale would be impractical or would cause undue loss to the partners.

If there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners, it is intended that, to the extent available, we will be allocated income and gain, or deduction and loss, in an amount necessary for the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit.

Thus, generally, any income or gain will be allocated:

first, to owners of the i-units until the capital account of each i-unit equals the capital account of a common unit; and

thereafter, between the owners of common units and i-units, as limited partners, and Enbridge Energy Company, as the general partner, in a manner that approximates their sharing ratios in the various target distribution levels and equally on a per unit basis between the i-units and the common units.

After each distribution of cash to other unitholders, including regular quarterly distributions, our ownership of additional i-units generally will represent the right to be allocated an increased share of that income or gain, or deduction or loss, upon liquidation.

Any deduction or loss generally will be allocated:

first, to the common units until the per unit balance in a common unit capital account equals the per unit balance in a i-unit capital account;

second, in proportion to the positive balances in the partners' capital accounts until all the balances are reduced to zero; and

thereafter, to the general partner.

We will owe U.S. federal income tax, and perhaps state taxes, on any taxable income or gain that is allocated to the i-units in a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. Our payment of these taxes will reduce the amount of assets that ultimately will be distributed to the holders of our shares. For further information about the tax indemnification agreement and the tax consequences of your investment in our shares, please read "Description of Our Shares" Tax Indemnity of Enbridge Inc." and "Material Tax Consequences."

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS

The following table sets forth Enbridge Partners' historical capitalization as of March 31, 2002.

The pro forma financial information as of March 31, 2002, gives effect to the acquisition by Enbridge Partners of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems and the assumption of \$900.0 million and incurrence of \$20.2 million in debt by Enbridge Partners in connection with that acquisition.

The pro forma as adjusted information as of March 31, 2002 adjusts the pro forma financial information to reflect:

the receipt by Enbridge Partners of \$429.9 million in proceeds from the sale of its i-units to us, which assumes that we sell 10,000,000 shares at \$45.50 per share, net of the underwriting discount, expected expenses and \$500,000 paid by us to Enbridge Inc. in respect of its purchase obligation and tax indemnities; and

the use by Enbridge Partners of the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to repay debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that Enbridge Partners will assume in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems.

Please read "Use of Proceeds" for a detailed description of the application of the proceeds from the sale by Enbridge Partners of its i-units to us in connection with this offering.

		March 31, 2002	_	ro Forma Acquisition	Pı	ro Forma as Adjusted
	(un	audited)	(u	inaudited)	(unaudited)
			(iı	n millions)		
Short-term Debt Notes	\$	130.0	\$	130.0	\$	130.0
Long-term Debt:						
First Mortgage Notes		279.0		279.0		279.0
Revolving Credit Facility		105.0		125.2(1))	125.2
7% Senior Notes due 2018		100.0		100.0		100.0
7 ¹ / ₈ % Senior Notes due 2028		100.0		100.0		100.0
7.9% Senior Notes due 2012		100.0		100.0		100.0
Unamortized Discount		(0.6)		(0.6)		(0.6)
Total Long-term Debt	\$	683.4	\$	703.6	\$	703.6
Loan from Enbridge Affiliate		51.5		951.5(1))	521.6(3)
Partners' Capital		705.6		716.0(2)		1,145.9(3)
Total Capitalization	\$	1,570.5	\$	2,501.1	\$	2,501.1

(1)

Reflects borrowings of \$20.2 million under Enbridge Partners' credit facility, \$18.7 million of which will be used to pay a portion of the consideration for the acquisition of the acquired systems and \$1.5 million of which will be used to pay acquisition-related costs, and the assumption of \$900.0 million of debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems.

Reflects the issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest to Enbridge Energy Company to satisfy its obligation to maintain a 2% general partner interest in Enbridge Partners, which arises primarily as a result of the issuance of i-units to us. This equity interest

was issued as part of the consideration to be received by Enbridge Energy Company for the acquired systems.

(3)

Reflects repayment to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. of \$429.9 million of debt assumed by Enbridge Partners in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems with the net proceeds received by Enbridge Partners from the sale of i-units to us in connection with this offering.

47

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE INC.

The following table sets forth Enbridge Inc.'s historical capitalization as of March 31, 2002.

The unaudited as adjusted information as of March 31, 2002 gives effect to:

the \$500,000 payment received by Enbridge Inc. from us in respect of its purchase obligation and tax indemnities;

the use of the \$429.9 million payment received by affiliates of Enbridge Inc. from Enbridge Partners, after payment of expenses associated with the sale of the acquired systems, for the repayment of debt assumed by Enbridge Partners in connection with its acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems; and

the purchase by Enbridge Energy Company of 500,000 shares from us in this offering.

The information presented below is in Canadian dollars and has been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. Thus, the information may not be comparable to financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

On May 22, 2002, the noon buying rate in the City of New York for cable transfers in Canadian dollars as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York was Cdn\$1.5361 = US\$1.00.

	M	As at arch 31, 2002	As	Adjusted	
	(uı	naudited)	(unaudited		
		(in millions of C	anadian d	ollars)	
Short-term borrowings	\$	419.1	\$	419.1	
Current maturities and short-term debt		1,715.3		1,091.4	
Long-term debt		6,298.9		6,298.9	
Shareholders' equity					
Preferred securities		534.6		534.6	
Preferred shares		125.0		125.0	
Common shares		1,891.7		1,891.7	
Retained earnings and other shareholders' equity(1)		734.7		734.7	
Total capitalization	\$	11,719.3	\$	11,095.4	

(1)

Includes retained earnings, reciprocal shareholdings and the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment.

48

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth our historical capitalization as of May 23, 2002, and our capitalization on that date as adjusted to give effect to the receipt of net proceeds of \$430.4 million, which assumes that we sell 10,000,000 shares at \$45.50 per share, net of the underwriting discount and expected expenses and that we use \$500,000 of the net proceeds to compensate Enbridge Inc. for its purchase obligation and tax indemnities and use \$429.9 million of the net proceeds to purchase a number of i-units from Enbridge Partners equal to the number of our outstanding shares. The as adjusted information in the table excludes 1,500,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us.

You should read this table together with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Enbridge Management" and our financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

		As of May 23, 2002		As Adjusted for this Offering					
	_	(audited)			(unaudited)				
					usands)				
Voting shares	\$		1	\$	1				
Non-voting shares					430,388				
	_		_						
Total equity	\$		1	\$	430,389				
			_						
	49								

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS

You should read the following selected financial information of Enbridge Partners in connection with the financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Enbridge Partners Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. The historical results of Enbridge Partners are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods.

Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system on May 18, 2001 and the East Texas system on November 30, 2001. The selected financial information of Enbridge Partners as of and for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflects the inclusion of those systems since the dates they were acquired.

	Year	Ended Decemb	per 31,		En	Months ded ch 31,
1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2001	2002
					(unau	dited)

			Year E		Three Months Ended March 31,					
			s)							
Income Statement Data:										
Operating revenue	\$	282.1 \$	287.7	\$ 312.6	\$	305.6 \$	340.4	\$ 71	.9 \$	181.3
Operating and administrative		4000	4.40.0				400 =			101.0
expenses		133.9	140.9	124.5		128.0	180.7	31		131.0
Depreciation and amortization		40.1	41.4	57.8		61.1	63.8	15	.4	18.3
Operating income		108.1	105.4	130.3		116.5	95.9	24		32.0
Interest and other income		9.7	6.0	3.4		4.8	2.8	0		0.6
Interest expense		(38.6)	(21.9)	(54.1)		(60.4)	(59.3)			(14.7)
Minority interest		(0.9)	(1.0)	(0.9)		(0.7)	(0.5)	(0	.1)	(0.2)
Net income	\$	78.3 \$	88.5	\$ 78.7	\$	60.2 \$	38.9	\$ 10	.1 \$	17.7
Net income per common unit(1)	\$	3.02 \$	3.07	\$ 2.48	\$	1.78 \$	0.98	\$ 0.2	27 \$	0.43
Cash distributions paid per										
common unit		2.92	3.36	3.485		3.50	3.50	0.87	' 5	0.90
Financial Position Data: (at period end)										
Property, plant and										
equipment, net	\$	850.3 \$	1,296.2			281.9 \$	1,486.6			1,498.5
Total assets Long-term debt		1,063.2 463.0	1,414.4 814.5	1,413.7 784.5		376.7 799.3	1,649.2 715.4	1,369 799		1,682.6 683.4
Partners' capital:		403.0	014.3	764.3		177.3	/13.4	199	.5	065.4
Class A common unitholders		461.6	453.4	533.1		488.6	577.0	473	2	647.1
Class B common unitholder		36.7	37.3	47.4		42.1	48.8	40		53.4
General Partner		3.5	4.3	5.6		5.2	6.5	5		7.7
Accumulated other		3.3	4.3	3.0		3.2	0.3	3	. 1	1.1
comprehensive income (loss)							11.9	(1	.0)	(2.6)
Total	\$	501.8 \$	495.0	\$ 586.1	\$	535.9 \$	644.2	\$ 517	.4 \$	705.6
Other Financial Data:	¢.	140.0 *	1466	h 100 1	Ф	177 (^	150.5	Φ 40	1 0	50.2
EBITDA(2) Cash flow from operating activities	\$	148.2 \$ 106.6	146.8 3 103.6	\$ 188.1 101.6		177.6 \$ 117.3	159.7 122.3	\$ 40 46	.1 \$	50.3 52.2
Cash flow used in investing		100.0	103.0	101.0		117.3	122.3	40	. /	32.2
activities		(101.7)	(427.9)	(91.1)		(20.7)	(299.1)	(6	.3)	(29.1)
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities		24.1	252.7	(17.5))	(99.4)	179.8	(28	.0)	(1.0)
Acquisitions included in investing activities							265.0			
				50			203.0			
Capital expenditures included in investing activities	\$	126.9 \$	487.3	\$ 82.9	\$	21.7 \$	35.0	\$ 2	.4 \$	30.0

Operating Data:

Three Months

Lakehead system							
Barrel miles (billions)(3)	389	391	350	341	333	83	86
Deliveries (thousands of bpd)(4)							
United States	960	992	898	976	960	980	906
Ontario	552	570	471	362	355	367	408
	1,512	1,562	1,369	1,338	1,315	1,347	1,314
East Texas system(5)							
Average daily volume (MMBtu/day)(6)			281	362	394	399	388

- The general partner's allocation of net income with respect to its general partner interest in the following amounts has been deducted before calculating net income per common unit: 1997, \$4.4 million; 1998, \$8.0 million; 1999, \$9.1 million; 2000, \$8.8 million; 2001, \$9.1 million; and the three month period ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, \$2.1 million and \$3.2 million, respectively. The weighted average number of outstanding common units for each period is as follows: 1997, 24.4 million; 1998, 26.2 million; 1999, 28.0 million; 2000, 28.9 million; 2001, 30.2 million; and the three month periods ended March 31, 2001 and 2002, 28.9 million and 33.7 million, respectively.
- EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business of Enbridge Partners and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.
- (3)

 "Barrel miles" is a measurement of how fully a pipeline is used over its length and is calculated by multiplying the amount of each individual delivery (measured in barrels) by the distance it is shipped (measured in miles) and then adding the results so obtained for all deliveries.
- "Deliveries" means the amount of liquid hydrocarbons delivered by a pipeline to certain points along the system and is quantified using a barrel as a unit of measure. "Barrels per day" (or "bpd") delivery data is a measurement of average deliveries for the indicated period and is computed by dividing the number of barrels delivered for the period by the number of days in the period.
- (5)
 East Texas system operating statistics for 1999, 2000 and 2001 are shown on full-year basis for informational purposes. Enbridge Partners acquired East Texas system on November 30, 2001.
- (6) In millions of British thermal units per day, or "MMBtu/day".

51

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY

You should read the following selected financial information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy in connection with the financial statements and related notes and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Enbridge Midcoast Energy

Results of Operations" appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The historical results of Enbridge Midcoast Energy are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in future periods.

Selected financial information for the year ended December 31, 2001 is presented as two separate periods due to the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company on May 11, 2001. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting effective May 1, 2001.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas system on January 2, 2002 and the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002. The selected financial information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy as of and for the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflects the inclusion of these systems since the dates they were acquired.

The financial information for all periods beginning after April 30, 2001 reflect the financial performance of the assets under the ownership and management of Enbridge Energy Company.

	Year Ended December 31,					31,		Four Months Ended April 30,			Eight Months Ended ecember 31,		Three Months Ended March 31,		
		1997		1998		1999	2	000		2001	2001			2001	2002
								(6	doll	ars in millions)					
														(una	ıdited)
Statement of Operations Data:															
Operating revenue	\$	112.7	\$	234.1	\$	391.6	\$	792.3	\$	407.0 \$		438.5	\$	333.2	\$ 191.1
Operating expenses:															
Energy marketing expenses		100.3		211.0		330.5		682.5		390.9		364.7	'	320.9	158.5
Operating and administration		3.5		6.3		30.0		48.6		29.5		37.1		13.5	15.9
Unusual charges						2.7									
Depreciation and amortization		1.6		3.2		7.5		15.7		5.7		15.5	i	4.3	5.0
Total operating expenses	_	105.4		220.5		370.7		746.8		426.1		417.3	. – . –	338.7	179.4
Operating income (loss)		7.3		13.6		20.9		45.5		(19.1)		21.2	2	(5.5)	11.7
Interest and other income		(0.1)		0.2		(0.1)		1.8		0.6		0.1		0.2	(0.5)
Interest expense Minority interest		(1.1) (0.2)		(3.3)		(6.5) (0.1)		(18.4)		(9.4) (0.1)		(14.0))	(7.2)	(4.4)
Willofty interest		(0.2)		(0.1)	_	(0.1)		(0.1)	_	(0.1)					
Income (loss) before income taxes															
and extraordinary item		5.9		10.4		14.2		28.8		(28.0)		7.3	,	(12.5)	6.8
Provision for income taxes		(0.1)		(1.3))	(2.2))	(7.4))	9.4		(4.2	2)	4.2	(2.5)
	_		_		-		_		_				-		
Income (loss) before extraordinary item		5.8		9.1		12.0		21.4		(18.6)		3.1		(8.3)	4.3
													_		
Extraordinary item, net of income tax						(0.6)	١								
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income						(0.0)	,								
tax										(0.9)					
	_		_		-		_		_				_		
Net income (loss)	\$	5.8	\$	9.1	\$	11.4	\$	21.4	\$	(19.5) \$		3.1	\$	(8.3)	\$ 4.3
													_		
Financial Position Data: (at period end)															
Property, plant and	<u></u>	07.	ф	1515	c	202.5	ф	41.5.5		_		405		44 ~ 4	d
equipment, net Goodwill and other assets	\$	97.6 1.4	\$	154.2 2.5	\$	393.0 23.0	\$	416.0 26.3		\$		482.1 217.0		415.4 25.7	\$ 656.0 246.4
Total assets		128.0		191.3		478.4		599.3				787.7		552.3	1,033.2
Long-term debt		28.9		78.1		240.0		256.0						261.1	
Due to affiliates Shareholder's equity:												319.2	!		540.6
Common stock		0.1		0.1		0.1		0.1						0.1	
												260.0			260.0
Paid-in capital		80.7		81.0		166.0		166.0				368.0		166.3	368.0
Retained earnings (deficit)		(19.3)		(12.0))	(2.9))	14.9				3.1 (7.7		5.5 (0.7)	7.4 (15.8)
												(/./	,	()	(10.0)

	Yea	ar Ende	d Dece	mber 31,		Four Months Ended April 30,	Eig Mor End Decem	nths ded	M E	hree onths nded rch 31,
Accumulated other comprehensive income										
Treasury stock	 	(2.	.8)	(2.6)	(3.2)				(3.3)	
Total shareholders' equity	\$ 61.5 \$	66.	.3 \$	160.7 \$	177.8		\$	363.4	\$ 167.9	\$ 359.6
					52					
	Year	Ended I	Decem	ber 31,		Four Months Ended April 30,	Eigh Montl Ende Decembe	hs d	Me E	hree onths nded rch 31,
			199		000	2001	2001		2001	2002

(dollars in millions)

(unaudited)

Other Financial Data:								
EBITDA(1)	\$ 8.9 \$	16.8 \$	28.4 \$	61.2 \$	(13.4) \$	36.7 \$	(1.2) \$	16.7
EBITDA net of Canadian								
assets(2)	\$ 8.9 \$	16.8 \$	27.2 \$	57.4 \$	(13.8) \$	35.8 \$	0.4 \$	16.4
Cash flow from (used in)								
operating activities	\$ 3.8 \$	17.2 \$	16.7 \$	26.0 \$	(0.5) \$	(21.8) \$	(4.4) \$	19.0
Cash flow used in investing								
activities	\$ (62.5) \$	(61.3) \$	(254.3) \$	(40.4) \$	(11.4) \$	(51.4) \$	(3.3) \$	(207.4)
Cash flow from financing								
activities	\$ 57.8 \$	44.0 \$	239.7 \$	16.7 \$	9.6 \$	72.7 \$	4.6 \$	221.4
Acquisitions included in								
investing activities	\$ 60.8 \$	52.1 \$	238.1 \$	22.8 \$	\$	1.2 \$	\$	189.6
Capital expenditures included in								
investing activities	\$ 1.4 \$	7.8 \$	16.6 \$	16.5 \$	10.8 \$	50.2 \$	3.4 \$	17.8
Operating Data:								
Average daily volume								
(MMBtu/day)(3)	401.0	606.8	752.9	884.1	1,227.7	1,102.5	1,233.3	1,258.4

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and the Midcoast system and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others. EBITDA on this line includes Canadian assets.

⁽²⁾ Excludes EBITDA attributable to the operation of the Canadian assets, which have a book value of approximately \$25 million, that will not be contributed to Enbridge Partners.

⁽³⁾In millions of British thermal units per day, or "MMBtu/day". Includes all active pipeline mileage in which Enbridge Midcoast Energy owns an interest.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with the "Selected Financial Information of Enbridge Partners" and the "Selected Financial Information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy" and the financial statements and related notes of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Midcoast Energy and us appearing elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. You also should read the financial statements and related notes of Enbridge Inc. incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

Enbridge Management

General

We are a limited liability company that was formed in Delaware on May 14, 2002. We have elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. All of our voting shares are owned by Enbridge Energy Company.

Business

By agreement with Enbridge Partners and its general partner, Enbridge Energy Company, we will manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners, subject to Enbridge Energy Company's right to approve specified actions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our authorized capital structure consists of two classes of membership interests: (1) equity interests with limited voting rights, which are the shares being issued in this offering, and (2) voting equity interests. At May 23, 2002, our issued capitalization consisted of \$1,000 contributed by Enbridge Energy Company in connection with our formation and in exchange for its voting equity interest.

We will use substantially all of the net proceeds from this offering to purchase i-units from Enbridge Partners and to compensate Enbridge Inc. for its purchase obligation and tax indemnities. The number of our shares outstanding, including the voting equity interest owned by Enbridge Energy Company, will at all times equal the number of i-units we own. Typically, the general partner and owners of common units will receive distributions from Enbridge Partners in cash. Instead of receiving cash distributions, the number of i-units we own will be increased. The amount of this increase is calculated by dividing the amount of the cash distribution paid by Enbridge Partners on each common unit by the average market price of one of our shares as determined for a 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the ex-dividend date for our shares. When Enbridge Partners makes cash distributions on its common units, the number of i-units we own will be increased, and we will make distributions on our shares in the form of additional shares, with the result that the number of our shares and voting shares that are then outstanding will equal the number of i-units that we own.

If we incur liabilities or other obligations in connection with the performance of our obligations under the delegation of control agreement, we are entitled to be reimbursed or indemnified by Enbridge Partners or Enbridge Energy Company. Thus, we expect that our expenditures associated with managing and controlling the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and the reimbursement we receive will be equal. Enbridge Partners also will reimburse us for our general and administrative expenses associated with securities filings, tax filings and related costs, other than expenses of this and any other offerings of shares. As stated above, we will not receive quarterly distributions of cash on the i-units we hold. Therefore, we expect neither to generate nor to require significant

54

amounts of cash in ongoing operations. We expect that any net cash proceeds we receive from the sale of additional shares will immediately be used to purchase additional i-units. Accordingly, we do not anticipate any other sources or needs for additional liquidity.

Results of Operations

Upon completion of our initial offering of shares to the public and the purchase of i-units from Enbridge Partners, our results of operations will consist of (1) the offsetting expenses and revenues associated with managing and controlling the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and (2) our share of the earnings of Enbridge Partners attributable to the i-units we will own. As shown in the historical financial statements of Enbridge Partners appearing or incorporated by reference in this prospectus, the limited partners' interest in Enbridge Partners' net income was

\$69.6 million, \$51.4 million and \$29.8 million for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, respectively. These historical amounts are not necessarily indicative of the level of earnings to be expected in the future.

When this offering of 10,000,000 shares is completed, we will own approximately 21.7% of all of Enbridge Partners' outstanding limited partner interests (assuming no exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us). We will use the equity method of accounting for our investment and, therefore, will record earnings equal to approximately 21.7% of Enbridge Partners' limited partners' net income. Our percentage ownership will change over time if the number of i-units we own becomes a different percentage of the total units outstanding due to, among other things, our ownership of additional i-units and other issuances of additional common units by Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Partners

Overview

Prior to May 2001, Enbridge Partners was solely a transporter of crude oil and liquid petroleum through its Lakehead system. On May 18, 2001, Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system, a crude oil and liquid petroleum gathering and transportation system, and, on November 30, 2001, Enbridge Partners acquired the East Texas system, a natural gas gathering, treating, processing and transmission system. Enbridge Partners has entered into an agreement with Enbridge Energy Company to acquire the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems, which also consist of natural gas gathering, treating, processing, transmission and marketing assets. Following this acquisition, Enbridge Partners will have the following two lines of business:

Crude oil and liquid petroleum gathering and transportation operations; and

Natural gas gathering, treating, processing, transmission and marketing operations.

Factors Affecting Revenues from Crude Oil and Liquid Petroleum Operations

The Lakehead and North Dakota systems largely consist of FERC regulated interstate crude oil and liquid petroleum pipelines. These systems generate most of their revenues by charging shippers a per barrel tariff rate to transport crude oil and liquid petroleum. For a discussion of regulation by the FERC of the tariff rates charged by Enbridge Partners for transporting crude oil and liquid petroleum on the Lakehead and North Dakota systems, please read "Business" Enbridge Partners Regulation."

The Lakehead system links crude oil production from the western Canadian sedimentary basin to markets in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the Province of Ontario, Canada. Deliveries on the Lakehead system during 2001 were marginally lower than the

55

previous year as a result of slightly decreased crude oil production from western Canada. Despite improving crude oil prices in 2000/2001 as compared to 1998/1999, exploration and development activity in western Canada in 2001 was focused on natural gas rather than crude oil, due to more robust natural gas market expectations. Crude oil production also was adversely impacted by a sustained period of low heavy crude oil prices relative to the price of light crude oil and by production problems and longer than expected maintenance at a major oil sands plant in the Province of Alberta, Canada.

Enbridge Partners expects that crude oil production from western Canada, and therefore deliveries on the Lakehead system, will improve during the second half of 2002 and that incremental production will result from some of the oil sands development projects that are expected to go into service during the year. Furthermore, Enbridge Partners believes that long-term prospects for increased crude oil production remain positive as western Canadian producers report that they are committed to development projects that will bring incremental supply to the Lakehead system.

Factors Affecting Revenues from Natural Gas Operations

Overview

The East Texas, Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems operate the following three principal businesses within the natural gas industry:

Transmission and wholesale activities, which include the transmission of natural gas through interstate and intrastate pipelines and delivery to the facilities of wholesale customers, such as local distribution companies, power plants and industrial facilities;

Gathering and processing activities, which include natural gas gathering, treating, processing and transmission and NGL transportation; and

Marketing activities, which involve providing natural gas supply, transmission and sales services for producers and wholesale customers.

Supply of natural gas available to Enbridge Midcoast Energy is influenced by exploration and development activities that are driven by natural gas prices, natural gas supply and demand and related exploration costs. Unless the context otherwise requires, in describing the factors affecting revenues from natural gas operations, we assume that the acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems by Enbridge Partners has occurred.

Transmission and Wholesale Activities

Enbridge Partners' FERC regulated interstate natural gas transmission pipeline systems generally derive their revenue from fees charged for transmission of natural gas, while its intrastate pipelines generally derive their revenue from the bundled sales of natural gas and transmission services. Customers of Enbridge Partners' FERC regulated natural gas pipeline systems typically pay a reservation fee each month to reserve capacity plus a nominal commodity charge based on actual transmission volumes. In some cases, Enbridge Partners' marketing operation uses these pipeline systems to sell natural gas it owns to its customers, such as local distribution companies or industrial facilities. Please read "Other Matters Regulatory Matters," for a discussion of rate regulatory matters that affect Enbridge Partners' operations, including a description of the rate proceeding relating to the Kansas Pipeline system.

56

Gathering and Processing Activities

Enbridge Partners' receives revenues for its gathering and processing services under the following types of arrangements:

Fee-Based Arrangements: Under a fee-based contract, Enbridge Partners receives a set fee for gathering, treating, processing and transmission of raw natural gas and providing other gathering services. These revenues correlate with volumes and types of service, and do not depend directly on commodity prices. Enbridge Partners prefers fee-based contracts in order to support the stability of cash flows.

Other Arrangements: While Enbridge Partners prefers fee-based contracts, it also utilizes other types of arrangements in its natural gas gathering and processing business, including:

Percentage-of-Index-Contracts Under these contracts, Enbridge Partners purchases raw natural gas at a negotiated discount to an agreed upon index. Enbridge Partners then resells the natural gas, generally for the index price, keeping the difference as its fee.

Percentage-of-Proceeds Contracts Under these contracts, Enbridge Partners receives a negotiated percentage of the natural gas it processes in the form of residue natural gas, NGLs and sulfur, which it then sells at market prices.

Keep-Whole Contracts Under these contracts, Enbridge Partners gathers or purchases raw natural gas from the producer for processing. A portion of the gathered or purchased gas is consumed during processing. Enbridge Partners extracts and retains the NGLs produced during processing, which it sells at market prices. In instances when Enbridge Partners purchases raw gas at the wellhead, it also sells for its own account the residue gas resulting from processing at market prices. In those

instances when Enbridge Partners gathers and processes raw natural gas for the account of the producer, it must return to the producer residue gas with a Btu content equivalent to the original raw gas it received.

Some of these other arrangements expose Enbridge Partners to commodity price risk, which is mitigated by offsetting physical purchases and sales and financial derivative hedge instruments. In addition, Enbridge Partners occasionally takes title to natural gas and NGLs for other reasons, such as to sell these products to customers. Although this exposure to commodity prices will increase as a result of the acquisition of the acquired systems, Enbridge Partners will continue to hedge a significant amount of this commodity price risk to support the stability of cash flows. Please read " Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk Commodity Price Risk."

Marketing Activities

The Midcoast system's natural gas marketing operation provides supply, transmission and sales service for producers and wholesale customers on the Midcoast system's gathering, transmission and customer pipelines as well as other interconnected pipeline systems. Natural gas marketing activities are primarily undertaken to realize incremental margins on gas purchased at the wellhead, increase pipeline utilization and provide value added services to customers.

In general, natural gas purchased and sold by the Midcoast system's marketing operation is priced at a published daily or monthly price index. Sales to wholesale customers typically incorporate a premium for managing their transmission and balancing requirements. Higher premiums and associated margins result from transactions that involve smaller volumes or that offer greater service flexibility for wholesale customers. At the request of the customer, Enbridge Midcoast Energy will enter into long-term fixed price purchase or sale contracts with its customers. Enbridge generally will enter into offsetting hedged positions under the same or similar terms.

57

Enbridge Partners Results of Operations

The East Texas system was acquired by Enbridge Partners on November 30, 2001 for approximately \$230 million, and its results of operations are included in Enbridge Partners' results of operations since that date. Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system from Enbridge Inc. on May 18, 2001, for approximately \$35 million, and its results of operations are included in Enbridge Partners' results of operations since that date.

Enbridge Partners Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2001

Net income. Net income for the first quarter of 2002 was \$17.7 million compared with 2001 first quarter net income of \$10.1 million, an increase of \$7.6 million. The increase in net income resulted from higher earnings on the Lakehead System, as well as contributions from the newly acquired North Dakota and East Texas systems in the first quarter of 2002. Margins on the East Texas system were slightly lower than anticipated due to treating plant maintenance. The comparative numbers for the first quarter of 2001 did not include earnings from the North Dakota or East Texas systems, which were purchased in the second quarter and fourth quarter of 2001, respectively.

Operating revenue. Operating revenue for the first quarter of 2002 was \$181.3 million, or \$109.4 million higher than the first quarter of 2001. This increase was primarily due to the inclusion of revenue of \$99.2 million from the East Texas system and \$2.9 million from the North Dakota system and an increase in the Lakehead system revenue of \$7.3 million. Revenue on the Lakehead system was higher than the same period last year due to a 2.9% increase in the indexed tariff effective July 1, 2001, an increase in the Terrace expansion program tariff rate of approximately 1.3 cents per barrel effective April 1, 2001 and a longer average haul distance.

Deliveries. Deliveries averaged 1.314 million barrels per day for the first quarter of 2002, down approximately 2.4% from the 1.347 million barrels per day averaged for the first quarter of 2001, due to a brief outage at a major producer's oil sands plant in the Province of Alberta, Canada.

Cost of natural gas. Cost of natural gas was \$89.6 million for the first quarter of 2002. These costs were primarily incurred in connection with the purchase of natural gas at the wellhead on the East Texas system.

Power costs. Power costs for the first quarter of 2002 were \$13.6 million, or \$1.9 million higher than the first quarter of 2001. The increase was primarily due to an increase in power costs on the Lakehead system of \$1.6 million. Although deliveries decreased in the first quarter of 2002 compared to the first quarter of 2001, power costs increased to reflect the additional cost of transporting a higher proportion of heavy crude oil relative to lighter crude oil on the system and a longer average haul.

Operating and administrative expenses. Operating and administrative expenses for the first quarter of 2002 increased to \$27.8 million from \$20.1 million for the first quarter of 2001, as a result of the inclusion of the East Texas and North Dakota systems and higher expenses of \$3.9 million on the Lakehead system due to higher pipeline inspection costs and a reduced pension credit. The increase was partially offset by lower oil measurement losses and decreased administrative expenses for salaries and wages, which resulted from increased construction activity and increased capitalized charges on the Terrace expansion program.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased to \$18.3 million for the first quarter of 2002 from \$15.4 million for the first quarter of 2001.

58

Interest expense. Interest expense was \$14.7 million for the first quarter of 2002, compared to \$15.2 million for the same period of the prior year. The decrease was attributable to lower interest rates and a lower average amount of debt outstanding, as interim debt financing associated with recent system acquisitions and expansions was reduced with the proceeds from the issuance of Class A common units.

EBITDA. EBITDA increased to \$50.3 million for the first quarter of 2002 from \$40.1 million for the first quarter of 2001.

Enbridge Partners Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Net income. Net income for 2001 was \$38.9 million compared with \$60.2 million for 2000. Net income for 2001 decreased by \$21.3 million, primarily due to higher operating expenses, oil measurement losses as discussed below, slightly lower volumes transported and a non-recurring charge for costs related to the relocation of Enbridge Partners' head office. Net income included positive contributions from the North Dakota and the East Texas systems since their dates of acquisition.

Operating revenue. Operating revenue for 2001 was \$340.4 million, or \$34.8 million higher than 2000. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of operating revenue from the East Texas system and higher tariffs on the Lakehead system, offset by the impact of a decline in deliveries on the Lakehead system.

Deliveries. Deliveries averaged 1.315 million bpd on the Lakehead system in 2001, compared to 1.338 million bpd in 2000. This decline occurred due to lower crude oil production in western Canada. System utilization on the Lakehead system, measured in barrel miles, was 333 billion for 2001, compared to 341 billion for 2000, reflecting the decline in deliveries.

Cost of natural gas. Cost of natural gas for 2001 was \$26.3 million, related to the East Texas system.

Power costs. Power costs were \$49.9 million in 2001, or \$2.5 million higher than in 2000. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of power costs related to the North Dakota system and a higher proportion of heavy crude oil relative to lighter crude oil transported on the system, partially offset by lower deliveries.

Operating and administrative expenses. Operating and administrative expenses of \$104.5 million in 2001 were higher than the 2000 level of \$80.6 million. The \$23.9 million increase was primarily due to higher oil measurement losses and costs related to the relocation of Enbridge Partners' head office.

Oil measurement losses occur as part of normal operating conditions of a crude oil and liquid petroleum pipeline and can be classified as follows:

Physical losses that occur through evaporation, shrinkage, difference in measurement between receipt and delivery locations and other incidents;

Degradation losses that result from mixing at the interface between higher quality light crude oil and lower quality heavy crude oil in the pipeline; and

Revaluation losses that are a function of the price of crude oil, the level of the pipeline's inventory and inventory positions of customers.

Oil measurement losses were approximately \$18.0 million in 2001, or approximately \$11.0 million higher than in 2000. This increase was primarily due to higher differentials between light and heavy

59

crude oil prices, which increased the expense associated with inherent degradation between the batches of crude oil in the pipeline system. Also included in oil measurement losses was a \$5 million adjustment to the value of the oil overage balance, which represents oil owed to or receivable from customers of the pipeline system. This adjustment resulted from refinements in the oil measurement loss estimation process, as well as more accurate measurement of oil losses through the development of new software applications.

During the second quarter of 2001, Enbridge Partners announced the closing of its head office in Duluth, Minnesota and its relocation to Houston, Texas. Operating and administrative expenses for 2001 include a charge of \$5.0 million related to the relocation.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased from \$61.1 million for 2000 to \$63.8 million for 2001, primarily due to the acquisition of the North Dakota and East Texas systems in the second and fourth quarters of 2001, respectively.

Interest expense. Interest expense of \$59.3 million in 2001 was \$1.1 million lower than 2000, primarily due to lower average debt balances combined with lower interest rates on Enbridge Partners' revolving credit facility. Debt was reduced with the proceeds from the issuance of Class A common units during 2001.

EBITDA. EBITDA for 2001 decreased to \$159.7 million in 2001 from \$177.6 million in 2000.

Enbridge Partners Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Net income. Net income for 2000 was \$60.2 million compared with \$78.7 million for 1999. Net income for 2000 was \$18.5 million lower than for 1999, primarily due to lower pipeline utilization and increased operating costs. The decline in utilization was primarily a result of low crude oil prices in late 1998 and early 1999, which caused crude oil producers to limit their investment in oil exploration and development activities. Coupled with declines in crude oil production, reduced investment by oil producers adversely affected results due to lower volumes of crude oil being available for transport.

Operating revenue. Operating revenue for 2000 was \$305.6 million, or \$7.0 million less than 1999. The decrease was primarily due to the decline in deliveries of crude oil.

Deliveries. Deliveries averaged 1.338 million bpd in 2000, compared to 1.369 million bpd in 1999. The decline occurred due to producer maintenance shutdowns and wetter than normal weather in western Canada, which delayed oil well tie-ins and other development activities. System utilization, measured in barrel miles, was 341 billion for 2000, compared to 350 billion for 1999, reflecting the decline in deliveries.

Power costs. Power costs were \$47.4 million in 2000, a decrease of \$5.6 million, due to lower throughput volumes.

Operating and administrative expenses. Operating and administrative expenses of \$80.6 million in 2000 were higher than 1999 levels of \$71.5 million, due to higher oil measurement losses and higher property taxes associated with recent expansion projects. In addition, decreased construction activity resulted in lower capitalized charges and increased administrative expenses for salaries and wages in 2000.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased from \$57.8 million for 1999 to \$61.1 million for 2000, primarily due to an increase in depreciable assets resulting from expansions of the Lakehead system.

60

Interest expense. Interest expense of \$60.4 million in 2000 was \$6.3 million higher than 1999. Less construction activity during 2000 led to a lower amount of capitalized interest and a corresponding increase in interest expense levels.

EBITDA. EBITDA for 2000 decreased from \$188.1 million in 1999 to \$177.6 million in 2000.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy Results of Operations

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas system on January 2, 2002 for \$9 million and the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002 for \$178 million. The results of operations of Enbridge Midcoast Energy include the results of operations of the South Texas and Northeast Texas systems since those dates.

Overview

The following table presents summary historical financial information for Enbridge Midcoast Energy for the periods indicated. The information presented for the eight months from May 1, 2001 through December 31, 2001 reflects the historical operating results of Enbridge Midcoast Energy during that period after giving effect to the changes in the basis of accounting described below. The combined information presented for the 12 months ended December 31, 2001 reflects the sum of the four and eight months described above. The financial information for the eight months ended December 31, 2001 and the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflect the financial performance of the assets under the ownership and management of Enbridge Energy Company.

	Years Ended December 31,					Four		F: 1436 (1		Combined	Three Months Ended March 31,				
	1999			2000		Months Ended April 30, 2001	Eight Months Ended December 31, 2001			velve Months Ended ecember 31, 2001	2001			2002	
Revenues	\$	391.6	\$	792.3	\$	407.0	\$	438.5	\$	845.5	\$	333.2	\$	191.1	
Cost of natural gas		330.5		682.5		390.9		364.7		755.6		320.9		158.5	
Gross margin	\$	61.1	\$	109.8	\$	16.1	\$	73.8	\$	89.9	\$	12.3	\$	32.6	
Operating expenses(1)		30.0		48.6		29.5		37.1		66.6		13.5		15.9	
Other expenses		2.7													
	_		_		_		_		_		_		_		
EBITDA(2)	\$	28.4	\$	61.2	\$	(13.4)	\$	36.7	\$	23.3	\$	(1.2)	\$	16.7	
Depreciation and															
amortization		7.5		15.7		5.7		15.5				4.3		5.0	
Interest expense		6.5		18.4		9.4		14.0				7.2		4.4	
Net income (loss)	\$	11.4	\$	21.4	\$	(19.5)	\$	3.1			\$	(8.3)	\$	4.3	

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business of Enbridge Midcoast Energy and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.

Enbridge Energy Company acquired Enbridge Midcoast Energy on May 11, 2001 at which time it valued the assets and liabilities of Enbridge Midcoast Energy at fair market value and allocated the purchase price to assets and liabilities acquired. In addition, the basis of accounting changed

⁽¹⁾ Operating expenses include operation and maintenance expenses and general and administrative expenses.

on the effective date of the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. The primary change was the recognition of goodwill and a reduction in the carrying value of certain regulatory assets. Other changes included an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts and an increase in deferred income taxes to reflect Enbridge Energy Company's allocation of fair market value.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired or constructed numerous pipelines in the five-year period ended March 31, 2002. The purchased assets were acquired from numerous sellers at different dates and were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting for business combinations. Accordingly, the results of operations for such acquisitions are included in Enbridge Midcoast Energy's financial statements only from the applicable date of the acquisition. As a consequence, the historical results of operations for the periods presented in the table above may not be comparable.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2001

Exclusive of the unusual items discussed below, in both the first quarter of 2001 and 2002, volumes and margins within Enbridge Midcoast Energy's natural gas transmission pipelines and gathering, treating and processing assets were generally stable. In the first quarter of 2001, weak processing margins driven by unusually high natural gas prices relative to NGL prices were offset by earnings at systems that operate under percentage-of-proceeds contracts, where high natural gas prices generated higher earnings. Intrastate gas transmissions operations provided stable earnings and cash flow.

In the first quarter of 2002, processing margins were greater than in the prior period, as gross margin from interstate pipeline systems was stable and Enbridge Midcoast Energy had contributions from the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems that did not exist in 2001.

Net income. Net income for the first quarter of 2002 was \$4.3 million, an increase of \$12.6 million compared to first quarter 2001 net loss of \$8.3 million. The increase in net income was primarily due to the acquisition in the first quarter of 2002 of the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems, contribution from the BamaGas pipeline and the adverse impact of unusual items in the first quarter of 2001.

Gross margin. Gross margin for the first quarter of 2002 was \$32.6 million compared to \$12.3 million for the first quarter of 2001. Results in the first quarter of 2001 included the following unusual items:

\$13.0 million in net payables under operational balancing agreements, which were paid at prices higher than prices prevailing when the obligations were incurred; and

\$7.5 million attributable to revaluation of operational balancing agreements and shipper imbalances.

Operational balancing agreements and shipper imbalances are described below:

Operational balancing agreements. To facilitate deliveries of natural gas and provide for operational flexibility, many natural gas transmission companies have operational balancing agreements in place with other interconnecting pipelines. These agreements ensure that the volume of gas a shipper schedules for transportation between two interconnecting pipelines equals the volume actually delivered. If natural gas moves between pipelines in volumes that are more or less than the volumes the shipper previously scheduled, the difference results in a net receivable or payable balance between the interconnecting pipelines. To the extent that such imbalances are not settled regularly, this receivable or payable balance may increase or decrease as a result of movements in natural gas prices.

62

Shipper imbalances. When an operational balancing agreement is not in place, shippers of natural gas accumulate net receivable or payable balances with a pipeline if the volume of gas actually transported by the pipeline differs from the volume of gas the shipper had scheduled for transportation. This difference is referred to as a shipper imbalance.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy believes it will be less affected by the impact of operational balancing agreements and shipper imbalances in the future due to improved systems of internal control for monitoring, valuation and settlement of the associated payables and receivables. The operational balancing agreements and shipper imbalances will be monitored through monthly and daily value at risk reporting mechanisms currently being developed and senior management oversight to comply with Enbridge Inc.'s commodity risk management policies.

Operating expenses. Total operating expenses include direct operating, general and administrative and other costs. Operating costs increased \$2.4 million in the first quarter of 2002, primarily due to additional infrastructure associated with growth of the asset base. Increased insurance premiums associated with the impact of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks also contributed to higher operating costs.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization was \$5.0 million in the first quarter of 2002, an increase from \$4.3 million in the first quarter of 2001, primarily due to the acquisition of the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems during the first quarter of 2002.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased due to lower interest rates and the restructuring of an interest rate swap assumed upon the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company with an embedded option that did not qualify for the cash flow method of hedge accounting treatment under FAS 133. The mark-to-market treatment of the financial instrument was recognized as interest expense of \$2.4 million in the first quarter of 2001. The embedded option was removed from the financial instrument, and the related charges to interest expense did not recur in 2002.

EBITDA. EBITDA was \$16.7 million in the first quarter of 2002, an increase of \$17.9 million from negative \$1.2 million for the first quarter of 2001.

Canadian assets. Results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2002 and March 31, 2001 include the contribution of Enbridge Midcoast Energy's Canadian assets. These assets will not be included in the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Partners. Gross margin associated with these assets was \$1.1 million and \$1.9 million, operating costs associated with these assets were \$0.8 million and \$1.2 million, and depreciation associated with these assets was \$0.2 million and \$0.2 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2002 and March 31, 2001, respectively.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Excluding unusual items, pipeline operations produced stable gross margins in both 2001 and 2000. Results in 2001 were driven by the full year contributions of the acquired UTOS offshore pipeline and by additional earnings from trucking operations. Intrastate and interstate pipeline operations provided stable earnings and cash flow.

Net income. For the four months ended April 30, 2001, Enbridge Midcoast Energy recorded a net loss of \$19.5 million. This loss was primarily due to revaluations of balancing agreements and shipper imbalances as discussed above and transaction costs associated with and goodwill amortization recorded in connection with the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company. For the eight months ended December 31, 2001, Enbridge Midcoast Energy

63

recorded net income of \$3.1 million. Integration costs associated with the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company increased operating expenses during this period while lower than expected margins within marketing operations also reduced net income.

Gross margin. Gross margin decreased to \$89.9 million in 2001 from \$109.8 million in 2000, primarily due to \$20.5 million in unusual items in the first quarter of 2001. Excluding these unusual items, gross margin for 2001 improved relative to 2000 due to the full year impact of acquisitions completed during 2000, including the acquisition of the UTOS offshore system and Enbridge Midcoast Energy's trucking operations.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses increased by \$18 million due to acquisitions and higher fuel costs. Other increases reflected \$5.6 million in advisory fees incurred by Enbridge Midcoast Energy in connection with its acquisition by Enbridge Energy Company, legal fees of \$1.1 million during 2001, primarily associated with pipeline rate litigation, and \$0.8 million of consulting and other costs associated with the integration of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. In addition, certain corporate overhead charges, including insurance premiums, increased relative to 2000 by approximately \$0.8 million.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization during the eight months ended December 31, 2001 includes \$4.5 million of goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Energy Company.

Interest expense. Interest expense for the four months ended April 30, 2001 included an interest rate swap with an embedded option that did not qualify for cash flow method or hedge accounting treatment under FAS 133. The mark-to-market treatment of the financial instrument was recognized as interest expense of \$2.5 million. For the eight months ended December 31, 2001, Enbridge Midcoast Energy incurred interest expense of \$2.6 million for the same embedded option.

EBITDA. EBITDA decreased to \$23.3 million in 2001 from \$61.2 million in 2000.

Canadian assets. Results of operations for 2001 and 2000 include the results of operations of Enbridge Midcoast Energy's Canadian assets. These assets will not be included in the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Partners. Gross margin associated with these assets was \$6.1 million and \$5.9 million, operating costs associated with these assets were \$4.3 million and \$2.2 million and depreciation associated with these assets was \$0.9 million and \$0.8 million, for 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1999

Net income. Net income increased to \$21.4 million in 2000 from \$11.4 million in 1999, primarily due to the acquisition of the Kansas pipeline system, increased marketing margins and increased throughput on other systems.

Gross margin. Gross margin for 2000 increased by \$48.7 million over the same period in 1999 due to increased transportation fees of \$25.5 million resulting from the Kansas pipeline system acquisition in November 1999 and \$13.3 million due primarily to acquisitions in gathering and processing, improved marketing margins and a more favorable commodity price environment.

Operating expenses. Operating expenses increased primarily due to the full year effect of acquisitions completed in 1999. General and administrative expenses for 2000 increased \$7.3 million primarily due to increased employee costs related to the acquisitions.

64

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased to \$15.7 million in 2000 from \$7.5 million in 1999 as a result of acquisitions.

Interest expense. Interest expense increased to \$18.4 million in 2000 from \$6.5 million in 1999 as a result of increased debt used to finance acquisitions.

Unusual item. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, Enbridge Midcoast Energy recorded a pre-tax unusual charge totaling \$2.7 million related to restructuring efforts announced in November 1999.

EBITDA. EBITDA increased to \$61.2 million in 2000 from \$28.4 million in 1999.

Canadian assets. Gross margin associated with the Canadian assets was \$5.9 million and \$2.2 million, operating costs associated with these assets were \$2.2 million and \$0.9 million and depreciation associated with these assets was \$0.8 million and \$0.3 million, for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Northeast Texas System Overview

The natural gas gathering, treating and processing business of the Northeast Texas system generated approximately \$140 million of revenues in each of 2001 and 2000. EBITDA decreased to \$18.1 million in 2001 from \$38.0 million in 2000, primarily because of changes in natural gas prices. Enbridge Energy Company acquired the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002. Financial information relating to the Northeast Texas system is not included in any historical financial statements contained in this prospectus prior to that date. The foregoing financial information, which is unaudited, is derived from information Enbridge Energy Company received from the seller when it acquired the Northeast Texas system. Upon acquisition of the Northeast Texas system, Enbridge Energy Company instituted a hedging program that is intended to manage the stability of cash flows and reduce exposure to commodity price risk.

Management expects an improvement in EBITDA related to these assets for the following reasons:

Completion of a full plant turnaround and associated maintenance and repairs at the Eustace natural gas treating and processing plant, which occurred during December of 2001 and the first two months of 2002.

Expenditure of expansion capital of approximately \$21 million, which is included in the purchase price of the Northeast Texas system for the planned acquisition of natural gas compressors that are currently leased. Based on unaudited historical financial information provided by the seller, this acquisition would have reduced operating lease expenses, resulting in an

increase in EBITDA of approximately \$5.9 million on a pro forma basis for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002.

A full year contribution of revenues and EBITDA in 2002 from the Indian Rock natural gas treating plant, which was acquired in the second half of 2001.

Pro Forma Results of Operations

Enbridge Energy Company acquired Enbridge Midcoast Energy on May 11, 2001. Therefore, selected pro forma as adjusted financial information for Enbridge Partners is presented for the following periods:

the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 combined with the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002; and

65

the year ended December 31, 2001 and the three months ended March 31, 2002 combined with Midcoast Northeast Texas and South Texas systems, for the same periods.

Pro forma as adjusted financial information for Enbridge Partners for the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 combined with the acquired systems for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002 is shown because it is more representative of normal operations of the acquired systems. Results of operations for the 12 months ended December 31, 2001 were not representative of normal operations for the acquired systems, because of the change in control and the following unusual items that occurred in the first four months of 2001:

\$13.0 million for settlement of accumulated liabilities owed to third-party pipelines under natural gas balancing agreements;

\$7.5 million in revaluations of receivables and payables arising from natural gas imbalances; and

\$6.0 million in transaction expenses associated with the acquisition by Enbridge Energy Company of Enbridge Midcoast Energy.

The pro forma as adjusted financial information gives effect to the following as of the beginning of the applicable period:

the acquisition by Enbridge Partners of the acquired systems for \$929.1 million, consisting of the assumption of \$900.0 million in debt related to the acquired systems, payment of \$18.7 million in cash and issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest in Enbridge Partners to Enbridge Energy Company; and

the receipt by Enbridge Partners of \$429.9 million in proceeds from the sale of its i-units to us, which assumes that we sell 10,000,000 shares at \$45.50 per share, net of the underwriting discount, expected expenses and \$500,000 paid by us to Enbridge Inc. in respect of its purchase obligation and tax indemnities, and the use by Enbridge Partners of these proceeds to repay a portion of the debt it assumed in connection with the acquisition.

The following adjustments were made and assumptions were used in preparing the pro forma as adjusted financial information:

The pro forma as adjusted financial information has been prepared using the purchase method of accounting to give effect to the acquired systems and the assumption of debt related to these systems as described above.

The purchase price allocated in the pro forma as adjusted financial information is based on Enbridge Partners' estimate of the fair market values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The pro forma as adjusted financial information includes assumptions and adjustments as described in the notes to the pro forma combined financial statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. The pro forma as adjusted financial information should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and related notes of Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Midcoast Energy appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas system on January 2, 2002 and the Northeast Texas system on March 1, 2002. The pro forma as adjusted financial information reflects the results of operations of these systems as of the beginning of the applicable period.

Enbridge Partners acquired the North Dakota system on May 18, 2001 and the East Texas system on November 30, 2001. The historical and pro forma as adjusted financial information for Enbridge Partners as of and for the 12 months ended December 31, 2001 and as of and

66

for the three months ended March 31, 2002 reflects the results of operations of these systems as of the dates they were acquired.

The pro forma as adjusted financial information relating to the Midcoast system excludes the Canadian assets that are owned by Enbridge Midcoast Energy and which are being retained by Enbridge Energy Company.

The pro forma as adjusted financial information reflects the acquisition for approximately \$21 million of natural gas compressors on the Northeast Texas system that are currently leased. This acquisition is expected to occur at the end of the second quarter of 2002, and based on unaudited historical financial information provided by the seller, EBITDA would have increased by approximately \$5.9 million annually due to reduced operating lease expenses. This contribution to EBITDA is included in the pro forma as adjusted financial information.

The purpose of pro forma as adjusted financial information is to illustrate the results of operations given the effect of certain transactions. The pro forma as adjusted financial information presented here is not necessarily indicative of full year results of the combined entity on a recurring basis due, among other things, to the following:

Enbridge Midcoast Energy has completed the BamaGas project, which has contributed approximately \$0.4 million of EBITDA per month for the February 2002 to April 2002 period. Results from this project and other projects and agreements, including an agreement Enbridge Midcoast Energy has with a major oil company to transport polypropylene, have not been included in the pro forma financial information.

The pro forma as adjusted financial information reflects a major plant shutdown on the Northeast Texas system for two months in 2002. The pro forma as adjusted financial information has not been adjusted to reflect the annual earnings contribution from this plant.

The pro forma as adjusted financial information may not be indicative of the results that would have occurred if the acquisition of the acquired systems had been consummated as of the beginning of the applicable period or that will be obtained in the future.

67

Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information for the 12 Months Ended March 31, 2002 for Enbridge Partners and the 12 Months Ended April 30, 2002 for the Acquired Systems

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

		nbridge artners	Pro Forma Adjustments			Forma as Adjusted
	(un	audited)	(uı	naudited)	(uı	naudited)
				llions, except nit amounts)		
Income Statement Data:						
Operating revenue	\$	449.8	\$	823.9	\$	1,273.7
Power		51.8				51.8
Cost of natural gas		115.9		676.7		792.6
Operating and administrative expenses		112.2		74.9		187.1
Depreciation and amortization		66.7		19.5		86.2
Operating income		103.2		52.8		156.0
Interest and other income		2.7		(0.6)		2.1
Interest expense		(58.8)		(34.2)		(93.0)
Income before minority interest		47.1		18.0		65.1
Minority interest		(0.6)				(0.6)
Net income	\$	46.5	\$	18.0	\$	64.5
Net income per unit	\$	1.16	\$	1.41	\$	1.22
Weighted average units outstanding		31.4		10.0		41.4
General partner's net income allocation	\$	10.1	\$	3.9	\$	14.0
Common unitholders' net income allocation	\$	36.4	\$	14.1	\$	50.5
Other Financial Data:						
EBITDA(1)	\$	169.9	\$	72.3	\$	242.2

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.

Pro forma net income reflects the historic results of Enbridge Partners of \$46.5 million and a \$18.0 million contribution related to the pro forma adjustments for a combined pro forma net income of \$64.5 million. This contribution includes the results of operations of the acquired systems as though the acquisitions had been consummated on April 1, 2001. In addition, the pro forma adjustments reflect the issuance of i-units and the assumption of debt related to financing the acquisitions.

The pro forma adjustments for the acquired systems are derived from the historic results for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002. This period is expected to be more indicative of actual results from these operations on a recurring basis than the year ended December 31, 2001.

68

Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information for the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Enbridge Pro Forma Pro Forma as Partners Adjustments Adjusted

				_	
	(hi	storical)	(unaudited)	((unaudited)
			(in millions, except per unit amounts)		
Income Statement Data:					
Operating revenue	\$	340.4	\$ 991.9	\$	1,332.3
Power		49.9			49.9
Cost of natural gas		26.3	858.6		884.9
Operating and administrative expenses		104.5	84.7		189.2
Depreciation and amortization		63.8	19.5		83.3
One wating in some		95.9	29.1		125.0
Operating income Interest and other income		2.8	0.8		3.6
Interest expense		(59.3)	(34.2)		(93.5)
interest expense		(39.3)	(34.2)	_	(93.3)
Income before minority interest		39.4	(4.3)		35.1
Minority interest		(0.5)	(0.1)		(0.6)
	Φ.	20.0	• (4.4)	_	21.5
Net income	\$	38.9	\$ (4.4)	\$	34.5
Net income per unit	\$	0.98	\$ (0.82)	\$	0.54
Weighted average units outstanding		30.2	10.0		40.2
General partner's net income allocation	\$	9.1	\$ 3.9	\$	13.0
	Φ.	• • •		_	21.5
Common unitholders' net income allocation	\$	29.8	\$ (8.3)	\$	21.5
Other Financial Data:		_			
EBITDA(1)	\$	159.7	\$ 48.6	\$	208.3

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.

Pro forma net income reflects the historic results of Enbridge Partners of \$38.9 million and a \$4.4 million loss related to the pro forma adjustments for a combined pro forma net income of \$34.5 million. This includes the results of operations of the acquired systems as though the acquisitions had been consummated on January 1, 2001.

The pro forma adjustments for the acquired systems are derived from the historic results for the 12 months ended December 31, 2001. Unusual items included in the fiscal 2001 results include accumulated liabilities related to natural gas balancing agreements, revaluations of receivables and payables from natural gas imbalances and expenses associated with the acquisition of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. by Enbridge Energy Company.

69

Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2002

Enbridge	Pro Forma	Pro Forma as
Partners	Adjustments	Adjusted

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

		nbridge artners		o Forma justments		Forma as djusted
	(un	naudited)	(uı	naudited)	(u	naudited)
				llions, except nit amounts)		
Income Statement Data:						
Operating revenue	\$	181.3	\$	207.0	\$	388.3
Power		13.6				13.6
Cost of natural gas		89.6		171.5		261.1
Operating and administrative expenses		27.8		17.9		45.7
Depreciation and amortization		18.3		4.9		23.2
Operating income		32.0		12.7		44.7
Interest and other income		0.6		(0.7)		(0.1)
Interest expense		(14.7)		(8.6)		(23.3)
Income before minority interest		17.9		3.4		21.3
Minority interest		(0.2)		3.1		(0.2)
Net income	\$	17.7	\$	3.4	\$	21.1
Net income	J.	17.7	φ	3.4	φ	21.1
Net income per unit	\$	0.43	\$	0.24	\$	0.39
Weighted average units outstanding		33.7		10.0		43.7
General partner's net income allocation	\$	3.2	\$	1.0	\$	4.2
Common unitholders' net income allocation	\$	14.5	\$	2.4	\$	16.9
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):						
Current assets	\$	143.4	\$	90.7	\$	234.1
Net property, plant and equipment		1,498.5		684.1		2,182.6
Goodwill		15.0		251.3		266.3
Other assets		25.7		11.5		37.2
Total assets	\$	1,682.6	\$	1,037.6	\$	2,720.2
Current liabilities	\$	158.6	\$	90.7	\$	249.3
Short-term debt		130.0				130.0
Long-term debt		683.4		490.3		1,173.7
Other liabilities		1.6		16.3		17.9
Minority interest		3.4		440.2		3.4
Partner's capital		705.6		440.3		1,145.9
Total liabilities and partners' capital	\$	1,682.6	\$	1,037.6	\$	2,720.2
Other Financial Data:						
EBITDA(1)	\$	50.3	\$	17.6	\$	67.9

EBITDA is defined for this purpose as operating income plus depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is used as a supplemental financial measurement in the evaluation of the business and should not be considered as an alternative to net income as an indicator of performance or as an alternative to cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is presented here to provide additional information, but it is not a measure recognized under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Furthermore, the presentation of EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures used by others.

Pro forma as adjusted net income of \$21.1 million reflects the \$17.7 million historical results of Enbridge Partners combined with the \$3.4 million contribution related to the pro forma adjustments.

70

This includes the results of operations of the acquired systems as though the acquisitions had been consummated on January 1, 2002. In addition, the pro forma adjustments reflect the issuance of i-units and the assumption of debt related to financing the acquisitions.

The pro forma adjustments for the acquired systems are derived from results for the three months ended March 31, 2002. During the first quarter of 2002, one of the processing plants in the Northeast Texas system was shut down for two months. In addition, the company was exposed to low natural gas prices without an effective hedging strategy, which reduced net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following discussion relates to Enbridge Partners and gives effect to the acquisition of the acquired systems and corresponds to the March 31, 2002 pro forma as adjusted balance sheet. This balance sheet assumes the issuance of \$429.9 million of i-units and the assumption and incurrence of \$490.3 million of debt in connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems.

Enbridge Partners anticipates that it will continue to have adequate liquidity to fund future recurring operating and investing activities. The primary cash requirements for Enbridge Partners consist of normal operating expenses, maintenance and expansion capital expenditures, debt service payments, distributions to partners and acquisitions of new businesses. Short-term cash requirements, such as operating expenses, maintenance capital expenditures and quarterly distributions to the partners are expected to be funded by operating cash flows. Long-term cash requirements for expansion projects and acquisitions are expected to be funded by several sources, including cash flows from operating activities, borrowings under bank credit facilities and the issuance of additional debt and equity securities, including common units and i-units. Enbridge Partners' ability to complete future debt and equity offerings will depend on various factors, including prevailing market conditions, interest rates and its financial condition at the time. Following the closing of this offering, Enbridge Partners also expects to be able to finance expansion capital requirements with the cash it retains instead of making cash distributions on the i-units we own.

In 2002, Enbridge Partners anticipates spending approximately \$27 million for system enhancements, \$100 million for core maintenance activities, and \$185 million for the Terrace expansion project. Excluding major expansion projects and acquisitions, ongoing capital expenditures are expected to average approximately \$50 million annually (approximately 55% for core maintenance and 45% for enhancement of the systems). Core maintenance activities, such as the replacement of equipment and preventive maintenance programs, will be undertaken to enable Enbridge Partners' systems to operate at their maximum operating capacity. Enhancements to the systems, such as refurbishment and replacement of pipe, are expected to extend the life of the systems and permit Enbridge Partners to respond to developing industry and government standards and the changing service expectations of its customers.

Enbridge Partners has established two unsecured credit facilities, a \$300 million three-year term facility and a \$300 million 364-day facility. Under the terms of these facilities, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership may together borrow funds up to a combined maximum of \$300 million under the three-year term facility and a combined maximum of \$300 million under the 364-day facility. In addition, Enbridge Partners may designate any of its subsidiaries that is a material subsidiary to borrow under either or both of the facilities and, subject to complying with certain administrative procedures, that subsidiary will be permitted to borrow. Any borrowings under either facility will be guaranteed by Enbridge Partners, its material subsidiaries, unless that subsidiary is the borrower, and Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership. As of March 31, 2002, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership had borrowed approximately \$204.0 million under the two credit facilities.

Enbridge Partners expects to have \$470.1 million in debt outstanding under a subordinated note provided by an affiliate. This note is expected to have a 5-year term and bear interest at one month LIBOR plus 1% during the first two years outstanding and, after that time, bear interest at one month LIBOR plus 2%. The note evidencing this debt contains no covenants but has a cross-default provision that is triggered by events of default under the first mortgage notes issued by Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership or defaults under Enbridge Partners' three-year term facility and 364-day facility.

Enbridge Partners has on file with the SEC a \$500 million shelf registration statement for the issuance of Class A common units. The purpose of this registration statement is to give Enbridge Partners flexibility to respond quickly to attractive financing opportunities in the capital markets as it pursues its growth strategy and manages its debt obligations. Approximately \$308 million in Class A common units is available for issuance under this registration statement.

Enbridge Partners distributes quarterly all of its available cash, which generally is defined to mean for any calendar quarter the sum of all of the cash receipts of Enbridge Partners plus net reductions to reserves less all of its cash disbursements and net additions to reserves. See "Distribution Policy." These reserves are retained to provide for the proper conduct of Enbridge Partners' business, to stabilize distributions of cash to unitholders and its general partner, Enbridge Energy Company and, as necessary, to comply with the terms of any agreement or obligation of Enbridge Partners.

Other Matters

Regulatory Matters

The currently approved rates for the Kansas pipeline system are based upon an annual cost of service of approximately \$31 million and are not subject to any refund obligation. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC), the entity that owns the Kansas pipeline system, has proposed a rate increase in a rate case before the FERC that would increase rates to a level designed to recover annually a cost of service of approximately \$37 million. The FERC suspended the rate increase and set the matter for hearing. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) elected not to put the higher rate into effect. Because Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) did not increase its tariff rates, rates Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) is charging its customers are not subject to refund.

On July 31, 2000, an administrative law judge issued a decision recommending that Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) recover annual revenues based on a cost of service of approximately \$20 million. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) filed exceptions to the administrative law judge's decision, and the matter is currently pending before the FERC for *de novo* review. An order is expected in late 2002. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) cannot be assured of receiving a FERC decision that will maintain or increase its existing rates. If the FERC decision affirms the administrative law judge's decision or concludes that Enbridge Pipelines (KPC)'s rates should be based on an annual cost of service significantly below \$31 million, Enbridge Partners' annual revenues on the Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) system will be reduced on a prospective basis.

Enbridge Pipelines (KPC)'s customers have not been paying the full amount of the \$31 million cost of service. On a monthly basis, customers are underpaying invoiced amounts by approximately \$0.8 million per month. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) has continued to recognize the underpayments as revenue due to FERC decisions affirming that the current level of rates is not subject to refund. Enbridge Energy Company will assume the risk for any underpayments that occur prior to closing of the acquisition of the acquired systems. After closing, Enbridge Partners will assume the risk associated with underpayment amounts.

72

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Enbridge Partners' financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires its management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. The basis for these estimates is historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Enbridge Partners believes critical accounting policies discussed in the following paragraph affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

In the normal course of the Enbridge Partners' business, judgment is involved in determining depreciation, customer and pipeline oil overage balances, crude oil measurement losses, payables and receivables associated with operational balancing agreements and year-end accruals. Enbridge Partners' records depreciation based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, which requires various assumptions to be made, including the supply of and demand for hydrocarbons in the markets served by assets, normal wear and tear of the facilities, and the extent

and frequency of maintenance programs. Changes in any of these assumptions may impact the rate at which depreciation is recognized in the financial statements.

The oil overage balance is recorded by Enbridge Partners based on measurement estimates. These estimates are based on mathematical calculations, physical measurement and include assumptions related to the type of crude oil, its market value, normal physical losses due to evaporation and capacity limitations of the system. If there is a material change in these assumptions, it may result in a change to the carrying value of the oil overage balance or revision of oil measurement loss estimates.

Payables and receivables associated with the activity on operational balancing agreements and imbalances are booked monthly. These balances are either settled on a cash basis or are carried by the pipelines and shippers on an in-kind basis. Accruals associated with these in-kind balances are derived from the best available third party documentation and are valued on a published third party index. Finally, in the normal course of preparing the year-end financial statements, revenue and expense accruals are made for the month of December to ensure amounts are complete and accurate on an annual basis. Judgments and estimates are necessary to prepare these accruals. Changes in these estimates are not expected to have a material impact on the earnings of Enbridge Partners. For additional details relating to Enbridge Partners' accounting policies, see Note 2 to Enbridge Partners' Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

73

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate and Foreign Exchange Risk

To the extent the amounts drawn under its revolving credit facilities carry a floating rate of interest, the Enbridge Partners' earnings and cash flow are exposed to changes in interest rates. This exposure is managed through periodically refinancing floating rate bank debt with long-term fixed rate debt and through the use of interest rate risk management hedge contracts. Enbridge Partners does not have any material exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates as virtually all of its revenue and expense is denominated in U.S. dollars. To the extent that a material foreign exchange exposure were to arise, Enbridge Partners intends to hedge such exposure using forward or other derivative contracts.

Enbridge Partners. The table below summarizes as of March 31, 2002 Enbridge Partners' derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates, including interest rate swaps and debt obligations. For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates. For interest rate swaps, the table presents notional amounts and weighted average fixed interest rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. Notional amounts are used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contract.

	Expected Maturity Date														
	2	2002		2003 2004		004	2005		2006		Thereafter		Total		Fair Value
			(in millions)												
Liabilities															
Fixed Rate:															
First Mortgage Notes	\$	31.0	\$	31.0	\$	31.0	\$	31.0	\$	31.0	\$	155.0	\$	310.0	\$ 342.4
Interest Rate		9.15%		9.15%		9.15%		9.15%		9.15%		9.15%			
Senior Unsecured Notes											\$	300.0	\$	300.0	\$ 289.5
Average Interest Rate												7.34%			
Variable Rate:															
Revolving Credit Facility			\$	99.0			\$	105.0					\$	204.0	\$ 204.0
Weighted Average Interest Rate				3.14%				2.39%							
Interest Rate Derivatives															
Interest Rate Swaps:															
Variable to Fixed	\$	50.0											\$	50.0	\$ (1.1)
Average Pay Rate		6.23%													

The fair value of the first mortgage notes and senior unsecured notes at March 31, 2002, was \$342.4 million (December 31, 2001 \$342.6 million) and \$289.5 million (December 31, 2001 \$291.4 million), respectively. Enbridge Partners had a total of \$204.0 million (December 31, 2001 \$137.0 million) of variable rate debt outstanding under the 364-day and term revolving credit facilities at March 31, 2002.

They had a combined fair value of \$204.0 million (December 31, 2001 \$137.0 million) and weighted average interest rates of 3.14% and 2.39% (December 31, 2001 2.43%), respectively. Enbridge Partners intends to roll over variable rate debt under its revolving credit facilities as the debt matures.

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements at March 31, 2002 was (\$1.1) million (December 31, 2001 (\$1.9) million). For additional information concerning Enbridge Partners' debt obligations, please see Note 8 to Enbridge Partners' Consolidated Financial Statements.

74

Enbridge Midcoast Energy. The table below summarizes Enbridge Midcoast Energy's derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates, including interest rate swaps and debt obligations.

		I	Expected 1	Maturit	y Date							
March 31, 2002	2002	20	003	2004	2005	005 2006 TI		Thereafter	Total		Fair Value	
						(i	n million	s)				
Fixed Rate:												
Intercompany Loan						\$	90.0	\$	90.0	\$	180.0	\$ 178.7
Interest Rate							6.39%	,	6.76%			
Variable Rate:												
Intercompany Loan						\$	267.1	\$	91.5	\$	358.6	\$ 358.6
Interest Rate							3.35%	,	3.37%			
Interest Rate Derivatives												
Interest Rate Swaps:												
Variable to Fixed		\$	140.0							\$	140.0	\$ (5.1)
Average Pay Rate			5.53%									

The fair value of the fixed rate intercompany loans as at March 31, 2002 was \$178.7 million (December 31, 2001 \$90.6 million). The fair value of the floating rate intercompany loans as at March 31, 2002 was \$358.6 million (December 31, 2001 \$229.2).

The interest rate swap agreements are in place to hedge a portion of the variable rate intercompany loan. The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements at March 31, 2002 was (\$5.1) million (December 31, 2001 (\$6.8) million).

Enbridge Midcoast Energy does not have any material exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates as virtually all of its revenue and expense is denominated in U.S. dollars. To the extent that a material foreign exchange exposure were to arise, Enbridge Midcoast Energy intends to hedge such exposure using forward foreign exchange contracts or other appropriate derivative contracts.

Commodity Price Risk

Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Partners' earnings and cash flows associated with the Lakehead system are not directly impacted by changes in commodity prices, as Enbridge Partners does not own the crude oil and NGLs it transports. However, Enbridge Partners has indirect commodity risk related to degradation losses associated with increasing differentials between the price of heavy crude oil relative to light crude oil. Commodity prices have a significant impact on the underlying supply of, and demand for, crude oil and NGLs that Enbridge Partners transports. With Enbridge Partners' acquisition of the East Texas system on November 30, 2001, a portion of Enbridge Partners' earnings and cash flows are exposed to movements in the prices of natural gas and NGLs. Enbridge Partners has entered into hedge transactions to substantially mitigate exposure to movements in these prices. Pursuant to policies approved by the board of directors of its general partners, Enbridge Partners may not enter into derivative instruments for speculative purposes. All financial derivative transactions must be undertaken with highly creditworthy counterparties. As at March 31, 2002, all financial counterparties were rated at least "A" by all major credit rating agencies.

The table below summarizes Enbridge Partners' outstanding derivative financial instruments used to hedge exposure to movements in commodity prices as of March 31, 2002.

Commodity Hedges	Maturity Dates	Total Notional Principal	Fair Value	
		(in millions)	(in millions)	
Natural gas	2002-2012	38.8 MMBtus	\$ (1.5)	
NGLs	2002	0.9 bbls	\$ (1.3)	

The fair value of the commodity hedging contracts at March 31, 2002 was \$(2.7) million (December 31, 2001 \$20.5 million).

Enbridge Midcoast Energy. Enbridge Midcoast Energy utilizes financial derivative instruments to hedge market risks associated with certain energy commodities including natural gas and NGLs. These exposures arise as a result of fixed price commodity sales. Exposures also arise related to processing assets as a result of the terms of the gas processing contracts as well as a result of inventory positions. Enbridge Midcoast Energy may not engage in speculative trading and may not enter into financial derivative transactions for speculative purposes. All financial derivative transactions must be undertaken with highly credit worthy counterparties. As at March 31, 2002, all financial counterparties were rated at least "A" by all major credit rating agencies.

The table below summarizes Enbridge Midcoast Energy's outstanding derivative financial instruments used to hedge exposure to movements in commodity prices as of March 31, 2002:

Commodity Hedges	Maturity Dates	Total Notional Principal	Fair `	Value
		(in millions)	(in mi	llions)
Natural gas	2002-2012	57.5 MMBtu	\$	(13.5)
NGLs	2003	0.8 bbls	\$	(2.2)

The total fair value of the commodity hedging contracts at March 31, 2002 was \$(15.7) million (December 31, 2001 \$(10.7) million).

76

BUSINESS

Enbridge Management

We are a limited liability company formed in Delaware on May 14, 2002. We will have no operations prior to the closing of this offering. Upon the closing of this offering, the general partner of Enbridge Partners will delegate to us substantially all of the rights and powers to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries. For more information regarding our management and control of the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners, please read "Relationships and Related Party Transactions Delegation of Control Agreement" and "Business Enbridge Partners Employees."

We will be a limited partner of Enbridge Partners through our ownership of i-units and will have no assets other than our interest in Enbridge Partners. Further, we will have no operations other than the management and control of the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners. As a result, our financial condition and results of operations will depend upon the performance of Enbridge Partners. We do not expect to have any cash flow attributable to our ownership of the i-units, but we will own additional i-units in Enbridge Partners (as a result of an i-unit split) each quarter when cash distributions are made by Enbridge Partners on its common units. The number of additional i-units we will own will be based on the amount of cash to be distributed by Enbridge Partners to owners of its common units, which will be determined by the operations of Enbridge Partners and its direct and indirect operating subsidiaries.

We have elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, an owner of our shares will not report on its U.S. federal income tax return any of our items of income, gain, loss and deduction.

Although we will be subject to U.S. federal income taxes on our taxable income, Enbridge Partners will not allocate taxable income or gain to the i-units we own until such time as there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. Therefore, we do not anticipate that we will have material amounts of taxable income resulting from the ownership of the i-units unless we enter into a sale or exchange of the i-units or Enbridge Partners is liquidated.

We are not a party to any litigation.

Enbridge Partners

Enbridge Partners is a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership that, through its subsidiaries, owns and operates crude oil and liquid petroleum transportation assets and natural gas gathering, treating, processing, transmission and marketing assets in the United States.

Business Strategy

Enbridge Partners' objective is to continue to increase cash distributions to unit holders. To achieve this objective, Enbridge Partners intends to:

Expand and increase the utilization of the Lakehead system's capacity to meet expected growing supply of and demand for crude oil and liquid petroleum in the markets it serves.

Develop and acquire complementary energy delivery assets, particularly in the Gulf Coast region of the United States, and improve the financial performance and operating efficiency of acquired assets. Enbridge Partners anticipates increased availability of attractive acquisition targets and believes that it is well positioned to acquire additional assets.

Enbridge Partners expects that it will finance acquisitions through the issuance of common units and/or the incurrence or assumption of debt. Following the closing of this offering, Enbridge Partners also expects to be able to finance acquisitions, as well as other capital needs, through the

77

sale of i-units to us in connection with our issuance of additional shares and with the cash it retains because it is not required to make cash distributions on the i-units.

Competitive Strengths

Enbridge Partners believes that it is well positioned to successfully execute its business strategy given the following competitive strengths:

Strategic Market Position: The Lakehead system, through its interconnection with the Enbridge system, is the primary transporter of western Canadian crude oil to the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and to the Province of Ontario, Canada. Following the acquisition of the acquired systems, Enbridge Partners will have natural gas and NGL assets in other key supply and demand regions, such as the Mid-Continent and Gulf Coast regions of the United States.

The Lakehead system is uniquely positioned to benefit from improving supply and demand fundamentals. The demand for crude oil in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States has increased as a result of the combination of long-term growth in hydrocarbon demand and declining oil production in that region. In addition, the supply of crude oil from western Canada is expected to increase, at least through 2011, primarily from existing and planned expansion projects within the Alberta oil sands. Firms involved in the production of heavy crude oil from Alberta oil sands projects have announced projects anticipated to be completed over the next 10 years totaling in excess of Cdn\$55 billion. It is estimated that these projects could provide up to 1.5 million incremental barrels per day of production. Enbridge Partners believes that the combination of this increased production, together with the increased demand for crude oil in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States, is expected to result in increased deliveries on the Lakehead system in 2002 and beyond.

Diversified Business and Geographical Presence: The East Texas system, together with the acquired systems, adds extensive natural gas gathering, treating, processing and transmission assets to Enbridge Partners, thereby significantly diversifying its business operationally across natural gas transmission and crude oil transportation, short and long-distance transmission/transportation systems and regulated and unregulated businesses. The acquired systems, which are located in some of the most significant areas of hydrocarbon supply and demand, also diversify Enbridge Partners' geographical presence.

Low Cost Operations: The Enbridge/Lakehead system is among the lowest cost transporters of crude oil and liquid petroleum in North America, based on cost per barrel mile transported. Furthermore, Enbridge Partners anticipates improving the operational and financial performance of the East Texas system and the acquired systems as it integrates these systems.

Competitive Cost of Capital: Enbridge Partners' cost of capital, due to its partnership structure, helps it compete more effectively in acquiring assets and expanding its existing systems.

Enhanced Access to Capital Markets: The institutional share/i-unit structure established in connection with this offering broadens Enbridge Partners' access to the equity capital markets.

Experienced Management: Our management has substantial industry experience and a strong track record of growth through acquisitions, having completed over 30 acquisitions in the last five years.

78

Beneficial Relationship with Enbridge Inc.: Enbridge Partners is an integral part of Enbridge Inc.'s goal of being a leading North American energy delivery company and is its primary vehicle for acquiring mature energy delivery assets in the United States.

Properties and Operations

Enbridge Partners currently owns three pipeline transportation systems, known as the Lakehead system, the North Dakota system and the East Texas system. Enbridge Partners intends to acquire the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems, which are discussed under "Systems to be Acquired from Enbridge Energy Company," at the same time that we close this offering.

Existing Systems

Lakehead System

The Lakehead system in the United States and the Enbridge system in Canada, which is owned by Enbridge Pipelines Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., together form the Enbridge/Lakehead system. This system, which spans 3,100 miles, is the longest liquid petroleum pipeline system in the world and transports crude oil and other liquid petroleum products for third parties. The Enbridge/Lakehead system is the primary transporter of crude oil from western Canada to the United States and the only pipeline that transports crude oil from western Canada to the Province of Ontario in eastern Canada.

The Enbridge/Lakehead system serves all the major refining centers in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States and the Province of Ontario, and, through interconnects, the Patoka/Wood River pipeline hub and refining center in southern Illinois. Deliveries of crude oil and NGLs from the Lakehead system are made principally to refineries, either directly or through connecting pipelines of other companies, and serve as feedstocks for refineries and petrochemical plants.

The Lakehead system is a FERC regulated interstate common carrier pipeline system. The Lakehead system spans approximately 1,900 miles, consisting of approximately 3,300 miles of pipe with diameters ranging from 12 inches to 48 inches, 63 pump station locations with a total of approximately 667,000 installed horsepower and 58 crude oil storage tanks with an aggregate working capacity of approximately 10 million barrels. The Enbridge/Lakehead system operates in a segregation, or batch, mode. This operating mode allows the Lakehead system to transport up to 43 different types of liquid hydrocarbons including light, medium and heavy crude oil (including bitumen, which is a naturally occurring tar-like mixture of hydrocarbons), condensate and NGLs. This flexibility increases utilization of the system and enhances Enbridge Partners' ability to serve its customers.

Customers. The Lakehead system operates under month-to-month transportation arrangements with its shippers. During 2001, 39 shippers tendered crude oil and liquid petroleum for delivery through the Lakehead system. These customers included integrated oil companies, major independent oil producers, refiners and marketers. Shipments by the top ten shippers on the Lakehead system accounted for approximately 89% of total system revenues during 2001. Revenue from BP Canada Energy Company and ExxonMobil Canada Energy accounted for approximately 22% and 18%, respectively, of total operating revenue generated by Enbridge Partners during 2001.

Supply and Demand. The Lakehead system is uniquely positioned to benefit from the improving supply and demand fundamentals in the markets that it serves.

As the primary transporter of crude oil from western Canada, the Enbridge/Lakehead system is positioned to capitalize on the expected increase in production in this region. According to Alberta

79

government statistics, the reserves of bitumen in the Province of Alberta recoverable using existing technology were approximately 315 billion barrels at the end of 2000. Of this amount, cumulative production of bitumen at the end of 2000 was approximately 3.3 billion barrels. To put the scale of the bitumen resource in perspective, the proved reserves of crude oil in Saudi Arabia at the end of 2000 stood at approximately 261.7 billion barrels. Similarly, the combined proved reserves of crude oil in Iran, Iraq and Kuwait stood at approximately 298.7 billion barrels. According to industry sources, the economics of producing bitumen have improved substantially from the late 1970's when average production costs were nearly Cdn\$35 per barrel (including extraction and upgrading costs). Recent industry estimates of the cost of producing upgraded crude from the bitumen deposits are less than Cdn\$13 per barrel. Industry experts predict that improvements in technology and operating methods will result in production costs below Cdn\$10 per barrel by 2004.

Firms involved in the production of heavy crude oil from Alberta oil sands projects have announced projects anticipated to be completed over the next 10 years totaling in excess of Cdn\$55 billion, which could provide up to 1.5 million incremental barrels per day of production. Based upon Enbridge Partners' survey of western Canadian crude oil producers, Enbridge Partners expects that the supply of western Canadian crude oil and liquid petroleum will be approximately 2.1 million barrels per day in 2002, approximately 2.2 million barrels per day in 2003 and approximately 2.3 million barrels per day in 2004.

Although substantially all of the crude oil and liquid petroleum delivered through the Lakehead system originates in oilfields in western Canada, the Lakehead system also receives:

U.S. and Canadian production at Clearbrook, Minnesota through a connection with the North Dakota system (please read "North Dakota system");

U.S. production at Lewiston, Michigan; and

both U.S. and offshore production in the Chicago, Illinois area.

Enbridge Partners estimates that from all these sources of supply, deliveries on the Lakehead system in 2002 will average approximately 1.3 million to 1.4 million barrels per day based on its most recent survey of crude oil shippers. Enbridge Partners believes that the outlook for increased crude oil production in western Canada continues to be positive. The timing of growth in the supply of western Canadian crude oil will depend upon the level of crude oil prices, oil drilling activity, the availability of financing and the completion of projects to produce heavy crude and synthetic oil from the Alberta oil sands.

Enbridge Partners also believes that crude oil demand will continue to increase in PADD II, which is the U.S. Government's designation for the area that includes the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States, the primary markets that the Lakehead system serves. PADD II continues to be a premium market for western Canadian supply because many refineries in PADD II are designed to efficiently process crude oils similar to those produced in western Canada. According to the U.S. Department of Energy's Energy Information Administration, demand for crude oil in PADD II increased from approximately 2.75 million barrels per day in 1984 to approximately 3.4 million barrels per day in 2000. Over that same period, production of crude oil in PADD II decreased from over 1.0 million barrels per day to approximately 475,000 barrels per day in 2000. Enbridge Partners expects this gap between demand and production in PADD II to continue to widen, contributing to an increasing need to transport crude oil to PADD II.

Despite other sources of supply, Enbridge Partners expects aggregate demand for crude oil and other liquid petroleum delivered by the Lakehead system to the Province of Ontario to remain relatively stable for the foreseeable future.

In anticipation of the improving supply and demand fundamentals discussed above, a major expansion of the Enbridge/Lakehead system was commenced in 1999. This expansion, which we

80

refer to as the Terrace expansion program, was undertaken at the request of the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, or "CAPP," and consists of a multi-phase expansion of both the Canadian and U.S. portions of the Enbridge/Lakehead system. Upon the completion of the Terrace expansion program, Enbridge Partners expects that approximately 350,000 barrels per day of incremental capacity will have been added

to the system.

Phase I of the Terrace expansion was completed in 1999 and included construction of new 36-inch diameter pipeline facility from Kerrobert, Saskatchewan to Clearbrook, Minnesota that added approximately 170,000 barrels per day of capacity to the Enbridge/Lakehead system. Enbridge Partners' share of the cost of Phase I was approximately \$140 million.

Phase II of the Terrace expansion was completed in early 2002. Although Phase II did not involve construction on the Lakehead system, the approximate 40,000 barrel per day increase in capacity of the Enbridge system is expected to benefit Enbridge Partners directly by accommodating additional deliveries on the Lakehead system from the Alberta oil sands.

Phase III of the Terrace expansion is designed primarily to increase heavy oil transportation capacity on the Lakehead system between Clearbrook, Minnesota and Superior, Wisconsin by approximately 140,000 barrels per day. The estimated cost to Enbridge Partners of Phase III is approximately \$210 million, and the new facilities are expected to be in service in 2003.

In addition to the Terrace expansion program, CAPP has also requested that Enbridge Partners construct additional pipeline facilities at an estimated cost of \$35 million to enhance market access to PADD II. Subject to receipt of necessary governmental approvals, Enbridge Partners expects these additional facilities to be in service in 2003.

Please read " Tariffs and Rate Cases Lakehead System" for a description of the increased transportation fees Enbridge Partners is allowed to collect in respect of these capital expenditures.

Competition. Because pipelines are the lowest cost method for intermediate and long haul movement of crude oil over land, the most significant existing competitors for the transportation of western Canadian crude oil are other pipelines. In 2001, the Enbridge system transported approximately 65% of total western Canadian crude oil production; the remainder was either refined in the provinces of Alberta or Saskatchewan, Canada or transported through other pipelines. Of the pipelines transporting western Canadian crude oil out of Canada, the Enbridge/Lakehead system provides approximately 75% of the total pipeline design capacity. The remaining 25% is shared by five other pipelines transporting crude oil to the Province of British Columbia, Canada and Washington, Montana and other states in the northwestern United States. Enbridge Partners believes that high capital requirements, environmental considerations and the difficulty in acquiring rights of way and related permits make it difficult for a competing pipeline system comparable in size and scope to the Enbridge/Lakehead system to be built in the foreseeable future.

In the United States, the Lakehead system encounters competition from other crude oil and refined products pipelines and other modes of transportation delivering crude oil and refined products to the refining centers of Minneapolis-St. Paul, Chicago, Detroit and Toledo and the refinery market and pipeline hub in the Patoka/Wood River area of southern Illinois. In 2001, the Lakehead system transported approximately 54% of all crude oil deliveries into the Chicago area, approximately 86% of all crude oil deliveries into the Minneapolis-St. Paul area and approximately 62% of all crude oil deliveries to the Province of Ontario.

North Dakota System

The North Dakota system, which Enbridge Partners acquired from Enbridge Inc. on May 18, 2001 for approximately \$35 million, is a crude oil gathering and transportation system servicing the Williston Basin in North Dakota and Montana. The North Dakota system's crude oil gathering pipelines collect crude oil from points near producing wells in approximately 36 oil fields in North

81

Dakota and Montana and receive Canadian crude oil via an interconnect with an Enbridge Inc. gathering system in the Province of Saskatchewan, Canada. Most deliveries are made at Clearbrook, Minnesota to the Lakehead system and to a third-party pipeline system. The North Dakota system includes approximately 330 miles of crude oil gathering lines connected to a transportation line that is approximately 620 miles long, with an aggregate working capacity of approximately 84,000 barrels per day. The North Dakota system also has 15 pump stations and 12 terminaling facilities with an aggregate working storage capacity of approximately 715,000 barrels.

Customers. Customers of the North Dakota system include producers of crude oil and purchasers of crude oil at the wellhead, such as marketers, that require crude oil gathering and transportation services. Producers range in size from small independent owner/operators to the largest integrated oil companies.

Supply and Demand. Like the Lakehead system, the North Dakota system depends upon demand for crude oil in the Great Lakes and Midwest regions of the United States.

Competition. Competitors of the North Dakota system include integrated oil companies, interstate and intrastate pipelines or their affiliates and other crude oil gatherers. Many crude oil producers in the oil fields served by the North Dakota system have alternative gathering facilities available to them or have the ability to build their own facilities.

East Texas System

The East Texas system, which Enbridge Partners acquired on November 30, 2001 for approximately \$230 million, is a natural gas gathering, treating, processing and transmission system. The East Texas system purchases and/or gathers natural gas from the wellhead, delivers it to plants for treating and/or processing and to intrastate or interstate pipelines for transmission or to wholesale customers such as power plants, industrial customers and local distribution companies.

Natural gas treating involves the removal of hydrogen sulfide, carbon dioxide, water and other substances from raw natural gas so that it will meet the standards for transportation on transmission pipelines. Natural gas processing involves the separation of raw natural gas into residue gas, which is the processed natural gas that ultimately is consumed by end users, and NGLs. NGLs separated from the raw natural gas are either sold and transported as NGL raw mix or further separated through a process known as fractionation and sold as their individual components, including ethane, propane, butanes and natural gasoline.

The East Texas system includes approximately 2,000 miles of gathering and transmission pipelines. Approximately 400 million cubic feet of natural gas per day flows into the gathering pipelines from approximately 440 gathering points. The East Texas system also includes four treating facilities, with a combined capacity of approximately 595 million cubic feet of natural gas per day. Currently, two of these facilities are active and have a combined capacity of 415 million cubic feet per day. This system also includes three cryogenic gas processing plants with a combined capacity of approximately 375 million cubic feet per day, one of which is currently inactive.

The East Texas system is operationally similar to, and is located adjacent to, the Northeast Texas system. Enbridge Partners believes there will be opportunities to capitalize on operational synergies that exist between these two systems. The combination of these two systems should result in a more favorable cost structure, improved facility optimization, additional opportunities to serve wholesale customers and producers, expansion of treating, compression and processing services and better utilization of the Midcoast system's trucking assets.

Customers. Customers of the East Texas system include both natural gas producers and purchasers. Purchasers include marketers and large users of natural gas, such as power plants,

82

industrial facilities and local distribution companies. Producers served by the East Texas system consist primarily of medium to large independent operators. Enbridge Partners sells NGLs resulting from its processing activities to a variety of customers ranging from large petrochemical and refining companies to small regional retail propane distributors.

Supply and Demand. Supply for the East Texas system's services primarily depends upon the rate of depletion of natural gas reserves and the rate of drilling of new wells. Treating services also are affected by the level of impurities in the natural gas gathered. Demand for these services depends upon overall economic conditions and the prices of natural gas and NGLs.

Competition. Competitors of the East Texas system include interstate and intrastate pipelines or their affiliates and other natural gas gatherers that gather, treat, process and market natural gas and/or NGLs and which vary widely in size. Competition for these services varies based upon the location of gathering, treating and processing facilities. Most natural gas producers and owners have alternate gathering, treating and processing facilities available to them. In addition, they have other alternatives such as building their own gathering facilities or in some cases selling their natural gas supplies without treating and processing. In addition to location, competition for the East Texas system's services also varies based upon pricing arrangements and reputation.

Competition for customers in the marketing of residue gas is based primarily upon the price of the delivered gas, the services offered by the seller and the reliability of the seller in making deliveries. Residue gas also competes on a price basis with alternative fuels such as oil and coal, especially for customers that have the capability of using these alternative fuels, and on the basis of local environmental considerations. Competition in the marketing of NGLs comes from other NGL marketing companies, producers/traders, chemical companies and other asset owners.

Systems to be Acquired from Enbridge Energy Company

Midcoast System

The Midcoast system, which was acquired by Enbridge Energy Company on May 11, 2001 for approximately \$625 million, consists of natural gas gathering, treating, processing, transmission and marketing assets. The Midcoast system's business is divided among:

natural gas transmission and wholesale customer pipelines;

natural gas gathering, treating and processing systems;

trucking operations; and

marketing activities.

The Midcoast system includes four FERC regulated interstate natural gas transmission pipeline systems, 20 intrastate natural gas transmission and wholesale customer pipeline systems and 30 gathering and processing/treating systems, including three processing and two treating plants, collectively representing approximately 4,000 miles of pipeline with an aggregate throughput capacity of over four billion cubic feet of natural gas per day. The Midcoast system also includes 98 trucks and trailers and 45 railcars used for transporting NGLs, crude oil and carbon dioxide. The Midcoast system is located in the Gulf Coast and Mid-Continent regions of the United States.

Since the acquisition of the Midcoast system, subsidiaries of Enbridge Energy Company have completed approximately \$71 million in enhancement capital expenditures, which include:

\$49 million to construct the BamaGas pipeline in Alabama;

\$6 million to acquire an additional natural gas processing facility in Texas; and

\$16 million in other enhancement capital expenditures.

83

Transmission and Wholesale Customer Pipelines. The Midcoast system's transmission pipeline systems include the following:

the MidLa Pipeline, AlaTenn Pipeline, UTOS Pipeline and Kansas Pipeline systems, which are FERC regulated interstate pipelines; and

the BamaGas Pipeline and Mid-Louisiana Gas Transmission Pipeline systems, which are intrastate pipelines.

Each of these pipeline systems typically consists of a natural gas transmission pipeline as well as various interconnected pipelines that serve wholesale customers. These pipelines typically interconnect with, and receive natural gas from, gathering systems and other transmission pipelines.

Customers. The Midcoast system serves customers in Alabama, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri and Tennessee. Customers include large users of natural gas, such as power plants, industrial facilities, local distribution companies, large consumers seeking an alternative to their local distribution company, and shippers of natural gas, such as natural gas producers and marketers.

Supply and Demand. Because the Midcoast system's pipelines generally serve different geographical areas, supply and demand vary in each market.

Enbridge Partners believes that demand for natural gas in the areas served by the Midcoast system generally will remain strong as a result of these systems being located in areas where industrial, commercial and/or residential growth is occurring. The greatest demand for natural gas transmission services in the markets served by the Midcoast system's transmission and wholesale customer pipelines occurs in the winter months.

The table below indicates the capacity in million cubic feet per day of the Midcoast system's transmission and wholesale customer pipelines with firm transportation contracts as of May 15, 2002 and the amount of capacity that is reserved under those contracts on a firm basis as of that date.

	Capacity MMcf/day	Percentage Reserved Under Contract As Of May 15, 2002
Kansas Pipeline	160	97%
MidLa Pipeline	200	89
AlaTenn Pipeline	200	74
BamaGas Pipeline	450	58

The Kansas Pipeline system has 83% of its capacity reserved under firm transportation contracts extending through 2009 and an additional 13% of its capacity under contracts extending through 2017. The remaining capacity of the Kansas Pipeline system is either unreserved or reserved under contracts that will terminate before 2009.

The MidLa, AlaTenn and BamaGas pipelines primarily serve industrial corridors and power plants in Louisiana, Alabama and Tennessee. Industries in the area include energy intensive segments of the petrochemical and pulp and paper industries. Enbridge Partners anticipates marketing the unused capacity on these pipelines under both short-term firm and interruptable transportation contracts and long-term firm transportation contracts. These pipelines are located in areas where opportunities exist to serve new industrial facilities and to make delivery interconnects to alleviate capacity constraints on other non-company owned pipeline systems. In addition to their

84

current excess capacity, the AlaTenn pipeline and the MidLa pipeline have contracts representing 10% and 34%, respectively, of their capacity that are expected to expire before the end of 2002. In the case of the MidLa pipeline, as of May 15, 2002, approximately 45% of its capacity is under contract to affiliated entities. Enbridge Partners anticipates that these contracts will be replaced over time with third-party volumes.

The UTOS Pipeline system is a FERC regulated offshore pipeline system with a capacity of 1.2 billion cubic feet of natural gas per day that transmits natural gas from offshore platforms to other pipelines onshore for further delivery. While the UTOS Pipeline system has no capacity reservations, the average daily throughput in the first quarter of 2002 was 282 million cubic feet of natural gas per day. Enbridge Partners expects additional sources of offshore natural gas supply to connect to the UTOS Pipeline system in 2002 and 2003.

The Mid-Louisiana Gas Transmission system is an intrastate natural gas pipeline system that interconnects facilities owned by major industrial customers to interstate natural gas pipeline systems. In addition to providing transmission services to large natural gas consumers and customers, the system is used by the Midcoast system's marketing operations to facilitate the marketing and transmission of natural gas to natural gas consumers. The Mid-Louisiana Gas Transmission system has no capacity reservations. In 2001, this system averaged throughput of 75 million cubic feet of natural gas per day. Further, this system is favorably positioned to grow as marketing and transmission opportunities emerge as a result of anticipated growth in the industrial consumer base in the Baton Rouge, Louisiana area.

Competition. Because pipelines are generally the only practical mode of transportation for natural gas over land, the most significant competitors of the Midcoast system's transmission and wholesale customer pipelines are other pipelines. Pipelines typically compete with each other based on location, capacity, price and reliability. Many of the large wholesale customers served by the Midcoast system have multiple pipelines connected or adjacent to their facilities. Accordingly, many of these customers have the ability to purchase natural gas directly from a number of pipelines and/or third parties that may hold capacity on the various pipelines.

Natural Gas Gathering and Processing Systems. Like the East Texas system, the Midcoast system purchases and/or gathers natural gas from the wellhead and delivers it to plants for treating and/or processing. Most treated natural gas and residue gas resulting from processing is delivered to intrastate and interstate transmission lines for transmission. Small amounts of residue gas are delivered to wholesale customers. Like the East Texas system, the NGLs separated from raw natural gas during processing are either sold and transported as NGL raw mix or further separated through fractionation and sold as components. Most of the Midcoast system's natural gas gathering assets are located in Texas and Oklahoma, with additional facilities in Mississippi, Louisiana, Kansas and Alabama.

Customers. Most of the Midcoast gathering system's customers are natural gas producers. The system also serves purchasers, such as marketers and natural gas consumers. NGLs are sold to a variety of customers ranging from large petrochemical and refining companies to small regional retail propane distributors.

Supply and Demand. Supply for the Midcoast system's services is affected by the same factors that affect the East Texas system's supply, such as the rate of drilling of new wells and depletion of reserves. Because of the geographic diversity of its gathering assets, the Midcoast system's natural gas gathering, processing and transmission assets are not dependent on a single supply or production source. Demand for these services largely is dependent upon overall economic conditions and the prices of natural gas and NGLs.

85

Enbridge Partners intends to expand the Midcoast system's natural gas gathering and processing services through a combination of internal growth and acquisitions, which should provide exposure to incremental supplies of natural gas at the wellhead, increase opportunities to serve additional wholesale customers and allow expansion of the treating and processing businesses.

Competition. Competition in the markets served by the Midcoast gathering system is generally similar to that in the markets served by the East Texas system.

Trucking Operations. The Midcoast system's trucking operations transport NGLs, crude oil and carbon dioxide by truck and railcar from wellheads to treating, processing and fractionation facilities and to wholesale customers, such as distributors, refiners and chemical facilities. In addition, the Midcoast system's trucking operations markets these products. These services are provided using 98 trucks and trailers and 45 rail cars used for transporting NGLs, crude oil and carbon dioxide, product treating and handling equipment and over 400,000 gallons of NGL storage facilities.

Customers. Most of the customers of the Midcoast system's crude oil and NGL trucking operations are wholesale customers, such as refineries and propane distributors. The Midcoast system's trucking operations also market products to wholesale customers such as refineries and petrochemical plants.

Supply and Demand. The areas served by the Midcoast system's trucking operations are geographically diverse, and the forces that affect the supply of the products transported vary by region. The supply of these products is affected by crude oil and natural gas prices and production levels. The demand for trucking operations are affected by the demand for NGLs and crude oil by large industrial and similar customers in the regions they serve.

Competition. The Midcoast system's trucking operations have a number of competitors, including other trucking and railcar operations, pipelines, and, to a lesser extent, marine transportation and alternative fuels. In addition, the marketing segment of the Midcoast system's trucking operations has numerous competitors, including marketers of all types and sizes, affiliates of pipelines and independent aggregators.

Gas Marketing. The Midcoast system's natural gas marketing operation provides natural gas supply, transportation, balancing and sales services to producers and wholesale customers on the Midcoast system's gathering, transmission and wholesale customer pipelines as well as interconnected third-party pipelines. In general, the Midcoast system's marketing operation functions by making natural gas purchases from producers connected to its gathering systems and from other producers and marketers and then making natural gas sales to wholesale customers on its transmission and wholesale customer pipelines. The marketing operation also arranges transportation for wholesale customers.

In addition to providing marketing for the Midcoast system, the marketing operation currently provides marketing services for the Northeast Texas and South Texas systems. Enbridge Partners anticipates that, upon the acquisition of the Midcoast system, the marketing operation's scope of responsibility would be expanded to include providing marketing services for the East Texas system. Enbridge Partners anticipates that the Northeast Texas, South Texas and East Texas systems will be combined into the marketing operations' existing portfolios and a significant amount of purchases from marketers will be replaced by purchases directly from producers on these systems.

Natural gas purchased and sold by the Midcoast system's marketing operation is most typically priced based upon a published daily or monthly price index. Sales to wholesale customers

86

incorporate a pass-through charge for costs of transportation and generally include an additional margin.

The Midcoast system's marketing operation has numerous competitors, including the large marketing companies, marketing affiliates of pipelines, major oil and gas producers, independent aggregators and regional marketing companies.

Northeast Texas System

The Northeast Texas system, which was acquired by Enbridge Energy Company on March 1, 2002 for approximately \$178 million, is a natural gas gathering system located just north of and adjacent to the area served by Enbridge Partners' East Texas system. A substantial portion of the Northeast Texas system's pipeline infrastructure and Enbridge Partners' East Texas system previously were owned and operated as a single system. In addition, Enbridge Energy Company plans to acquire for approximately \$21 million compression assets on the Northeast Texas system that are currently under lease. The acquisition of these compression assets is included in the \$929 million purchase price for the acquired systems.

Like the East Texas and Midcoast systems, the Northeast Texas system purchases natural gas directly from producers and/or provides natural gas gathering, treating and processing services to intrastate and interstate pipelines and other owners of natural gas. The Northeast Texas system is capable of handling sour gas, which has a high hydrogen sulfide and/or carbon dioxide and water content and which requires specialized treating processes before it can be delivered for transportation on downstream pipelines.

The Northeast Texas system includes natural gas processing operations where NGLs are separated from raw natural gas and either sold and transported as NGL raw mix or further separated through fractionation into ethane, propane, butane and natural gasoline and sold as components. Residue gas is delivered to wholesale customers and to interstate and intrastate pipelines.

The Northeast Texas system includes approximately 1,200 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines and seven natural gas treating plants with an aggregate treating capacity of 385 million cubic feet per day. These treating plants are capable of producing approximately 1,200 long tons of sulfur per day. Five of these seven treating plants are currently active, representing a treating capacity of 310 million cubic feet per day. The Northeast Texas system also includes five natural gas processing plants with a combined capacity of 215 million cubic feet per day, three of which are currently active, and represent a processing capacity of 140 million cubic feet per day, and two nitrogen rejection plants with a capacity of 75 million cubic feet per day. Approximately 180 million cubic feet of natural gas per day flows into the gathering pipelines from approximately 525 gathering points.

As discussed under " Existing Systems East Texas System Supply and Demand," Enbridge Partners expects to realize financial and operational synergies following its acquisition of the Northeast Texas system, as it is adjacent to the East Texas system.

Customers. Customers of the Northeast Texas system are similar to those of the East Texas and Midcoast gas gathering, treating and processing systems. Unlike the East Texas system, the Northeast Texas system delivers natural gas to interstate or intrastate pipelines.

Supply and Demand. The Northeast Texas system's supply and demand is affected by the same factors that affect the East Texas and Midcoast gas gathering, treating and processing systems.

87

Competition. Competition for the Northeast Texas system is generally similar to that of the East Texas and Midcoast gas gathering, treating and processing systems. However, competition is more limited due to the infrastructure required to treat sour gas.

South Texas System

The South Texas system, which was acquired by Enbridge Energy Company on January 2, 2002 for approximately \$9 million, is a natural gas gathering and treating system that purchases and/or gathers natural gas at the wellhead, delivers it to plants for treating and/or processing and then delivers it to interstate and intrastate transmission pipelines for transmission. The South Texas system currently includes approximately 175 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, one active hydrogen sulfide treating facility and one inactive natural gas processing plant. Approximately 30 million cubic feet of natural gas per day flows into the gathering pipelines from approximately 40 gathering points.

In connection with the acquisition of the South Texas system, Enbridge Partners will obtain the right, under asset purchase agreements with each of Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation, Williams Field Services and Goebel Gathering Company, to acquire for approximately \$41 million a 500 mile natural gas transmission pipeline system that interconnects with the South Texas gathering and treating system. These assets consist of two mainlines that run from South Texas near Laredo and McAllen to a point of interconnection in Wharton County, Texas and a 38-mile lateral line connecting the two mainlines. The closing of this acquisition is subject to, among other things, certain regulatory approvals.

Customers. Customers of the South Texas system are similar to those of the East Texas and Northeast Texas systems and the gathering and processing segment of the Midcoast system. The South Texas system does not make deliveries to wholesale customers.

Supply and Demand. Supply of natural gas for the South Texas system largely is affected by the rate of drilling of new wells, rate of depletion of natural gas reserves and competitively priced transportation rates. In order to maintain throughput on the South Texas system, Enbridge Partners must access new natural gas supplies to offset the natural decline in reserves as fields currently served are produced. The South Texas system includes an idle processing plant that could be restarted or relocated, and opportunities exist for the acquisition of other treating facilities in the general area of the South Texas system.

The transmission pipelines that Enbridge Partners has the right to acquire are large diameter pipelines which traverse some of the most prolific onshore producing areas in South Texas. The terms of the acquisition also provide for the seller to enter into a contract under which it will pay for transportation services on a substantial minimum volume. Other opportunities that exist include opportunities to acquire adjacent gathering systems to gain additional exposure to incremental wellhead supply and expansion of gathering, compression and processing services to producer customers and marketers not currently served.

Competition. Competition experienced by the South Texas system is generally similar to that of the East Texas and Northeast Texas systems and the gathering and processing business of the Midcoast system.

Title to Properties

Enbridge Partners currently conducts business and owns properties located in 10 states: Illinois, Indiana, Louisiana, Michigan, Minnesota, Montana, New York, North Dakota, Texas and Wisconsin. In general, the Lakehead, North Dakota and East Texas systems are located on land owned by others and are operated under perpetual easements and rights of way, licenses or

88

permits that have been granted by private land owners, public authorities, railways or public utilities. The pumping stations, tanks, terminals and certain other facilities of these systems are located on land that is owned by Enbridge Partners, except for five pumping stations that are situated on land owned by others and used by Enbridge Partners under easements or permits. An affiliate of Enbridge Energy Company acquired parcels of property for the benefit of Enbridge Partners to allow for the construction of Phase II of the Terrace expansion program. The affiliate is continuing to sell these parcels to third parties while retaining an easement for the benefit of Enbridge Partners.

Substantially all of the Lakehead system assets are subject to a first mortgage securing indebtedness of Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership, a principal operating subsidiary of Enbridge Partners.

Following its acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems, Enbridge Partners will conduct business and own properties in eight additional states: Alabama, Alaska, Arkansas, Kansas, Mississippi, Missouri, Oklahoma and Tennessee. In general, like the Lakehead, North Dakota and East Texas systems, the acquired systems are located on land owned by others and are operated under perpetual easements and rights of way, licenses or permits that have been granted by private land owners, public authorities, railways or public utilities.

Some of the easements, rights-of-way, licenses and permits that will be acquired by Enbridge Partners through its acquisition of the acquired systems may require the consent of third parties, which in some instances is a governmental entity. Enbridge Partners believes that it has obtained or will obtain sufficient third-party consents, permits, and authorizations for the transfer of the acquired systems necessary for it to operate them in its business in all material respects as described in this prospectus. With respect to any consents, permits, or authorizations that have not been obtained, Enbridge Partners believes that these consents, permits or authorizations will be obtained after the closing of this offering, or that the failure to obtain these consents, permits or authorizations will not have a material adverse effect on the operation of the acquired systems in its business.

Enbridge Partners believes that it will have defensible title to all of the assets included in the acquired systems. Enbridge Partners is entitled to indemnification from Enbridge Energy Company under the contribution agreement for title defects to such assets, but only to the extent such title defects were known by Enbridge Energy Company but were not disclosed under the contribution agreement. Enbridge Energy Company will not be required to indemnify Enbridge Partners under the contribution agreement, including indemnification related to title defects, until the aggregate liabilities exceed \$20 million, and Enbridge Energy Company's aggregate liability under the contribution agreement, including liabilities related to title defects, may not exceed, with certain exceptions, \$150 million.

In connection with the acquisition of the acquired systems under the contribution agreement, certain filings with respect to title records will not be made prior to the closing of this offering. Enbridge Partners or its subsidiaries will make these filings upon the closing of this offering or as soon as practicable thereafter. Although title to these properties is subject to encumbrances in some cases, such as customary interests generally retained in connection with acquisition of real property, liens that can be imposed in some jurisdictions for government-initiated action to clean up environmental contamination, liens for current taxes and other burdens, and easements, restrictions, and other encumbrances to

which the underlying properties were subject at the time of acquisition by Enbridge Energy Company or Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries, Enbridge Partners believes that none of these burdens should materially detract from the value of these properties or from its interest in these properties or should materially interfere with their use in the operation of Enbridge Partners' business.

89

Regulation

Regulation by the FERC of Interstate Common Carrier Liquids Pipelines

The Lakehead and North Dakota systems are interstate common carrier liquids pipelines subject to regulation by the FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act, which we refer to as the "ICA." As interstate common carriers, these pipelines provide service to any shipper who requests transportation services, provided that products tendered for transportation satisfy the conditions and specifications contained in the applicable tariff. The ICA requires Enbridge Partners to maintain tariffs on file with the FERC that set forth the rates it charges for providing transportation services on its interstate common carrier pipelines as well as the rules and regulations governing these services.

The ICA gives the FERC the authority to regulate the rates Enbridge Partners charges for service on its interstate common carrier pipelines. The ICA requires, among other things, that such rates be "just and reasonable" and nondiscriminatory. The ICA permits interested persons to challenge new or proposed changes to existing rates and authorizes the FERC to suspend the effectiveness of such rates for a period of up to seven months and to order a hearing concerning such rates. If, upon completion of an investigation, the FERC finds that the new or changed rate is unlawful, it is authorized to require the carrier to refund the revenues in excess of the prior tariff during the term of the investigation. The FERC also may investigate, upon complaint or on its own motion, rates that are already in effect and may order a carrier to change its rates prospectively. Upon an appropriate showing, a shipper may obtain reparations for damages sustained for a period of up to two years prior to the filing of a complaint.

On October 24, 1992, Congress passed the Energy Policy Act of 1992, which we refer to as the "Energy Policy Act." The Energy Policy Act deemed petroleum pipeline rates that were in effect for the 365-day period ending on the date of enactment and had not been subject to complaint, protest or investigation to be just and reasonable under the ICA (i.e., "grandfathered"). The Energy Policy Act also limited the circumstances under which a complaint can be made against such grandfathered rates. In order to challenge grandfathered rates, a party would have to show that it was previously contractually barred from challenging the rates or that the economic circumstances or the nature of service underlying the rate had substantially changed or that the rate was unduly discriminatory or preferential. These grandfathering provisions and the circumstances under which they may be challenged have received only limited attention from FERC, causing a degree of uncertainty as to their application and scope. The North Dakota system is covered by the grandfathering provisions of the Energy Policy Act. The Lakehead system is not covered by the grandfathering provisions of the Energy Policy Act.

The Energy Policy Act required the FERC to issue rules establishing a simplified and generally applicable ratemaking methodology for petroleum pipelines, and to streamline procedures in petroleum pipeline proceedings. The FERC responded to this mandate by issuing Order No. 561, which, among other things, adopted an indexing rate methodology for petroleum pipelines. Under the regulations, which became effective January 1, 1995, petroleum pipelines are able to change their rates within prescribed ceiling levels that are tied to an inflation index. Rate increases made within the ceiling levels may be protested, but such protests must show that the rate increase resulting from application of the index is substantially in excess of the pipeline's increase in costs. If the indexing methodology results in a reduced ceiling level that is lower than a pipeline's filed rate, Order No. 561 requires the pipeline to reduce its rate to comply with the lower ceiling. A pipeline may not be required to reduce its rate below the level grandfathered under the Energy Policy Act. Under Order No. 561, a pipeline must, as a general rule, utilize the indexing methodology to change its rates. The FERC, however, retained cost-of-service ratemaking, market-based rates and

90

settlement as alternatives to the indexing approach, which alternatives may be used in certain specified circumstances.

Enbridge Partners believes that the rates charged for transportation services on its interstate common carrier liquids pipelines are just and reasonable under the ICA. However, because the rates that Enbridge Partners charges are subject to review upon an appropriately supported complaint, Enbridge Partners cannot predict what rates it will be allowed to charge in the future for service on its interstate common carrier liquids pipelines. Furthermore, because rates charged for transportation services must be competitive with those charged by other transporters, the rates set forth in Enbridge Partners' tariffs will be determined based on competitive factors in addition to regulatory considerations.

Enbridge Partners' AlaTenn Pipeline, Mid-Louisiana Pipeline, Kansas Pipeline and UTOS Pipeline systems are interstate natural gas pipelines regulated by the FERC under the Natural Gas Act, or "NGA," and the Natural Gas Policy Act, or "NGPA." Each system operates under separate FERC-approved tariffs that establish rates, terms and conditions under which each system provides service to its customers. In addition, the FERC's authority over natural gas companies that provide natural gas pipeline transportation services in interstate commerce includes:

the certification and construction of new facilities;
the extension or abandonment of services and facilities;
the maintenance of accounts and records;
the acquisition and disposition of facilities;
the initiation and discontinuation of services; and
various other matters.

Tariff changes can only be implemented upon approval by the FERC. There are two primary methods by which the rates, terms and conditions of service of an interstate pipeline may be changed. Under the first method, the company voluntarily seeks a tariff change by making a tariff filing with the FERC which justifies the proposed tariff change and provides notice, generally 30 days notice, to the appropriate parties. If the FERC determines that a proposed change may not be just and reasonable as required by the NGA, then the FERC may suspend such change for up to five months and set the matter for an administrative hearing. Subsequent to any suspension period ordered by the FERC, the proposed change may be placed into effect by the company pending final FERC approval. In most cases, a proposed rate increase is placed into effect before a final FERC determination on such rate increase, and the proposed increase is collected subject to refund (plus interest). Under the second method, the FERC may, on its own motion or based on a complaint, initiate a proceeding seeking to compel the company to change its rates, terms and/or conditions of service. If the FERC determines that the existing rates, terms and/or conditions of service are unjust, unreasonable, unduly discriminatory or preferential, then any rate reduction or change that it orders generally will be effective prospectively from the date of the FERC order requiring this change.

Commencing in 1992, the FERC issued Order No. 636 and subsequent related orders, which we refer to collectively as "Order No. 636." Order No. 636 requires interstate pipelines to provide transportation and storage services separate, or "unbundled," from the pipelines' sales of natural gas. Also, Order No. 636 requires pipelines to provide open-access transportation and storage services on a basis that is equal for all shippers. The FERC has stated that it intends for Order No. 636 to foster increased competition within all phases of the natural gas industry. The courts

91

largely have affirmed the significant features of Order No. 636 and numerous related orders pertaining to individual pipelines, although the FERC continues to review and modify its open access regulations.

In 2000, the FERC issued Order No. 637 and subsequent orders, which we refer to collectively as "Order No. 637." Order No. 637 imposes a number of additional reforms designed to enhance competition in natural gas markets. Among other things, Order No. 637 revised the FERC pricing policy by waiving price ceilings for short-term released capacity for a two-year period ending September 30, 2002, and effected changes in the FERC regulations relating to scheduling procedures, capacity segmentation, pipeline penalties, rights of first refusal and information reporting. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit recently issued a decision that either upheld or declared premature for review most major aspects of Order No. 637. Order No. 637 required interstate natural gas pipelines to implement the policies mandated by the order through individual compliance filings. The FERC has now ruled on a number of the individual compliance filings, although its decisions in such proceedings remain subject to the outcome of pending rehearing requests and possible court appeals. Enbridge Partners cannot predict whether the FERC's actions will achieve the goal of increasing competition in markets in which it competes. However, Enbridge Partners does not believe that the effect on the operations of its interstate natural gas pipelines or its other pipeline operations, which indirectly are affected by the extent and nature of the FERC's jurisdiction over activities in interstate commerce, will be affected by any action taken materially differently than other companies with whom it competes.

In addition to its jurisdiction over the UTOS system under the NGA and the NGPA, the FERC also has jurisdiction over the UTOS system and Enbridge Partners' offshore gathering systems under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, or "OCSLA." The OCSLA requires that all pipelines operating on or across the outer continental shelf, which we refer to as the "OCS," provide open-access, non-discriminatory transportation service on their systems. In 2000, the FERC issued Order Nos. 639 and 639-A, which we refer to collectively as "Order No. 639," which required "gas service providers" operating on the OCS to make public their rates, terms and conditions of service. The purpose of Order No. 639 was to provide regulators and other interested parties with sufficient information to detect and to remedy discriminatory conduct by such service providers. In a recent decision, the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia Circuit permanently enjoined the FERC from enforcing Order No. 639, on the basis that the FERC did not possess the requisite rule-making authority under the OCSLA for issuing Order No. 639. The FERC's appeal of the court's decision is pending in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. Enbridge Partners cannot predict the outcome of this appeal, nor can it predict what further action the FERC will take with respect to this matter.

On September 27, 2001, the FERC issued a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking in Docket No. RM01-10. The proposed rules would expand the FERC's current standards of conduct to include a regulated transmission provider and all of its energy affiliates. It is not known whether the FERC will issue a final rule in this docket and, if it does, whether Enbridge Partners could, as a result, incur increased costs and increased difficulty in its operations.

Additional proposals and proceedings that might affect the natural gas industry are pending before Congress, the FERC and the courts. The natural gas industry historically has been very heavily regulated; therefore, there is no assurance that the less stringent regulatory approach recently pursued by the FERC and Congress will continue.

Allowance for Income Taxes in Rates

In a 1995 decision involving Enbridge Partners' Lakehead system, the FERC partially disallowed the inclusion of income taxes in the cost of service for the Lakehead system. Subsequent appeals

92

of this ruling were resolved by settlement and were not adjudicated. In another FERC proceeding involving SFPP, L.P., an unrelated pipeline limited partnership, the FERC held that the limited partnership may not claim an income tax allowance for income attributable to non-corporate partners, both individuals and other entities. SFPP and other parties to the proceeding have appealed the FERC's orders to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, which is holding the appeals in abeyance while the FERC resolves requests for rehearing of its orders. The effect of the FERC's policy stated in the Lakehead proceeding (and the results of the ongoing SFPP litigation regarding that policy) on Enbridge Partners is uncertain. Parties may challenge rates on Enbridge Partners' common carrier interstate liquids pipelines or its interstate natural gas pipelines on the basis that its rates are not just and reasonable because the level of income tax allowance in its rates exceeds that permitted under the Lakehead and/or SFPP decisions. While it is not possible to predict the likelihood that parties will assert such challenges or that such challenges would succeed, if such challenges were to be raised and succeeded, application of the Lakehead/SFPP and related rulings would reduce permissible income tax allowance in any cost-of-service based rate, to the extent income tax is attributed to partnership interests held by individual partners rather than corporations.

Intrastate Pipeline Regulation

Enbridge Partners' intrastate liquids and natural gas pipeline operations generally are not subject to rate regulation by the FERC, but they are subject to regulation by various agencies of the states in which they are located. However, to the extent that its intrastate pipeline systems transport natural gas in interstate commerce, the rates, terms and conditions of such transportation service are subject to FERC jurisdiction under Section 311 of the NGPA, which regulates, among other things, the provision of transportation services by an intrastate natural gas pipeline on behalf of a local distribution company or an interstate natural gas pipeline. Most states have agencies that possess the authority to review and authorize natural gas transportation transactions and the construction, acquisition, abandonment and interconnection of physical facilities. Some states also have state agencies that regulate transportation rates, service terms and conditions and contract pricing to ensure their reasonableness and to ensure that the intrastate pipeline companies that they regulate do not discriminate among similarly situated customers.

Gathering Pipeline Regulation

Section 1(b) of the NGA exempts natural gas gathering facilities from the jurisdiction of the FERC under the NGA. Enbridge Partners owns certain natural gas pipelines that it believes meet the traditional tests the FERC has used to establish a pipeline's status as a gatherer not subject to the FERC jurisdiction. State regulation of gathering facilities generally includes various safety, environmental and, in some circumstances, nondiscriminatory take requirements, but generally does not entail rate regulation. Natural gas gathering may receive greater regulatory scrutiny at both the state and federal levels now that the FERC has taken a more light-handed approach to regulation of the gathering activities of interstate pipeline transmission companies and a number of such companies have transferred gathering facilities to unregulated affiliates. For

example, the Texas Railroad Commission has approved changes to its regulations governing transportation and gathering services performed by intrastate pipelines and gatherers, which prohibit such entities from unduly discriminating in favor of their affiliates. Many of the producing states have adopted some form of complaint-based regulation that generally allows natural gas producers and shippers to file complaints with state regulators in an effort to resolve grievances relating to natural gas gathering access and rate discrimination. Enbridge Partners' gathering operations could be adversely affected should they be subject in the future to the application of state or federal regulation of rates and services. Enbridge Partners' gathering operations also may be or become subject to safety and operational regulations relating to the design, installation, testing, construction, operation,

93

replacement and management of gathering facilities. Additional rules and legislation pertaining to these matters are considered or adopted from time to time. Enbridge Partners cannot predict what effect, if any, such changes might have on its operations, but the industry could be required to incur additional capital expenditures and increased costs depending on future legislative and regulatory changes.

Sales of Natural Gas, Crude Oil, Condensate and Natural Gas Liquids

The price at which Enbridge Partners sells natural gas currently is not subject to federal regulation and, for the most part, is not subject to state regulation. Enbridge Partners' sales of natural gas are affected by the availability, terms and cost of pipeline transportation. As noted above, the price and terms of access to pipeline transportation are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. The FERC is continually proposing and implementing new rules and regulations affecting those segments of the natural gas industry, most notably interstate natural gas transmission companies, that remain subject to the FERC's jurisdiction. These initiatives also may affect the intrastate transportation of natural gas under certain circumstances. The stated purpose of many of these regulatory changes is to promote competition among the various sectors of the natural gas industry and these initiatives generally reflect more light-handed regulation. Enbridge Partners cannot predict the ultimate impact of these regulatory changes to its natural gas marketing operations, and Enbridge Partners notes that some of the FERC's more recent proposals may adversely affect the availability and reliability of interruptible transportation service on interstate pipelines. Enbridge Partners does not believe that it will be affected by any such FERC action materially differently than other natural gas marketers with whom it competes.

Enbridge Partners' sales of crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids currently are not regulated and are made at market prices. In a number of instances, however, the ability to transport and sell such products are dependent on pipelines whose rates, terms and conditions of service are subject to the FERC's jurisdiction under the ICA. Certain regulations implemented by the FERC in recent years could result in an increase in the cost of transportation service on certain petroleum products pipelines. However, Enbridge Partners does not believe that these regulations affect it any differently than other marketers of these products.

Other Regulation

The governments of the United States and Canada have, by treaty, agreed to ensure nondiscriminatory treatment for the passage of oil and natural gas through the pipelines of one country across the territory of the other. Individual border crossing points require U.S. government permits that may be terminated or amended at the will of the U.S. government. These permits provide that pipelines may be inspected by or subject to orders issued by federal or state government agencies.

94

Tariffs and Rate Cases

Lakehead System

Under published tariffs for transportation on the Lakehead system, the rates for transportation of light crude oil from Neche, North Dakota (unless otherwise stated) to principal delivery points at April 1, 2002 (including the tariff surcharges related to the Lakehead expansion) are set forth below.

	Published Ta	riff Per Barrel
To Clearly Minners	¢.	0.172
To Clearbrook, Minnesota To Superior, Wisconsin	\$ \$	0.172 0.335
To Chicago, Illinois area	\$	0.686
To Marysville, Michigan area	\$	0.820

Published Tariff Per Barrel

To Buffalo, New York area	\$ 0.840
Chicago to the international boarder near Marysville	\$ 0.304

The rates at April 1, 2002 for medium and heavy crude oils are higher and those for NGLs are lower than the rates set forth in the table to compensate for differences in costs for shipping different types and grades of liquid hydrocarbons. Enbridge Partners periodically adjusts its tariff rates as allowed under the FERC's indexing methodology and the tariff agreement described below.

Under a tariff agreement approved by the FERC in 1999, Enbridge Partners implemented a tariff surcharge for the Terrace expansion of approximately \$0.013 per barrel (for light crude oil from the Canadian border to Chicago, Illinois). On April 1, 2001, the surcharge was increased to \$0.026 per barrel. Subject to any adjustments permitted under the tariff agreement, this toll will be effective until April 1, 2004, when, absent any agreement from Enbridge Inc. stating otherwise, the toll will change to \$0.007 per barrel to Enbridge Partners. This new toll will be in effect for the next six years, after which time it will return to \$0.013 per barrel for Enbridge Partners. The tariff surcharge is based on the completion of all three phases of the Terrace expansion.

Midcoast System

Tariff rates on the FERC regulated Midcoast system pipelines vary by pipeline and by receipt point and delivery point. The rates charged for transmission of natural gas on pipelines not regulated by the FERC or a state agency are established by competitive forces.

The rates allowed for transmission of natural gas on the Kansas pipeline system have been the subject of litigation and several FERC proceedings over the last four years. In May 1998, after more than two years of jurisdictional proceedings before the FERC, the FERC asserted jurisdiction over the Kansas pipeline system and ordered Enbridge Pipelines (KPC), the Enbridge Midcoast subsidiary that owns the Kansas pipeline system, to file a rate case under Section 4 of the NGA by September 10, 1999.

The currently approved rates for the Kansas pipeline system generate annual revenues of approximately \$28 million and are not subject to any refund obligation. On September 1, 1999, Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) filed an NGA Section 4 rate increase in Docket No. RP99-485, proposing rates which would generate annual revenues of approximately \$31 million. The FERC suspended the proposed rates and ordered a hearing in that proceeding. The rates proposed by Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) in Docket No. RP99-485 have not been placed into effect. On July 31, 2000, a FERC administrative law judge issued an initial decision recommending that Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) recover annual revenues based on a cost of service of approximately \$20 million. Enbridge Pipelines (KPC) filed exceptions to the initial decision on virtually every issue decided by the

95

administrative law judge and the matter is currently pending before the Commission for de novo review. A FERC order is expected in late 2002.

Environmental and Safety Regulation

General

Enbridge Partners' pipelines and gathering and processing facilities are subject to extensive operational and safety regulation. Many departments and agencies, both federal and state, are authorized by statute to issue and have issued a variety of rules and regulations that are binding on the pipeline industry. The failure to comply with such rules and regulations can result in substantial penalties. The regulatory burden on the pipeline industry increases Enbridge Partners' cost of doing business and, consequently, affects its profitability. However, Enbridge Partners does not believe that it is affected in a significantly different manner by these regulations than its competitors. Due to the myriad and complex federal and state statutes and regulations that may affect us, directly or indirectly, the following discussion of certain statutes and regulations should not be considered an exhaustive review of all regulatory considerations affecting Enbridge Partners' operations.

Pipeline Safety and Transportation Regulation

Enbridge Partners' pipelines are subject to regulation by the U.S. Department of Transportation, or the "DOT," under the federal Hazardous Liquids Pipeline Safety Act, or the "HLPSA," relating to the design, installation, testing, construction, operation, replacement and management of pipeline facilities. The HLPSA requires pipeline operators to comply with regulations issued pursuant to the HLPSA, to permit access to and allow copying of pipeline records, and to make certain reports and provide information as required by the Secretary of Transportation.

The Pipeline Safety Act amends the HLPSA in several important respects. The Pipeline Safety Act requires the Research and Special Programs Administration, or "RSPA," of the DOT to consider environmental impacts, as well as DOT's traditional public safety mandate, when developing pipeline safety regulations. In August 2000, the DOT adopted pipeline operator qualification rules requiring minimum qualification requirements for personnel performing operations and maintenance on hazardous liquid pipelines. The DOT has also approved regulations that require operators of hazardous liquid pipelines in High Consequence Areas, such as densely populated or ecologically sensitive areas, to conduct risk assessments, utilize internal inspection devices or perform hydrotesting to assess pipeline integrity, and facilitate changes in operation and maintenance procedures to reduce the risk of public safety and environmental impacts from pipeline leaks or spills. Similar integrity management regulations are currently being developed for natural gas pipelines regulated by the DOT. Legislation that would increase the stringency of federal pipeline safety requirements is currently pending before the U.S. Congress. Although states are largely preempted by federal law from regulating pipeline safety, some states have assumed responsibility for enforcing federal intrastate pipeline regulations and for inspecting intrastate pipelines. The State of Texas, for instance, has already implemented its own integrity management regulations for natural gas pipelines.

Enbridge Partners' trucking and railcar operations are also subject to safety and permitting regulation by the DOT and state agencies with regard to the safe transportation of hazardous materials and other materials. Enbridge Partners believes that its pipeline, trucking and railcar operations are in substantial compliance with applicable operational and safety requirements. Nevertheless, significant expenses could be incurred in the future if additional safety measures are required or if safety standards are raised and exceed the capabilities of its current pipeline control system or other safety equipment.

96

Environmental Regulation

General. Enbridge Partners' operations are subject to complex federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of health and the environment, including laws and regulations which govern the handling and release of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon materials. As with the petroleum industry in general, complying with current and anticipated environmental laws and regulations increases its overall cost of doing business, including its capital costs to construct, maintain, and upgrade equipment and facilities. While these laws and regulations affect its maintenance capital expenditures and net income, Enbridge Partners believes that they do not affect its competitive position since the operations of its competitors are similarly affected.

In addition to compliance costs, violations of environmental laws or regulations can result in the imposition of significant administrative, civil and criminal fines and penalties and, in some instances, injunctions banning or delaying certain activities. Enbridge Partners believes that its operations are in substantial compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations. However, these laws and regulations are subject to frequent change at the federal, state and local levels, and the clear trend is to place increasingly stringent limitations on activities that may affect the environment. Therefore, Enbridge Partners is unable to predict the ongoing cost of complying with these laws and regulations or their future impact on its operations.

There are also risks of accidental releases into the environment associated with Enbridge Partners' operations, such as leaks or spills of crude oil, natural gas or other substances from its pipelines or storage facilities. Such accidental releases could, to the extent not insured, subject Enbridge Partners to substantial liabilities arising from environmental cleanup and restoration costs, claims made by neighboring landowners and other third parties for personal injury and property damage, and fines or penalties for any related violations of environmental laws or regulations.

Although Enbridge Partners is entitled in certain circumstances to indemnification from third parties for environmental liabilities relating to assets that it acquired from those parties, these contractual indemnification rights are limited and, accordingly, Enbridge Partners may be required to bear substantial environmental expenses.

Enbridge Management will have managerial control over the operations of Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Partners will be primarily responsible for performing duties imposed under environmental laws, such as obligations to clean up hydrocarbons or other materials that are released into the environment. However, to the extent that Enbridge Partners incurs but does not perform or complete obligations imposed under environmental laws, Enbridge Management may be held liable for the costs and liabilities arising from those obligations as the party with managerial control over the operations of Enbridge Partners.

Air Emissions. Enbridge Partners' operations are subject to the federal Clean Air Act and comparable state and local statutes. These laws generally require facilities that emit air contaminants into the atmosphere to implement or achieve certain technological or performance-based emissions controls and to comply with various permitting, monitoring and reporting regulations. Amendments to the Clean Air Act enacted in 1990, as well as recent or soon to be adopted changes to state implementation plans implementing those amendments, require or will require

most industrial operations in the United States to make capital expenditures in order to meet new air emission control standards developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or the "EPA," and state environmental agencies. As a result of these amendments, Enbridge Partners' facilities are subject to increasingly stringent air emissions regulations, including requirements that some facilities install maximum or best achievable control technologies to reduce or eliminate regulated emissions. A number of Enbridge Partners' facilities are currently exempt from these air emissions regulations due to their age. Over the next several years, however, the

97

exemptions for such "grandfathered" facilities are due to expire. Enbridge Partners anticipates, therefore, that it will incur certain capital expenses in the next several years for air pollution control equipment in connection with maintaining existing facilities and obtaining permits and approvals for any new or acquired facilities. In addition, state and local air quality regulations can be more stringent than federal regulations in some circumstances, particularly in areas where national air quality standards have not been achieved. Although Enbridge Partners can give no assurances, it believes compliance with these Clean Air Act requirements will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations and that such requirements do not affect its competitive position since the operations of its competitors are similarly affected.

Hazardous Substances and Waste Management. The federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or "CERCLA" (also known as the "Superfund" law), and similar state laws, impose liability without regard to fault or the legality of the original conduct, on certain classes of persons, including the owners or operators of waste disposal sites and companies that disposed or arranged for disposal of hazardous substances found at such sites. CERCLA also authorizes the EPA and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response to threats to public health or the environment at such disposal sites and to seek recovery of the costs they incur from the responsible classes of persons. Although "petroleum" is currently excluded from CERCLA's definition of a "hazardous substance," in the course of its ordinary operations Enbridge Partners may generate some wastes that fall within the definition of a "hazardous substance." Enbridge Partners may, therefore, be jointly and severally liable under CERCLA for all or part of any costs required to clean up and restore sites at which such wastes have been disposed. In addition, it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into the environment. Analogous state laws may apply to a broader range of substances than CERCLA and, in some instances, may offer fewer exemptions from liability. Enbridge Partners has not received any notification that it may be potentially responsible for cleanup costs under CERCLA or similar state laws.

Enbridge Partners' operations also generate both hazardous and nonhazardous wastes that are subject to the requirements of the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or "RCRA," and comparable state statutes. Enbridge Partners is not currently required to comply with a substantial portion of RCRA's requirements as its operations generate minimal quantities of hazardous wastes. From time to time, however, the EPA has considered making changes in nonhazardous waste standards that would result in stricter disposal requirements for these wastes, including certain petroleum wastes. Furthermore, it is possible that some of the wastes Enbridge Partners generates that are currently classified as nonhazardous may in the future be reclassified as "hazardous wastes," which would trigger more rigorous and costly disposal requirements. In addition, analogous state and local laws may impose more stringent waste disposal requirements or apply to a broader range of wastes. While federal or state regulatory changes could result in an increase in Enbridge Partners' maintenance capital expenditures and operating expenses, Enbridge Partners believes that they would not effect its competitive position since the operations of its competitors would be similarly affected.

Water. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, and similar state laws place strict limits on the discharge of contaminants into federal and state waters. Regulations under these laws prohibit such discharges unless authorized by and in compliance with a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit or an equivalent state permit. The Clean Water Act and analogous state laws allow significant penalty assessments for unauthorized releases of water pollution and impose substantial liability for the costs of cleaning up spills and leaks into the water. In addition, the Clean Water Act and analogous state laws require individual permits or coverage under general permits for discharges of stormwater runoff from certain types of facilities.

98

State laws may also place restrictions and cleanup requirements on the release of pollution into groundwater. Enbridge Partners believes that it will be able to obtain, or be covered under, any required Clean Water Act permits and that compliance with the conditions of those permits will not have a material effect on its operations.

The Oil Pollution Act, or "OPA," was enacted in 1990 and amends parts of the Clean Water Act and other statutes as they pertain to the prevention of and response to oil spills. Under the OPA, Enbridge Partners could be subject to strict, joint and potentially unlimited liability for removal costs and other consequences of an oil spill from its facilities into navigable waters, along shorelines or in an exclusive economic zone

of the United States. The OPA also imposes certain spill prevention, control and countermeasure requirements, such as the preparation of detailed oil spill emergency response plans and the construction of dikes or other containment structures to prevent contamination of navigable or other waters in the event of an oil overflow, rupture or leak. Enbridge Partners believes it is in material compliance with these laws.

Employee Health and Safety. The workplaces associated with Enbridge Partners' operations are subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, or "OSHA," and comparable state statutes that regulate worker health and safety. In addition, some states have received authorization to implement their own occupational safety and health programs in lieu of the federal program. Enbridge Partners has an ongoing safety training program for its employees and believes that its operations are in material compliance with applicable occupational health and safety requirements, including general industry standards, record keeping requirements, monitoring of occupational exposure to regulated substances, and hazard communication standards.

Site Remediation. Enbridge Partners owns and operates a number of pipelines, gathering systems, storage facilities and processing facilities that have been used to transport, distribute, store and process crude oil, natural gas and other petroleum products for many years. Many of these facilities were previously owned and operated by third parties whose handling, disposal and release of petroleum and waste materials were not under Enbridge Partners' control. Past operating and waste disposal practices, which were standard for the industry at the time, have resulted in soil and groundwater contamination at some facilities due to historical spills and releases. Such contamination is not unusual within the petroleum industry. Any historical contamination found on, under or originating from Enbridge Partners' properties may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws as described above. Under these laws, Enbridge Partners could incur substantial expense to remediate any such contamination, including contamination caused by prior owners and operators. In addition, Enbridge Management, as the entity with managerial responsibility for Enbridge Partners, could also be liable for such costs to the extent that Enbridge Partners is unable to fulfill its obligations. Enbridge Partners has conducted site investigations at some of its facilities to assess historical environmental issues, and it is currently addressing soil and groundwater contamination at various facilities through remediation and monitoring programs, with oversight by the applicable government agencies where appropriate.

Most of the environmental site investigations of Enbridge Partners' facilities were performed in connection with the acquisition of assets from third parties. Environmental liabilities identified in these investigations were handled in several ways. In some instances, historical environmental liabilities were assumed upon the acquisition of assets. In other circumstances, assets were acquired subject to indemnities from the sellers which are intended to protect Enbridge Partners from specific historical environmental liabilities. There are also instances where only parts of assets were acquired, leaving the seller with the portions believed to be more severely affected by historical environmental liabilities. In connection with Enbridge Partners' acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems under the contribution agreement, Enbridge Energy Company has agreed to indemnify Enbridge Partners and other related persons for certain environmental liabilities of which Enbridge Energy Company has knowledge and which it did not

99

disclose under the contribution agreement. Enbridge Energy Company will not be required to indemnify Enbridge Partners under the contribution agreement until the aggregate liabilities, including environmental liabilities, exceed \$20 million, and Enbridge Energy Company's aggregate liability under the contribution agreement, including environmental liabilities, may not exceed, with certain exceptions, \$150 million. Enbridge Partners will be liable for any environmental conditions related to the acquired systems that were not known to Enbridge Energy Company or were disclosed under the contribution agreement. In addition, Enbridge Partners will be liable for all removal, remediation and disposal of all asbestos containing materials and all naturally occurring radioactive materials associated with the Northeast Texas system and for which Enbridge Energy Company is liable to the prior owner of that system.

Although Enbridge Partners believes these indemnities and carve outs provide valuable protection, it is possible that the sellers from whom these assets were purchased will not be able to satisfy their indemnity obligations or their remedial obligations related to retained liabilities or properties.

Enbridge Partners could also experience future spills or releases from its pipelines, gathering systems, storage facilities, or trucking or rail operations, or it could discover historical releases that were previously unidentified. To guard against these risks, Enbridge Partners maintains an extensive inspection and maintenance program designed to prevent, detect and address such releases promptly, and it has obtained insurance policies designed to provide additional protection against historical environmental liabilities related to certain assets, including the Northeast Texas and East Texas systems. Enbridge Partners could nevertheless incur significant penalties, damages and remedial liabilities arising from future spills or the discovery of previously unknown historical releases. Such liabilities could have a material adverse effect on Enbridge Partners' financial condition and results of operations.

Employees

None of Enbridge Management, Enbridge Partners or its general partner, Enbridge Energy Company, has any employees. As discussed under "Business" Enbridge Management, "Enbridge Energy Company will delegate to us, pursuant to the delegation of control agreement, substantially all of the responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Energy Company will, however, retain certain functions and approval rights over the operations of Enbridge Partners. To fulfill its management obligations, our management subsidiary has entered into agreements with Enbridge Inc. and several of its subsidiaries to provide it with the necessary services and support personnel. Enbridge Partners reimburses these service providers at cost for expenses incurred in performing these services.

Insurance

The operations of Enbridge Partners are subject to many hazards inherent in the liquid petroleum and natural gas gathering, processing and transmission industry. Enbridge Partners maintains insurance coverage for its operations and properties considered to be customary in the industry. There can be no assurance, however that insurance coverages maintained by Enbridge Partners will be available or adequate for any particular risk or loss or that it will be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates it considers reasonable. Although management believes that the assets of Enbridge Partners are adequately covered by insurance, a substantial uninsured loss could have a material adverse effect on Enbridge Partners' financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

100

MANAGEMENT OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

Our business and affairs will be managed by a board of managers whom we call our directors.

Our directors and executive officers have served since our formation on May 14, 2002.

The following table sets forth specific information for our executive officers and directors. All of our directors are elected annually by, and may be removed by, Enbridge Energy Company as the sole owner of our voting shares. Executive officers are appointed for one-year terms.

Name	Age	Position with Enbridge Management
J.R. Bird	53	Director
P.D. Daniel	55	Director
E.C. Hambrook	65	Director
G.K. Petty	60	Director
C.A. Russell	69	Director
D.P. Truswell	59	Director
Dan C. Tutcher	53	President and Director
G.L. Sevick	46	Vice President Operations
T.L. McGill	47	Vice President Commercial Activity &
		Business Development
M.A. Maki	37	Controller
A. Monaco	42	Treasurer
J.L. Balko	36	Chief Accountant
E.C. Kaitson	45	Corporate Secretary

J.R. Bird was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Bird was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company in September 2000 and served as President from September 2000 until June 2001. Mr. Bird previously served as Treasurer of the Enbridge Energy Company from October 1996 through October 1997. He also currently serves as Group Vice President, Transportation North of Enbridge Inc. since May 2001 and President of Enbridge Pipelines since September 2000. Prior to that time he served as Senior Vice President, Corporate Planning and Development of Enbridge Inc. from August 1997 through August 2000 and as Vice President and Treasurer of Enbridge Inc. from January 1995 to August 1997.

P.D. Daniel was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Daniel was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company in July 1996 and served as its President from July 1996 through October 1997. Mr. Daniel has served as President of Enbridge Inc.

since September 2000 and as Chief Executive Officer of Enbridge Inc. since January 2001. Prior to that time Mr. Daniel also served as President and Chief Operating Officer Energy Delivery of Enbridge Inc. from June 1998 to December 2000. Prior to that time Mr. Daniel served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer Energy Transportation Services of Enbridge Inc. from September 1997 through June 1998, as Senior Vice President of Enbridge Inc. from May 1994 to August 1997, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Enbridge Pipelines from August 1996 to August 1997, and as President and Chief Operating Officer of Enbridge Pipelines from May 1994 to August 1996.

E.C. Hambrook was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Hambrook was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company in January 1992 and served as Chairman of Enbridge Energy Company from July 1996 until July 1999.

101

- G.K. Petty was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Petty was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company on February 22, 2001 and serves on its Audit, Finance & Risk Committee. Mr. Petty has served as a director of Enbridge Inc. since January 2001 and as a director of CAE Incorporated since August 1996. Mr. Petty served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Telus Corporation, a Canadian telecommunications company, from November 1994 to November 1999. Mr. Petty is a business consultant providing executive management consulting services to the telecommunications industry.
- C.A. Russell was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Russell was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company in October 1985 and serves as the Chairman of its Audit, Finance & Risk Committee. Mr. Russell served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Norwest Bank Minnesota North, N.A. (now known as Wells Fargo Bank), from January through December 1995. He also served as a director of Minnesota Power and Light Co. (now known as Allete) until May 1996. Other than in his service as a director of the Enbridge Management and Enbridge Energy Company, Mr. Russell is retired
- D.P. Truswell was elected a director of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Truswell was elected a director of Enbridge Energy Company in 1991. Since September 2000, Mr. Truswell has served as Group Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Enbridge Inc. and from May 1994 through August 2000 served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Enbridge Inc.
- Dan C. Tutcher was elected a director and was appointed President of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Tutcher was elected a director and was appointed President of Enbridge Energy Company in June 2001. He also currently serves as Group Vice President, Transportation South of Enbridge Inc., as well as President of Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. He was previously Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. from its formation in 1992 until it was acquired by Enbridge Inc. on May 15, 2001.
- G.L. Sevick was appointed Vice President, Operations of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Sevick was appointed Vice President, Operations of Enbridge Energy Company in June 2001. He has served as Vice President, Canadian Operations for Enbridge Pipelines since 1999. Prior to that time, he served as Vice President, Engineering & Logistics of Enbridge Consumers Gas from 1998 to 1999 and Senior Vice President, Distribution Operations of Enbridge Consumers Gas from 1996 to 1998.
- T.L. McGill was appointed Vice President Commercial Activity and Business Development of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. McGill was appointed Vice President Commercial Activity and Business Development of Enbridge Energy Company in April 2002. Prior to that time, Mr. McGill was President of Columbia Gulf Transmission Company from January 1996 to March 2002. Prior to that time, Mr. McGill provided consulting services to natural gas, electric and other energy firms.
- M.A. Maki was appointed Controller of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Maki was appointed Controller of Enbridge Energy Company in June 2001. Prior to that time, he served as Controller, Enbridge Pipelines since September 1999. Prior to that time, he served as Chief Accountant of the Enbridge Energy Company from June 1997 to August 1999.
- A. Monaco was appointed Treasurer of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Monaco was appointed Treasurer of Enbridge Energy Company in February, 2002. He currently serves as Vice President, Financial Services of Enbridge Inc. and prior to that time as Director, Financial Services since 2000. Prior to that time, he served as Director, Investor Relations since 1997.
- J.L. Balko was appointed Chief Accountant of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Ms. Balko has served as Chief Accountant of Enbridge Energy Company since October 1999. Prior to that time, she served in supervisory positions in accounting with Enbridge Pipelines since

January 1998, and was with The Westaim Corporation, an investor in, and manufacturer of, industrial technologies in various industries, including the biomedical and semiconductor industries, from November 1995 to December 1997.

E.C. Kaitson was appointed Corporate Secretary of Enbridge Management upon its formation. Mr. Kaitson has served as Corporate Secretary of Enbridge Energy Company since November 2001. He also currently serves as Associate General Counsel, Transportation Group South of Enbridge Inc. He was previously Assistant Corporate Secretary and General Counsel of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. from 1997 until it was acquired by Enbridge Inc. on May 15, 2001.

Committees of the Board of Directors

We anticipate that we will have an audit committee composed of our three independent directors, E.C. Hambrook, G.K. Petty and C.A. Russell, upon the closing of the sale of shares offered by this prospectus.

Executive Compensation

Because we were formed in 2002, our directors and executive officers received no compensation in 2001. We have made no decision regarding 2002 compensation for our executive officers. We will be reimbursed by Enbridge Partners for the aggregate amount of compensation we pay our executive officers and other employees.

Director Compensation

Officers or employees of Enbridge Energy Company who also serve as our directors will not receive additional compensation. Each independent director will receive an annual fee of \$ for his services to us plus \$ for each meeting of the board of directors or a committee of the board of directors that he attends. In addition, each independent director is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with attending meetings of the board of directors or committees. Each director is indemnified by us for actions associated with being a director to the full extent permitted under Delaware law.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth certain information, as of offering and our voting shares by affiliates of Enbridge Inc.

	Enbridge Management Shares			
	Current # of Shares	Current Percent of Class	Pro Forma Number of Shares	Pro Forma Percent of Class
Enbridge Energy Company	0	0%	500,000	5%
	Er	nbridge Management	Voting Sha	res
	Current # of Shares	Current Percent of Class	Pro Forma Number of Shares	Pro Forma Percent of Class
Enbridge Energy Company	1	100% 103	1	100%

The following table sets forth information as of , 2002, regarding (a) the beneficial ownership of (i) common units of Enbridge Partners and (ii) the common stock of Enbridge Inc., the parent company of the general partner of Enbridge Partners, by all directors of Enbridge Energy Company, each of the named executive officers and all directors and executive officers as a group and (b) all persons known by Enbridge Energy Company to own beneficially more than 5% of Enbridge Partners' units.

Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership(1)

	Common Units		Enbridge Inc. Voting Stock	
	Number of Units(2)	Percent of Class	Number of Shares(3)	Percent of Class
J.R. Bird				
P.D. Daniel				
E.C. Hambrook				*
G.K. Petty				
C.A. Russell				
D.P. Truswell				
Dan C. Tutcher				
Directors and Executive Officers as a group (13				
persons)				
Enbridge Energy Company(4)				

Less than 1%.

- (1) Except as noted otherwise, all common units and Enbridge Inc. shares involve sole voting power and sole investment power.
- (2) As of , 2002, Enbridge Partners had common units issued and outstanding.
- (3)
 As of , 2002, Enbridge Inc. had a total of shares of outstanding voting common stock.
- (4) Owns Class B common units of Enbridge Partners.

104

DESCRIPTION OF OUR SHARES

The following is a summary of the principal documents that relate to our shares, as well as documents that relate to the i-units we will purchase upon completion of the offering. Copies of those documents are on file with the SEC as part of our registration statement. Please read "Where You Can Find Additional Information" for information on how to obtain copies. You should refer to the provisions of each of the following agreements because they, and not this summary, will govern your rights as a holder of shares. These agreements include:

our limited liability company agreement, which provides for the issuance of the shares, distributions, limited voting rights and the indemnification of us by Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Energy Company;

the Enbridge Inc. purchase provisions, which are part of our limited liability company agreement and which provide for the optional and mandatory purchase of our shares by Enbridge Inc. in the limited circumstances set forth in our limited liability company agreement;

the Enbridge Inc. tax indemnification agreement, which provides that Enbridge Inc. will indemnify us for any tax liability attributable to our formation or our management of the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and for any taxes arising out of our ownership or a transaction involving our i-units to the extent our ownership or the transaction does not generate sufficient cash to pay our taxes;

the Enbridge Partners limited partnership agreement which establishes the i-units as a class and specifies the relative rights and preferences of the i-units; and

the delegation of control agreement, which delegates to us substantially all of Enbridge Energy Company's power and authority to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and its operating subsidiaries, subject to the right of the general partner of Enbridge Partners to approve specified actions.

Distributions

Under the terms of our limited liability company agreement, except in connection with our liquidation, we will not pay distributions on our shares in cash but instead will make distributions of additional shares or fractions of shares. When Enbridge Partners makes a cash distribution on its common units, we will distribute on each of our shares that fraction of a share determined by dividing the amount of the cash distribution paid by Enbridge Partners on each common unit by the average market price of one of our shares during the 10-trading day period ending immediately prior to the date on which the shares begin to trade ex-dividend under the rules of the principal exchange on which they are listed.

Enbridge Partners has been distributing all of its "available cash" to its general partner and common unitholders of record on the applicable record date within approximately 45 days after the end of each quarter. "Available cash" is defined in the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners, and it generally means, for any calendar quarter, all cash received by Enbridge Partners from all sources, plus net reductions to cash reserves, less all of its cash disbursements and net additions to cash reserves. Enbridge Partners increased its regular quarterly distribution from \$0.875 to \$0.90 per common unit effective with the distribution paid on February 14, 2002. On May 15, 2002, Enbridge Partners paid a regular quarterly cash distribution of \$0.90 to its common unitholders, its second distribution at the rate of \$0.90 per quarter, or \$3.60 per common unit on an annualized basis.

105

Concurrently with the closing of this offering, the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement will be amended to provide for distributions of cash with respect to common units and the general partner interest and for our ownership of additional i-units (by means of a split) after each such distribution, except in the event of a liquidation or dissolution. As a result of these amendments, Enbridge Partners will make non-liquidating distributions in cash to owners of common units and to the general partner and, instead of receiving cash distributions, the number of i-units we own will increase with the result that the number of i-units we own will equal the number of our shares and voting shares that are then outstanding.

We will distribute additional shares to owners of our shares if owners of common units receive a cash distribution or other cash payment on their common units other than a regular quarterly distribution. In that event, we will distribute on each share that fraction of a share determined as described above.

Our limited liability company agreement provides that we may not declare any distribution on our shares after Enbridge Inc. gives notice to us of an optional purchase of our shares or after the occurrence of an event triggering a mandatory purchase of our shares.

There will be no public market for trading fractional shares. No fraction of a share can be traded on any exchange on which our shares are listed until a holder acquires the remainder of the fraction and has a whole share.

The term "average market price" is used above in connection with the share distributions, and it is used below in connection with optional and mandatory purchase of our shares. When we refer to the average market price of a share or a Class A common unit, we mean the average closing price of a share or Class A common unit during the ten consecutive trading days prior to the determination date but not including that date, unless a longer or shorter number of trading days is expressly noted.

The "closing price" of securities on any day means:

for securities listed on a national or regional securities exchange, the last sale price for that day, regular way, or, if there are no sales on that day, the average of the closing bid and asked prices for that day, regular way, in either case as reported in the

principal composite transactions reporting system for the principal United States national or regional securities exchange on which the securities are listed:

if the securities are not listed on a United States national or regional securities exchange on that day, the last quoted price on that day, or, if no price is quoted, the average of the high bid and low asked prices on that day, each as reported by the NASDAQ;

if on that day the securities are not so quoted, the average of the closing bid and asked prices on that day furnished by a professional market maker in the securities selected by our board of directors (or, in the cases of mandatory or optional purchases of our shares, our board of directors); or

if on that day no market maker is making a market in the securities, the fair value of the securities as determined by our board of directors (or, in the cases of mandatory or optional purchases of our shares, our board of directors).

A "trading day" for securities means a day on which:

the principal United States national or regional securities exchange on which the securities are listed is open for business, or

if the securities are not listed on any United States national or regional securities exchange, a day in which banking institutions in New York, New York generally are open.

106

Distributions will be made in accordance with the New York Stock Exchange's distribution standards.

Limited Voting Rights

No Right to Vote to Elect Directors

The shares you own are not entitled to vote to elect our directors. Enbridge Energy Company owns all of our voting shares which are the only class of shares that are entitled to vote to elect our directors.

Actions Requiring Vote of Owners of Our Shares

Owners of the class of shares issued in this offering, other than Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates, may vote on the following matters, which require the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to vote on such matters:

amendments to our limited liability company agreement (including the purchase provisions), the tax indemnification agreement and the delegation of control agreement, but only if the amendment would have a material adverse effect on us or the owners of our shares, as determined in the sole discretion of our board of directors, or would reduce the time for any notice to which the holders of our shares may be entitled;

a proposed issuance of any new class of our shares; and

a decision by us to:

sell, pledge or otherwise transfer any i-units;

issue options, warrants or other securities entitling the holder to purchase our shares;

borrow money or issue debt;

	purchase our shares; or
	liquidate, merge or recapitalize.
Partners for a vote cast for or against which the common	we will submit to a vote of the owners of our shares, including our voting shares, any matter submitted to us by Enbridge of i-units. We will vote our i-units in proportion to the number of votes the owners of our shares, including our voting shares, a proposal. Under the terms of the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement, the i-units are entitled to vote on all matters on a units are entitled to vote. In general, the i-units and common units will vote together as a single class, with each i-unit and and one vote. However, the i-units vote as a separate class on the following matters:
	amendments to the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the holders of the i-units in relation to the other classes of units;
	the transfer by the general partner of its general partner interest to a non-affiliated person and the admission of that person as a general partner; and
	any proposed action that would cause Enbridge Partners to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
	107
	ons on Voting Rights of Certain Owners of Our Shares I by Enbridge Energy Company or its affiliates will not be entitled to vote on the following matters submitted by Enbridge of the i-units:
	the removal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners;
	the election of a successor general partner upon the withdrawal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners;
	the transfer by the general partner of its general partner interest to a non-affiliated person and the admission of that person as a general partner; and
	amendments to the terms of the i-units that would have a material adverse effect on the i-units in relation to other classes of units.
cannot vote the sha	ny person or group owning 20% or more of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding common units and our shares, ares that they own. This limitation does not apply to Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates although, as described above, there are a on which Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates cannot vote the shares that they own.

When the shares owned by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates or by a person or group owning 20% or more of the common units and our shares are not entitled to vote as described above, they will be treated as not outstanding. Therefore, they will not be included in the numerator of the number of shares voting for approval or the denominator of the number of shares outstanding in determining whether the required percentage has been voted to approve a matter. The same is true with respect to the i-units. In other words, in this circumstance a number of i-units equal to

the number of our shares not entitled to vote as described above will be treated as not being outstanding and will not be included in the numerator or the denominator in determining if the required percentage of i-units or total units has been voted to approve a matter.

Actions Not Requiring the Vote of Owners of Our Shares

Notwithstanding the voting provisions described above, we may take the following actions without obtaining approval of the owners of our shares:

make changes in the terms of our shares; and

make changes in the terms of our limited liability company agreement (including the purchase provisions), the tax indemnification agreement and the delegation of control agreement;

that, in either case:

are necessary or desirable to meet the requirements of applicable securities and other laws and regulations and exchange rules;

are necessary to effect the intent of, or that are otherwise contemplated by, our limited liability company agreement; or

our board of directors determines in its sole discretion will not have a material adverse effect on the preferences or rights of our shares.

108

The agreements governing the terms of our shares provide that we also are permitted, in the good faith discretion of our board, to amend the terms of the shares and these agreements without the approval of the holders of our shares to accommodate:

the assumption of the obligations of Enbridge Inc. by a person, other than Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, who becomes the beneficial owner of more than 50% of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock of the general partner of Enbridge Partners in a transaction that does not constitute a mandatory purchase event but that requires the vote of the holders of the outstanding common units and shares; or

changes resulting from a merger, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction involving Enbridge Partners which in each case does not constitute a mandatory purchase event but that requires the vote of the holders of the outstanding common units and shares.

We believe that amendments made pursuant to these agreements, except in some cases in the context of a merger, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction, would not be significant enough to constitute the issuance of a new security. However, if such an amendment were deemed to constitute the issuance of a new security, we would have to register the issuance of these securities with the SEC or rely on an exemption from registration.

Anti-dilution Adjustments

Concurrently with the closing of this offering, Enbridge Partners will amend its partnership agreement to provide that Enbridge Partners will adjust proportionately the number of i-units held by us by causing an i-unit subdivision, split or combination if various events occur, including:

the payment of a common unit distribution on the common units; and

a subdivision, split or combination of the common units.

Our limited liability company agreement provides that the number of all of our outstanding shares shall at all times equal the number of i-units we own. If there is a change in the number of i-units we own, we will pay to all shareholders a share distribution or effect a split or combination of our shares to provide that at all times the number of shares outstanding equals the number of i-units we own. Through the combined effect of the provisions in the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement and the provisions of our limited liability company agreement, the number of outstanding shares and i-units will always be equal.

Covenants

Our limited liability company agreement provides that our activities will be limited to being a limited partner in, and controlling and managing the business and affairs of, Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries. It also includes provisions that are intended to maintain a one-to-one relationship between the number of i-units we own and our outstanding shares, including provisions:

prohibiting our sale, pledge or other transfer of i-units;

requiring the proceeds from our sale of shares in this offering to be used for the purchase of i-units from Enbridge Partners and the purchase and tax indemnity obligations from Enbridge Inc.;

prohibiting our issuance of options, warrants or other securities entitling the holder to subscribe for or purchase shares;

prohibiting us from borrowing money or issuing debt;

prohibiting a liquidation, merger or recapitalization or similar transaction involving us; and

109

prohibiting our purchase of any of our shares, including voting shares.

Under the terms of the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement, Enbridge Partners agrees that it will not:

except in liquidation, make a distribution on an i-unit other than in additional i-units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units;

make a distribution on a common unit other than in cash, additional common units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units;

allow an owner of common units to receive any consideration other than cash, common units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units, or allow us, as the owner of the i-units, to receive any consideration other than additional i-units or a security that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units in a:

merger transaction, if the unitholders of Enbridge Partners immediately prior to the transaction own more than 50% of the common equity securities of the survivor immediately after the transaction; or

recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction;

be a party to a merger, sell substantially all of its assets to another person or enter into similar transactions if:

the survivor of the merger or the other person is to be controlled by Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates after the transaction; and

the transaction would be a mandatory purchase event;

make a tender offer for common units unless the consideration payable in such tender offer:

is exclusively cash; and

together with any cash payable in respect of any other tender offer by Enbridge Partners for the common units concluded within the preceding 360 days and the aggregate amount of any cash distributions to all owners of common units made within the preceding 360 day period is less than 12% of the aggregate average market value of all classes of units of Enbridge Partners determined on the trading day immediately preceding the commencement of the tender offer; or

issue any of its i-units to any person other than us.

The Enbridge Partners partnership agreement provides that when any cash is to be received by a common unitholder as a result of a merger, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction, other than a liquidation, that payment will require Enbridge Partners to cause us to own (by means of an i-unit split) additional i-units. The fraction of an additional unit that we own will be equal to the cash distribution on each common unit divided by the average market price of one of our shares determined for a 10-trading day period ending immediately prior to the effective date of the transaction. This will result in us also issuing an equal number of shares to the holders of our shares.

Optional Purchase

The Enbridge Inc. purchase provisions, which are part of our limited liability company agreement, provide that if at any time Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own 80% or more of our outstanding shares, then Enbridge Inc. has the right, but not the obligation, to purchase all, but not

110

less than all, of our outstanding shares that it and its affiliates do not own. Enbridge Inc. can exercise its right to make that purchase by giving notice to the transfer agent for the shares of its election to make the purchase not less than 10 days and not more than 60 days prior to the date that it selects for the purchase. We will cause the transfer agent to mail the notice of the purchase to the record holders of the shares.

The price at which Enbridge Inc. may make the optional purchase is equal to 110% of the higher of:

the average closing price for our shares for the 10 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day prior to the date the notice of the purchase is given; and

the highest price Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates paid for the shares during the 90 days prior to the date the notice of purchase is given.

Our limited liability company agreement and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement each provides that if at any time Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own 85% or more of the outstanding common units and our shares on a combined basis, then Enbridge Inc. has the right to purchase all, but not less than all, of our shares but only if Enbridge Energy Company also purchases all, but not less than all, of the common units that Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates do not own. Upon closing of this offering, Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates will own approximately 9.8% of the outstanding common units and shares on a combined basis. The price at which Enbridge Inc. may make the optional purchase is equal to the highest of:

the average closing price of our shares or the Class A common units, whichever is higher, for the 20 consecutive trading days ending on the fifth trading day prior to the date on which the notice of the purchase is given; and

the highest price Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates paid either for our shares or the Class A common units during the 90 days prior to the giving of the notice of purchase.

Enbridge Inc. may exercise its right to make the optional purchase by giving notice to the transfer agents for our shares and Enbridge Partners' common units of its election to make the optional purchase not less than 10 days and not more than 60 days prior to the date which it selects for the purchase. We and Enbridge Energy Company or Enbridge Inc. also will cause the transfer agents to mail that notice of the purchase to the record holders of our shares and Enbridge Partners' common units.

If it elects to purchase either our shares or the combination of Enbridge Partners' common units and our shares, Enbridge Inc. will deposit the aggregate purchase price for our shares and Enbridge Partners' common units, as the case may be, with the respective transfer agents. On and after the date set for the purchase, the holders of our shares and Enbridge Partners' common units, as the case may be, will have no rights as holders of shares or common units, except to receive the purchase price, and their shares or common units will be deemed to be transferred to Enbridge Inc. for all purposes.

Enbridge Inc. will comply with Rule 13e-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 if it makes an optional purchase.

Mandatory Purchase

General

Under the terms of the Enbridge Inc. purchase provisions, upon the occurrence of any of the following mandatory purchase events, Enbridge Inc. will be required to purchase all of our outstanding shares that it and its affiliates do not own at a purchase price equal to the higher of the

111

average market price for the shares and the average market price for Class A common units as determined for a 10-trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the applicable event.

A mandatory purchase event means any of the following:

the aggregate distributions or other payments by Enbridge Partners on its common units, other than in common units or in securities which have in all material respects the same rights and privileges as common units but including pursuant to an issuer tender offer by Enbridge Partners, during a 360-day period exceed 50% of the average market price of a Class A common unit during the 10 trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the beginning of that 360-day period.

the merger of Enbridge Partners with or into another person in any case where Enbridge Partners is not the surviving entity, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to another person, unless in the transaction:

the only consideration that we receive in exchange for our i-units is a security of such other person that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the i-units; and

the only consideration received by the owners of common units in exchange for their common units is a security of such other person that has in all material respects the same rights and privileges as the common units and/or cash, and the amount of cash received per common unit does not exceed $33^{1}/3\%$ of the average market price of a Class A common unit for the 10 trading day period ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of execution of the definitive agreement for the

transaction.

the occurrence of an event resulting in Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates ceasing to be the beneficial owners, as defined in Rule 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, of more than 50% of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock of the general partner of Enbridge Partners, unless:

the event results in another person becoming the beneficial owner of more than 50% of the total voting power of all shares of capital stock of the general partner of Enbridge Partners;

that other person is organized under the laws of a state in the United States;

that other person has long term unsecured debt with an investment grade credit rating, as determined by Moody's Investor Services, Inc. and Standard & Poor's Rating Service, immediately prior to the closing of the transaction; and

that other person assumes all obligations of Enbridge Inc. to us and to the owners of the shares in respect of the purchase rights associated with our shares and the tax indemnity.

Procedure

Within three business days following any purchase event requiring a mandatory purchase by Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Inc. will mail to each holder of record of the shares on the later of the date of the purchase event and the most recent practicable date, a notice stating, among other things:

that a mandatory purchase event has occurred and that Enbridge Inc. will purchase such holder's shares for the purchase price described above;

112

the circumstances and relevant facts regarding the mandatory purchase event;

the purchase date, which shall be no later than five business days from the date such notice is mailed; and

the instructions a holder must follow in order to have its shares purchased.

On or prior to the date of the purchase, Enbridge Inc. will irrevocably deposit with the transfer agent funds sufficient to pay the purchase price. Following the purchase date, a share owned by any person other than Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates will only represent the right to receive the purchase price.

For purposes of the mandatory purchase provisions, including the definitions of the mandatory purchase events, and the optional purchase provisions, Enbridge Inc. will be deemed to include Enbridge Inc., its successors by merger, and any entity that succeeds to Enbridge Inc.'s obligations under the purchase provisions and the tax indemnification agreement in connection with an acquisition of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Inc.

Enbridge Inc. will comply with Rule 13e-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 in connection with the occurrence of a mandatory purchase event.

Merger

As discussed under "Limited Liability Company Agreement Merger," if Enbridge Partners were to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, the owner of our voting shares could cause us to merge with or into Enbridge Partners or one of its subsidiaries, provided that the merger is currently non-taxable to holders of our shares, based upon an opinion of counsel or a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service. In such event, you would receive common units or other securities substantially similar to the common units in exchange for your shares.

Tax Indemnity of Enbridge Inc.

Concurrently with the closing of this offering, we will enter into a tax indemnification agreement with Enbridge Inc. Pursuant to this tax indemnification agreement, Enbridge Inc. has agreed to indemnify us for any tax liability attributable to our formation or our management of Enbridge Partners, and for any taxes arising out of a transaction involving or our ownership of the i-units we own to the extent the transaction or our ownership does not generate sufficient cash to pay our taxes.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

We anticipate that Mellon Investor Services will serve as transfer agent and registrar for our shares and will receive a fee from us for serving in those capacities. All fees charged by the transfer agent for transfers of shares, in connection with distributions of additional shares by us or otherwise, will be borne by us and not by you, except that fees similar to those customarily paid by shareholders for surety bond premiums to replace lost or stolen certificates, taxes and other governmental charges, special charges for services requested by you and other similar fees or charges will be borne by you. There will be no charge to you for disbursements by us of additional shares or cash distributions, if any. We will indemnify the transfer agent and registrar, their agents and each of their respective shareholders, directors, officers and employees against all claims and losses that may arise out of acts performed or omitted in respect of our activities, except for any liability due to any negligence, gross negligence, bad faith or intentional misconduct of the indemnified person or entity.

113

The transfer agent and registrar may at any time resign, by notice to us, or be removed by us, that resignation or removal to become effective upon the appointment by us of a successor transfer agent and registrar and its acceptance of that appointment. If no successor has been appointed and accepted that appointment within 30 days after notice of that resignation or removal, we are authorized to act as the transfer agent and registrar until a successor is appointed.

Replacement of Share Certificates

We will replace any mutilated certificate at your expense upon surrender of that certificate to the transfer agent. We will replace certificates that become destroyed, lost or stolen at your expense upon delivery to us and the transfer agent of satisfactory evidence that the certificate has been destroyed, lost or stolen, together with any indemnity that may be required by us.

Fractional Shares

We will make distributions of additional shares, including fractional shares. Records of fractional interests held by the holders of shares will be maintained by The Depository Trust Company or the broker or other nominees through which you hold your shares. You will be able to sell such fractional shares on the New York Stock Exchange only when they equal, in the aggregate, whole shares. Certificates representing fractional shares will not be issued under any condition. Fractional shares will receive distributions when distributions are made on our shares. All fractional shares will be rounded down, if necessary, and stated in six decimal places.

114

DESCRIPTION OF THE i-UNITS

The i-units are a separate class of limited partner interests in Enbridge Partners. All the i-units will be owned by us and will not be publicly traded. A number of the covenants in our limited liability company agreement and in Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement affect us as the holder of i-units. For a description of the material covenants, see "Description of Our Shares" Covenants."

Voting Rights

Generally, the i-units are entitled to vote together with the common units as a single class. The i-units will have the same voting rights as the common units voting together as a single class on the following matters:

a sale or exchange of all or substantially all of Enbridge Partners' assets;

the election of a successor general partner in connection with the withdrawal or removal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners;

a dissolution or reconstitution of Enbridge Partners;

a merger of Enbridge Partners; and

some amendments to the partnership agreement.

Additionally, the i-units will vote separately as a class on the following matters:

amendments to the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the holders of the i-units in relation to the other classes of units, which require the approval of two-thirds of the outstanding i-units other than the number of i-units corresponding to the number of shares owned by Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates;

the transfer by the general partner of Enbridge Partners to a non-affiliate of all of its interest as the general partner, which requires the approval of a majority of the outstanding i-units other than the number of i-units corresponding to the number of shares owned by Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates; and

any proposed action that would cause Enbridge Partners to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In all cases, i-units will be voted in proportion to the affirmative and negative votes, abstentions and non-votes of owners of our shares, including our voting shares.

For further information regarding the voting rights of i-units and our shares, see "Description of Our Shares Limited Voting Rights."

Distributions and Payments

Under Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement, the number of additional i-units we own after each quarterly distribution of cash will be based upon the amount of cash distributed by Enbridge Partners to an owner of a common unit and the average market price of one of our shares. Following each quarterly distribution, the number of additional i-units we own also will equal the number of additional shares distributed by us to our shareholders.

115

Merger, Consolidation or Sale of Assets

In the case of any of the following events:

a consolidation or merger of Enbridge Partners with or into another person;

a merger of another person into Enbridge Partners, except a merger that does not result in any reclassification, conversion, exchange or cancellation of the common units of Enbridge Partners; or

a sale, transfer or lease of all or substantially all the properties and assets of Enbridge Partners;

if the owners of the common units receive cash in the transaction, the number of i-units outstanding will increase (by means of an i-unit split) by an additional amount of i-units determined by dividing the cash received on a common unit by the average market price of one of our shares determined for a 10-trading day period ending immediately prior to the effective time of the transaction, except that in the case of a liquidation, as the owner of the i-units, we will receive the distribution provided pursuant to the liquidation provisions in Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Characteristics and Distribution Upon Liquidation of Enbridge Partners

The i-units we own generally will not be allocated income, gain, loss or deduction until such time as there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. Therefore we do not anticipate that we will have material amounts of taxable income resulting from the ownership of the i-units unless we enter into a sale or exchange of the i-units or Enbridge Partners is liquidated.

Upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. is obligated to purchase all of our outstanding shares at a price equal to the higher of the average market price for the shares and the Class A common units. If Enbridge Inc. fails to do so, then the value of your shares will depend on the amount of the liquidating distribution received by us as the owner of the i-units and the taxes we incur as a result of that liquidation.

The liquidating distribution per i-unit may be less than the liquidating distribution received per common unit. The liquidating distribution for each i-unit and common unit will depend upon the relative per unit capital accounts of the i-units and the common units at liquidation. It is anticipated that over time the capital account per common unit will exceed the capital account per i-unit because the common units will be allocated income and gain prior to liquidation but the i-units will not. At liquidation, it is intended that each i-unit will be allocated income and gain in an amount necessary for the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit. However, there may not be sufficient amounts of income and gain at liquidation to cause the capital accounts of an i-unit to be increased to that of a common unit. In that event, the liquidating distribution per common unit will exceed the liquidating distribution per i-unit.

Additionally, we may recognize higher taxable income per i-unit than the holders of common units. As a result of the allocation of income and gain to the i-units, we will likely recognize taxable income upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners. In the event income and gain is allocated to each i-unit then, because of taxes we pay, shareholders will receive less than the holders of the common units.

Because of these factors, and if Enbridge Inc. fails to purchase our shares as described above, the value of our shares will likely be lower than the value of the common units upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners.

116

COMPARISON OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS' UNITS WITH OUR SHARES

The following table compares important features of the units of Enbridge Partners and our shares.

	Units	Our Shares
Numbers of Units and Shares	35,226,384 common units now outstanding	One voting share now outstanding
	10,000,001 i-units to be outstanding immediately after this offering	10,000,000 shares to be issued in this offering
Current or Non-liquidating Distributions	On a quarterly basis Enbridge Partners will distribute to the owners of all classes of its common units an amount equal to its available cash. Distributions to owners of common units will be made in cash. Instead of receiving cash distributions, the number of i-units we own will be increased.	We will distribute additional shares or fractions of shares whenever Enbridge Partners distributes cash to owners of common units and we own additional i-units.

Units		Our Shares	
	For more information, please read "Distribution Policy Enbridge Partners' Distribution Policy."	For more information, please read "Description of Our Shares Distributions."	
Liquidation	Enbridge Partners will dissolve upon any of the following:	We will dissolve upon any of the following:	
	certain events of withdrawal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners;	entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of us;	
	an election to dissolve Enbridge Partners by its general partner that is approved by at least	the approval of our voting shares and the owners of at least a majority of our shares; or	
	two-thirds of all outstanding units; entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of Enbridge Partners; or	the approval of at least two-thirds of our shares, other than the voting shares.	
	the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Partners or its operating subsidiaries.		
	117		
Voting	Owners of common units vote with owners of i-units as a combined class on specified matters, including the following:	We will vote our i-units in the same manner as our owners of our shares vote on the matters listed in the "Units" column.	
	the transfer of the general partner interest; a merger or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Partners; and	In addition, owners of the class of shares issued in this offering, other than Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates, may vote on the following matters:	
	some amendments to the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners. As the owner of the i-units, we vote as a	some amendments to our limited liability company agreement (including the purchase provisions), the tax indemnification agreement and the delegation of control	
	separate class, in accordance with the votes of the owners of our shares, on the following matters:	agreement; a proposed issuance of any new class of our shares; and	
	amendments to Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement that would have a material adverse effect on the i-units that we own in relation to other classes of units;	some decisions by us involving transfers of our i-units, changes in our capitalization and mergers or liquidations.	
	the transfer by the general partner of Enbridge Partners of its general partner interest; and	For more information, please read "Description of Our Shares Limited Voting Rights."	
	any proposed action that would cause Enbridge Partners to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.		
	For more information, please read "Description of the i-Units Voting Rights."		

"Description of the i-Units Voting Rights."

Removal

Enbridge Partners' general partner may be removed by the vote of owners of at least two-thirds of the outstanding units of all classes, excluding units held by its affiliates. Our directors may not be removed by the holders of the shares.

In voting on removal of the general partner of Enbridge Partners, the owners of our shares, excluding shares owned by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, direct how the i-units will be voted.

118

Optional Rights to Purchase Securities of Public Owners

If Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates own 85% or more of the outstanding common units and our shares on a combined basis, then Enbridge Energy Company has the right, which right it may assign to any of its affiliates, but not the obligation, to purchase all of the common units that it and its affiliates do not own, but only if Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates elect to purchase all, but not less than all, of our outstanding shares that Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates do not own.

If Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own 85% or more of the outstanding common units and our shares on a combined basis, then Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates have the right, but not the obligation, to purchase all of the shares that it and its affiliates do not own, but only if Enbridge Energy Company or its assignee elects to purchase all, but not less than all, of the outstanding common units that Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates do not

In addition, if Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates own 80% or more of our outstanding shares, then Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates have the right, but not the obligation to purchase all, but not less than all, of the outstanding shares that it and its affiliates do not own.

Mandatory Obligation to Purchase Securities of Public Owners

None.

Enbridge Inc. will be required to purchase all of our outstanding shares that it and its affiliates do not own in the circumstances described in "Description of Our Shares Mandatory Purchase."

Preemptive Rights to Acquire Securities

No holder of any of Enbridge Partners' units has any preemptive right. However, whenever Enbridge Partners issues equity securities to any person other than the general partner and its affiliates, the general partner is required to make an additional capital contribution in order to maintain its percentage interest.

No holder of any of our shares has any preemptive right.

119

Fractional Securities

Fractional units may be issued.

Distributions on our shares can be made in fractional shares. These fractional shares may not be traded on the NYSE.

For more information, please read "Description of Our Shares Fractional Shares."

Where Traded

Class A common units are traded on the New

We intend to apply to list the shares sold in

York Stock Exchange under the symbol

"EEP."

this offering on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "."

All i-units will be owned by us. They will not be listed for trading on any stock

exchange.

The voting shares owned by Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. will not be listed for

trading on any stock exchange.

Mellon Investor Services

We anticipate that Mellon Investor Services will serve as transfer agent and registrar for

our shares.

120

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

Formation

Our certificate of formation has been filed in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware and is effective.

Purpose and Powers

Transfer Agent and Register

Our business purpose is to be a limited partner in and to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries and to engage in any lawful business purpose or activity related thereto. We possess and may exercise all the powers and privileges granted by the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, by any other law or by our limited liability company agreement, together with any incidental powers necessary, appropriate, advisable or convenient to the conduct, promotion or attainment of our business purposes or activities.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Status as a Corporation

We have elected to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The i-units owned by us will not be entitled to allocations of income, gain, loss or deduction of Enbridge Partners until such time as Enbridge Partners is liquidated. Thus, we do not expect to have material amounts of taxable income resulting from our ownership of the i-units unless we dispose of the i-units in a taxable transaction or Enbridge Partners is liquidated. Please read "Material Tax Consequences" U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the Ownership and Disposition of Shares Enbridge Management Status as a Corporation For U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes" below.

Power of Attorney

Each shareholder appoints any person specifically authorized by our board of directors to act as its true and lawful representative and attorney-in-fact, in its name, place and stead, to make, execute, sign, deliver and file:

any amendment of the organizational certificate required because of an amendment to the limited liability company agreement or in order to effectuate any change in the ownership of our securities;

any amendments to the limited liability company agreement made in accordance with the terms of that agreement; and

all such other instruments, documents and certificates that may from time to time be required by law to effectuate, implement and continue our valid and subsisting existence or to dissolve us or for any other purpose consistent with the limited liability company agreement and this offering.

The power of attorney is irrevocable and coupled with an interest, and it survives and is not affected by the subsequent death, incompetency, disability, incapacity, dissolution, bankruptcy or termination of any shareholder or the transfer of any of the shareholder's shares. The power of attorney also extends to the shareholder's heirs, successors, assigns and personal representatives.

Members

Enbridge Energy Company is our organizational shareholder and owns the outstanding voting shares as our sole voting member. Our other members are the owners of the class of shares being sold in this offering.

121

The voting member may approve a matter or take any action at a meeting or without a meeting by written consent. As the owner of our voting shares, it may call a meeting of the voting shares, as a class, at any time. In limited circumstances described in "Description of Our Shares" Limited Voting Rights," the holders of our outstanding shares, by a majority vote, have the right to approve a number of significant actions.

Limited Liability

All of our debts, obligations and liabilities, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise, will be our debts, obligations and liabilities alone, and no owner of shares will be obligated for any of these debts, obligations or liabilities as a result of being an owner of our shares.

The Board

Our business and affairs will be managed by a board of managers whom we call our directors. Members of the board will be selected only by the owner of our voting shares. The number of our directors will be at all times at least as great as the number of directors of Enbridge Energy Company. The initial board will consist of seven directors.

The board will hold regular and special meetings at any time as may be necessary. Regular meetings may be held without notice on dates set by the board from time to time. Special meetings of the board may be called on one day's notice to each director upon request of the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer if he is also a director or upon the written request of any two directors. A quorum for a regular or special meeting will exist when a majority of the directors are participating in the meeting either in person or by conference telephone. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote if a majority of the directors sign a written consent authorizing the action. The board can establish committees composed of two or more directors and can delegate power and authority to these committees.

Officers and Employees

Subject to the terms of any employment agreements we might have in the future, the board can appoint and terminate officers and retain and terminate employees, agents and consultants. The board can delegate power and authority to officers, employees, agents and consultants, including the power to represent us and bind us in accordance with the scope of their duties. An affiliate of Enbridge Energy Company provides us, Enbridge Energy Company and Enbridge Partners with our employees. The costs of these employees related to their provision of services to us or Enbridge Partners will be borne directly or reimbursed by Enbridge Partners without profit to the affiliate.

Capital Structure

Our present capital structure consists of two classes of membership equity interests: (1) the class of nonvoting shares being sold in this offering; and (2) the class of voting shares held by Enbridge Energy Company. We are authorized to issue an unlimited number of additional voting shares and the class of shares sold in this offering.

Dissolution and Liquidation

We will be dissolved only upon (1) a judicial decree, (2) upon the approval by the owner of the voting shares and by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the class sold in this offering, or (3) upon the approval of holders of 66²/₃% of our outstanding shares of the class sold in this offering. In the event that we are dissolved, we will be liquidated and our affairs will be wound

122

up. All proceeds from the liquidation will be distributed in equal amounts to the holders of our outstanding shares of all classes.

Merger

Under the provisions of our limited liability company agreement and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement, if Enbridge Partners were to be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the owner of our voting shares would have the right to cause us to merge with or into Enbridge Partners or one of its subsidiaries provided that such transaction is currently non-taxable to our shareholders based upon either an opinion of counsel or a ruling from the IRS. In such event, you would receive common units or other securities substantially similar to the common units in exchange for your shares.

Exculpation and Indemnification

Notwithstanding any express or implied provision of our limited liability company agreement, or any other legal duty or obligation, none of our directors, officers or owners of our voting shares will be liable to us, our affiliates or any other person for any act or omission taken or omitted by the person if such person acted in good faith.

Our limited liability company agreement provides that we will indemnify our directors, officers and owners of our voting shares from liabilities arising in the course of such persons' service to us, provided that the indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner that such indemnitee believed to be in or not opposed to our best interests and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such indemnitee's conduct was unlawful. We expect that the directors and officers will be covered by directors' and officers' liability insurance for potential liability under such indemnification. The owners of our shares will not be personally liable for such indemnification.

Amendments

Amendments to our limited liability company agreement and to our certificate of formation can be approved in writing solely by the owners of our voting shares, except for amendments that have a material adverse effect on the rights or preferences of the class of shares being sold in this offering. This type of amendment must also be approved by the owners of a majority of the outstanding shares of the class being sold in this offering excluding shares held by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates. For more information regarding the voting rights of our shares and other amendments we may make, please read "Description of Our Shares" Limited Voting Rights."

Meetings; Voting

Meetings of the shareholders may be called by the board, the chairman of the board or by Enbridge Energy Company, as the sole owner of our voting shares. Within 60 days after such a call or within such greater time as may be reasonably necessary for us to comply with applicable law or the regulations of any securities exchange on which the shares are listed, the board of directors will send a notice of the meeting to the shareholders owning shares for which a meeting is being called either directly or indirectly through the transfer agent. The meeting will be held at a time and place determined by the board of directors on a date not more than 60 nor less than 10 days after the mailing of notice of the meeting. The owners of the class of shares being sold in this offering do not have the right to call a meeting of the shareholders. A majority of the shares entitled to vote at a meeting constitutes a quorum. The act of a majority of a quorum at a meeting constitutes the act of the shareholders, except with respect to any proposed action that we have covenanted not to take without the approval of a majority of all outstanding shares of the class sold in this offering,

123

including any proposed amendment to the limited liability company agreement and the delegation of control agreement and the purchase rights and tax indemnity associated with our shares. For more information on the voting rights of owners of our shares, please read "Description of Our Shares" Limited Voting Rights."

Books and Records; List of Shareholders

We will keep at our principal office complete and accurate books and records, supporting documentation of the transactions with respect to the conduct of our business and affairs and minutes of the proceedings of our board of directors, the shareholders and each committee of the board. The records will include:

complete and accurate information regarding the state of our business and financial condition;

a copy of our limited liability company agreement and our certificate of formation, and any amendments thereto;

a current list of the names and last known business, residence, or mailing addresses of all of our directors and officers; and

our federal, state and local tax returns for our six most recent tax years.

Subject to reasonable standards (including standards governing what information and documents are to be furnished and at what time and location and at whose expense) as may be established by the board or any officer, each shareholder is entitled to all information to which a member of a Delaware limited liability company is entitled to have access pursuant to the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act under the circumstances and subject to the conditions stated in that statute. Specifically, each shareholder will have access to:

true and full information regarding the status of our business and financial condition;

a copy of our U.S. federal, state and local income tax returns for each year;

a current list of the name and last known business, residence or mailing address of each director and each shareholder of record;

a copy of our limited liability company agreement and certificate of formation, including all amendments, together with executed copies of any written powers of attorney pursuant to which our limited liability company agreement and any certificate and all amendments have been executed:

true and full information regarding the amount of cash and a description and statement of the agreed value of any other property or services contributed by each shareholder and which each shareholder has agreed to contribute in the future, and the date on which each became a shareholder; and

other information regarding our affairs as is just and reasonable.

Our board will have the right to keep confidential from the shareholders, for such period of time as the board deems reasonable, any information which the board reasonably believes to be in the nature of trade secrets or other information the disclosure of which the board in good faith believes is not in our best interest or could damage us or our business or which we are required by law or by agreement with a third party to keep confidential.

No Removal

A shareholder may not be expelled or removed.

124

Distributions

For information regarding distributions payable on our shares, please read "Description of Our Shares".

Optional and Mandatory Purchase

For information regarding the obligation of owners of our shares to sell those shares under specified circumstances please read "Description of Our Shares" Optional Purchase" and "Description of Our Shares" Mandatory Purchase."

RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Our Relationship with Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners

The following charts depict a simplified organizational structure of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners immediately prior to this offering and the acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems and the organizational structure following the offering and the acquisition:

Prior to the Offering and Acquisition

Following the Offering and Acquistion

Ownership of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries after the offering:	
i-units owned by Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.	21.7%
Class A common units owned by the public	67.8%
Class B common units owned by affiliates of Enbridge Inc.	8.5%
General partner interest	2.0%
Total	100.0%
. 0	100.076

Following this offering, subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc. are expected to own collectively 11.6% of Enbridge Partners through their ownership of our shares and general and limited partner interests in Enbridge Partners.

127

Delegation of Control Agreement

Pursuant to a delegation of control agreement among Enbridge Energy Company, Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries and us, the parties have agreed that:

Enbridge Energy Company, as general partner of Enbridge Partners, will delegate to us, and we will assume, upon the closing of this offering, substantially all of Enbridge Energy Company's power and authority to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries;

The delegation of control agreement will provide that we will not take any of the following actions without the approval of Enbridge Energy Company;

amend Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement;

allow a merger or consolidation involving Enbridge Partners;

allow a sale or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of Enbridge Partners; or

dissolve or liquidate Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Energy Company:

is not relieved of any responsibilities or obligations to Enbridge Partners or its unitholders as a result of such delegation;

will own (or one of its affiliates will own) all of our voting shares; and

has agreed not to withdraw as general partner of Enbridge Partners .

Enbridge Partners will:

recognize the delegation of rights and powers to us;

indemnify and protect us and our officers and directors to the same extent as it does with respect to Enbridge Energy Company as general partner; and

reimburse our expenses to the same extent as it does with respect to Enbridge Energy Company as general partner.

The delegation of control agreement with Enbridge Energy Company will continue until the earlier to occur of such time as Enbridge Energy Company has withdrawn or been removed as the general partner of Enbridge Partners or termination of the delegation of control agreement shall have been approved by Enbridge Energy Company, us and holders (other than Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates) of a majority of the outstanding shares (excluding those owned by Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates). The partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners will be amended to reflect these agreements. These agreements also will apply to the direct and indirect subsidiaries of Enbridge Partners and their partnership and other organizational agreements will be amended accordingly.

Enbridge Energy Company will remain the only general partner of Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Energy Company will retain its general partner interest and share in the profits, losses and distributions from Enbridge Partners.

The withdrawal or removal of Enbridge Energy Company as general partner of Enbridge Partners will simultaneously result in the termination of our power and authority to manage and control the business and affairs of Enbridge Partners. Similarly, if Enbridge Energy Company's power and authority as general partner are modified in the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners, then the power and authority delegated to us will be modified on the same basis. The delegation of control agreement can be amended by all parties to the agreement, but on any amendment that would reduce the time for any notice to which owners of our shares are entitled or would have a material adverse effect on the shares, as determined by our board of directors in its

discretion, the approval of the owners of a majority of the shares, excluding shares owned by Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates, is required.

Contribution Agreement

Pursuant to the contribution agreement, Enbridge Energy Company will, following the mergers and conversions described under "Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems," contribute Enbridge Midcoast Energy and its subsidiaries that own the acquired systems to Enbridge Partners. The contribution agreement contains customary representations and warranties of Enbridge Energy Company.

Enbridge Energy Company has agreed to indemnify Enbridge Partners and other related persons for liabilities arising from breaches of its representations, warranties and covenants contained in the contribution agreement and some of the liabilities related to the systems that are not being assumed by Enbridge Partners, including certain liabilities that arose prior to the closing of the acquisition. In general, Enbridge Energy Company will not be required to indemnify Enbridge Partners under the contribution agreement until the aggregate liabilities exceed \$20 million and Enbridge Energy Company's aggregate liability under the contribution agreement may not exceed, with certain limited exceptions, \$150 million. Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Midcoast Energy have agreed to indemnify Enbridge Energy Company and other related persons for liabilities arising after the closing of the acquisition and liabilities arising from breaches of its representations, warranties and covenants contained in the contribution agreement and, subject to Enbridge Energy Company's indemnities, certain other liabilities associated with the acquired systems, whether arising prior to or after the closing of the acquisition.

Amendments to Non-Competition and Service Agreements

Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Energy Company and Enbridge Inc. and certain of its affiliates are parties to a non-competition agreement and several services agreements that govern, among other things:

potential competition among Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries on the one hand, and Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries, other than Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries, on the other hand;

the provision of various services and personnel by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates to Enbridge Energy Company in connection with its management of Enbridge Partners' business and affairs, including services and personnel relating to:

administrative and executive matters,

accounting and purchasing,

legal services,

information systems,

environmental and safety consulting,

public relations, and

tax planning,

the provision of various types of engineering and operational support services by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates to Enbridge Energy Company in connection with its management of the operation and maintenance of Enbridge Partners' pipeline systems; and

the transportation and delivery of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbons from the Enbridge system to the Lakehead system and from the Lakehead system to the Enbridge system.

129

For a description of the provisions relating to potential competition among Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries, on the one hand, and Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries, other than Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries, on the other hand, please read "Conflicts of Interest and Fiduciary Responsibilities Situations in which a Conflict of Interest Could Arise Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates may compete with Enbridge Partners."

In connection with the delegation to us by Enbridge Energy Company of substantially all of the management and control of Enbridge Partners, each of these agreements will be amended to include us as a party. In managing and controlling Enbridge Partners' business and affairs, we will utilize and rely on the services and personnel provided by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates under these agreements, who will act on our behalf, to the same extent as Enbridge Energy Company prior to its delegation of management and control to us.

In some cases, we will reimburse Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates for the actual amount of direct and indirect expenses they incur and payments they make on behalf of us in connection with the services and personnel provided to us under these agreements. In other cases, we will be allocated an agreed percentage of Enbridge Inc.'s total expenses on a consolidated basis with respect to a particular type of service provided by Enbridge Inc. to all of its affiliates, including us. In either case, Enbridge Partners ultimately will pay directly or reimburse us for any amounts we incur under these agreements.

In connection with the agreement regarding transportation and delivery of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbons between the Enbridge and Lakehead systems, Enbridge Inc. will be permitted to invoice directly each shipper whose crude oil and liquid hydrocarbons are transported through the Enbridge system from the Lakehead system, and we will be permitted to invoice directly each shipper whose crude oil and liquid hydrocarbons are transported through the Lakehead system from the Enbridge system.

These agreements generally will provide that Enbridge Inc. will indemnify us for any losses and defend us against any claims as a result of its negligence in connection with providing or failing to provide the agreed services to us. These agreements generally will also provide that we will indemnify Enbridge Inc. for any losses and defend Enbridge Inc. against any claims as a result of our obtaining the agreed services from Enbridge Inc.

Use of Proceeds to Retire Enbridge Midcoast Energy Debt

As discussed under "Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems," Enbridge Partners has agreed to acquire the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems from Enbridge Energy Company.

The consideration to be received by Enbridge Energy Company for the contribution of the acquired systems is \$929.1 million. Enbridge Partners will fund this consideration through the assumption of \$900.0 million in debt related to these systems, payment of \$18.7 million in cash and issuance of an additional \$10.4 million equity interest in Enbridge Partners. This additional equity interest will satisfy Enbridge Energy Company's obligation to maintain its 2% general partner interest in Enbridge Partners, primarily related to the issuance of i-units to us. The cash portion of the purchase price will be funded by Enbridge Partners by borrowings under its existing credit facility or from affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The debt to be assumed by Enbridge Partners is owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. The purchase price is subject to adjustment at closing for working capital, capital expenditures and other items.

One of the conditions of the closing of this offering will be the successful closing of the acquisition of the acquired systems.

Enbridge Partners will use the proceeds it receives from the sale of i-units to us to repay a portion of the debt owed to affiliates of Enbridge Inc. that it will assume in connection with the acquisition.

130

Tax Indemnification Agreement and Purchase Agreement

We have entered into the tax indemnification agreement and the purchase agreement with Enbridge Inc. that are described under "Description of Our Shares."

Additional Matters

Conflicts of interest may arise because of the relationship between Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Energy Company and us. Our directors and officers have fiduciary duties to manage our business in a manner beneficial to us and to the holders of our shares. However, these fiduciary duties have been limited pursuant to the terms of our limited liability company agreement. Simultaneously, some of our managers and officers are also directors and officers of Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Energy Company and have fiduciary duties to manage the business of Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Energy Company and Enbridge Partners in a manner beneficial to Enbridge Inc. and its shareholders or Enbridge

Energy Company, Enbridge Partners and their respective shareholders or unitholders as the case may be. The resolution of these conflicts may not always be in our best interest or in the interest of the holders of our shares.

Enbridge Energy Company owns the one outstanding voting share eligible to elect our directors. For more information regarding voting rights, please read "Description of Our Shares" Limited Voting Rights."

131

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES

Conflicts of Interest

Enbridge Inc. indirectly owns all of the outstanding capital stock, and elects all of the directors, of Enbridge Energy Company, the general partner of Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Energy Company owns the initial outstanding share of our voting stock and elects all of our directors. Enbridge Inc. has a number of interests that differ from those of our shareholders. As a result, there is a risk that important business decisions will not be made in your best interest.

Situations in which a Conflict of Interest Could Arise

We and Enbridge Partners may compete for the time and effort of our directors and officers who are also directors and officers of Enbridge Inc.

Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates conduct business and activities of their own in which we have no economic interest. There could be material competition for the time and effort of the directors, officers and employees who provide services to us and Enbridge Partners on the one hand, and Enbridge Inc. on the other hand. Our officers are not required to work full time on our affairs or the affairs of Enbridge Partners and may devote significant time to the affairs of Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates.

Enbridge Inc. may sell assets or provide services to Enbridge Partners, giving rise to conflicts of interest.

Enbridge Inc.'s interest as a seller of assets or provider of services in transactions involving Enbridge Partners would conflict with Enbridge Partners' interests as a buyer of these assets or recipient of these services. Enbridge Inc. would want to receive the highest possible price and Enbridge Partners would want to pay the lowest possible price. The same type of conflict would arise if Enbridge Partners were the seller of services or assets and Enbridge Inc. were the purchaser. The acquisition by Enbridge Partners of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas systems is an example of such a transaction with Enbridge Inc. A committee of independent, outside directors of the board of directors of Enbridge Energy Company negotiated the purchase price and terms of the acquisition on behalf of Enbridge Partners and recommended that the full board of directors of the general partner approve the acquisition.

The fiduciary duties of our board of directors to our shareholders and of our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners to the unitholders have been limited under our limited liability company agreement and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement.

Under the delegation of control agreement, the general partner of Enbridge Partners will delegate to us substantially all of its management and control of Enbridge Partners. As a result of this delegation of control, our board of directors could be held to have fiduciary duties similar to the general partner of Enbridge Partners. However, our limited liability company agreement and the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement limit the fiduciary duties of our board of directors and of the general partner of Enbridge Partners. This limitation reduces the rights of our shareholders under our limited liability company agreement and the unitholders under the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement to sue our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners should either of them act in a way that, were it not for this limitation of liability, would be a breach of fiduciary duties.

Owners of the shares will have no right to enforce obligations of Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates under agreements with us.

Any agreements between us and Enbridge Partners, on the one hand, and Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, on the other hand, will not grant to holders of our shares any right to enforce the obligations of Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates in our or Enbridge Partners' favor.

Contracts between us and Enbridge Partners, on the one hand, and Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, on the other, will not be the result of arm's-length negotiations.

Neither the limited liability company agreement nor any of the other contracts or arrangements between us and Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates are or will be the result of arm's-length negotiations.

The similarity of the acquisition strategy of Enbridge Inc. to the strategy of Enbridge Partners creates conflicts of interest.

Because Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Partners plan to grow their businesses through acquisitions, conflicts of interest may arise because, as further discussed in the following paragraph, Enbridge Inc. is not prohibited from making acquisitions which also would be of interest to Enbridge Partners. Therefore, regardless of any arrangement for sharing or allocating investment opportunities which may be established between them, this conflict may result in Enbridge Partners being unable to make all of the favorable acquisitions it would otherwise make.

Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates may compete with Enbridge Partners.

Enbridge Inc. has agreed with Enbridge Partners that, so long as an affiliate of Enbridge Inc. is the general partner of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries may not engage in or acquire any business that is in direct material competition with the businesses of Enbridge Partners as such businesses existed at the time of Enbridge Partners' initial public offering in December 1991, subject to the following material exceptions:

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not restricted from continuing to engage in businesses, including the normal development of such businesses, in which they were engaged at the time of Enbridge Partners' initial public offering in December 1991:

such restriction is limited geographically only to those routes and products for which Enbridge Partners provided transportation at the time of Enbridge Partners' initial public offering;

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not prohibited from acquiring any competitive business as part of a larger acquisition, so long as the majority of the value of the business or assets acquired, in Enbridge Inc.'s reasonable judgment, is not attributable to the competitive business; and

Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not prohibited from acquiring any competitive business if that business is first offered for acquisition to Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Partners fails to approve, after submission to a vote of unitholders, the making of the acquisition.

Because Enbridge Partners was not engaged in any aspect of the natural gas business at the time of its initial public offering, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries are not restricted from competing with Enbridge Partners in all aspects of the natural gas business. In addition, Enbridge Inc. and its subsidiaries would be permitted to transport crude oil and liquid petroleum over routes that are not the same as the Lakehead system even if such transportation is in direct material competition with the business of Enbridge Partners.

This agreement also expressly permitted the reversal by Enbridge Inc. in 1999 of one of its pipelines that extends from Sarnia, Ontario to Montreal, Quebec. As a result of this reversal, Enbridge Inc. competes with Enbridge Partners to supply crude oil to the Ontario, Canada market. This competition from Enbridge has reduced Enbrige Partners' deliveries of crude oil to the Province of Ontario.

133

There could be a conflict as to whether we or Enbridge Partners should issue equity diluting Enbridge Inc.'s ownership.

It may be in the best interests of Enbridge Partners to finance a transaction or operation by means of the issuance of equity that would result in a reduction of Enbridge Inc.'s percentage ownership of us or Enbridge Partners. Enbridge Inc. may not find it in its interest to have its percentage interest in us or Enbridge Partners reduced at that time. Because it ultimately controls us and the general partner of Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. also makes the determination as to whether we or Enbridge Partners will issue additional equity. This could result in Enbridge Partners either having to forego a transaction that would otherwise be beneficial to it or to finance the transaction or operations in whole or in part by indebtedness that could increase its leverage.

Enbridge Inc. may exercise its purchase rights at a time or price that may be undesirable to you.

Enbridge Inc. or its affiliates may exercise its optional purchase rights to acquire your shares at any time in its sole discretion after the conditions for such exercise have been satisfied. In exercising the rights, Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates do not have to consider whether the exercise is in your best interest. As a result, Enbridge Inc. may purchase your shares at a time or price that you find undesirable. For more information, please read "Description of Our Shares" Optional Purchase."

Fiduciary Duties Owed to Our Shareholders and to the Owners of Units

The fiduciary duties owed to you by our board of directors are prescribed by Delaware law and our limited liability company agreement. Similarly, the fiduciary duties owed to the owners of units of Enbridge Partners by the general partner of Enbridge Partners and its board of directors are prescribed by Delaware law and Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement. Also, as a result of the delegation of control of Enbridge Partners to us by the general partner of Enbridge Partners, our board of directors could be held to have fiduciary duties similar to the general partner of Enbridge Partners. The Delaware Limited Liability Company Act and the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act provide that Delaware limited liability companies and Delaware limited partnerships, respectively, may, in their limited liability company agreements and partnership agreements, as applicable, restrict the fiduciary duties owed by their boards of directors to their shareholders and by their general partner to their limited partners.

Our limited liability company agreement and the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement contain various provisions restricting the fiduciary duties that might otherwise be owed. The following is a summary of the material restrictions of the fiduciary duties owed by our board of directors to our shareholders and by our board of directors and the general partner of Enbridge Partners to the limited partners of Enbridge Partners. Any fiduciary duties owed to our shareholders by Enbridge Inc. and its affiliates, as the beneficial owner of all our voting shares, are similarly restricted or eliminated. These limited fiduciary duties are very different from the more familiar duties of a corporate board of directors, which must always act in the best interests of the corporation and its stockholders.

134

State-law fiduciary duty standards

Fiduciary duties generally are considered to include an obligation to act with due care and loyalty. The duty of care, unless the limited liability company agreement or partnership agreement provides otherwise, generally would require a manager, director or general partner to act for the limited liability company or limited partnership, as applicable, in the same manner as a prudent person would act on his own behalf. The duty of loyalty, in the absence of a provision in a limited liability company agreement or partnership agreement providing otherwise, generally would prohibit a manager or director of a Delaware limited liability company or a general partner of a Delaware limited partnership from taking any action or engaging in any transaction where a conflict of interest is present.

Our limited liability company agreement modifies these standards

Our limited liability company agreement contains provisions that prohibit shareholders from advancing claims arising from conduct by our board of directors that might otherwise raise issues as to compliance with fiduciary duties or applicable law. For example, our limited liability company agreement permits our board of directors to make a number of decisions in its "sole discretion." This entitles our board of directors to consider only the interests and factors that it desires, and it has no duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or any shareholder.

Enbridge Inc., its affiliates, and their officers and directors who are also our officers or directors are not required to offer to us any business opportunity.

In addition to the other more specific provisions limiting the obligations of our board of directors, our limited liability company agreement further provides that our board of directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us or our shareholders for any acts or omissions if our board of directors acted in good faith. Please read "Limited Liability Company Agreement Exculpation and Indemnification."

Enbridge Partners' partnership agreement modifies these standards

The general partner of Enbridge Partners, pursuant to the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners, and our board of directors, by virtue of the delegation of control to us by the general partner, are permitted to attempt to avoid personal liability in connection with the management of Enbridge Partners. The partnership agreement provides that the general partner does not breach its fiduciary duty even if the partnership could have obtained more favorable terms without limitations on the general partner's liability.

135

The partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners contains provisions that allow the general partner and by virtue of the delegation of control agreements, our board of directors, to take into account the interests of parties in addition to Enbridge Partners in resolving conflicts of interest, thereby limiting their fiduciary duties to the limited partners. Also, the partnership agreement contains provisions that may restrict the remedies available to limited partners for actions taken that might, without such limitations, constitute breaches of fiduciary duties. Because some of our directors and officers are also directors and officers of Enbridge Inc. and the general partner of Enbridge Partners, the duties of the directors and officers of Enbridge Inc. to the shareholders of Enbridge Inc. may, therefore, come into conflict with the duties of the general partner and our board of directors, to the limited partners and the duties of our board of directors to our shareholders.

By becoming one of our shareholders, a shareholder agrees to be bound by the provisions in the limited liability company agreement, including the provisions discussed above. This is in accordance with the policy of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act favoring the principle of freedom of contract and the enforceability of limited liability company agreements. It is not necessary for a shareholder to sign the limited liability company agreement in order for the limited liability company agreement to be enforceable against that person.

136

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to this offering there has been no public market for or holders of our shares, and no predictions can be made regarding the effect, if any, that market sales of shares or the availability of shares for sale will have on the market price prevailing from time to time.

The shares sold in the offering generally will be freely transferable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act of 1933, except that any shares owned by an "affiliate" of our company, including Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Energy Company, may not be resold publicly other than in compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 or under an exemption under Rule 144 or otherwise. Rule 144 permits securities acquired by an affiliate of the issuer to be sold into the market in an amount that does not exceed, during any three-month period, the greater of:

1% of the total number of the securities outstanding; or

the average weekly reported trading volume of the securities for the four calendar weeks prior to the sale.

Sales under Rule 144 also are subject to specific manner of sale provisions, notice requirements and the availability of current public information about us.

Enbridge Energy Company and its affiliates have agreed not to sell any shares they beneficially own for a period of 180 days from the date of this prospectus. Please read "Underwriting" for a description of these lock-up provisions.

137

MATERIAL TAX CONSEQUENCES

This section is a summary of material U.S. federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to prospective owners of shares and, unless otherwise noted in the following discussion, is the opinion of our counsel, Vinson & Elkins L.L.P., insofar as it relates to matters of U.S. federal income tax law and legal conclusions with respect to those matters. This section is based upon current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, existing and proposed regulations and current administrative rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to change. Later changes in these authorities may cause the tax consequences to vary substantially from the consequences described below.

No attempt has been made in the following discussion to address all U.S. federal income tax matters affecting us, Enbridge Partners or the owners of shares. Moreover, the discussion does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be relevant to certain types of investors subject to specialized tax treatment, such as non-U.S. persons, financial institutions, insurance companies, real estate investment trusts, estates, trusts, dealers and persons entering into hedging transactions. Accordingly, we urge each prospective owner of shares to consult, and depend on, his own tax advisor in analyzing the U.S. federal, state, local tax and foreign tax consequences particular to him of the ownership or disposition of shares.

Legal Opinions

All statements as to matters of law and legal conclusions, but not as to factual matters, contained in this section, unless otherwise noted, are the opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. and are based on the accuracy of the representations made by us and, where applicable, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Energy Company, its general partner.

No ruling has been or will be requested from the IRS regarding any matter affecting us or prospective owners of shares. The opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. represents only that firm's best legal judgment and does not bind the IRS or the courts. Accordingly, the opinions and statements made here may not be sustained by a court if contested by the IRS. In addition, any contest of this sort with the IRS may materially and adversely impact the market for shares and the prices at which shares trade. The cost of any contest with the IRS will be borne directly or indirectly by us and the owners of shares. Furthermore, the tax treatment of us or Enbridge Partners or of an investment in us or Enbridge Partners may be significantly modified by future legislative or administrative changes or court decisions. Any modification may or may not be retroactively applied.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the Ownership and Disposition of Shares

Enbridge Management Status as a Corporation for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes

An election has been made with the IRS to treat us as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Thus, we are subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at tax rates up to 35%. Additionally, in certain instances we could be subject to the alternative minimum tax of 20% on our alternative minimum taxable income to the extent that the alternative minimum tax exceeds our regular tax.

The terms of the i-units provide that the i-units owned by us are not entitled to allocations of income, gain, loss or deduction of Enbridge Partners until such time as it is liquidated. Thus, we do not anticipate that we will have material amounts of either taxable income or alternative minimum taxable income resulting from our ownership of the i-units unless we dispose of the i-units in a taxable transaction or Enbridge Partners is liquidated. Please read " U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the Ownership of i-Units."

138

No Flow-Through of Our Taxable Income. Because we are treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, an owner of shares will not report on its U.S. federal income tax return any of our items of income, gain, loss and deduction.

Distributions of Additional Shares. Under the terms of our limited liability company agreement, except in connection with our liquidation, we will not make distributions of cash in respect of shares but rather will make distributions of additional shares. Because these distributions of additional shares will be made proportionately to all owners of shares, the receipt of these additional shares will not be includable in the gross income of an owner of shares for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As each owner of shares receives additional shares, it will be required to allocate its basis in its shares in the manner described below. Please read "Basis of Shares."

Basis of Shares. An owner's initial tax basis for its shares will be the amount paid for them. As additional shares are distributed to an owner of shares, it will be required to allocate its tax basis in its shares equally between the old shares and the new shares received. If the old shares were acquired for different prices, and the owner can identify each separate lot, then the basis of each old lot of shares can be used separately in the allocation to the new shares received with respect to the identified old lot. If an owner of shares cannot identify each lot, then it must use the first-in first-out tracing approach. A shareholder cannot use the average cost for all lots for this purpose.

Disposition of Shares. Gain or loss will be recognized on a sale or other disposition of shares, whether to a third party or to Enbridge Inc. pursuant to the purchase provisions or in connection with the liquidation of us, equal to the difference between the amount realized and the owner's tax basis for the shares sold or otherwise disposed of. An owner's amount realized will be measured by the sum of the cash and the fair market value of other property received by it.

Except as noted below, gain or loss recognized by an owner of shares, other than a "dealer" in shares, on the sale or exchange of a share generally will be taxable as capital gain or loss. Capital gain recognized by an individual on the sale of shares held more than 12 months generally will be taxed at a maximum rate of 20%, subject to the discussion below relating to straddles. Capital gain recognized by a corporation on the sale of shares generally will be taxed at a maximum rate of 35%. Net capital loss may offset capital gains and no more than \$3,000 of ordinary income, in the case of individuals, and may only be used to offset capital gains in the case of corporations.

Capital gain treatment may not result from a sale of shares to Enbridge Inc. for cash if a single shareholder of us or our shareholders as a group own 50% or more of the stock of Enbridge Inc. In that case, if either we or Enbridge Inc. has earnings and profits, then the amount received by a seller of shares may be taxed as ordinary income to the extent of its portion of those earnings and profits, but only if the seller sells less than all of its shares or is a shareholder of Enbridge Inc. after applying the ownership attribution rules.

For purposes of determining whether capital gains or losses on the disposition of shares are long or short term, subject to the discussion below relating to straddles, an owner's holding period begins on its acquisition of shares pursuant to this offering. As additional shares are distributed to the owner, the holding period of each new share received also will include the period for which the owner held the old shares to which the new share relates.

Because the purchase rights in respect of the shares arise as a result of an agreement other than solely with us, these rights do not appear to constitute inherent features of the shares for tax purposes. Please read "Description of Our Shares" Optional Purchase" and "Description of Our Shares" Mandatory Purchase." As such, it is possible that the IRS would assert that shares and

139

the related purchase rights constitute a straddle for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent that those rights are viewed as resulting in a substantial diminution of a share purchaser's risk of loss from owning its shares. In that case, any owner of shares who incurs interest or other carrying charges that are allocable to the shares (as would be the case if the owner finances its acquisition of shares with debt) would have to capitalize those interest or carrying charges to the basis of the related shares and purchase rights rather than deducting those interest or carrying charges currently. In addition, the holding period of the shares would be suspended, resulting in short-term capital gain or loss (generally taxed at ordinary income rates) upon a taxable disposition even if the shares were held for more than 12 months. However, we believe that the purchase rights have minimal value and do not result in a substantial diminution of a share purchaser's risk of loss from owning shares. Based on that, the shares and the related purchase rights should not constitute a straddle for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore should not result in any suspension of an owner's holding period or interest and carrying charge capitalization, although there can be no assurance that the IRS or the courts would agree with this conclusion.

Investment in Shares by Tax-Exempt Investors, Regulated Investment Companies and Non-U.S. Persons. Employee benefit plans and most other organizations exempt from U.S. federal income tax, including individual retirement accounts, known as IRAs, and other retirement plans, are subject to U.S. federal income tax on unrelated business taxable income. Because we will be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, an owner of shares will not report on its U.S. federal income tax return any of our items of income, gain, loss and

deduction. Therefore, a tax-exempt investor will not have unrelated business taxable income attributable to its ownership or sale of our shares unless its ownership of the shares is debt financed. In general, a share would be debt financed if the tax-exempt owner of shares incurs debt to acquire a share or otherwise incurs or maintains a debt that would not have been incurred or maintained if that share had not been acquired.

A regulated investment company, or "mutual fund," is required to derive at least 90% of its gross income for every taxable year from qualifying income. As stated above, an owner of shares will not report on its U.S. federal income tax return any of our items of income, gain, loss and deduction. Thus, ownership of shares will not result in income which is not qualifying income to a mutual fund. Furthermore, any gain from the sale or other disposition of the shares, and the associated purchase rights, will qualify for purposes of that 90% test. Finally, shares, and the associated purchase rights, will constitute qualifying assets to mutual funds which also must own at least 50% qualifying assets at the end of each quarter.

Because distributions of additional shares will be made proportionately to all owners of shares, the receipt of these additional shares will not be includable in the gross income of an owner of shares for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, no withholding taxes will be imposed on distributions of additional shares to non-resident aliens and foreign corporations, trust or estates. A non-U.S. owner of shares generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax or subject to withholding on any gain recognized on the sale or other disposition of shares unless:

the gain is considered effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business by the non-U.S. owner within the U.S. and, where a tax treaty applies, is attributable to a U.S. permanent establishment of that owner (and, in which case, if the owner is a foreign corporation, it may be subject to an additional branch profits tax equal to 30% or a lower rate as may be specified by an applicable income tax treaty);

the non-U.S. owner is an individual who holds the shares as a capital asset and is present in the U.S. for 183 or more days in the taxable year of the sale or other disposition and other conditions are met; or

140

we are or have been a "United States real property holding corporation," or a USRPHC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we are a USRPHC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Therefore, any gain on the sale or other disposition of shares by a non-U.S. owner will be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless the shares are regularly traded on an established securities market and the non-U.S. owner has not actually or constructively held more than 5% of the shares at any time during the shorter of the five-year period preceding the disposition and that owner's holding period. We expect our shares to be traded on an established securities market.

Merger of Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Management. As discussed under "Limited Liability Company Agreement Merger," if Enbridge Partners were to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, the owner of our voting shares could cause us to merge into Enbridge Partners or one of its subsidiaries provided that the merger is currently non-taxable to our shareholders based upon an opinion of counsel or a ruling from the IRS. In such event, you would receive common units or other securities substantially similar to the common units in exchange for your shares in a transaction in which neither gain nor loss is recognized.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations Associated with the Ownership of i-Units

A partnership is not a taxable entity and incurs no U.S. federal income tax liability. Instead, each partner of a partnership is required to take into account its share of items of income, gain, loss and deduction of the partnership in computing its U.S. federal income tax liability, regardless of whether cash distributions are made to it by the partnership. Distributions by a partnership to a partner generally are not taxable unless the amount of cash distributed to the partner is in excess of its adjusted basis in its partnership interest.

With respect to the i-units to be owned by us, the Enbridge Partners partnership agreement provides that no allocations of income, gain, loss or deduction will be made in respect of the i-units until such time as there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners. If there is a liquidation of Enbridge Partners, it is intended that we will receive allocations of income and gain, or deduction and loss, in an amount necessary for the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit. The aggregate capital account of our i-units will not be increased as a result of our ownership of additional i-units. Thus, each additional i-unit we own after a cash distribution to other unitholders generally will represent the right to receive additional allocations of such income and gain, or deduction and loss on the liquidation of Enbridge Partners. As a result, we likely would realize taxable income or loss upon the liquidation of Enbridge Partners. However, no assurance can be given that there

will be sufficient amounts of income and gain to cause the capital account attributable to each i-unit to be equal to that of a common unit. If they are not equal, we will receive less value than would be received by a holder of common units upon such a liquidation. We also likely would realize taxable income or loss upon any sale or other disposition of our i-units.

The anticipated benefit of an investment in our shares depends largely on the treatment of Enbridge Partners as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. No ruling has been or will be sought from the IRS and the IRS has made no determination as to Enbridge Partners' status or the status of its operating partnerships as partnerships or disregarded entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes or whether Enbridge Partners' operations generate "qualifying income" under Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code. Instead, we will rely on the opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. that, based upon the Internal Revenue Code, its regulations, published revenue rulings and court decisions and the representations described below, Enbridge Partners and its operating partnerships have been and will be treated as partnerships or disregarded entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

141

Treasury Regulations pertaining to the classification of entities such as Enbridge Partners as partnerships or corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes were significantly revised effective January 1, 1997. Pursuant to these revised Treasury Regulations, known as the "check-the-box" regulations, entities organized as limited partnerships under domestic partnership statutes are treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless they elect to be treated as corporations. Domestic limited partnerships in existence prior to 1997 and classified as partnerships as of December 31, 1996, under the prior Treasury Regulations, would continue to be classified as partnerships after 1996 unless they elected another form of classification under the check-the-box regulations. Neither Enbridge Partners nor any of its operating partnerships has elected to be treated as a corporation under the check-the-box regulations, and Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. is of the opinion that Enbridge Partners and its operating partnerships each were treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes on and before December 31, 1996, under the prior Treasury Regulations, and subsequently have been and will be treated as partnerships or disregarded entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In rendering its opinion, Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. has relied on factual representations made by us, Enbridge Partners and its general partner. The representations made by us, Enbridge Partners and its general partner upon which Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. has relied are:

neither Enbridge Partners nor its operating partnerships have elected or will elect to be treated as a corporation;

prior to January 1, 1997, (i) Enbridge Partners and each operating partnership were operated in accordance with applicable state partnership statutes, their respective partnership agreements and the statements and representations made in this prospectus, and (ii) the general partner of Enbridge Partners and each operating partnership, at all times while acting as general partner, had a substantial net worth on a fair market value basis (excluding any interest in, or receivables due from, Enbridge Partners and each operating partnership).

for each taxable year, more than 90% of Enbridge Partners' gross income has been and will be income from sources that Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. has opined or will opine is "qualifying income" within the meaning of Section 7704(d) of the Internal Revenue Code; and

each hedging transaction treated as resulting in "qualifying income" by Enbridge Partners will be accurately identified as a hedging transaction pursuant to applicable Treasury regulations, and will be associated with oil, gas or products thereof that are held or to be held by Enbridge Partners in activities that Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. has opined or will opine result in qualifying income.

Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that publicly-traded partnerships will, as a general rule, be taxed as corporations. However, an exception, referred to as the "Qualifying Income Exception," exists with respect to publicly-traded partnerships of which 90% or more of the gross income for every taxable year consists of "qualifying income." Qualifying income includes income and gains derived from the marketing, transportation, storage and processing of crude oil, natural gas and products thereof. Other types of qualifying income include interest other than from a financial business, dividends, gains from the sale of real property and gains from the sale or other disposition of assets held for the production of income that otherwise constitutes qualifying income. Enbridge Partners estimates that less than % of its current gross income is not qualifying income; however, this estimate could change from time to time. Based upon and subject to this estimate, the factual representations made by us, Enbridge Partners and its general partner and a review of the applicable legal authorities, Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. is of the opinion that at least 90% of Enbridge Partners' current gross income constitutes qualifying income.

If Enbridge Partners fails to meet the Qualifying Income Exception, other than a failure which is determined by the IRS to be inadvertent and which is cured within a reasonable time after discovery, Enbridge Partners will be treated as if it had transferred all of its assets, subject to liabilities, to a newly formed corporation, on the first day of the year in which it fails to meet the Qualifying Income Exception, in return for stock in that corporation and then distributed that stock to the unitholders in liquidation of their interests in Enbridge Partners. This contribution and liquidation should be tax-free to unitholders and Enbridge Partners so long as Enbridge Partners, at that time, does not have liabilities in excess of the tax basis of its assets. Thereafter, Enbridge Partners would be treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

If Enbridge Partners were treated as a corporation in any taxable year, either as a result of a failure to meet the Qualifying Income Exception or otherwise, its items of income, gain, loss and deduction would be reflected only on its tax return rather than being passed through to its unitholders, and its net income would be taxed to it at corporate rates. Our ownership of additional i-units after each quarterly distribution of cash to common unitholders generally would be taxed as a corporate distribution to us, with that distribution treated as either taxable dividend income, to the extent of Enbridge Partners' current or accumulated earnings and profits, or, in the absence of earnings and profits, a nontaxable return of capital, to the extent of our tax basis in our i-units, or taxable capital gain, after our tax basis in our i-units is reduced to zero. Because a tax would be imposed upon Enbridge Partners as a corporation, the cash available for distribution to a common unitholder would be substantially reduced, which would reduce the value of additional i-units we own after a distribution of cash is made to other unitholders and the value of our shares distributed quarterly to you. Accordingly, Enbridge Partners' treatment as a corporation would result in a substantial reduction of the value of our shares.

143

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of material considerations arising under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, commonly known as "ERISA," and the prohibited transaction provisions of section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code that may be relevant to a prospective purchaser of our shares. The discussion does not purport to deal with all aspects of ERISA or section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code that may be relevant to particular shareholders in light of their particular circumstances.

We base this discussion on current provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code, existing and currently proposed regulations under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code, the legislative history of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code, existing administrative rulings of the Department of Labor, or "DOL," and reported judicial decisions. No assurance can be given that legislative, judicial or administrative changes will not affect the accuracy of any statements herein with respect to transactions entered into or contemplated prior to the effective date of such changes.

A fiduciary making a decision to invest in our shares on behalf of a prospective purchaser that is an employee benefit plan, a tax-qualified retirement plan or an IRA is advised to consult with its own legal advisor regarding the specific considerations arising under ERISA, section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code and state law with respect to the purchase, ownership, sale or exchange of our shares by such plan or IRA.

Each fiduciary of a pension, profit-sharing or other employee benefit plan, known as an "ERISA Plan," subject to Title I of ERISA should consider carefully whether an investment in our shares is consistent with its fiduciary responsibilities under ERISA. In particular, the fiduciary requirements of Part 4 of Title I of ERISA require an ERISA Plan's investments to be (1) prudent and in the best interests of the ERISA Plan, its participants and its beneficiaries, (2) diversified in order to minimize the risk of large losses, unless it is clearly prudent not to do so and (3) authorized under the terms of the ERISA Plan's governing documents (provided the documents are consistent with ERISA). In determining whether an investment in the shares is prudent for purposes of ERISA, the appropriate fiduciary of an ERISA Plan should consider all of the facts and circumstances, including whether the investment is reasonably designed, as a part of the ERISA Plan's portfolio for which the fiduciary has investment responsibility, to meet the objectives of the ERISA Plan, taking into consideration the risk of loss and opportunity for gain (or other return) from the investment, the diversification, cash flow and funding requirements of the ERISA Plan's portfolio.

The fiduciary of an individual retirement account, commonly called an "IRA," or of a qualified retirement plan not subject to Title I of ERISA because it is a governmental or church plan or because it does not cover common law employees (a "Non-ERISA Plan") should consider

that such an IRA or Non-ERISA Plan may only make investments that are authorized by the appropriate governing documents and under applicable state law.

Fiduciaries of ERISA Plans and persons making the investment decision for an IRA or other Non-ERISA Plan should consider the application of the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code in making their investment decision. A "party in interest" or "disqualified person" with respect to an ERISA Plan or with respect to a Non-ERISA Plan or IRA subject to Internal Revenue Code section 4975 is subject to (1) an initial 15% excise tax on the amount involved in any prohibited transaction involving the assets of the plan or IRA and (2) an excise tax equal to 100% of the amount involved if any prohibited transaction is not corrected. If the disqualified person who engages in the transaction is the individual on behalf of whom an IRA is maintained (or his beneficiary), the IRA will lose its tax-exempt status and its assets will be deemed to have been distributed to such individual in a taxable distribution (and no excise tax will be imposed) on account of the prohibited transaction. In addition, a fiduciary who permits an ERISA

144

Plan to engage in a transaction that the fiduciary knows or should know is a prohibited transaction may be liable to the ERISA Plan for any loss the ERISA Plan incurs as a result of the transaction or for any profits earned by the fiduciary in the transaction.

The following section discusses certain principles that apply in determining whether the fiduciary requirements of ERISA and the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code apply to an entity because one or more investors in the equity interests in the entity is an ERISA Plan or is a Non-ERISA Plan or IRA subject to section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code. An ERISA Plan fiduciary should also consider the relevance of those principles to ERISA's prohibition on improper delegation of control over or responsibility for "plan assets" and ERISA's imposition of co-fiduciary liability who participates in, permits (by action or inaction) the occurrence of or fails to remedy a known breach by another fiduciary.

Regulations of the DOL defining "plan assets," known as the "Plan Asset Regulations," generally provide that when an ERISA Plan or Non-ERISA Plan or IRA acquires a security that is an equity interest in an entity and the security is neither a "publicly-offered security" nor a security issued by an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, the ERISA or Non-ERISA Plan's or IRA's assets include both the equity interest and an undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the issuer of such equity interest, unless one or more -exceptions specified in the Plan Asset Regulations are satisfied.

The Plan Asset Regulations define a publicly-offered security as a security that is "widely-held," "freely transferable," and either part of a class of securities registered under the Exchange Act, or sold pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, provided the securities are registered under the Exchange Act within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year of the issuer during which the offering occurred. The Plan Asset Regulations provide that a security is "widely held" only if it is part of a class of securities that is owned by 100 or more investors independent of the issuer and of one another. A security will not fail to be widely held because the number of independent investors falls below 100 subsequent to the initial public offering as a result of events beyond the issuer's control. The Plan Asset Regulations provide that whether a security is "freely transferable" is a factual question to be determined on the basis of all relevant facts and circumstances.

We anticipate that our shares will meet the criteria of publicly offered securities under the Plan Asset Regulations. The underwriters expect (although no assurance can be given) that our shares will be held beneficially by more than 100 independent persons by the conclusion of the offering, that no restrictions will be imposed on the transfer of the shares and that the shares will be sold as part of an offering pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933. As a result, the shares will be timely registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

145

UNDERWRITING

We and the underwriters named below have entered into an underwriting agreement with respect to the shares being offered. Subject to certain conditions, each underwriter has severally agreed to purchase the number of shares indicated in the following table. Goldman, Sachs & Co., is the representative of the underwriters.

Underwriters	Number of Shares
Goldman, Sachs & Co.	
Goldman, Sachs & Co.	
Total	10,000,000

As part of this offering, the underwriters will sell 500,000 shares to Enbridge Energy Company. The underwriters are not entitled to any discount or commission on these shares.

The underwriters are committed to take and pay for all of the shares being offered, if any are taken, other than the shares covered by the option described below unless and until this option is exercised.

If the underwriters sell more shares than the total number set forth in the table above, the underwriters have an option to buy up to an additional 1,500,000 shares from us to cover such sales. They may exercise that option for 30 days. If any shares are purchased pursuant to this option, the underwriters will severally purchase shares in approximately the same proportion as set forth in the table above.

The following table shows the per share and total underwriting discounts and commissions to be paid by us to the underwriters. Such amounts are shown assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters' option to purchase 1,500,000 additional shares.

	Paid by Enbridge Management	No Exercise	Full Exercise
Per Share		\$	\$
Total		\$	\$

Shares sold by the underwriters to the public will initially be offered at the initial public offering price set forth on the cover of this prospectus. Any shares sold by the underwriters to securities dealers may be sold at a discount of up to \$ per share from the initial public offering price. Any such securities dealers may resell any shares purchased from the underwriters to certain other brokers or dealers at a discount of up to \$ per share from the initial public offering price. If all the shares are not sold at the initial public offering price, the representatives may change the offering price and the other selling terms.

We, Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Energy Company and our and their directors and executive officers have agreed with the underwriters not to dispose of or hedge any of our securities or securities of Enbridge Partners that are substantially similar to the shares, i-units or common units, including, but not limited to, any securities that are convertible into or exchangeable for shares, i-units or common units or any substantially similar securities, without the prior written consent of Goldman, Sachs & Co. in its sole discretion. Goldman, Sachs & Co. has no set criteria for the waiver of these restrictions and currently has no intention to waive these restrictions. With respect to shares and i-units and securities of the above issuers that are substantially similar to the shares and i-units as described above, but specifically excluding common units, the lock-up period will be from the date of this prospectus and continuing through the date 180 days after the date of this prospectus. With respect to the common units and securities of the above issuers that are

146

substantially similar to the common units as described above, the lock-up period will be from the date of this prospectus and continuing through the date of 60 days after the date of this prospectus. This agreement does not apply to (1) the sale of i-units by Enbridge Partners to us and subsequent quarterly distributions of i-units and shares as contemplated by the prospectus, (2) the disposal of such securities in connection with the acquisition of assets (other than cash), businesses or the capital stock or other ownership interests of businesses by any of Enbridge Inc., Enbridge Partners, or any operating subsidiary of Enbridge Partners owning common units on the date of this prospectus if the recipient of such securities agrees not to dispose of the securities received in connection with such acquisitions during the lock-up period, and (3) the disposal of such securities pursuant to an employee stock or unit option plan existing on, or upon the conversion or exchange of convertible or exchangeable securities outstanding as of, the date of this prospectus. Please read "Shares Eligible for Future Sale" for a discussion of certain transfer restrictions.

Prior to the offering, there has been no public market for our shares. The initial public offering price will be negotiated among us and the representative of the underwriters. Among the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering price of our shares, in addition to prevailing market conditions and the recent market price of the Class A common units, will be Enbridge Partners' historical performance,

estimates of our and Enbridge Partners' business potential and earnings prospects, an assessment of our management and the consideration of the above factors in relation to market valuation of companies in related businesses.

We intend to apply to list our shares on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol " ." In order to meet one of the requirements for listing the shares on the New York Stock Exchange, the underwriters have undertaken to sell lots of 100 or more shares to a minimum of 2,000 beneficial holders.

In connection with the offering, the underwriters may purchase and sell shares and Class A common units in the open market. These transactions may include short sales, stabilizing transactions and purchases to cover positions created by short sales. Shorts sales involve the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares than they are required to purchase in the offering. "Covered" short sales are sales made in an amount not greater than the underwriters' option to purchase additional shares from us in the offering. The underwriters may close out any covered short position by either exercising their option to purchase additional shares or purchasing shares in the open market. In determining the source of shares to close out the covered short position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through their option to purchase additional shares from us. "Naked" short sales are any sales in excess of such option. The underwriters must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering. Stabilizing transactions consist of various bids for or purchases of shares or Class A common units made by the underwriters in the open market prior to the completion of the offering.

The underwriters may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter repays to the underwriters a portion of the underwriting discount received by it because the representative has repurchased shares sold by or for the account of such underwriter in stabilizing or short covering transactions.

Purchases to cover a short position and stabilizing transactions may have the effect of preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of the shares or the Class A common units, and together with the imposition of the penalty bid, may stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the

147

market price of the shares or the Class A common units. As a result, the price of the shares or the Class A common units may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in the open market. If these activities are commenced, they may be discontinued at any time. These transactions may be effected on the New York Stock Exchange, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.

Each underwriter has represented, warranted and agreed that: (i) it has not offered or sold and, prior to the expiry of a period of six months from the closing of this offering, will not offer or sell any shares to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995; (ii) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA")) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any shares in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to us; and (iii) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to the shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

The shares may not be offered, sold, transferred or delivered in or from The Netherlands, as part of their initial distribution or as part of any re-offering, and neither this prospectus nor any other document in respect of this offering may be distributed or circulated in The Netherlands, other than to individuals or legal entities which include, but are not limited to, banks, brokers, dealers, institutional investors and undertakings with a treasury department, who or which trade or invest in securities in the conduct of a business or profession.

A prospectus in electronic format will be made available on the websites maintained by one or more of the lead managers of this offering and may also be made available on websites maintained by other underwriters. The underwriters may agree to allocate a number of shares to underwriters for sale to their online brokerage account holders. Internet distributions will be allocated by the lead managers to underwriters that may make internet distributions on the same basis as other allocations.

The underwriters do not expect sales to discretionary accounts to exceed five percent of the total number of shares offered.

We estimate that our share of the total expenses of the offering, excluding underwriting discounts and commissions, will be approximately million.

We and each of Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. have agreed to indemnify the several underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933.

Some of the underwriters have from time to time performed various investment banking and financial advisory services, participated in the underwriting of debt and equity securities offerings and served as lender or agent under credit facilities for Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. and their affiliates for which they have received customary fees and reimbursement of their out of pocket expenses. The underwriters may, from time to time in the future, engage in transactions with and perform services for us, Enbridge Partners, Enbridge Inc. and our and their affiliates in the ordinary course of business.

148

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares and i-units offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Vinson & Elkins L.L.P., Houston, Texas. Legal matters in connection with the shares and i-units offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for the underwriters by Andrews & Kurth Mayor, Day, Caldwell & Keeton L.L.P., Houston, Texas.

EXPERTS

The financial statements as of May 23, 2002 of Enbridge Management included in this prospectus have been so included in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of Enbridge Partners as of and for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000 and 2001, included in and incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Enbridge Partners for the year ended December 31, 2001, and the audited consolidated statement of financial position of Enbridge Energy Company as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Enbridge Partners filed on February 26, 2002, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements of Enbridge Inc. incorporated in this prospectus by reference to the Annual Report on Form 40-F of Enbridge Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2001 have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, the four months ended April 30, 2001 and the eight months ended December 31, 2001 of Enbridge Midcoast Energy included in this prospectus have been so included in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent accountants, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

149

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed on Form S-1, Enbridge Partners has filed on Form S-3 and Enbridge Inc. has filed on Form F-3, a registration statement with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933 with respect to the securities offered in this offering. This prospectus, which is a part of those registration statements, does not contain all of the information set forth in those registration statements, or the exhibits which are part of those registration statements, parts of which are omitted as permitted by the rules and regulations of the SEC. For further information about us, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. and about the securities to be sold in this offering, please refer to those registration statements and the exhibits which are part of those registration statements.

Upon completion of this offering, we will become subject to the information and periodic reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and, in accordance therewith, will file periodic reports, proxy and information statements and other information with the SEC. Our periodic reports, proxy and information statements and other information will be available for inspection and copying at the regional offices, public references facilities and web site of the SEC referred to below.

We intend to furnish our shareholders with annual reports containing audited financial statements and an opinion thereon expressed by independent certified public accounts. We also intend to furnish other reports as we may determine or as required by law.

Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. file annual, quarterly and other reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. Their current SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC's web site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document they file at the SEC's public reference room located at:

450 Fifth Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20549

Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room and its copy charges.

Because Enbridge Partners' Class A common units and Enbridge Inc.'s common stock are listed on the New York Stock Exchange, Enbridge Partners' and Enbridge Inc.'s reports, proxy statements and other information can be reviewed and copied at the office of that exchange at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.

The SEC allows Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. to "incorporate by reference" the information they file with the SEC, which means that Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. can disclose important information to you without actually including the specific information in this prospectus by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus. Information that Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. file with the SEC automatically will update and supersede this information. Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. incorporate by reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 until the termination of the offering, other than information furnished under Item 9 of any Form 8-K that is listed below or

150

filed in the future and which is not deemed filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is not incorporated in this prospectus:

Enbridge Partners SEC Filings (File No. 1-10934)

Period

Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A	Filed August 8, 2001
Annual Report on Form 10-K	Year ended December 31, 2001
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q	Three months ended March 31, 2002
Current Report on Form 8-K	Filed February 26, 2002
Current Report on Form 8-K	Filed February 27, 2002
Current Report on Form 8-K	Filed May 23, 2002

Enbridge Inc.

SEC Filings (File No. 0-21080) Period

Annual Report on Form 40-F	Year ended December 31, 2001
Report of Foreign Private Issuer on Form 6-K	Filed February 4, 2002
Report of Foreign Private Issuer on Form 6-K	Filed March 4, 2002
Report of Foreign Private Issuer on Form 6-K	Filed March 27, 2002
Report of Foreign Private Issuer on Form 6-K	Filed May 16, 2002

Enbridge Partners will provide copies of any of its documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any exhibit specifically incorporated by reference in those documents at no cost by request directed to it at the following address and telephone number:

Investor Relations Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. 1100 Louisiana, Suite 3300

Houston, Texas 77002 866-337-4636 or 866-EEP-INFO 713-650-8900 investor@enbridgepartners.com

Enbridge Inc. will provide copies of any of its documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus and any exhibit specifically incorporated by reference in those documents at no cost by request directed to it at the following address and telephone number:

Investor Relations
Enbridge Inc.
3000, 425-1st Street S.W.
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 3L8
800-481-2804
investor@corp.enbridge.com

The information concerning Enbridge Partners contained or incorporated by reference in this document has been provided by Enbridge Partners, and the information concerning Enbridge Inc. contained or incorporated by reference in this document has been provided by Enbridge Inc.

You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus to purchase the securities offered by this prospectus. We, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. have not authorized anyone to provide you with information that is different from what is contained in this prospectus. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the cover, and the mailing of the prospectus to shareholders shall not create any implication to the contrary.

151

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

	Page
	Е.2
Introduction	F-3
Unauditied Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income for the 12 Months Ended March 31, 2002 and the 12 Months Ended April 30, 2002	F-5
Unauditied Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2001	F-6
Unauditied Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income for the Three Months Ended March 31,	
2002	F-7
Unauditied Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2002	F-8
Notes to Unauditied Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements	F-9
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Consolidated Statement of Income for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2001 and 2002	F-11
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2001 and 2002	F-12
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at March 31, 2001 and 2002	F-13
Consolidated Statement of Partners' Capital for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2001 and 2002	F-14
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-15
Report of Independent Accountants	F-18
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001	F-19
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001	F-20
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as at December 31, 2000 and 2001	F-21
Consolidated Statements of Partners' Capital for the Years Ended December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001	F-22

	Page
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-23
Supplementary Information (Unaudited)	Г-23
Selected Quarterly Financial Data	F-36
Science Quarterly I maneral Data	1-30
ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.	
HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Consolidated Statement of Income for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 and the Four Months	
Ended April 30, 2002	F-37
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 and the Four	
Months Ended April 30, 2002	F-38
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2002 and for	E 20
the Four Months Ended April 30, 2002 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements	F-39 F-40
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-1	F-40
Report of Independent Auditors Report of Independent Auditors	F-40 F-41
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001	F-41 F-42
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations	F-41 F-42 F-43
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Independent Accountants	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46 F-47
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Independent Accountants Balance Sheet as at May 23, 2002	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46 F-47
Report of Independent Auditors Consolidated Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2000 and 2001 Consolidated Statements of Operations Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Report of Independent Accountants	F-41 F-42 F-43 F-44 F-45 F-46 F-47

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements

Introduction

The following pro forma financial information has been prepared to assist in your analysis of the financial effects of the proposed acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc., which includes the Northeast Texas, South Texas, compression assets, and Hobart asset acquisitions. The proposed acquisition excludes Enbridge Midcoast Energy Canadian assets, which will be retained by the General Partner. The pro forma consolidated statement of financial position presents the combined financial position of Enbridge Partners and the proposed acquisitions assuming they had occurred as of March 31, 2002. The pro forma consolidated statements of income present the combined results of operations of Enbridge Partners for the 12 months ended March 31, 2002 and have been combined with the proposed acquisition results of operations for the 12 months ended April 30, 2002. In addition, the results of operations of Enbridge Partners and the proposed acquisitions have also been combined for the three months ended March 31, 2002 and for the year ending December 31, 2001. The pro forma consolidated statements of income assume the acquisition was effective as of the beginning of the applicable period. This pro forma information is based on the following information:

The audited and unaudited financial statements of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. Financial data is adjusted as necessary to include the Northeast Texas, South Texas, compression and Hobart acquisitions, all of which will have closed prior to the effective date of this offering.

Financial data of the Northeast Texas, South Texas, Hanover Compression and Hobart acquisitions are unaudited. This financial data was largely derived from the records of previous owners and is believed to be reliable.

The acquisition will be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets acquired (including intangible assets) and the liabilities assumed are recorded at fair market value rather than historical book value of the predecessor companies. Any excess purchase price over fair market value of assets is attributed to goodwill.

The last twelve months operating results supplement the pro forma statement of operations as this period coincides with Enbridge Inc.'s ownership period. In addition, during the first four months of 2001, Enbridge Midcoast Energy's results of operations were impacted by a series of charges associated with natural gas imbalance accounts, operational balancing agreements and inventory related to the instability of prices in the natural gas market in late 2000 and early 2001.

Cash distributions by Enbridge Partners in each quarter of 2001 are assumed to be unaffected by the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. This assumption impacts the General Partner's allocation of net income and the resulting earnings per unit calculation included in the Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Income.

Enbridge Partners is not a taxable entity and incurs no U.S. federal income tax liability; accordingly, no income tax expense is reflected in pro forma results of operations.

The results of operations of Enbridge Midcoast Energy were also abnormally impacted by other charges including expenses related to the sale of Enbridge Midcoast Energy to Enbridge Energy Company in early 2001, and acquisition integration costs. Results of operations of Northeast Texas were adversely impacted by a maintenance related shut down of the major processing and treating facility associated with these assets during the period December 2001 through February 2002. Please see Management's Discussion and Analysis of Pro Forma Results of Operations.

F-3

The pro forma information is presented for illustrative purposes only. If the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy had occurred in the past, Enbridge Partner's financial position, and results of operations, could have been materially different than that represented in the pro forma financial information. The pro forma financial information should not be considered indicative of results of future operations following the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy.

F-4

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income

12 Months Ended March 30, 2002 (Enbridge Partnership) with 12 Months Ended April 30, 2002 (Enbridge Midcoast Energy and other acquired assets)

Enbridge Partners	Enbridge Midcoast Energy Assets	Midcoast Pro Forma Adjustments	Other Assets Pro Forma Adjustments	Related Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Results
		(In Millions, exce	ept per unit amounts)		
		(Note 3)	(Note 4)	(Note 2)	

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

	Enbridge Partners	Enbridge Midcoast Energy Assets	Midcoast Pro Forma Adjustments	Other Assets Pro Forma Adjustments	Financing Related Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Results
Revenues:						
Transportation	\$ 322.				\$	\$ 383.4
Energy marketing	117.		(1.2)			675.3
Processing	9.	9 192.2	(2.7)	15.6		215.0
	449.	8 717.9	(6.6)	112.6		1,273.7
Expenses:						
Power	51.					51.8
Cost of natural gas	115.	9 605.1	(6.4)	78.0		792.6
Operating and administrative	112.	2 61.0	(2.8)	16.7		187.1
Depreciation and amortization	66.	7 22.5	(5.5)	2.5		86.2
	346.	6 688.6	(14.7)	97.2		1,117.7
Operating income	103.	2 29.3	8.1	15.4		156.0
Interest and other income	2.			13.4		2.1
Interest expense	(58.	`			(34.2)	(93.0)
Income before minority						
interest	47.		28.7	15.4	(34.2)	65.1
Minority interest	(0.	6)				(0.6)
Net income	\$ 46.	5 \$ 8.1	\$ 28.7	\$ 15.4	\$ (34.2)	\$ 64.5
Net income allocated to limited partners	36.	4				50.5
Net income per unit	\$ 1.1	6				\$ 1.22
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)	31.	4			10.0	41.4

The accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-5

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2001

Enbridge Partners	Enbridge Midcoast Energy Assets	Midcoast Pro Forma Adjustments	Other Assets Pro Forma Adjustments	Financing Related Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Results

(Audited)

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

	Enbridge Partners	Enbridge Midcoast Energy Assets	Midcoast Pro Forma Adjustments	Other Assets Pro Forma Adjustments	Financing Related Pro Forma Adjustments	Pro Forma Results
			(In Millions, excep	t per unit amounts)		
			(Note 3)	(Note 4)	(Note 2)	
Revenues:						
Transportation	\$ 311.7	\$ 51.8	\$ (4.2)	\$ 4.1	\$	\$ 363.4
Energy marketing	26.1	755.2	(1.9)	135.8	1	915.2
Processing	2.6	38.4	(3.0)	15.7		53.7
	340.4	845.4	(9.1)	155.6		1,332.3
Expenses:	21011	0.011	(>11)	100.0		1,002.0
Power	49.9					49.9
Cost of natural gas	26.3	755.5	(2.1)	105.2		884.9
Operating and administrative	104.5	66.6	(3.6)	21.7		189.2
Depreciation and amortization	63.8	21.2	(5.6)	3.9		83.3
	244.5	843.3	(11.3)	130.8		1,207.3
Operating income	95.9	2.1	2.2	24.8		125.0
Interest and other income	2.8	0.8				3.6
Interest expense	(59.3)		23.4		(34.2)	
Income before minority interest	39.4	(20.5)	25.6	24.8	(34.2)	35.1
Minority interest	(0.5)	(0.1)				(0.6)
Net income	\$ 38.9	\$ (20.6)	\$ 25.6	\$ 24.8	\$ (34.2)	\$ 34.5
Net income allocated to limited partners	29.8					21.5
Net income per unit	\$ 0.98					\$ 0.54
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)	30.2				10.0	40.2

The accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-6

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income

Three Months Ended March 31, 2002

Enbridge	Enbridge	Midcoast Pro	Other Assets	Financing Related	Pro Forma
Partners	Midcoast	Forma	Pro Forma	Pro Forma	Results
	Energy Assets	Adjustments	Adjustments	Adjustments	

			(In Millions, excep			
			(Note 3)	(Note 4)	(Note 2)	
Revenues:						
Transportation	\$ 82.8 \$	21.9			\$	104.7
Energy marketing	91.2	84.5	(0.7)	12.3		187.3
Processing	 7.3	84.7	(0.5)	4.8		96.3
	181.3	191.1	(1.2)	17.1		388.3
Expenses:						
Power	13.6					13.6
Cost of natural gas	89.6	158.5	(0.1)	13.1		261.1
Operating and administrative	27.8	15.9	(0.8)	2.8		45.7
Depreciation and amortization	 18.3	5.0	(0.2)	0.1		23.2
	149.3	179.4	(1.1)) 16.0		343.6
Operating income	32.0	11.7	(0.1)	1.1		44.7
Interest and other income	0.6	(0.5)				(0.1)
Interest expense	(14.7)	(4.4)			(8.6)	(23.3)
Income before minority						
interest	17.9	6.8	4.1	1.1	(8.6)	21.3
Minority interest	 (0.2)					(0.2)
Net income	\$ 17.7 \$	6.8	\$ 4.1	\$ 1.1	\$ (8.6)\$	21.1
Net income allocated to limited partners	14.5					16.9
Net income per unit	\$ 0.43				\$	0.39
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)	33.7				10.0	43.7

The accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-7

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

March 31, 2002

	Pro Forma	Pro Forma	
	Acquired	Financing	
Enbridge	Assets and	and Other	Pro Forma
Partners	Liabilities	Adjustments	Results

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

Pro Forma

Pro Forma

	Enbridge Partners			Pro Forma Acquired Assets and Liabilities	Pro Forma Financing and Other Adjustments		Pro Forma Results	
				(In Millions)				
				(Note 1)		(Note 2)		
Assets								
Current Assets Cash and cash equivalents	\$	62.3					\$	62.3
Due from General Partner and affiliates	Ψ	02.3					Ψ	02.3
Advances to affiliate		2.4						2.4
Accounts receivable and other		70.2		75.7				145.9
Materials, supplies and inventory		8.5		15.0				23.5
	_							
		143.4		90.7				234.1
Goodwill		15.0		251.3				266.3
Other assets Property plant and agricument, not		25.7 1,498.5		10.0 684.1		1.5		37.2 2,182.6
Property, plant and equipment, net	_	1,496.3		064.1				2,162.0
	\$	1,682.6	\$	1,036.1	\$	1.5	\$	2,720.2
Liabilities and Partners Capital								
Current Liabilities	ф	0.4	d.	0.2			ው	0.6
Due to General Partner and affiliate	\$	9.4 96.6	\$	0.2			\$	9.6
Accounts payable and other Other deferred costs				90.5				187.1
		1.1 51.5						1.1 51.5
Loans from Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. Short-term debt								
Snort-term debt		130.0						130.0
		288.6		90.7				379.3
Long-term debt		683.4		929.1		(438.8)		1,173.7
Minority interest		3.4				Ì		3.4
Other deferred costs		1.6		16.3				17.9
		977.0		1,036.1		(438.8)		1,574.3
Partners' Capital		777.0		1,000.1		(150.0)		1,571.5
Class A common unitholders		647.1						647.1
Class B common unitholders		53.4						53.4
Class I common unitholder						429.9		429.9
General Partner		7.7				10.4		18.1
Accumulated other comprehensive loss		(2.6)						(2.6)
		705.6				440.3		1,145.9
	\$	1,682.6	\$	1,036.1	\$	1.5	\$	2,720.2

 $The \ accompanying \ notes \ to \ the \ Unaudited \ Pro \ Forma \ Consolidated \ Financial \ Statements \ are \ an \ integral \ part \ of \ these \ statements.$

Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements

(in millions, except per unit amounts)

1. Accounting for the acquisition

New accounting standards require that Enbridge Partners account for the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy using the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities of Enbridge Midcoast Energy will be revalued at fair market value with excess purchase price assigned to goodwill.

Fair market value of working capital items is expected to equal book value. Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill will be valued through an independent appraisal process to be undertaken in connection with the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. Due to the recent timing of the Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquisition, it is expected that amounts disclosed on the statement of financial position will not vary materially from that indicated in the proforma statement of financial position.

Goodwill increases by approximately \$251 million. In addition, approximately \$10 million has been assigned as fair market value of other intangible assets pending completion of the formal asset appraisal. Under new accounting standards, goodwill is no longer subject to annual amortization, however, it is subject to annual impairment testing. Other intangible assets are expected to be amortized over a period to not exceed the remaining life of the underlying Enbridge Midcoast Energy pipeline systems.

Fair market value of the property, plant and equipment is estimated to be \$684 million. Pipeline systems underlying this value are depreciated over varying depreciable lives. For purposes of the pro forma calculations, a composite life of 35 years has been assumed.

Enbridge Partners is not a taxable entity and incurs no U.S. federal income tax liability; accordingly, no tax adjustments impact the proforma financial statements.

2. Transaction financing, issuance of equity and retirement of long-term debt

Closing of the acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy by Enbridge Partners is contingent upon suitable financing. The acquisition will be financed through the assumption of approximately \$525 million of existing Enbridge Midcoast Energy debt and approximately \$375 million of existing Enbridge Energy Company debt.

The proceeds of the equity offering will be used to repay a portion of the assumed debt. The remaining assumed debt will be refinanced with longer term debt. The pro forma statement of financial position and related results of operation assumes the issuance of 10,000,000 new limited partner interests called i-units by Enbridge Partners at \$45.50 per unit, before underwriting and transaction costs. A corresponding 2% contribution by the General Partner is required, approximating \$10 million.

Debt financing is assumed to bear an interest rate of 6.96%. If interest rates vary \(^{1}/\section \) of one-percent from the assumed amount interest expense will increase or decrease by approximately \(^{5}0.6 \) million.

3. Enbridge Midcoast Energy adjustments to results of operations

The acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy does not include certain assets owned by Enbridge Midcoast Energy in Canada. The results of operations of these assets, together with other assets disposed of in 2001, are reflected in this column for each of the noted periods.

F-9

Enbridge Energy Company recognized goodwill on its acquisition of Enbridge Midcoast Energy. Under standards in effect during 2001, Enbridge Midcoast Energy amortized goodwill as required under standards in effect at the time. Effective January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer subject to amortization. Accordingly, goodwill amortization is removed from the pro forma results of operations.

4. Acquired assets adjustments to results of operations

Enbridge Midcoast Energy acquired the South Texas assets in January 2002, the Northeast Texas assets in March 2002, the Hobart assets in May 2002, and will acquire the compression assets prior to closing of this offering. Enbridge Midcoast Energy's results of operations include the

contributions of South Texas and Northeast Texas from the dates of acquisition and are adjusted in this column to show the full-year impact of the purchases of the Northeast Texas, South Texas, Hobart and compression assets. For periods prior to Enbridge Midcoast Energy ownership, unaudited financial information provided by third parties is used to provide a comparison as if Enbridge Midcoast Energy had owned the acquired assets for the entire period. Included in this column is unaudited historical financial information provided by the sellers relating to the acquisition of compression assets that would have lowered operating lease expenses and increased EBITDA by approximately \$5.9 million in 2001, and also relating to the contribution of the Northeast Texas system resulting in \$140 million of increased revenues and \$18.1 million of related EBITDA in 2001.

F-10

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

		onths ended rch 31,		
	2001	2002		
	millions, e	ed; dollars in except per unit ounts)		
Operating revenue				
Transportation	\$ 71.9	\$ 82.8		
Marketing		91.2		
Processing		7.3		
	71.9	181.3		
Expenses				
Power	11.7	13.6		
Cost of natural gas		89.6		
Operating and administrative	20.1	27.8		
Depreciation and amortization	15.4	18.3		
	47.2	149.3		
Operating income	24.7	32.0		
Interest and other income	0.7	0.6		
Interest expense	(15.2)	(14.7)		
Minority interest	(0.1)	(0.2)		
Net income	\$ 10.1	\$ 17.7		
Net income per unit (Note 2)	\$ 0.27	\$ 0.43		
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)	28.9	33.7		

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Three months ended

	March 31,						
Cash provided from operating activities	2001			2002			
		(unaudite mil	d; dolla lions)	ars in			
Net income	\$	10.1	\$	17.7			
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided from operating activities:							
Depreciation and amortization		15.4		18.3			
Other		1.1		0.1			
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:							
Accounts receivable and other		1.7		(14.2)			
Oil overage balance		2.1		0.9			
General Partner and affiliates		4.7		9.7			
Accounts payable and other		(3.8)		6.1			
Interest payable		12.5		12.3			
Property and other taxes		2.9		1.3			
		46.7		52.2			
	_						
Investing activities							
Repayments from affiliate		0.1		0.5			
Additions to property, plant and equipment		(2.4)		(30.0)			
Changes in construction payables		(4.0)		0.4			
		(6.2)		(20.1)			
		(6.3)		(29.1)			
Financing activities				67.0			
Variable rate financing, net				67.0			
Loan from Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., net Proceeds from unit issuance, net (<i>Note 3</i>)				(124.7) 90.8			
		(27.6)					
Distributions to partners Minority interest		(27.6) (0.3)		(32.6)			
Other		(0.3) (0.1)		(1.4)			
Oulei		(0.1)		(1.4)			
		(28.0)		(1.0)			
		(20.0)		(1.0)			
Increase in cash and cash equivalents		12.4		22.1			
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		37.2		40.2			
·							
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	49.6	\$	62.3			

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

		December 31, 2001		Iarch 31, 2002	
			(u	naudited)	
		(dollars in millions)			
A COLDING					
ASSETS					
Current assets					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	40.2	\$	62.3	
Due from General Partner and affiliates		0.3			
Advances to affiliate		2.9		2.4	
Accounts receivable and other		63.1		70.2	
Materials and supplies		8.5		8.5	
		115.0		143.4	
Deferred charges and other		47.6		40.7	
Property, plant and equipment, net		1,486.6		1,498.5	
	\$	1,649.2	\$	1,682.6	
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL					
Current liabilities	Φ.		Φ.	0.4	
Due to General Partner and affiliate	\$	0.4	\$	9.4	
Oil overage balance		9.4		10.3	
Accounts payable and other		48.5		51.5	
Interest payable		6.8		19.1	
Property and other taxes payable		14.4		15.7	
Other deferred costs				1.1	
Loans from Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.		176.2		51.5	
Short-term debt (Note 4)		31.0		130.0	
		286.3		288.6	
Long-term debt (Note 4)		715.4		683.4	
Minority interest		3.3		3.4	
Other deferred costs				1.6	
		1,005.0		977.0	
Partners' capital					
Class A common unitholders (Units authorized and issued 31,253,634 in 2002 and 29,053,634 in 2001)		577.0		647.1	
Class B common unitholders (Units authorized and issued 3,912,750)		48.8		53.4	
General Partner					
Ocheral Farther		6.5		7.7	

	De	ecember 31, 2001	March 31, 2002
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss)		11.9	(2.6)
	\$	644.2	\$ 705.6
	\$	1,649.2	\$ 1,682.6

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-13

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PARTNERS' CAPITAL

Three months ended March 31, 2002

	General Partner					Class B Common Unitholders		Class A Common Unitholders		Other Comprehensive Loss	Total Consolidated Partners' Capital
					(u	naudited; dollar	s in 1	nillions)			
Partners' Capital at December 31, 2001	\$	6.5	\$	48.8	\$	577.0	\$	11.9	\$ 644.2		
Allocation of Net Proceeds from Unit Issuance		0.9		6.2		83.7			90.8		
Net Income Allocation		3.2		2.0		12.5			17.7		
Distributions to Partners		(2.9)		(3.6)		(26.1)			(32.6)		
Floating to Fixed Interest Rate Swaps								(14.5)	(14.5)		
Partners' Capital at March 31, 2002	\$	7.7	\$	53.4	\$	647.1	\$	(2.6)	\$ 705.6		

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-14

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited)

(dollars in millions; except for per unit amounts)

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, they contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which management considers necessary to present fairly the financial position as at March 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001; the results of operations for the three month periods ended March 31, 2002 and 2001; and cash flows for the three month periods ended March 31, 2002 and 2001. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2002 should not be taken as indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. The interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.'s (the "Partnership") consolidated financial statements and notes thereto presented in the Partnership's 2001 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Net Income per Unit

Net income per unit is computed by dividing net income, after deduction of the General Partner's allocation, by the weighted average number of Class A and Class B Common Units outstanding. The General Partner's allocation is equal to an amount based upon its 1.0% general partner interest, adjusted to reflect an amount equal to incentive distributions and an amount required to reflect depreciation on the General Partner's historical cost basis for assets contributed on formation of the Partnership. Net income per unit was determined as follows.

	Pe	Period ended March 31,					
	2	2001	2	2002			
Net income	\$	10.1	\$	17.7			
Net income allocated to General Partner		(0.1)		(0.2)			
Incentive distributions and historical cost depreciation adjustments	_	(2.1)	_	(3.0)			
		(2.2)		(3.2)			
Net income allocable to Common Units	\$	7.9	\$	14.5			
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)		28.9		33.7			
Net income per unit	\$	0.27	\$	0.43			
•							

3. Unit Issuance

On March 4, 2002, the Partnership issued an additional 2.2 million Class A Common Units, which generated proceeds, net of underwriters' discounts and commissions and issuance expenses, of approximately \$90.8 million. Proceeds from this offering were used to repay indebtedness. After giving effect to the Class A Common Unit offering, the General Partner has an 11.0% limited partner interest (in the form of 3,912,750 Class B Common Units) and a 1.0% general partner interest in the Partnership, as well as a 1.0% general partner interest in Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership (the "Operating Partnership"). On April 4, 2002, the Partnership issued an additional 60,000 Class A Common Units to the underwriters in the above offering upon exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase additional shares from us, resulting in additional

F-15

proceeds to the Partnership, net of underwriters' discount and commissions and issuance expenses, of approximately \$2.5 million.

4. Credit Facilities

On January 29, 2002, the Partnership established two new unsecured credit facilities, a \$300.0 million three-year term facility and a \$300.0 million 364-day facility, to replace the original \$350.0 million revolving credit facility. Under the terms of these new facilities, the Partnership and the Operating Partnership may borrow funds up to a combined maximum of \$300.0 million under the three-year term facility and a combined maximum of \$300.0 million under the 364-day facility. In addition, when no default exists, the Partnership may designate any of

its material subsidiaries to borrow under either or both the facilities, subject to complying with certain administrative procedures. Any borrowings under either facility will be guaranteed by the Partnership, the Operating Partnership and any of their material subsidiaries, unless that entity is the borrower. The indebtedness under the original \$350.0 million revolving credit facility was refinanced with indebtedness drawn under the new credit facilities and the original \$350.0 million revolving credit facility was terminated. As at March 31, 2002, the Partnership and the Operating Partnership had borrowed approximately \$204.0 million under the two new credit facilities.

5. Segment Information

The Partnership's operations are segmented for accounting purposes based on the type of business activity and management control. The table below provides certain information regarding the financial performance of these segments. The Partnership's transportation pipelines primarily receive crude oil, liquid hydrocarbons, natural gas and NGLs from producers and other pipelines and deliver these products to other pipelines and customers, such as refineries and other industrial facilities.

The Partnership's marketing activities include providing natural gas supply and sales services to certain of its customers by purchasing the natural gas supply from other marketers, pipeline affiliates and natural gas producers and reselling the natural gas to customers.

Processing revenues are realized from the processing and treating of natural gas, which involves the extraction and sale of NGLs as well as the sale of the residual natural gas.

The "Other" column consists of costs of financing, interest income and minority interest, which are not allocated to the other business segments.

The following table presents certain financial information relating to the Partnership's business segments as at or for the quarter ended March 31, 2002. As a result of the Partnership's North Dakota acquisition in May 2001 and East Texas acquisition in November 2001, the results of operations from the transportation segment as of and for the period ended March 31, 2002 include results from crude oil and natural gas gathering activities. Likewise, a majority of the Partnership's marketing and processing revenues were derived from the assets acquired in the East Texas

F-16

acquisition in November 2001. As a result of these changes in the composition of the Partnership's segment reporting occurring in 2001, comparative segment information for 2001 is not shown.

As of or for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2002

	Transp	oortation	Marketing		Processing		rocessing Other		Totals
Operating revenues	\$	82.8	\$	91.2	\$	7.3	\$	\$	181.3
		_							
Power		13.6							13.6
Cost of natural gas				83.8		5.8			89.6
Operating and administrative		23.0		4.0		0.6	0.2		27.8
Depreciation and amortization		16.2		1.7		0.4			18.3
Operating Income		30.0		1.7		0.5	(0.2)		32.0
Interest and other							0.6		0.6
Interest expense							(14.7)		(14.7)
		30.0		1.7		0.5	(14.3)		17.9
Minority interest							(0.2)		(0.2)
Net income		30.0		1.7		0.5	(14.5)		17.7
Total Assets		1,423.4		214.4		44.8			1,682.6

As of or for the Quarter Ended March 31, 2002

Capital Expenditures	26.9	2.7	0.4	30.0

6. Accounting Changes

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 141, "Business Combinations" and SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful lives, which is limited to a maximum of forty years. The Partnership adopted SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002.

In conjunction with the acquisition of the East Texas assets in December 2001, customer contracts valued at \$15.0 million were acquired. Customer contracts are comprised entirely of natural gas purchase and sale contracts and are allocated to the Partnership's marketing segment. These customer contracts are being amortized over the estimated useful life of the underlying reserves and at March 31, 2002, accumulated amortization was \$0.2 million. Estimated amortization expense based on current customer contracts for 2002 and each of the next four years is \$0.6 million.

In addition, the Partnership is in the process of completing its initial transition goodwill impairment test and anticipates that goodwill associated with the East Texas acquisition of approximately \$15.0 million is not impaired. Goodwill is allocated entirely to the Partnership's marketing segment.

F-17

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Partners of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and the related consolidated statements of income, of partners' capital, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries (the Partnership) at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Houston, Texas January 24, 2002

F-18

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

1999 2000 2001	1 62	ir ended Decembe	r 31,
	1999	2000	2001

Voor anded December 21

Year ended December 31,

	_						
	-	(in millions, except per unit amount					
Revenues (Note 10)							
Transportation	9	312.6	\$	305.6	\$	311.7	
Energy marketing						26.1	
Processing	_					2.6	
		312.6		305.6		340.4	
Expenses							
Power		53.0		47.4		49.9	
Cost of natural gas						26.3	
Operating and administrative		71.5		80.6		104.5	
Depreciation	_	57.8		61.1		63.8	
		182.3		189.1		244.5	
Operating income	•	130.3		116.5		95.9	
Interest and other income		3.4		4.8		2.8	
Interest expense (Note 8)	_	(54.1)		(60.4)		(59.3)	
Income before minority interest		79.6		60.9		39.4	
Minority interest		(0.9)		(0.7)		(0.5)	
Net income	9	5 78.7	\$	60.2	\$	38.9	
Net income per unit (Note 5)	\$	3 2.48	\$	1.78	\$	0.98	
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)		28.0		28.9		30.2	

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-19

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash provided from operating activities

Net income

1	1999	:	2000	2001
		(In l	Millions)	
\$	78.7	\$	60.2	\$ 38.9

Year ended December 31,

147

Year ended December 31,

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided from operating activities:				
Depreciation		57.8	61.1	63.8
Interest on accrued rate refunds		0.7		
Minority interest		0.9	0.7	0.5
Other		0.9	0.8	
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts receivable and other		(3.2)	1.1	(23.1
Oil overage balance		(3.1)	(4.2)	18.3
Materials and supplies		(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.1
General Partner and affiliates		(1.2)	(3.2)	0.7
Accounts payable and other		(2.4)	(0.2)	23.2
Interest payable		0.8	0.2	0.3
Property and other taxes		1.4	1.1	(0.2
Payment of rate refunds and related interest		(29.4)		
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •				
		101.6	117.3	122.3
ivesting activities				
Repayments from affiliate (<i>Note 9</i>)		24.5	1.6	3.0
Additions to property, plant and equipment		(82.9)	(21.7)	(35.0
Change in construction payables		(32.7)	(0.6)	(2.1
Asset acquisitions, net of cash acquired (<i>Note 3</i>)				(265.0
		(91.1)	(20.7)	(299.1
inancing activities				
Proceeds from unit issuances, net (Note 1)	1	119.7		171.3
Loans from Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. (Note 3)				176.2
Distributions to partners (Note 4)	(1	107.3)	(110.4)	(113.8
Variable rate financing, net (Note 8)		(30.0)	(85.0)	(53.0
Fixed rate financing, net (Note 8)			96.9	
Other			0.2	(0.5
Minority interest		0.1	(1.1)	(0.4
		(17.5)	(99.4)	179.8
acrease (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		(7.0)	(2.8)	3.0
ash and cash equivalents at beginning of year		47.0	40.0	37.2
ash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$	40.0	\$ 37.2	\$ 40.2

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-20

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

		Decem	ber 31	,
		2000		2001
		(in mi	illions)	
ASSETS				
Current assets				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	37.2	\$	40.2
Due from General Partner and affiliates	Ψ	1.5	Ψ	0.3
Accounts receivable and other		25.7		63.1
Oil overage balance		8.9		03.1
Advances to affiliate (<i>Note 9</i>)		5.9		2.9
Materials and supplies		7.7		8.5
Transferred and supplies				0.0
		86.9		115.0
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 6)		1,281.9		1,486.6
Other assets, net (<i>Note 7</i>)		7.9		47.6
Office assets, let (Note 7)		1.9		47.0
	\$	1,376.7	\$	1,649.2
	Ψ	1,370.7	Ψ	1,047.2
LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL				
BEIDERIES AND PARTIES CATTAIN				
Current liabilities				
Oil overage balance	\$		\$	9.4
Accounts payable and other		17.4		48.5
Interest payable		6.5		6.8
Property and other taxes payable		14.4		14.4
Loans from Enbridge Energy Company, Inc. (Note 3)				176.2
Current portion of First Mortgage Notes				31.0
		38.3		286.3
Long-term debt (<i>Note 8</i>)		799.3		715.4
Contingencies (<i>Note 11</i>)		199.3		/13.4
Minority interest		3.2		3.3
		840.8		1,005.0
Partners' capital Class A common unitholders (Units authorized and issued 29,053,634 in 2001 and 24,990,000 in				
2000)		488.6		577.0
Class B common unitholder (Units authorized and issued 3,912,750)		42.1		48.8
General Partner		5.2		6.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income (<i>Note 12</i>)				11.9
		535.9		644.2

Decem	ber 31,	
\$ 1,376.7	\$	1,649.2

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-21

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS' CAPITAL

	(Class A Common nitholders	Class B Common Unitholder		General Partner	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income	 Total
				(ir	n millions)		
Partners' capital at December 31, 1998	\$	453.4	\$ 37.3	\$	4.3		\$ 495.0
Allocation of net proceeds from unit issuance		106.2	12.4		1.1		119.7
Distributions to partners		(84.8)	(13.6)		(8.9)		(107.3)
Net income allocation		58.3	11.3		9.1		78.7
Partners' capital at December 31, 1999		533.1	47.4		5.6		586.1
Distributions to partners		(87.5)	(13.7)		(9.2)		(110.4)
Net income allocation		43.0	8.4		8.8		60.2
Partners' capital at December 31, 2000		488.6	42.1		5.2		535.9
Allocation of net proceeds from unit issuances (<i>Note 1</i>)		154.6	15.0		1.7		171.3
Distributions to partners		(90.6)	(13.7)	_	(9.5)		(113.8)
Subtotal		552.6	43.4		(2.6)		593.4
Net income allocation		24.4	5.4		9.1		38.9
Other comprehensive income:							
Gain on derivative financial instruments						11.9	11.9
Comprehensive Income		24.4	5.4		9.1	11.9	50.8
Partners' capital at December 31, 2001	\$	577.0	\$ 48.8	\$	6.5	\$ 11.9	\$ 644.2

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in millions, except per unit amounts)

1. PARTNERSHIP ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P., formerly Lakehead Pipe Line Partners, L.P., (the "Partnership"), is a publicly traded limited partnership that was formed in 1991 to acquire, own and operate the crude oil and natural gas liquids pipeline business of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., formerly Lakehead Pipe Line Company, Inc. (the "General Partner"). The General Partner is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc. ("Enbridge") of Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The Partnership owns a 99% limited partner interest in Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership, formerly Lakehead Pipe Line Company, Limited Partnership ("Operating Partnership"). Both are Delaware limited partnerships. The Operating Partnership owns the United States portion of the world's longest liquid petroleum pipeline ("Lakehead System"). During 2001, the Partnership acquired the assets of Enbridge Pipelines (North Dakota) L.L.C. ("North Dakota System") and assets in east Texas ("East Texas System"). The assets acquired are held in a series of limited liability companies and limited partnerships owned, directly or indirectly, 100% by Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Partnership issued 1,813,634 Class A Common Units, which generated proceeds, net of issue expenses, of approximately \$79.9 million. Proceeds from this offering were used to repay debt. On November 26, 2001, the Partnership completed the issuance of 2,250,000 Class A Common Units for net proceeds of \$91.4 million. Proceeds from this offering were used to fund a portion of the East Texas System acquisition. After giving effect to the Class A Common Unit offerings, the General Partner has a 11.8% limited partner (in the form of 3,912,750 Class B Common Units) and 1.0% general partner interest in the Partnership, as well as a 1.0% general partner interest in the Operating Partnership.

The reporting segments of the Partnership represent its businesses of pipeline transportation, natural gas processing, and natural gas marketing activities. The transportation business, which transports crude oil and natural gas liquids through common carrier pipeline systems, is the most significant segment. The Lakehead System is the largest business in this segment.

The transportation segment includes the Lakehead System and the North Dakota System. The majority of shipments reach the Lakehead System at the Canada/United States border in North Dakota, through a Canadian pipeline system owned indirectly by Enbridge. Substantially all crude oil and natural gas liquids transported originate in western Canadian oil fields. Deliveries are made in the Great Lakes region of the U.S. and in the Province of Ontario, principally to refineries, either directly or through the connecting pipelines of other companies. The Partnership's natural gas processing segment includes natural gas treating and processing plants located in East Texas. The natural gas marketing segment primarily sells natural gas and related products to municipal utilities, industrial customers, and other third-party marketing companies and includes the related pipeline assets.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements of the Partnership are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions.

F-23

Principles of Consolidation

The financial statements of the Partnership include the accounts of the Partnership, the Operating Partnership and other wholly owned subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The General Partner's 1.0% interest in the Operating Partnership is accounted for by the Partnership as a minority interest.

Regulation of Transportation Segment

As an interstate common carrier oil pipeline, rates and accounting practices of the Lakehead System and the North Dakota System are under the regulatory authority of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"). The East Texas System is rate regulated by the Texas Railroad Commission on a complaint basis.

Revenue Recognition

Substantially all transportation pipeline system revenues are derived from transportation of crude oil, natural gas liquids ("NGLs") and natural gas and are recognized upon delivery. Natural gas gathering, treating and marketing revenues are recognized upon delivery of natural gas and related products.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as all highly marketable securities with a maturity of three months or less when purchased. They are accounted for as held-to-maturity securities and valued at amortized cost.

Oil Overage Balance

Represents oil owed to, or receivable from, customers of the pipeline system. The balance also includes crude oil retained by the pipeline under terms of its transportation tariff.

Materials and Supplies

Materials and supplies are stated at cost.

Deferred Financing Charges

Deferred financing charges are amortized on the straight-line basis over the life of the related debt, which is comparable to results using the effective interest method.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Expenditures for system expansion and major renewals and betterments are capitalized; maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Interest incurred on external borrowings during construction is capitalized. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided on the straight-line basis over estimated service lives. For all segments, when property, plant and equipment are disposed of, the cost less net proceeds is

F-24

normally charged to accumulated depreciation and no gain or loss on disposal of property is recognized.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of assets of businesses acquired. Other intangible assets, primarily consisting of shipper contracts acquired on the East Texas System, are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the underlying assets. The Partnership tests goodwill and other intangible assets periodically to determine whether an impairment has occurred. An impairment occurs when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the fair value of the recognized goodwill or intangible asset. If impairment has occurred, the loss is recorded in the period.

Income Taxes

The Partnership is not a taxable entity for federal and state income tax purposes. Accordingly, no recognition has been given to income taxes for financial reporting purposes. The tax on Partnership net income is borne by the individual partners through the allocation of taxable income. Net income for financial statement purposes may differ significantly from taxable income of Unitholders as a result of differences

between the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation requirements under the Partnership Agreement. The aggregate difference in the basis of the Partnership's net assets for financial and tax reporting purposes cannot be readily determined because information regarding each partner's tax attributes in the Partnership is not available to the Partnership.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Partnership recognizes all derivative financial instruments as assets and liabilities and measures them at fair value. For derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in fair value of the derivative are recorded in other comprehensive income and are recognized in the income statement when the hedged item affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge treatment are recognized currently in earnings. The related cash flows from those derivative financial instruments accounted for as hedges are classified in the same category as the items being hedged.

Net income and cash flows are subject to volatility stemming mainly from changes in interest rates, natural gas prices, and fractionation margins. In order to manage the risks to Partnership unitholders, the General Partner uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to create offsetting positions to specific commodity or interest rate exposures. All of these financial instruments are employed in connection with an underlying asset, liability or anticipated transaction and are not used for speculative purposes. In implementing its hedging programs, the General Partner has established a formal analysis and execution framework that requires the approval of the Board of Directors of the General Partner, or a committee of senior management.

Derivative financial instruments are used primarily to hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements, to manage natural gas purchases on the East Texas System that are related to

F-25

regional natural gas prices, and to hedge fractionation margins associated with the East Texas System processing assets. (See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.)

Comparative Amounts

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years reported amounts to conform to the classifications used in the 2001 consolidated financial statements. These reclassifications have no impact on net income.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This Statement requires that all derivatives be recognized at fair value in the balance sheet and all changes in fair value be recognized currently in earnings or deferred as a component of other comprehensive income, depending on the intended use of the derivative. The Partnership adopted SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations." This Statement requires the use of the purchase method for all business combinations. In addition, it requires the reassessment of intangible assets to determine if they are appropriately classified either separately or within goodwill. This Statement is effective for business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. The Partnership adopted SFAS No. 141 on July 1, 2001 with no impact on results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets". Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives will not be amortized but will be reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives, which will not be limited to a maximum life of forty years. The Partnership adopted SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. This standard is not expected to have a material impact on results of operations, financial position or cash flows. With the adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill of \$15.0 million is no longer subject to amortization over its estimated useful life.

Also in July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143 "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" under which retirement obligations will be recognized at fair value in the period they are incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the cost is capitalized by increasing the asset's carrying value, which is subsequently depreciated over its useful life. SFAS No. 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Partnership is currently evaluating the potential effects if any, of adopting SFAS No. 143, on its financial condition and results of operations as well as the timing of its adoption.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". SFAS No. 144 establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The Statement retains most of the requirements in SFAS No. 121 related to the recognition of impairment of long-lived assets to be held and used. The Partnership adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002. This standard is not expected to have a material impact on results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

F-26

3. ACQUISITIONS

On November 30, 2001, the Partnership acquired natural gas gathering, transportation, processing and marketing assets in east Texas. The assets were purchased for cash of \$230.0 million plus estimated transaction costs of \$0.5 million. The purchase was funded by the issuance of Class A Common Units with total net proceeds of \$91.4 million and a short-term loan at market rates from the General Partner. The value allocated to the assets was determined by agreement between the parties and supported by an independent appraisal. Goodwill associated with the acquisition is \$15.0 million, and is allocated entirely to the Partnership's marketing segment. Customer contracts are comprised entirely of natural gas purchase and sale contracts and are allocated entirely to the Partnership's marketing segment.

The allocation of the purchase price is as follows.

Gathering and Transportation Assets	\$ 180.5
Processing Assets	20.0
Customer Contracts	15.0
Goodwill	15.0
Total	\$ 230.5

The consolidated financial statements include the results of operations from, and the estimated fair value of assets at, the date of acquisition.

Unaudited pro forma net income for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000 is estimated to be \$44.0 and \$65.7 million, respectively. These estimates assume the acquisition of the East Texas System had occurred on January 1, 2001 and January 1, 2000, respectively, and represent the combined results of operations for each of the years ending December 31, 2001 and 2000. The unaudited pro forma financial results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and may not be indicative of results that would have occurred if the Partnership had acquired the assets as of January 1 of either year. Pro forma results for the year-ended 1999 are not representative due to significant natural gas volume increases since 1999.

On May 18, 2001, the Partnership completed its acquisition of the assets of Enbridge Pipelines (North Dakota) L.L.C. for cash of \$35.4 million, including working capital and transaction costs. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. North Dakota System results of operations have been included in earnings from the date of the acquisition. The purchase price has been allocated to current assets, liabilities and to property, plant and equipment on the basis of estimated fair values with property, plant and equipment being depreciated over the economic life of the assets. No goodwill or intangible assets were recognized in the acquisition. The acquisition was funded by a short-term loan from the General Partner.

4. CASH DISTRIBUTIONS

The Partnership distributes quarterly all of its "Available Cash", which is generally defined in the Partnership Agreement as cash receipts less cash disbursements and net additions to reserves for future requirements. These reserves are retained to provide for the proper conduct of the Partnership business and as necessary to comply with the terms of any agreement or obligation of

F-27

the Partnership. Distributions by the Partnership of its Available Cash generally are made 98.0% to the Class A and B Common Unitholders and 2.0% to the General Partner, subject to the payment of incentive distributions to the General Partner to the extent that certain target levels of cash distributions to the Unitholders are achieved. The incremental incentive distributions payable to the General Partner are 15.0%, 25.0% and 50.0% of all quarterly distributions of Available Cash that exceed target levels of \$0.59, \$0.70, and \$0.99 per Class A and B Common Units,

respectively.

In 2001 and 2000, the Partnership paid cash distributions of \$3.50 per unit, consisting of \$0.875 per unit paid in February, May, August and November. In 1999, the Partnership paid cash distributions of \$3.485 per unit, consisting of \$0.86 per unit paid in February and \$0.875 per unit paid in May, August and November.

5. NET INCOME PER UNIT

Net income per unit is computed by dividing net income, after deduction of the General Partner's allocation, by the weighted average number of Class A and Class B Common Units outstanding. The General Partner's allocation is equal to an amount based upon its 1.0% general partner interest, adjusted to reflect an amount equal to incentive distributions and an amount required to reflect depreciation on the General Partner's historical cost basis for assets contributed on formation of the Partnership. Net income per unit was determined as follows.

	Year ended December 31,						
	1999		2000			2001	
Net income	\$	78.7	\$	60.2	\$	38.9	
Net income allocated to General Partner		(0.8)		(0.6)		(0.4)	
Incentive distributions and historical cost depreciation adjustments		(8.3)		(8.2)		(8.7)	
		(9.1)		(8.8)		(9.1)	
Net income allocable to Common Units	\$	69.6	\$	51.4	\$	29.8	
Weighted average units outstanding (millions)		28.0		28.9		30.2	
Net income per unit	\$	2.48	\$	1.78	\$	0.98	
F-28							

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

	December 31,							
	Depreciation Rates		2000		2001			
Land		\$	6.4	\$	7.8			
Rights-of-way	3.8% - 4.35%		109.8		132.4			
Pipeline	3.6% - 4.35%		957.9		1,111.5			
Pumping equipment, buildings and tanks	4.2% - 4.35%		470.1		482.4			
Compressors, meters, and other operating equipment	4.00%				15.6			
Vehicles, office furniture and equipment	8.15% - 25.0%		34.3		38.7			
Processing and treater plants	4.00%				41.8			
Construction in progress			10.0		25.9			
			1,588.5		1,856.1			
Accumulated depreciation			(306.6)		(369.5)			
		\$	1,281.9	\$	1,486.6			
				_				

Depreciation rates utilized by the Lakehead System were approved by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, effective January 1, 1999, coinciding with the in-service date for the Partnership's system expansion programs.

Depreciation rates for the North Dakota System and the East Texas System are based on the lesser of the estimated remaining service lives of the properties or the estimated remaining life of crude oil or natural gas production in the basins served by the pipelines.

7. OTHER ASSETS, NET

	Dec	December 31,			
	2000		2001		
Customer Contracts	\$	\$	15.0		
Goodwill			15.0		
Other	7	.9	17.6		
	\$ 7	.9 \$	47.6		

8. DEBT

		December 31,			
			2000		2001
First Mortgage Notes		\$	310.0	\$	310.0
Revolving Credit Facility Agreement			190.0		137.0
Senior Unsecured Notes, Net			299.3		299.4
		_		_	
		\$	799.3	\$	746.4
Current partian					(31.0)
Current portion					(31.0)
		\$	799.3	\$	715.4
	F-29				

First Mortgage Notes

The First Mortgage Notes ("Notes") are secured by a first mortgage on substantially all of the property, plant and equipment of the Operating Partnership and are due and payable in ten equal annual installments beginning December 2002. The interest rate on the Notes is 9.15% per annum, payable semi-annually. The Notes contain various restrictive covenants applicable to the Partnership, and restrictions on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, including compliance with certain issuance tests. The General Partner believes these issuance tests will not negatively impact the Partnership's ability to finance future expansion projects. Under the Note Agreements, the Partnership cannot make cash distributions more frequently than quarterly in an amount not to exceed Available Cash (Note 4) for the immediately preceding calendar quarter. If the notes were to be paid prior to their stated maturities, the Note Agreements provide for the payment of a redemption premium by the Partnership.

Revolving Credit Facility Agreement

As of December 31, 2001, Partnership had a \$350.0 million Revolving Credit Facility Agreement scheduled to mature in September 2005. Upon drawdown, the loans are secured by a first lien on the mortgaged property that ranks equally with the Notes or may be fully collateralized with U.S. or Canadian government securities. The facility contains restrictive covenants substantially identical to those in the Note Agreements, provides for borrowing at variable interest rates and has a facility fee of 0.10% (2000 0.10%) per annum on the entire \$350.0 million. At December 31, 2001, \$137.0 million of the facility was utilized and was classified as long-term debt (2000 \$190.0 million). The interest rate on loans averaged 5.3% (2000 6.7%; 1999 5.4%) for the year and was 2.3% at the end of 2001 (2000 6.2%).

On January 29, 2002, the Partnership established two new unsecured credit facilities, a \$300.0 million three-year term facility and a \$300.0 million 364-Day facility, to replace the existing \$350.0 million Revolving Credit Facility. Under the terms of these new facilities, the Partnership and the Operating Partnership may borrow funds up to a combined maximum of \$300.0 million under the three-year term facility and a combined maximum of \$300.0 million under the 364-Day Facility. In addition, when no default exists, the Partnership may designate any of its subsidiaries that is a material subsidiary to borrow under either or both the facilities and subject to complying with certain administrative procedures, it will be permitted to borrow. Any borrowings under either facility will be guaranteed by the Partnership, the Operating Partnership and any of its material subsidiaries, unless it is the borrower. Upon closing, indebtedness under the \$350.0 million Revolving Credit Facility was refinanced with indebtedness drawn under the new credit facilities and the \$350.0 million Revolving Credit Facility was terminated.

Senior Unsecured Notes

The Operating Partnership has issued a total of \$300 million of senior unsecured notes. The notes pay interest semi-annually and have varying maturities and terms as outlined in the table

F-30

below. The senior unsecured notes do not contain any covenants restricting the issuance of additional indebtedness.

	December 31,								
Senior Unsecured Notes	Interest Rate	2000		2001					
Notes maturing in 2012	7.900% \$		\$	100.0					
Notes maturing in 2018 Notes maturing in 2028	7.000% 7.125%	100.0 100.0		100.0 100.0					
Unamoritized Discount		(0.7)	_	(0.6)					
	\$	299.3	\$	299.4					

Interest

Interest expense is net of amounts capitalized of \$0.3 million (2000 \$0.3 million; 1999 \$4.4 million). Interest paid amounted to \$57.0 million (2000 \$59.4 million; 1999 \$56.1 million).

Debt Service Reserve

Under the terms of the First Mortgage Notes and the Revolving Credit Facility in place at December 31, 2001, the Partnership is required to establish at the end of each quarter a debt service reserve in an amount equal to 50% of the prospective debt service payments for the immediate following calendar quarter. At December 31, 2001, the debt service reserve was \$1.0 million (2000 \$0.8 million).

The aggregate long-term maturities for the five years ending December 31, 2002 through 2006 are \$31.0 million per year of First Mortgage Notes and \$137.0 million borrowed on the Revolving Credit Facility in 2005.

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Partnership, which does not have any employees, uses the services of the General Partner and its affiliates for managing and operating its pipeline business. These services, which are reimbursed at cost in accordance with service agreements, amounted to \$36.9 million (2000 \$30.3 million; 1999 \$34.3 million) and are included in operating and administrative expenses. At December 31, 2001, the Partnership has accounts receivable from the General Partner and affiliates of \$0.3 million. At December 31, 2000, the Partnership had accounts receivable from the General Partner and affiliates of \$1.5 million.

The Partnership has entered into an easement acquisition agreement with Enbridge Holdings (Mustang) Inc. ("Enbridge Mustang"), an affiliate of the General Partner. Enbridge Mustang acquired certain real property for the purpose of granting pipeline easements to the Partnership for construction of a new pipeline, completed during 1998, by the Partnership from Superior, Wisconsin to Chicago, Illinois. In

order to provide for these real property acquisitions by Enbridge Mustang, the Partnership had made non-interest bearing cash advances to Enbridge Mustang. As Enbridge Mustang disposes of the real property, the advances are repaid. The advances amounted to

F-31

\$2.9 million at December 31, 2001 (2000 \$5.9 million). Under the terms of the agreement, the Partnership will reimburse Enbridge Mustang the net cost of acquiring, holding and disposing of the real property.

The Partnership has entered into an agreement with Tidal Energy Marketing Inc. ("Tidal") in which Enbridge Inc. has a 50% interest. Tidal is engaged in the business of crude oil and condensate marketing, transportation, storage and trading and providing related services. The agreement gives Tidal the ability to act as the Partnership's agent in the leasing of the Partnership's terminalling and storage facility, consisting of nine 100,000 barrels ("bbl") nominal capacity tanks and related facilities. The Partnership pays Tidal a monthly fee which includes 50% of the distributable proceeds from the tank leases. In 2001, the Partnership paid Tidal \$0.3 million, (2000, \$0.1 million).

A portion of the purchase price related to the acquisition of the East Texas System and the North Dakota System was financed with short term loans from the General Partner. In January 2002, these loans were refinanced with a subordinated loan payable to the General Partner which matures in January 2007. This loan bears interest at a floating market based rate and the Partnership has the right to repay the principal amount of this loan plus accrued interest at any time, without penalty.

The Partnership has entered into hedge transactions to substantially mitigate exposure to movements in commodity prices which arise from the Partnership's investment in the East Texas System. Enbridge currently provides a guarantee of the obligations in respect of these hedging transactions. Under the terms of the guarantee, the Partnership has agreed to pay Enbridge a fee, which is based on a formula that is consistent with what third party financial institutions would charge for this form of guarantee.

10. MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Operating revenue received from major customers was as follows:

	1999		2000	2001				
BP Canada Energy Company	\$ 71.9	\$	69.6	\$	73.4			
ExxonMobil Canada Energy	\$ 42.2	\$	48.3	\$	59.7			
PDV Midwest	\$ 23.7	\$	33.7	\$	21.4			
Imperial Oil Limited	\$ 33.3	\$	23.3	\$	24.0			

Year ended December 31.

The Partnership has a concentration of trade receivables from companies operating in the oil and gas industry. These receivables are collateralized by the crude oil and other products contained in the Partnership's pipeline and storage facilities.

F-32

11. CONTINGENCIES

Environment

The Partnership is subject to federal and state laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. Environmental risk is inherent to liquid and gas pipeline operations and the Partnership could, at times, be subject to environmental cleanup and enforcement actions. The General Partner manages this environmental risk through appropriate environmental policies and practices to minimize the impact to the Partnership. To the extent that the Partnership is unable to recover environmental costs in its rates, to the extent not recovered through insurance, the General Partner has agreed to indemnify the Partnership from and against any costs relating to environmental liabilities associated with the Lakehead System assets prior to the transfer to the Partnership in 1991. This excludes any liabilities resulting from a change in laws after such transfer. The Partnership continues to voluntarily investigate past leak sites on the Lakehead, North Dakota and East Texas Systems for the purpose of assessing whether any remediation is required in light of current regulations, and to date no material environmental risks have been identified.

Oil and Gas in Custody

The Partnership's Lakehead System and North Dakota assets transport crude oil and NGLs owned by its customers for a fee. The volume of liquid hydrocarbons in the Partnership's pipeline system at any one time approximates 14 million barrels, virtually all of which is owned by the Partnership's customers. Under terms of the Partnership's tariffs, losses of crude oil not resulting from direct negligence of the Partnership may be apportioned among its customers. In addition, the Partnership maintains adequate property insurance coverage with respect to crude oil and NGLs in the Partnership's custody.

Approximately 30% of the natural gas volume on the East Texas System is transported by customers on their contract with the remaining 70% purchased by the Partnership and sold to third parties downstream of the purchase point. The value of customer natural gas in custody of the East Texas System is not material to the Partnership.

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash equivalents approximate fair value because of the short-term maturities of these investments.

Based on the borrowing rates currently available for instruments with similar terms and remaining maturities, the carrying value of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility approximate fair value, the fair value of the First Mortgage Notes approximates \$342.6 million (2000 \$346.5 million) and the fair value of the Senior Unsecured Notes approximates \$291.4 million (2000 \$290.3 million). Due to defined contractual make-whole arrangements, refinancing of the First Mortgage Notes and Senior Unsecured Notes would not result in any financial benefit to the Partnership.

F-33

Fair Value of Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest rate risk:

The Partnership enters into interest rate swaps to manage the effect of future interest rate movements on its interest costs. These agreements, maturing July 2002, meet the criteria for hedge accounting and are treated as cash flow hedges. On January 1, 2001, the Partnership recorded an unrealized loss of \$0.1 million charged to Other Comprehensive Income, representing the transition adjustment for the cash flow hedges. During the year ended December 31, 2001, this payable increased to \$1.9 million due to revaluation of the floating to fixed interest rate swaps and the entire amount is reflected in Other Comprehensive Income.

Realized gains and losses on financial instruments used to hedge the Partnership's exposure to changes in future interest rates are recognized currently with the related interest expense.

Natural gas price risk:

Earnings and cash flows of the East Texas System are sensitive to changes in the price of natural gas and fractionation margins. To mitigate volatility of cash flows, the Partnership enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposures. Gains and losses on cash flow hedging instruments are reflected in other comprehensive income and recognized in net income in the periods when the underlying transaction occurs. If the derivative financial instrument is no longer effective as a hedge, the Partnership will recognize future changes in the value of the financial instrument in net income.

To hedge cash flow volatility associated with the East Texas System natural gas sales, at December 31, 2001, the Partnership has outstanding derivative financial instruments hedging 9,000 MMBtu/day of natural gas for a period approximating 10 years. The fair value of these contracts at December 31, 2001, is approximately \$8.5 million receivable. The entire amount of the corresponding gain is recorded in Other Comprehensive Income.

For the benefit of its customers, the East Texas System will enter into fixed price natural gas purchase contracts. No price risk is assumed by the East Texas System as simultaneous derivative financial instruments are put in place at the same time the customer contract is entered into. At December 31, 2001, the fair value of these derivative financial instruments is \$6.8 million receivable.

To hedge against unfavorable changes in processing fractionation margins, the Partnership has entered into a series of derivative financial instruments to sell components of natural gas liquids (ethane, propane, butane, condensate) through November 30, 2002. These hedges are done in conjunction with natural gas price hedges for 15,000 MMBtu/d to buy natural gas to hedge costs associated with processing liquids from the raw natural gas stream. Collectively, the value of these contracts at December 31, 2001 is approximately \$1.5 million payable. The entire amount of the corresponding loss is recorded in Other Comprehensive Income.

The financial instruments described above meet the criteria for hedge accounting and are treated as cash flow hedges with related gains or losses on the contracts recorded as operating revenue when the underlying transaction occurs.

F-34

At December 31, 2001, no material credit risk exposure existed as the General Partner enters into financial instruments only with creditworthy institutions that possess investment grade ratings.

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Partnership's operations are segmented based on the type of business activity and management control. The Partnership's transportation pipelines primarily receive, and deliver, crude oil, liquid hydrocarbons, natural gas, and natural gas liquids to, and from, other pipelines, refineries and provide gathering functions in certain areas.

The Partnership provides marketing services to its customers. The Partnership's marketing activities include providing natural gas supply and sales services to some of its end-user customers by purchasing the natural gas supply from other marketers, pipeline affiliates, and natural gas producers and reselling the natural gas to the end-user. Natural gas processing revenues are realized from the extraction and sale of NGLs as well as the sale of the residual natural gas.

The "Other" column consists of costs of financing, interest income and minority interest, which are not allocated to the other business segments.

The following table presents certain financial information relating to the Company's business segments as of or for the year ended December 31, 2001. As discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the results from the East Texas System were included since November 30, 2001. Comparative segment information for years 2000 and 1999 is not comparable, as a result of the Partnership having only one segment in prior years. December 2001 results for gas pipeline marketing and processing are not representative of full year expectations due to a maintenance shut down during the month.

As of or for the Year Ended December 31, 2001

	Tra	nsportation	Ma	rketing	Pro	ocessing	Other	 Γotals
Operating revenues	\$	311.7	\$	26.1	\$	2.6		\$ 340.4
Power		49.9						49.9
Cost of natural gas				24.1		2.2		26.3
Operating and administrative		102.9		1.4		0.2		104.5
Depreciation		63.1		0.6		0.1		63.8
Operating Income		95.8				0.1		95.9
Interest and other							2.8	2.8
Interest expense							(59.3)	(59.3)
		95.8				0.1	(56.5)	39.4
Minority interest							(0.5)	(0.5)
Net income		95.8				0.1	(57.0)	38.9
		75.10				0.11	(3710)	00.7

As of or for the Year Ended December 31, 2001

Total Assets	1,393.8	212.3	43.1	 1,649.2
Capital Expenditures (excluding acquisitions)	\$ 35.0			\$ 35.0
	F-35			

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(Dollars in Millions, Except Per Unit Amounts)

2000 Quarters		First		Second		Third		Fourth		Total
	_		_		_		_			
Operating revenue	\$	78.8	\$	78.3	\$	74.9	\$	73.6	\$	305.6
Operating income	\$	33.3	\$	31.2	\$	29.0	\$	23.0	\$	116.5
Net income	\$	20.1	\$	16.5	\$	14.2	\$	9.4	\$	60.2
Net income per unit(1)	\$	0.62	\$	0.49	\$	0.42	\$	0.25	\$	1.78
2001 Quarters		First		Second		Third		Fourth		Total
			_		_		_		_	
Operating revenue	\$	71.9	\$	81.1	\$	75.9	\$	111.5	\$	340.4
Operating income	\$	24.7	\$	25.9	\$	20.5	\$	24.8	\$	95.9
Net income	\$	10.1	\$	11.6	\$	6.6	\$	10.6	\$	38.9
ret meome	Ψ	10.1	Ψ	11.0	Ψ	0.0	Ψ	10.0	Ψ	20.7

(1) The General Partner's allocation of net income has been deducted before calculating net income per unit.

F-36

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

	er	Three Months ended March 31, 2002					
		(unaudited, in millions)					
Operating revenue							
Energy marketing	\$	84.5	\$	114.0			
Transportation		21.9		29.5			
Processing		84.7		135.8			

	Three Months ended March 31, 2002	Four Months ended April 30, 2002
	191.1	279.3
_		
Expenses	150.6	226.0
Cost of natural gas	158.5	
Operating and administrative	15.9	23.2
Depreciation and amortization	5.0	7.0
	179.4	266.2
Operating income	11.7	13.1
Interest and other income	(0.5)	(0.5)
Interest expense	(4.4	4) (6.4)
	-	
Income before income taxes	6.8	6.2
Provision for income taxes	1.5	
Current	1.5	
Deferred	(4.2	(4.2)
	(2.5	
Net Income	\$ 4.3	3 \$ 4.0

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-37

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	en	ded en	Months ded 60, 2002				
		(unaudited, in millions)					
Cash provided from operating activities							
Net income	\$	4.3 \$	4.0				
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash							
provided from operating activities:							
Depreciation and amortization		5.0	7.0				
Deferred income taxes		4.2	4.2				
Other		1.1	(0.2)				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities		4.4	(3.5)				

	Three M endo March 3	ed	Four Months ended April 30, 2002
		19.0	11.5
Investing activities			
Acquisitions (Note 2)		(189.6)	(189.6)
Capital expenditures		(17.8)	(27.2)
		(207.4)	(216.8)
Financing activities			
Due to affiliates		221.4	221.4
		221.4	221.4
Increase in cash and cash equivalents		33.0	16.1
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period		1.9	1.9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	34.9 \$	18.0

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-38

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

March 31, 2002

April 30, 2002

(unaudited, in millions)				
\$	34.9	\$	18.0	
	82.0		94.6	
	13.9		4.8	
	130.8		117.4	
	246.4		247.3	
	656.0		663.4	
\$	1,033.2	\$	1,028.1	
	_	\$ 34.9 82.0 13.9 130.8 246.4 656.0	\$ 34.9 \$ 82.0 13.9 130.8 246.4 656.0	

	March 31, 2002	Ap	pril 30, 2002
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHO	OLDER'S EQUITY		
Current liabilities			
Accounts payable and other liabilities	\$ 88.5	\$	68.9
Due to affiliates	0.8		16.7
		_	
	89.3		85.6
Due to affiliates	540.6		540.6
Other liabilities	16.2		20.3
Deferred income taxes	27.0		18.1
Minority interest	0.5		0.5
Shareholder's equity:			
Paid-in-capital	368.0		368.0
Retained earnings	7.3		6.8
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(15.7))	(11.8)
	359.6		363.0
	\$ 1,033.2	\$	1,028.1

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

F-39

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited)

(in millions; except per unit amounts)

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, they contain all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which management considers necessary to present fairly the financial position as at March 31, 2002 and April 30, 2002; the results of operations for the three month and four month periods ended March 31, 2002 and April 30, 2002; and cash flows for the three month and four month periods ended March 31, 2002 and April 30, 2002. The results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2002 and four month ended April 30, 2002 should not be taken as indicative of the results to be expected for the full year. The interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc.'s consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

2. **Acquisition**

In March 2002, the Company acquired natural gas gathering and processing facilities in northeast Texas for cash consideration of \$180.6 million. The facilities are complementary to Enbridge Midcoast's assets.

The results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. All of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Fair value of assets acquired:

Property, plant and equipment	\$	152.1
Goodwill		30.0
Working capital deficiency		(1.5)
	_	
	\$	180.6
	_	

The acquisition was funded with loans from affiliated companies.

F-40

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of shareholders' equity, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. and its subsidiaries (formerly known as Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc.) at December 31, 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the period from May 1, 2001 to December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Houston, Texas May 15, 2002

F-41

Report of Independent Accountants

To the Shareholder and Board of Directors of Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of shareholders' equity, and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2000, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the period from January 1, 2001 to April 30, 2001 and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2000 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities effective January 1, 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Houston, Texas May 15, 2002

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	December 31,			,
	2000			2001
	(Pı	redecessor)		
ASSETS				
Current Assets				
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	4,619	\$	1,924
Accounts and notes receivable, net of allowance of \$1,096 and \$4,434,	•	1,022	_	2,7 = 1
respectively		144,649		69,599
Inventory		7,730		17,158
			_	
Total Current Assets		156,998		88,681
			_	
Property, Plant and Equipment, net (Note 4)		416,046		482,075
Other Assets (Note 5)		26,276		216,958
			_	
Total Assets	\$	599,320	\$	787,714
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY				
Current Liabilities				
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$	146,347	\$	80,126
Long-term Debt (Note 6)	Ψ	255,999	Ψ.	00,120
Other Liabilities		782		7,876
Due to Affiliates (Note 10)				319,200
Deferred Income Taxes (Note 13)		17,746		16,685
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)				
Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries		595		451
Shareholders' Equity:				
Common stock, par value \$.01 and \$1,000 per share; authorized 31,250,000 and 1 shares; issued 12,738,109 and 1, respectively		127		1
Paid-in capital		166,028		368,039
Retained earnings		14,941		3,080
Accumulated other comprehensive income		2		(7,744)
Treasury stock (at cost), 201,908 and 0 treasury shares, respectively		(3,247)		
			_	
Total Shareholders' Equity		177,851		363,376
Tom. Silutonolide Equity		177,031		303,370

Decembe	r 31	,
599,320	\$	787,714

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-43

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

	For the Years Ende	ed December 31,	Four Months Ended April 30,	Eight Months Ended December 31,
	1999	2000	2001	2001
	(Predecessor)	(Predecessor)	(Predecessor)	
Operating Revenues:				
Energy marketing revenue	\$ 346,956 \$	690,935	\$ 374,805	\$ 380,387
Transportation and gathering fees	26,657	59,407	18,175	33,615
Natural gas processing and treating revenue	15,564	38,871	12,650	19,022
Other.	2,394	3,133	1,323	5,450
Total operating revenues	391,571	792,346	406,953	438,474
Operating Expenses:				
Energy marketing expenses	319,207	656,990	383,364	355,559
Natural gas processing and treating costs	11,244	25,520	7,481	9,082
Other operating expenses	21,556	30,737	11,614	22,422
Depreciation and amortization	7,545	15,695	5,715	15,527
General and administrative	6,708	13,975	16,439	11,854
Taxes other than income	1,723	3,925	1,445	2,853
Unusual charges	2,685			
Total operating expenses	370,668	746,842	426,058	417,297
Operating income/(loss) Non-Operating Items:	20,903	45,504	(19,105)	21,177
Interest expense	(6,533)	(18,489)	(9,431)	(13,976)
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries	(43)	(88)	(55)	(42)
Other income/(expense), net	(137)	1,837	616	167
Total non-operating items	(6,713)	(16,740)	(8,870)	(13,851)
	14,190	28,764	(27,975)	7,326

	For the Years End	ded December 31,	Four Months Ended April 30,	Eight Months Ended December 31,
Income/(loss) before income taxes and extraordinary item				
Provision for income taxes:				
Current	(1,833)	(684)	8,442	2,130
Deferred	(336)	(6,712)	890	(6,376)
Income/(loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle Extraordinary item, net of income tax provision of \$300	12,021	21,368	(18,643)	3,080
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle, net of income tax provision of \$457	(362)		(850)	
Net income/(loss)	\$ 11,439	\$ 21,368	\$ (19,493)	\$ 3,080
Earnings per common share: Basic				
Income/(loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle	\$ 1.31	\$ 1.71	\$ (1.48)	
Extraordinary item	(.06)			
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle			(0.07)	
Net income/(loss)	\$ 1.25	\$ 1.71	\$ (1.55)	
Diluted				
Income/(loss) before extraordinary item and cumulative effect of change in accounting	\$ 1.28	\$ 1.68	\$ (1.48)	
Extraordinary item Cumulative effect of change in accounting	(.06)		(0.07)	
principle			(0.07)	
Net income/(loss)	\$ 1.22	\$ 1.68	\$ (1.55)	
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding:				
Basic	9,176,201	12,506,346	12,569,640	
Diluted	9,400,754	12,756,414	12,569,640	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-44

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

	For the Years Ended December 31,					or the Four onths Ended April 30,	For the Eight Months Ended December 31,	
	1999 (Predecessor)		2000			2001	2001	
			((Predecessor) (Predecessor		(Predecessor)		_
Net income/(loss)	\$	11,439	\$	21,368	\$	(19,493)	\$	3,080
Derivative financial instruments: Cumulative effect of transition adjustment, net of tax of						2.045		
\$2,971 Loss on fair value, net of tax recovery of \$2,845 and \$4,330, respectively						3,847		(6,715)
Foreign currency translation adjustment		71		(69)		(26)		(1,029)
Comprehensive (loss)/income	\$	11,510	\$	21,299	\$	(20,407)	\$	(4,664)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-45

ENBRDIGE MIDCOAST ENERGY INC.

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands)

	Comm	on Stock			Accumulated				
	Shares	Amounts	Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings (Deficit)	Other Comprehensive Income	Shares	Amounts	Total Shareholders' Equity	
Balance, December 31, 1998 (predecessor)	7,150	\$ 71	\$ 80,955	\$ (11,947) \$	6	(181) \$	(2,791) \$	66,288	
Net income				11,439				11,439	
Stock options exercised			42					42	
Sale of common stock	5,572	56	84,772					84,828	
Treasury stock purchased						(144)	(2,406)	(2,406)	
Treasury stock issued in connection with acquisitions Foreign currency translation			195			164	2,627	2,822	
adjustment					71	[71	
Common stock dividends, \$0.27 per share				(2,407)				(2,407)	
Balance, December 31, 1999 (predecessor)	12,722	\$ 127	\$ 165,964	\$ (2,915) \$	7 1	(161) \$	(2,570) \$	160,677	

	Common S	tock			Accumulated Other	Treasury	Stock	
37				21.260	Comprehensive			21.269
Net income Stock options exercised	6		90	21,368	Income			21,368 90
Warrants exercised	10		90	_				90
Treasury stock purchased	10					(101)	(1,566)	(1,566)
Treasury stock issued in						(101)	(1,500)	(1,500)
connection with acquisitions			165			60	889	1,054
Foreign currency translation			100			00	00)	1,00 .
adjustment					(69)			(69)
Common stock dividends,					` ,			
\$0.28 per share				(3,512)				(3,512)
Other			(191)					(191)
Balance, December 31,								
2000 (predecessor)	12,738 \$	127 \$	166,028 \$	14,941 \$	2	(202) \$	(3,247) \$	177,851
2 000 (p 1 2 00000001)	12,750 \$	12, 0	100,020 \$	11,511		(202) \$	(5,2.7) \$	177,001
								(10.100)
Net loss				(19,493)		(2)	(64)	(19,493)
Treasury stock purchased						(2)	(64)	(64)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)					(914)			(914)
Common stock dividends,					(914)			(914)
\$0.10 per share				(2,149)				(2,149)
Options exercised	166	8	1,839	(2,14))				1,847
Other	100	Ü	(44)	(175)				(219)
			()	(170)				(=1)
Balance, April 30, 2001								
(predecessor)	12,904 \$	135 \$	167,823 \$	(6,876) \$	(912)	(204) \$	(3,311) \$	156,859
Purchase price adjustments								
at May 1, 2001	(12,903)	(134)	193,014	6,876	912	204	3,311	203,979
Balance May 1, 2001, as		, í	·					
adjusted	1	1	360,837					360,838
Net income				3,080				3,080
Other comprehensive								
income/(loss)					(7,744)			(7,744)
Capital contribution			7,000					7,000
Other			202					202
Balance December 31,								
2001	1 \$	1 \$	368,039 \$	3,080 \$	(7,744)	\$	\$	363,376
	·			,	(-77)			- /

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-46

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC.,

(an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

For the Year End	ded December 31,	For the Four Months Ended April 30,	For the Eight Months Ended December 31,
1999	2000	2001	2001

	For the Year Ende	d December 31,	For the Four Months Ended April 30,	For the Eight Months Ended December 31,
	(Predecessor)	(Predecessor)	(Predecessor)	
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:				
Net income/(loss) Adjustments to arrive at net cash (used)/provided by operating activities:	\$ 11,439 \$	21,368	\$ (19,493)	\$ 3,080
Depreciation and amortization	7,545	15,695	5,715	15,527
Deferred income taxes	336	6,712	1,347	6,376
Extraordinary charge, net of tax	582	,	·	ŕ
Other	(129)	(3,577)	(178)	(1,649)
Changes in working capital accounts:	,	,	,	,
Decrease (Increase) in accounts receivable	(11,396)	(86,199)	59,107	13,842
Decrease (Increase) in other current assets	186	(3,146)	1,899	4,311
(Decrease) Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities	8,136	75,113	(48,859)	(63,281)
Net cash (used)/provided by operating activities	16,699	25,966	(462)	(21,794)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:				
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired	(238,104)	(22,752)		(1,229)
Capital expenditures	(16,562)	(16,528)	(10,773)	(50,185)
Other	368	(1,157)	(656)	42
Net cash used by investing activities	(254,298)	(40,437)	(11,429)	(51,372)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:				
Bank debt borrowings	194,658	125,806	31,760	156,628
Bank debt repayments	(33,599)	(109,878)	(24,600)	(419,786)
Net proceeds from equity offerings	84,870			
Financing costs	(1,372)		1,581	
Contribution from affiliate.				7,000
Loans from affiliates				319,200
Cash overdrafts		6,659		10,295
Treasury stock purchases	(2,406)	(1,566)	(64)	
Dividends on common stock	(2,407)	(3,512)	(879)	
Other		(764)	1,849	(622)
Net cash provided by financing activities	239,744	16,745	9,647	72,715
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents	2,145	2,274	(2,244)	(451)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	200	2,345	4,619	2,375
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 2,345 \$	5 4,619	\$ 2,375	\$ 1,924

	For the Year Ended December 31,			Moi	r the Four nths Ended April 30,	For the Eight Months Ended December 31,	
Supplemental Disclosures:							
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized	\$	7,357	\$ 19,928	\$	4,021	\$	11,982
Cash paid for income taxes	\$	460 5	\$ 1,813	\$	98	\$	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-47

Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Organization and Business:

The Company, along with its subsidiaries and its affiliated companies, is primarily engaged in the transportation, gathering, processing and marketing of natural gas and other petroleum products. The Company owns and operates four interstate transmission pipeline systems, 20 intrastate transmission and wholesale customer pipeline systems, and gathering systems, in total representing approximately 4,000 miles of pipeline with an aggregate daily throughput capacity of approximately 4.0 billion cubic feet of natural gas per day. Operations also include three gas processing and two treating plants, 98 natural gas liquid, crude oil and carbon dioxide trucks and trailers and 45 rail cars. The Company's principal business consists of providing transportation services to natural gas producers and wholesale customers, providing natural gas marketing services to these customers and processing natural gas. In connection with these services, the Company acquires and constructs pipelines to meet these customers' needs. The Company's principal assets are located in the Gulf Coast and Mid-Continent areas.

On May 11, 2001, Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. was acquired by Enbridge Inc. ("Enbridge"). Enbridge acquired all of the common stock of Midcoast for \$27 per share in cash. Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. was then renamed Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. (the Company), effective May 1, 2001. The acquisition cost exceeded the acquired net assets. The \$196.2 million excess was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values at May 1, 2001, with the residual included as goodwill. The allocation included a working capital reduction of \$27.4 million, \$18.4 million to property, plant and equipment, the recognition of a \$6.8 million deferred tax liability and goodwill of \$212.0 million.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. Investments in entities which are not subsidiaries, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method. Other investments are accounted for at cost. The financial statements for previous periods include certain reclassifications that were made to conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassifications have no impact on reported net income or shareholders' equity.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires the Company's management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities that exist at the date of the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Regulation

Certain of the Company's activities are subject to regulation by various authorities, including the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC"), and follow the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 71, "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation." Regulatory bodies exercise statutory authority over matters such as construction, rates

F-48

and underlying accounting practices, and ratemaking agreements with customers. In order to achieve a proper matching of revenues and expenses, the timing of recognition of certain revenues and expenses in these operations may differ from that otherwise expected, in the absence of SFAS No. 71. Approximately 50% of the Company's operations are subject to regulation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers short-term, highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Operational Balancing Agreements

To facilitate deliveries of natural gas and provide for operating flexibility, the Company has operational balancing agreements in place with other interconnecting pipelines. A balancing agreement ensures that the volume of gas a shipper schedules for transportation between two interconnecting pipelines equals the volume actually delivered. If natural gas moves between pipelines in volumes that are more or less than the volumes previously scheduled, the difference results in a net receivable or payable balance between the interconnecting pipelines. These are settled through cash-out procedures specified in each tariff or operational balancing agreements or recovered or repaid through the receipt or delivery of natural gas in the future. Such imbalances are recorded as current assets or current liabilities on the balance sheet using the posted index prices of the applicable FERC-approved tariffs, which approximate market rates or our weighted average cost of gas ("WACOG").

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of materials and supplies, natural gas and liquid petroleum products. Inventories of materials and supplies utilized for ongoing replacements and expansions are carried at average cost and are reviewed regularly and adjusted to their net realizable value. The natural gas and liquid petroleum products are carried at lower of cost or market.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Interstate and intrastate natural gas transmission, distribution and processing facilities and other equipment are stated at cost and depreciated by the straight-line method at rates based on the following estimated useful lives of the assets:

Interstate natural gas transmission facilities	15 - 66 Years
Intrastate natural gas transmission facilities	15 - 60 Years
Pipeline right-of-ways	17 Years
Natural gas processing facilities	30 Years
Other property and equipment	3 - 10 Years

For regulated interstate natural gas transmission facilities, the cost of additions to property, plant and equipment includes direct labor and material, allocable overhead and an allowance for the estimated cost of funds used during construction ("AFUDC"). Such provisions for AFUDC are not reflected separately in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations due to the

F-49

amounts not being material. Maintenance and repairs, including the cost of renewals of minor items of property, are charged principally to expense as incurred. Major additions, replacements and improvements of property are charged to the appropriate property accounts. Upon retirement of a pipeline plant asset, its cost is charged to accumulated depreciation together with the cost of removal, less salvage value.

For all other non-regulated assets, repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred; renewals and betterments are capitalized including any direct labor. Upon retirement or disposal, the net book value of the assets, net of any sale proceeds or retirement costs, is recorded as a charge or credit to income.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of," the Company evaluates the long-lived assets, including related intangibles, of identifiable business activities for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate, in management's judgment, that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. The determination of whether an impairment has occurred is based on management's estimate of undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the assets as compared to the carrying value of the assets. If an impairment has occurred, the amount of the impairment recognized is determined by estimating the fair value for the assets and recording a provision for loss if the carrying value is greater than fair value. For assets identified to be disposed of in the future, the carrying value of these assets is compared to the estimated fair value less the cost to sell to determine if an impairment is required. Until the assets are disposed of, an estimate of the fair value is redetermined when related events or circumstances change.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets upon acquisition of a business and is amortized on a straight-line basis over 30 years. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 related to goodwill and other intangible assets. Under the new standard, goodwill will not be amortized but will be tested for impairment at least annually and written down if recorded value exceeds fair value.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recorded when products have been delivered or services have been performed. Certain of the Company's operations are subject to regulation. In these situations, revenue is recognized in a manner that is consistent with the underlying rate design as mandated by the regulatory authority.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are based on income reported for tax return purposes along with a provision for deferred income taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided to reflect the tax consequences in future years of differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Tax credits are accounted for under the flow-through method, which reduces the provision for

F-50

income taxes in the year the tax credits first become available. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, based upon management's estimates, it is more likely than not that a portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized in a future period. The estimates utilized in the recognition of deferred tax assets are subject to revision in future periods based on new facts or circumstances.

Derivative Financial Instruments

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, the Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments as assets and liabilities and measures them at fair value. For derivative financial instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge, the effective portions of changes in fair value of the derivative are recorded in other comprehensive income and are recognized in the income statement when the hedged item affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge treatment are recognized currently in earnings. The related cash flows from those derivative financial instruments accounted for as hedges are classified in the same category as the items being hedged.

Prior to December 31, 2000, unrealized gains and losses on hedge contracts are deferred and recognized in income in the same manner as the hedged item. These contracts are initially and regularly evaluated to determine that there is a high correlation between changes in the fair value of the hedge contract and fair value of the hedged item. In instances where the anticipated correlation of price movements does not occur, hedge accounting is terminated and future changes in the value of the instruments are recognized as gains or losses in the statement of operations. If the hedged item of the underlying transaction is sold or settled, the instrument is recognized in income. The income effect and cash flows from these items are included in the same balances as the underlying transactions on the statement of operations and of cash flows.

Net income and cash flows are subject to volatility stemming mainly from changes in interest rates, natural gas prices, and fractionation margins. In order to manage the risks, the Company uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to create offsetting positions to specific commodity or interest rate exposures. All of these financial instruments are employed in connection with an underlying asset, liability or anticipated transaction and are not used for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are used primarily to hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements, to manage natural gas purchases and to hedge fractionation margins associated with processing assets. (See Note 11 for additional information.)

Capitalization of Interest

The Company capitalizes interest on major projects during construction. Interest is capitalized on borrowed funds and, where regulation by the FERC exists, on internally generated funds. The rates used by regulated companies are calculated in accordance with FERC rules. Rates used by unregulated companies are based on the average interest rate on related debt.

F-51

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of certain foreign subsidiaries with functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar are translated at the spot foreign currency exchange rate in effect at the applicable reporting date, and the combined statements of operations are translated at the average rates in effect during the applicable period. The resulting cumulative translation adjustment is recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities." This Statement requires that all derivatives be recognized at fair value in the balance sheet and all changes in fair value be recognized currently in earnings or deferred as a component of other comprehensive income, depending on the intended use of the derivative. The Company adopted SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001. The cumulative effect of the accounting change associated with the initial adoption of SFAS No. 133 resulted in a \$3.8 million increase in other comprehensive income, net of taxes and a \$0.9 million charge to earnings as a cumulative effect change in accounting principle.

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations." This Statement requires the use of the purchase method for all business combinations. In addition, it requires the reassessment of intangible assets to determine if they are appropriately classified either separately or within goodwill. This Statement is effective for business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. The Company adopted SFAS No. 141 on July 1, 2001 with no impact on results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets". Under SFAS No.142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives will not be amortized but will be reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives, which will not be limited to a maximum life of forty years. The Company adopted SFAS No.142 on January 1, 2002. As of May 15, 2002, the initial impairment assessment has not been completed. With the adoption of SFAS No. 142, goodwill of \$207.5 million is no longer subject to amortization.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143 "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" under which retirement obligations will be recognized at fair value in the period they are incurred. When the liability is initially recorded, the cost is capitalized by increasing the asset's carrying value, which is subsequently depreciated over its useful life. SFAS No.143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effects if any, of adopting SFAS No. 143, on its financial condition and results of operations as well as the timing of its adoption.

Also, in October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets". SFAS No. 144 establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale. The Statement retains most of the requirements in SFAS No. 121 related to the recognition of impairment of long-lived assets to be held and used. The Company

adopted SFAS No. 144 on January 1, 2002. This standard is not expected to have a material impact on results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

Note 3. Acquisitions:

Northeast Texas Acquisition

In March 2002, the Company purchased natural gas gathering and processing facilities in Northeast Texas for \$178.0 million. The Northeast Texas facilities include 1,200 miles of natural gas gathering pipelines, seven gas treating plants with an elemental sulphur capacity of more than 900 long tons per day, five gas processing plants with a capacity of 215 million cubic feet per day ("mmcfd"), and two nitrogen rejection plants with a capacity of 75 mmcfd.

South Texas Acquisition

In October 2001, the Company agreed to purchase natural gas gathering, treating and transmission assets in south Texas. The Company agreed to acquire 492 miles of gas mainlines regulated by the FERC and 175 miles of non-FERC regulated assets including gathering systems and pipeline laterals for \$50.0 million. Closing of the acquisition is subject to regulatory approvals including approval by FERC to remove the mainlines from jurisdiction under the Natural Gas Act. As of May 2002 the Company had purchased the non-FERC regulated assets for a total of \$9.0 million in cash consideration. The remaining assets will be purchased on receipt of regulatory approval.

The Kansas Pipeline Company Acquisition

In November 1999, the Company acquired KPC and other related entities for cash consideration of approximately \$195.2 million which included the repayment of \$68.4 million in existing KPC senior secured notes and other indebtedness. KPC owns and operates a 1,120-mile regulated interstate natural gas pipeline system. The system extends into two major segments from northwestern and northeastern Oklahoma through Wichita and into the Kansas City metropolitan area. The system's two principal customers are divisions of ONEOK, Inc. and Southern Union Company, which are the local distribution companies for Wichita and Kansas City. KPC derives 97% of its gross margin from a series of long-term transportation contracts with these two principal customers. KPC is capable of delivering approximately 140 mmcfd and 21 mmcfd of natural gas into the Kansas City and Wichita marketplaces, respectively. KPC is one of only three pipeline systems currently capable of delivering natural gas into the Kansas City metropolitan market. The acquisition was funded through the Company's credit facility.

In conjunction with the acquisition of KPC, the Company opted to terminate a revenue sharing agreement with an affiliate of the selling party by agreeing to pay approximately \$10.8 million in January 2000.

In addition to the acquisition discussed above, the Company made several additional, individually insignificant acquisitions in 1999. The Company utilized the purchase method of accounting to record all of its acquisitions. Accordingly, the operating results of these acquired businesses have been included in the statements of operations from the date of acquisition. At the acquisition date, the respective assets and liabilities acquired were recorded at their estimated fair

F-53

values. Any excess of the purchase price over fair value was allocated to goodwill. In connection with its 1999 acquisition activity, the Company acquired certain assets and liabilities to include approximately \$229.8 million in property, plant and equipment, \$35.4 million in other non-cash assets and \$24.3 million in assumed liabilities. Furthermore, the Company issued approximately \$2.8 million of treasury stock as consideration.

Note 4. Property, Plant, and Equipment:

Property, plant, and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

Decem	ber 31,
2000	2001
(predecessor)	

December	21
December	ы.

Property, Plant, and Equipment:			
Transmission	\$ 326,774	\$	339,977
Gathering and Processing	95,513		102,783
Marketing	170		639
Corporate and Other	4,391		27,306
Construction in Progress	15,679		52,673
	 	_	
	442,527		523,378
Less: Accumulated Depreciation	26,481		41,303
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment, net	\$ 416,046	\$	482,075

Note 5. Other Assets:

Other assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	December 31,			
		2000		2001
	(pro	edecessor)		
Regulatory assets, net of accumulated amortization of \$7,450 and \$2,282 Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of \$310 and \$4,540	\$	18,165 4,822	\$	7,483 207,482
Other		3,289		1,993
	\$	26,276	\$	216,958

Goodwill at December 31, 2001 is related entirely to the acquisition of Midcoast Energy Resources, Inc. by Enbridge Inc. and represents the excess of cost over the fair value of the assets acquired.

Note 6. Long-term Debt:

At December 31, 2000, the Company had a revolving credit line with a bank under a \$300 million promissory note bearing interest at 8.22% with \$256.0 million outstanding. In 2001, the revolving credit line was settled with proceeds received from affiliate loans and the promissory note was cancelled.

F-54

Note 7. Capital Stock:

Effective May 1, 2001 and pursuant to the acquisition by Enbridge Inc., all outstanding shares of Common Stock purchased were replaced by one share held by Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc., as the sole shareholder of the Company.

In May 1999, the Company sold 3.57 million shares of its Common Stock at an offering price of \$16.31 per share. Proceeds of \$54.5 million, net of issuance costs, were used to pay down existing long-term debt.

In December 1999, the Company sold 2 million shares of its Common Stock at an offering price of \$16.06 per share. Proceeds of \$30.2 million, net of issuance costs, were used to repay existing long-term debt, consummate an acquisition and provide working capital for general corporate purposes.

Note 8. Stock Option Plans:

Prior to the acquisition by Enbridge Inc., the Company had two stock option plans: the 1996 Incentive Stock Plan (the "Incentive Plan") and the 1997 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the "Director's Plan"). Pursuant to the acquisition by Enbridge Inc. in 2001, the Incentive Plan, the Director's Plan, and all outstanding options were cancelled.

In May 1996, the Board adopted the Incentive Plan, which was subsequently approved by the Company's shareholders in May 1997. All employees, including officers (whether or not directors) and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries, are currently eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan. Persons who are not in an employment or consulting relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including non-employee directors, are not eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan. Under the Incentive Plan, 1,000,000 shares of the Company's common stock are reserved for issuance.

The Incentive Plan provides for the grant of (i) incentive stock options, (ii) shares of restricted stock, (iii) performance awards payable in cash or common stock, (iv) shares of phantom stock, and (v) stock bonuses. In addition, the Incentive Plan provides for the grant of cash bonuses payable when a participant is required to recognize income for federal income tax purposes in connection with the vesting of shares of restricted stock or the issuance of shares of common stock upon the grant of a performance award or a stock bonus, provided that such cash bonus may not exceed the fair market value (as defined) of the shares of Common Stock received on the grant or exercise, as the case may be, of an Incentive Award.

With respect to incentive stock options, no option may be granted more than ten years after the effective date of the stock option plan or exercised more than ten years after the date of the grant (five years if the optionee owns more than 10% of the common stock of the Company at the date of the grant). Additionally, with regard to incentive stock options, the exercise price of the options may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the grant (110% if the optionee owns more than 10% of the common stock of the Company). Subject to certain limited exceptions, options may not be exercised unless, at the time of the exercise, the optionee is in the service of the Company. In general, options granted under the incentive plan vest at a rate of one-fifth each year.

F-55

Transactions with regard to incentive stock options issued pursuant to the Incentive Plan are as follows:

Stock Options

	1999)	200	00	2001		
	Number of Shares Underlying Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Shares Underlying Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Shares Underlying Options	Weighted Average Exercise Price	
Outstanding at beginning of the year	441,814 \$	11.32	464,689	\$ 11.55	630,864	12.67	
Granted	64,375	16.68	195,925	15.80	117,500	22.10	
Exercised	(2,500)	16.80	(5,750)	15.66	(65,226)	10.83	
Forfeited/Repurchased	(39,000)	17.14	(24,000)	15.73			
Cancelled on acquisition					(683,138)	14.46	
Outstanding at end of year	464,689 \$	11.55	630,864	\$ 12.67			
Exercisable at end of year	152,289 \$	9.92	232,173	\$ 10.37			

In April 1997, the Board adopted the Director's Plan, which was subsequently approved by the Company's shareholders in May 1997. The Director's Plan is for the benefit of Directors of the Company, who at the time of their service, are not employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Under the Director's Plan, 150,000 shares of the Company's common stock are reserved for issuance.

The Director's Plan provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options ("NQO"), the provisions of which do not qualify as "incentive stock options" under the Internal Revenue Code. Options granted under the Director's Plan must have an exercise price at least equal to the fair

market value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant. Pursuant to the Director's Plan, options to purchase 15,000 shares of common stock are granted to each non-employee director upon their initial election to the Board. In addition, all non-employee Directors are eligible to receive a NQO to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock at the time of the Directors re-election to the Board, subject to share availability. Options granted under the Director's Plan are fully vested upon issue and expire ten years after the date of the grant.

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

Assumption:	1999	2000	2001
Expected Term in Years	6.35	6.64	7
Expected Volatility	33.04%	26.43%	24.91%
Expected Dividends	0.4%	1.8%	1.3%
Risk-Free Interest Rate	5.95%	6.60%	5.16%

The Black-Scholes weighted average fair value of all options granted under both plans during 2001, 2000, and 1999 was \$7.32, \$5.36, and \$7.10, respectively.

F-56

The Company applies Accounting Pronouncement Bulletin (APB) No. 25 and related Interpretations in accounting for its plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for its stock option plans. Had compensation expense for the Company's stock-based compensation plans been determined applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company's net income and net income per common share for 2001, 2000, and 1999 would approximate the pro forma amounts below (in thousands, except per share data):

		Year Ended December 31, 1999		Year Ended December 31, 2000			Four Months Ended April 30, 2001				
	F	As Reported	,	Pro Forma		As Reported		Pro Forma		As Reported	Pro Forma
Net income/(loss)	\$	11,439	\$	11,121	\$	21,368	\$	21,194	\$	(19,493) \$	(19,692)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share	\$	1.25	\$	1.21	\$	1.71	\$	1.69	\$	(1.55) \$	(1.56)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share	\$	1.22	\$	1.18	\$	1.68	\$	1.66	\$	(1.55) \$	(1.56)

Note 9. Employee Benefits:

In December 1996, the Company established a defined contribution 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan for its employees. The plan provides participants with a mechanism for making contributions for retirement savings. Each participant may contribute certain amounts of eligible compensation. The Company made a matching contribution to the plan, which is recognized as compensation expense in the year incurred, of approximately \$305,000, \$410,000, \$179,000, and \$345,000 for years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000 and the four months ended April 30, 2001 and the eight months ended December 31, 2001, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2002 employees of the Company became employees of Enbridge Employee Services Inc. and became eligible to participate in the Enbridge 401(K) Savings Plan. The employees' contributions are matched up to a maximum of 5% of each employee's contribution. The Company (through its parent, Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.) sponsors other plans for the benefit of employees. These plans include health and dental care, life insurance, accidental death and dismemberment, short-term disability, long-term disability and business travel accident insurance.

Note 10. Related Party Transactions:

Affiliates refer to Enbridge Inc. and companies that are either directly or indirectly owned by Enbridge Inc.

In December 2001, the Company obtained \$229.2 million from an affiliate, Enbridge (U.S.) Inc., in the form of three promissory notes that bear interest at three month LIBOR plus 150 basis points and are for a 5 year term. Proceeds were used to repay existing debt and working capital requirements.

In September 2001, the Company obtained \$90 million from an affiliate of Enbridge Inc. This promissory note has a 5-year term, interest rate of 6.39% with interest payable semi-annually on June 15 and December 15. Proceeds were used to repay existing debt.

F-57

The Company receives certain administrative and treasury services from affiliates. These services, which are charged at cost in accordance with service agreements or which reflect normal commercial trade terms, amounted to \$4.2 million for the eight months ended December 31, 2001. At December 31, 2001, accounts payable and accrued liabilities included \$2.2 million due to affiliates.

Note 11. Financial Instruments

Derivative Financial Instruments used for Risk Management

The Company is exposed to movements in interest rates and the price of energy commodities, primarily natural gas. In order to manage these exposures, the Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to create offsetting positions to specific exposures. These instruments are not used for speculative purposes.

These instruments require the Company to exchange with counterparties the difference between fixed and variable amounts, calculated by reference to specific interest rates or energy commodity price indices, based on a notional principal amount or notional energy commodity quantity. The notional amounts are not recorded in the financial statements as they do not represent amounts exchanged by the counterparties.

Derivative financial instruments involve credit and market risks. Credit risk arises from the possibility that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations and is limited to those contracts where the Company would incur a loss in replacing the instrument. The Company minimizes credit risk by entering into risk management transactions only with creditworthy institutions that possess investment grade credit ratings or with approved forms of collateral. For transactions with terms greater than five years, the Company may also retain the right to require a counterparty, who would otherwise meet the Company's credit criteria, to provide collateral.

Interest Costs

To hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements on its short to long-term borrowing requirements, the Company enters into forward interest rate agreements, swaps and collars.

Energy Commodity Costs

The Company's commodity price risk exposure arises from holding inventory and purchase and sale commitments. The Company uses over-the-counter commodity price swaps, futures, options and collars to manage exposures to natural gas and natural gas liquids prices.

Fair Values

The fair values of derivatives have been estimated using year-end market rates and approximate the amount that the Company would receive or pay to terminate the contracts at

F-58

December 31. The following derivative instruments qualify as cash flow hedges and have been recorded in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2001.

Decem	her	31.

	2000			2001	
Notional Principal	Fair Value (Payable)	Maturity	Notional Principal	Fair Value (Payable)	Maturity

December 31,

(millions of dollars)	or Quantity	у			or Quantit	у		
		(predecesso	r)					
Energy Commodities								
Natural gas (bcf)		4.3 \$	(1.1)	2001-2004		12.8 \$	(10.7)	2002-2004
Interest rates								
Interest rate swaps	\$ 14	40.0 \$	(0.4)	2003	\$ 14	40.0 \$	(6.8)	2003

As the Company does not settle hedging instruments in advance of the hedged transactions, there were no gains or losses deferred for any of the Company's hedges of anticipated transactions at December 31, 2001 and 2000. Credit risk was insignificant at December 31, 2001 and 2000 as all derivative instruments were in payable positions.

Fair Values of Other Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments, other than derivatives, represents the amounts that would have been received from or paid to counterparties, calculated at the reporting date, to settle these instruments. The carrying amount of all financial instruments classified as current approximates fair value because of the short maturities of these instruments. The estimated fair values of all other financial instruments are based on quoted market prices or, in the absence of specific market prices, on quoted market prices for similar instruments and other valuation techniques.

The carrying amounts of all financial instruments, except as shown below, approximate fair value.

	Amount Value Amount V (predecessor)						
		200)		200	Fa Val	
(millions of dollars)							Fair Value
		(predece	ssor)			
Long-term debt	\$	256.0	\$	256.0			
Due to affiliates					\$ 319.2	\$	319.8

Note 12. Concentration of Credit Risk:

The Company derives revenue from commercial companies located in the United States and Canada. The Company performs ongoing evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral. The Company assesses its credit risk and provides an allowance for doubtful accounts for any accounts that it deems doubtful of collection.

F-59

Note 13. Income Taxes:

The tax effects of significant temporary differences representing deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

		December 31, 2000 December 31, 2001			
	(prede	ecessor)			
Net operating loss and other carryforwards	\$	6,304	\$	18,509	
Valuation allowance		(480)			

	Dec	2000 eember 31,	December 31, 2001
Book value of assets in excess of tax net book value of assets		(23,570)	(39,244)
Unrealized holding gains/losses			4,748
Other			(698)
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$	(17,746) \$	(16,685)

The Company has non-operating loss ("NOL") carryforwards of approximately \$51 million at December 31, 2001, expiring in various amounts from 2002 through 2021. A portion of these loss carryforwards were acquired through corporate acquisitions. The ability of the Company to utilize the carryforwards is dependent upon the Company generating sufficient taxable income and will be affected by annual limitations under section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. No valuation allowance was deemed necessary due to management's view that the NOLs are anticipated to be utilized.

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes to the statutory U.S. rate is as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31, 1999 (34%)		Year Ended December 31, 2000 (34%)	Four Months Ended April 30, 2001 (34%)	Eight Months Ended December 31, 2001 (35%)			
	 (predecessor)		(predecessor)	(predecessor)				
Federal income tax expense (benefit)								
computed at statutory rate	\$ 4,832	\$	9,780	\$ (9,956)	\$	2,565		
Utilization of net operating loss carryforwards	(1,989)		(240)					
Effect of goodwill amortization						1,603		
Reduction in valuation allowance	(581)		(1,984)					
Foreign and state taxes	(146)		(200)	122		7		
Other	53		40	45		71		
Actual provision	\$ 2,169	\$	7,396	\$ (9,789)	\$	4,246		
		_						

Prior to May 1, 2001, United States income taxes were not provided on the cumulative undistributed earnings of the Company's Canadian subsidiaries, as it was management's intention not to repatriate these earnings. Tax has been provided on these earnings at May 1, 2001 in conjunction with the acquisition.

F-60

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies:

Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment under various operating leases. The Company incurred net lease expenses of \$0.2 million, \$1.7 million, \$3.0 million and \$0.8 million during the periods ended December 31, 1999 and 2000, April 30, 2001 and December 31, 2001, respectively. As of December 31, 2001, future minimum lease payments due under these leases are approximately \$1.8 million, \$2.1 million, \$2.0 million, \$2.1 million, and \$1.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively.

MIT Acquisition Contingency

As part of the MIT acquisition in 1997, the Company has agreed to pay additional contingent annual payments to the seller, not to exceed \$250,000 per year, which will be treated as deferred purchase price adjustments. The amount each year is dependent upon revenues received by the Company from certain natural gas transportation contracts. The contingency is due over an eight-year period commencing April 1, 1998 and payable at the end of each anniversary date. The Company is obligated to pay the lesser of 50% of the gross revenues received under these contracts or \$250,000. As of December 31, 2001, the Company has made payments of \$750,000 and has accrued an additional \$187,500 under the contingency.

The Kansas Pipeline Company Rate and Regulatory Matters

The pipeline assets of KPC were held in three partnerships prior to May 11, 1998. KansOk Partnership owned intrastate pipelines whose rates were regulated by state agencies or the FERC. Kansas Pipeline Partnership owned an intrastate pipeline in Kansas whose rates were determined by the Kansas Corporation Commission. Riverside Pipeline Company, L.P., owned interstate assets in Kansas, Oklahoma and Missouri that connected the assets of the other two partnerships at the state lines of Missouri, Kansas and Oklahoma.

Effective May 11, 1998, after more than two years of jurisdictional proceedings before the FERC, the FERC asserted jurisdiction over the assets of these three entities, which were combined into a single, FERC-regulated entity, KPC. The new company's initial rates, by order of the FERC, were approximately equal to its then-existing rates. That discussion was affirmed by the FERC in its order on Remand issued on November 9, 2001. The FERC's order also ordered the company to file a Section 4 Rate Case by September 10, 1999.

In accordance with the FERC's order, KPC filed a rate case pursuant to Section 4 of the Natural Gas Act ("NGA") on August 27, 1999 (FERC Docket No. RP99-485-000). KPC's proposed rates reflect an annual revenue increase when compared to its initial FERC-approved rates. The rates have been protested by KPC's two principal customers and by the state public utility commissions that regulate them. On September 30, 1999, the FERC issued an order that set KPC's proposed rates for hearing and accepted and suspended the rates to be effective March 1, 2000, subject to possible refund. However, through December 31, 2001, KPC is continuing to charge its customers the initial lower FERC-approved rates. Additionally, the two customers have been paying only a portion of the Company's invoices pursuant to their protest of the current rates. The resultant net unpaid balance from both customers at December 31, 2001 was approximately \$4.4 million, for which no reserve has been recorded. The Section 4 rate case proceeding will determine the rates

F-61

by KPC for interstate transportation of natural gas prospective from the date of approval. The hearing related to the proposed increase commenced on September 26, 2000 and concluded on October 20, 2000. The presiding Administrative Law Judge issued an "Initial Decision" on July 31, 2001, recommending a cost of service of \$19.9 million, which is approximately \$11.0 million less than the cost of service included in current rates. A final Commission decision is not expected until at least the fourth quarter of 2002.

Note 15. Segment Data:

The Company's operations are segregated into reportable segments based on the type of business activity and type of customer served. The Company's transmission pipelines primarily receive and deliver natural gas to and from other pipelines, and, secondarily, provide wholesale customer or gathering functions. Transportation fees are received by the Company for transporting natural gas owned by other parties through the Company's pipeline systems. The transmission pipelines segment also includes wholesale customer pipelines providing natural gas and natural gas transportation services to industrial customers, municipalities or electrical generating facilities through interconnect natural gas pipelines constructed or acquired by the Company. These pipelines provide a direct supply of natural gas to new industrial facilities or to existing facilities as an alternative to the local distribution company. The Company's natural gas gathering and processing systems typically consist of a network of pipelines which collect natural gas or crude oil from points near producing wells, treat and process the natural gas, and transport oil and natural gas to larger pipelines for further transmission. The Company's natural gas processing revenues are realized from the extraction and sale of NGLs as well as the sale of the residual natural gas. In addition, the Company provides natural gas marketing services to its customers within each of the three segments. The Company's marketing activities include providing natural gas supply and sales services to some of its wholesale customers by purchasing the natural gas supply from other marketers or pipeline affiliates and reselling the natural gas to the wholesale customer. The Company also purchases natural gas directly from well operators on many of the Company's gathering systems and resells the natural gas to other marketers or pipeline affiliates. Many of the contracts pertaining to the Company's natural gas marketing activities are month-to-month spot market transactions with numerous natural gas suppliers or producers in the industry. The Company also offers other natural gas services to some of its customers including management of capacity release and gas balancing.

The Company evaluates each of its segments on a gross margin basis, which is defined as the revenues of the segment less related direct costs and expenses of the segment and does not include depreciation and amortization, interest or allocated corporate overhead. Gross margin reflects total revenues net of energy marketing expenses, natural gas processing and treating costs, and other operating expenses. The "Other" column includes results of processing plant construction projects, which includes planning, fabrication, installation and facility operations and management, as well as general corporate items. Foreign amounts primarily relate to the Company's Canadian operations, which are not considered material for separate disclosure. No customers constituted more than 10% of revenues during the periods ended December 31, 2001, April 30, 2001, or the years ended December 31, 2000, and 1999. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies (see Note 2).

The following tables present certain financial information relating to the Company's business segments as of or for the eight months ended December 31, 2001, the four months ended April 30, 2001 and the years ended December 31, 2000, and 1999:

As of or for the Eight Months Ended December 31, 2001

	Transmission Pipelines		Ma	nrketing			Other		Total
					(In	thousands)			
Revenues									
Domestic	\$	59,418	\$	180,787	\$	193,807		\$	434,012
Foreign						4,462			4,462
Total Revenues		59,418		180,787		198,269			438,474
Gross Margin		30,550		1,973		18,888			51,411
Depreciation and Amortization		(7,422)		(48)		(3,374)	(4,683)		(15,527)
General and Administrative, including taxes other than income							(14,707)		(14,707)
Interest Expense Other, net							(13,976) 125		(13,976) 125
Other, net							123		123
Income before Income Taxes		23,128		1,925		15,514	(33,241)		7,326
Assets									
Domestic		390,364		33,021		119,606	220,158		763,149
Foreign						24,565			24,565
			-		_			_	
Total Assets		390,364		33,021		144,171	220,158		787,714
Capital Expenditures (excluding	Φ.	20.562	Φ.		ф	0.663	4 2 00 1	ф	50.105
acquisitions)	\$	38,582		51	\$	8,668	\$ 2,884	\$	50,185

As of or for the four months Ended April 30, 2001 (prede	occor)

	Transmission Pipelines		Gathering and Iarketing Processing		and	Other		Total
				(In t	thousands)			
Revenues								
Domestic	\$ 33,115	\$	229,485	\$	140,543		\$	403,143
Foreign					3,810			3,810
		_		_		_	_	
Total Revenues	33,115		229,485		144,353			406,953
Gross Margin	17,834		(18,555)		5,218	(3)		4,494
Depreciation and Amortization	(3,459)		(17)		(1,761)	(478)		(5,715)
						(17,884)		(17,884)

As of or for the four months Ended April 30, 2001 (predecessor)

General and Administrative, including taxes										
other than income										
Interest Expense								(9,431)		(9,431)
Other, net								561		561
Income before Income Taxes		14,375		(18,572)		3,457		(27,235)		(27,975)
			_		_		_		_	
Capital Expenditures (excluding										
acquisitions)	\$	8,230	\$	77	\$	2,253	\$	213	\$	10,773
			F	F-64						
		As of	or f	or the Year E	anded	l December 31, 2	2000	(predecessor))	
	Transmission Pipelines			Gathering n and Marketing Processing				Other		
		Pipelines	N	лагкенпд	_	Processing	_	Other		Total
					(In	thousands)				
Revenues										
Domestic	\$	87,838	\$	411,266	\$	280,721			\$	779,825
Foreign						12,521				12,521
			_		_	,	_		_	,
Total Revenues		87,838		411,266		293,242				792,346
Gross Margin		49,175		5,180		24,744				79,099
Depreciation and Amortization		(10,345)		(15)		(4,315)		(1,020)		(15,695)
General and Administrative, including taxes		, , ,		` ,				, , ,		, , ,
other than income								(17,900)		(17,900)
Interest Expense								(18,489)		(18,489)
Other, net								1,749		1,749
			_		_		_		_	
Income before Income Taxes and										
Extraordinary Charge		38,830		5,165		20,429		(35,660)		28,764
Assets										
Domestic		366,395		79,706		113,824		13,334		573,259
Foreign						26,061				26,061
Total Assets		366,395		79,706		139,885		13,334		599,320
		230,273	_	. , , , , , ,	_	137,003		10,001		
Comital Errora diturna (completition										
Capital Expenditures (excluding acquisitions)	\$	8,526	\$	313	Ф	5,855	¢	1,834	\$	16,528

As of or for the	Voor Ended	December 31	2000 (predecessor)
As of or for the	i ear Eilidea	December 51,	2000 (predecessor)

Transmission		Gathering and		
Pipelines	Marketing	Processing	Other	Total

(In thousands)

As of or for the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (predecessor)

Revenues										
Domestic	\$	53,606	\$	201,107	\$	134,668			\$	389,381
Foreign						2,190				2,190
			_		_		_		_	
Total Revenues		53,606		201,107		136,858				391,571
Gross Margin		20,095		4,972		14,497				39,564
Depreciation and Amortization		(4,078)		(21)		(3,015)		(431)		(7,545)
General and Administrative, including										
taxes other than income								(8,431)		(8,431)
Interest Expense								(6,533)		(6,533)
Other, net								(2,865)		(2,865)
			_		_				_	
Income before Income Taxes and										
extraordinary charge	\$	16,017	\$	4,951	\$	11,482	\$	(18,260)	\$	14,190
enauerumary enauge	Ψ	10,017	Ψ	.,,,,,	_	11,.02	Ψ	(10,200)	Ψ	1.,170
Assets										
Domestic	\$	348,017	\$	23,837	\$	81,770	\$	9,821	\$	463,545
Foreign				. ,		14,827		- ,-		14,827
Toloigh						1 1,027				11,027
Total Assets	\$	249.017	\$	22.027	¢	06 507	\$	0.921	\$	479 272
Total Assets	\$	348,017	Э	23,937	\$	96,597	Þ	9,821	3	478,372
Capital Expenditures (excluding										
acquisitions)	\$	8,753	\$	143	\$	3,928	\$	3,738	\$	16,562
N-4- 16 II										

Note 16. Unusual Charge:

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, the Company recorded a pre-tax unusual charge totaling \$2.7 million (\$2.2 million after tax) related to the restructuring efforts announced in November 1999. The charge primarily related to the severance and benefits of approximately 50 employees who were involuntarily terminated. All employees had been terminated by December 31, 2000 and the accrued liability was reduced to nil.

F-66

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Member of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. at May 23, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. This financial statement is the responsibility of the company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audit. We conducted our audit of this statement in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the balance sheet is free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the balance sheet, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall balance sheet presentation. We believe that our audit of the balance sheet provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

BALANCE SHEET

May 23, 2002

A	SSETS		
Cash		\$	1,000
Total Assets		\$	1,000
		_	
Е	QUITY		
Voting shares; unlimited shares authorized; 1 share iss	ued and outstanding	\$	1,000
Nonvoting shares; unlimited shares authorized; no shares issued			
Total Equity		\$	1,000
		_	

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of this statement.

F-68

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.

Notes to Balance Sheet

1. Formation and Ownership

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. ("EEM") is a Delaware limited liability company formed on May 14, 2002 under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act. Enbridge Energy Company, Inc., ("EEC") a wholly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc. (a major energy company traded on the New York Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "ENB"), owns all of Enbridge Energy Management L.L.C.'s voting securities and is its sole managing member.

2. Capitalization

EEM's authorized capital structure consists of two classes of membership interests: (1) nonvoting shares and (2) voting shares. Additional equity interests may be approved by the board and the vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of nonvoting equity interests. As of May 23, 2002, the issued capitalization consists of \$1,000 contributed by EEC for its voting equity interest.

EEC expects to issue nonvoting shares for cash to the public as discussed in Note 3, using all of the net proceeds to purchase a number of i-units from Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. ("EEP") (a large publicly-traded pipeline limited partnership, traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol "EEP") equal to the number of shares EEM have outstanding and related rights from Enbridge Inc. These i-units are similar to EEP's common limited partner units, except that quarterly distributions from operations and from interim capital transactions will be received in additional i-units rather than cash. Each time EEP issues i-units to EEM, EEM will also distribute an equal number of shares to holders of EEM's shares. The number of i-units and shares will remain equal.

3. Business

EEM proposes to file a registration statement with respect to an initial public offering of shares.

At no time after EEM's formation and prior to the public offering has EEM had or does it expect to have any operations or own any interest in EEP. After the public offering, EEM will be a limited partner in EEP and pursuant to a delegation of control agreement EEM will manage and control EEP's business and affairs. Under the delegation of control agreement, EEC will delegate to EEM, to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law and EEP's partnership agreement, all of EEC's power of authority to manage and control the business and affairs of EEP. EEP will either pay directly or reimburse EEM for all expenses incurred in performing under the delegation of control agreement and will be obligated to indemnify EEM against claims and liabilities except in cases in which EEM has acted in bad faith or in which indemnity is not permitted by law. EEP will consent to the terms of the delegation of control agreement including EEP's indemnity and reimbursement obligations. EEM will not be paid a fee for its service under the delegation of control agreement, nor will EEM receive any margin or profit on the expense reimbursement. The expense reimbursements by EEP to EEM will be accounted for as a reduction to the expense incurred. After the public offering, EEM will own all of the i-units issued by EEP, which will represent an approximate 21.7% ownership interest in EEP.

Enbridge Employees Services, Inc. ("EES") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of EEC and provides employees and related centralized payroll and employee benefits services to EEM, EEC, EEP and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Group"). Regular employees of EES are assigned to work for one

F-69

or more members of the Group. The direct costs of all compensation, benefits expenses, employer taxes and other employer expenses for these regular employees are allocated and charged by EES to the appropriate member of the Group, and the members of the Group reimburse EES for their allocated shares of these direct costs. There is no profit or margin charged by EES to the members of the Group. The administrative work necessary to implement these payroll and benefits services is performed by the human resources department of Enbridge Inc. and the related administrative costs are allocated to members of the Group in accordance with existing expense allocation procedures. The effect of these arrangements is that each member of the Group bears the direct compensation and employee benefits costs of its assigned employees, while also bearing its allocable share of administrative costs. Pursuant to its limited partnership agreement, EEP reimburses EEM for EEM's share of these administrative costs and such reimbursements will be accounted for as described above.

4. Income Tax

EEM is a limited liability company that has elected to be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes.

F-70

No dealer, salesperson or other person is authorized to give any information or to represent anything not contained in this prospectus. You must not rely on any unauthorized information or representations. This prospectus is an offer to sell only the shares offered hereby, but only under circumstances and in jurisdictions where it is lawful to do so. The information contained in this prospectus is current only as of its date.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Prospectus Summary	j
Risk Factors	24
Information Regarding Forward Looking Statements	37
Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems	38
Use of Proceeds	39
Distribution Policy	40
Capitalization of Enbridge Partners	47
Capitalization of Enbridge Inc.	48

	Page
Capitalization of Enbridge Management	49
Selected Financial Data of Enbridge	
Partners	50
Selected Financial Data of Enbridge Midcoast Energy	52
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	54
Business	77
Management of Enbridge Management	101
Description of Our Shares	105
Description of the i-Units	115
Comparison of Enbridge Partners' Units with Our Shares	117
Limited Liability Company Agreement	121
Relationships and Related Party	
Transactions	126
Conflicts of Interest and Fiduciary Responsibilities	132
Shares Eligible for Future Sale	137
Material Tax Consequences	138
ERISA Considerations	144
Underwriting	146
Legal Matters	149
Experts	149
Where You Can Find More Information	151
Index to Financial Statements	F-1

Through and including , 2002 (the 25th day after the date of this prospectus), all dealers effecting transactions in these securities, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to a dealer's obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as an underwriter and with respect to an unsold allotment or subscription.

10,000,000 Shares

ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

Representing Limited Liability Company Interests

PROSPECTUS

Goldman, Sachs & Co.

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution (Form S-1; Item 14 of Form S-3)

Set forth below are the expenses (other than underwriting discounts and commissions) expected to be incurred in connection with the issuance and distribution of the securities registered hereby. With the exception of the Securities and Exchange Commission registration fee, the NASD filing fee and the NYSE filing fee, the amounts set forth below are estimates.

Registration fee	\$ 48,139
NASD filing fee	\$ *
NYSE listing fee	\$ *
Printing and engraving expenses	\$ *
Fees and expenses of legal counsel	\$ *
Accounting fees and expenses	\$ *
Transfer agent and registrar fees	\$ *
Miscellaneous	\$ *
Total	\$ *

To be provided by amendment.

Item 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officers (Form S-1; Item 15 of Form S-3; Item 8 of Form F-3)

Enbridge Management

Enbridge Management's limited liability company agreement provides that Enbridge Management will indemnify the members of the board and the officers of Enbridge Management from liabilities arising in the course of such persons' service to Enbridge Management, provided that the indemnitee acted in good faith and in a manner which such indemnitee believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of Enbridge Management and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such indemnitee's conduct was unlawful. Such liabilities include all losses, claims, damages, expenses (including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines, penalties, interests, settlements and other amounts, provided that with respect to any criminal proceeding, the indemnitee had no reasonable cause to believe its conduct was unlawful. Enbridge Management expects to be included within the same coverage available to Enbridge Energy Company for directors' and officers' liability insurance for potential liability under such indemnification. The holders of shares will not be personally liable for such indemnification.

Enbridge Partners

The partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners and the partnership and limited liability company agreements of its subsidiaries provide that Enbridge Partners or it subsidiaries, as the case may be, will indemnify (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law) certain indemnitees from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities (joint or several), expenses (including, without limitation, legal fees and expenses), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such indemnitee in connection with any claim, demand, action, suit or proceeding to which the indemnitee is or was an actual or threatened party and which relates to the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners or the partnership or limited liability company agreements, as applicable, of its subsidiaries or the property, business, affairs or

II-1

management of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries. This indemnity is available only if the indemnitee acted in good faith, in a manner in which such indemnitee believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of Enbridge Partners and its subsidiaries and, with respect to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe its conduct was unlawful. Indemnitees include the general partner, any Departing Partner (as defined in the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners or the partnership or limited liability company agreements, as applicable, of its subsidiaries), any affiliate of the general partner or any Departing Partner, any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the general partner or any affiliate of either, or any person who is or was serving at the request of the general partner, any Departing Partner, or any such affiliate as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent of another person. Expenses subject to indemnity will be paid by the applicable partnership or limited liability company to the indemnitee in advance, subject to receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the indemnitee to repay such amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that the indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification.

Enbridge Partners will, to the extent commercially reasonable, purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of the indemnitees, whether or not Enbridge Partners would have the power to indemnify such indemnitees against liability under the applicable partnership agreement.

Subject to any terms, conditions or restrictions set forth in the partnership agreement of Enbridge Partners or the partnership agreement of the direct operating partnership subsidiary, Section 17-108 of the Delaware Revised Limited Partnership Act empowers a Delaware limited partnership to indemnify and hold harmless any partner or other person from and against all claims and demands whatsoever.

Enbridge Inc.

Enbridge Inc.'s by-laws and indemnity agreements that it has entered into with its directors and officers provide that it will indemnify (to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law) a director or officer against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably incurred by such indemnitee in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which such indemnitee is made a party by reason of having been a director or officer of Enbridge Inc. or such body corporate, if: (a) such indemnitee acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the corporation; and (b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by monetary penalty, such indemnitee had reasonable grounds for believing that their conduct was lawful.

Enbridge Inc. maintains insurance for the benefit of its directors and officers and those of its subsidiaries as a group in respect of their performance of the duties of their respective offices.

Enbridge Management, Enbridge Partners, and Enbridge Inc.

The Form of Underwriting Agreement filed herewith as Exhibit 1.1, under certain circumstances, provides for indemnification by the Underwriters of the directors, officers and controlling persons of Enbridge Management, Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc.

Each of Enbridge Management, Enbridge Partners, and Enbridge Inc. has purchased liability insurance policies covering the members or directors, as the case may be, and officers of each of the respective entities, including, to provide protection where the entity cannot legally indemnify a director or officer and where a claim arises under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 against a director or officer based on an alleged breach of fiduciary duty or other wrongful act.

II-2

ITEM 15. Recent Sales Of Unregistered Securities (Form S-1 Only)

Enbridge Management's initial voting share was sold to Enbridge Energy Company on May 14, 2002. Such sale was completed without registration under the Securities Act in reliance upon the exemption provided by Section 4(2) of the Securities Act.

ITEM 16. Exhibits (Forms S-1 and S-3; Item 9 of Form F-3) and Financial Statement Schedules (Form S-1 only)

(a) Exhibits.

Reference is made to the Index to Exhibits following the signature pages hereto, which Index to Exhibits is hereby incorporated into this Item.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules of Enbridge Management.

All financial statement schedules are omitted because the information is not required, is inapplicable, is not material or is otherwise included in the financial statements or related notes thereto.

ITEM 17. Undertakings (Forms S-1 and S-3; Item 10 of Form F-3)

Enbridge Management

(a) Enbridge Management hereby undertakes to provide at the closing specified in the underwriting agreement certificates in such denominations and registered in such names as required by the Underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

- (b) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of Enbridge Management under the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, Enbridge Management has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by Enbridge Management of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of Enbridge Management in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, Enbridge Management will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.
 - (c) Enbridge Management hereby undertakes that:
 - (1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of prospectus filed as part of this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus filed by Enbridge Management under Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it was declared effective.
 - (2) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

II-3

Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc.

- (a) Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. each hereby undertakes:
 - (1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement to include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
 - (2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof; and
 - (3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination of the offering.
- (b) Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. each hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of their respective annual reports pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
- (c) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of each of Enbridge Partners and Enbridge Inc. pursuant to the foregoing or otherwise, each company has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than payment by the respective company of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the respective company in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the respective company will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant named below certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-1 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas, on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

By: /s/ DAN C. TUTCHER

Name: Dan C. Tutcher Title: President

Each person whose signature appears below appoints Dan C. Tutcher, J.L. Balko and E.C. Kaitson, and each of them, any of whom may act without the joinder of the other, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement and any Registration Statement (including any amendment thereto) for this offering that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or would do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them of their or his or her substitute and substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities indicated on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C.

Signature	Title
/s/ DAN C. TUTCHER Dan C. Tutcher /s/ J.L. BALKO	President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)
J.L. Balko /s/ E.C. HAMBROOK E.C. Hambrook	Chief Accountant (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) Director
	II-5
/s/ G.K. PETTY	Director
G.K. Petty /s/ P.D. DANIEL	Director

P.D. Daniel /s/ C.A. RUSSELL Director C.A. Russell /s/ D.P. TRUSWELL Director D.P. Truswell /s/ J.R. BIRD Director J.R. Bird

Edgar Filing: ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS LP - Form S-3

SIGNATURES

II-6

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant named below certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas, on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

By: ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY, INC., its General Partner

By: /s/ DAN C. TUTCHER

Name: Dan C. Tutcher Title: President

Each person whose signature appears below appoints Dan C. Tutcher, J.L. Balko and E.C. Kaitson, and each of them, any of whom may act without the joinder of the other, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement and any Registration Statement (including any amendment thereto) for this offering that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or would do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them of their or his or her substitute and substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities indicated on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY COMPANY, INC.

Signature	Title	
/s/ DAN C. TUTCHER		
Dan C. Tutcher	President and Director (Principal Executive Officer)	
/s/ J.L. BALKO	Chief Accountant (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	

Signature	Title
J.L. Balko	
	II-7
/s/ E.C. HAMBROOK	Director
E.C. Hambrook	Director
/s/ G.K. PETTY	Director
G.K. Petty	Director
/s/ P.D. DANIEL	Director
P.D. Daniel	Director
/s/ C.A. RUSSELL	Di .
C.A. Russell	Director
/s/ D.P. TRUSWELL	
D.P. Truswell	Director
/s/ J.R. BIRD	
J.R. Bird	Director
	II-8

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, the registrant named below certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form F-3 and has duly caused this Registration Statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Calgary, Province of Alberta, Canada, on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE INC.

By: /s/ PATRICK D. DANIEL

Name: Patrick D. Daniel

Title: President & Chief Executive Officer

Each person whose signature appears below appoints Patrick D. Daniel, Derek P. Truswell, Scott R. Wilson and Blaine G. Melnyk, and each of them, any of whom may act without the joinder of the other, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to this Registration Statement and any Registration Statement (including any amendment thereto) for this offering that is to be effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and all other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or would do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them of their or his or her substitute and substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this registration statement has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities indicated on May 24, 2002.

ENBRIDGE INC.

Signature	Title
/s/ PATRICK D. DANIEL Patrick D. Daniel /s/ DEREK P. TRUSWELL Derek P. Truswell	President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (Principal Executive Officer) Group Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/s/ DAVID A. ARLEDGE David A. Arledge	Director
	II-9
/s/ JAMES J. BLANCHARD James J. Blanchard	Director
J. Lorne Braithwaite	Director
/s/ E. SUSAN EVANS E. Susan Evans	Director
/s/ WILLIAM R. FATT William R. Fatt	Director
/s/ RICHARD L. GEORGE Richard L. George	Director
Michel Gourdeau	Director
/s/ LOUIS D. HYNDMAN Louis D. Hyndman	Director
/s/ BRIAN F. MACNEILL Brian F. MacNeill	Director

/s/ ROBERT W. MARTIN	Director
Robert W. Martin	Director
/s/ GEORGE K. PETTY	
George K. Petty	Director
/s/ DONALD J. TAYLOR	
Donald J. Taylor	Director
	II-10

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed on May 24, 2002 by the undersigned as the duly authorized representative of Enbridge Inc. in the United States.

By: /s/ E. CHRIS KAITSON

Name: E. Chris Kaitson

Title: Authorized Representative in the United

States II-11

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number	Description
1.1	Form of Underwriting Agreement.
3.1*	Certificate of Formation of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.
3.2*	Limited Liability Company Agreement of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.
4.1	Form of certificate representing shares of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.
4.2	Form of certificate representing the i-units of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.
4.3	Purchase provisions between Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. and Enbridge Inc.
5.1	Opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. as to the legality of the securities being offered.
8.1	Opinion of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. as to certain U.S. federal income tax matters.
10.1	Tax Indemnity Agreement between Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. and Enbridge
	Inc.
10.2	Delegation of Control Agreement between Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. and
	Enbridge Energy Company, Inc.
10.3	Amended and Restated Treasury Services Agreement
10.4	Pipeline Operations Services Agreement
10.5	Administrative Services Agreement
10.6	Human Resources Services Agreement
10.7	Non-Competition Agreement
23.1	Consent of Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. (included in its opinions filed as Exhibits 5.1 and
	8.1).
23.2*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.3*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.4*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

Exhibit Number	Description
23.5*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
23.6*	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
24.1*	Powers of Attorney with respect to Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. (included on the signature page of Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C.).
24.2*	Powers of Attorney with respect to Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P. (included on the signature page of Enbridge Energy Partners, L.P.).
24.3*	Powers of Attorney with respect to Enbridge Inc. (included on the signature page of Enbridge Inc.).

*

Filed herewith.

II-12

QuickLinks

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

Enbridge Management

Enbridge Partners

Enbridge Inc.

Offices

Summary of Risk Factors

Organizational Structure

Acquisition of the Midcoast, Northeast Texas and South Texas Systems

The Offering

Our Shares

Summary Pro Forma as Adjusted Financial Information of Enbridge Partners

Summary Financial Information of Enbridge Partners

Summary Financial Information of Enbridge Midcoast Energy

Enbridge Management Balance Sheet

RISK FACTORS

INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

ACQUISITION OF THE MIDCOAST, NORTHEAST TEXAS AND SOUTH TEXAS SYSTEMS

USE OF PROCEEDS

Enbridge Management

Enbridge Partners

Enbridge Inc.

DISTRIBUTION POLICY Our Policy Regarding Share Distributions

Enbridge Partners' Distribution Policy

Illustration of a Distribution of Cash from Operations

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE INC.

CAPITALIZATION OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Enbridge Management

Enbridge Partners

Pro Forma Results of Operations

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Other Matters

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

BUSINESS Enbridge Management

Enbridge Partners

MANAGEMENT OF ENBRIDGE MANAGEMENT

DESCRIPTION OF OUR SHARES

DESCRIPTION OF THE i-UNITS

COMPARISON OF ENBRIDGE PARTNERS' UNITS WITH OUR SHARES

LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY AGREEMENT

RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES

SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

MATERIAL TAX CONSEQUENCES

ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

UNDERWRITING

LEGAL MATTERS

EXPERTS

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Statements

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income 12 Months Ended March 30, 2002 (Enbridge Partnership) with 12 Months Ended April

30, 2002 (Enbridge Midcoast Energy and other acquired assets)

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income Year Ended December 31, 2001

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Income Three Months Ended March 31, 2002

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statement of Financial Position March 31, 2002

Notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Financial Statements (in millions, except per unit amounts)

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PARTNERS' CAPITAL

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited) (dollars in millions; except for per unit amounts)

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS' CAPITAL

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (in millions, except per unit amounts)

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (UNAUDITED) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL

DATA (Dollars in Millions, Except Per Unit Amounts)

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (unaudited) (in millions; except per unit amounts)

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In

thousands, except share and per share data)

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

OPERATIONS (In thousands, except share and per share data)

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (In thousands)

ENBRDIGE MIDCOAST ENERGY INC. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (In thousands)

ENBRIDGE MIDCOAST ENERGY, INC., (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH

FLOWS (In thousands)

Enbridge Midcoast Energy, Inc. (an indirectly owned subsidiary of Enbridge Inc.) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

ENBRIDGE ENERGY MANAGEMENT, L.L.C. BALANCE SHEET May 23, 2002

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. Notes to Balance Sheet

PART II

INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

SIGNATURES

SIGNATURES

SIGNATURES

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

INDEX TO EXHIBITS